The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry 24 *Series Editors:* Damià Barceló · Andrey G. Kostianoy

Teresa Vicent Glòria Caminal Ethel Eljarrat Damià Barceló *Editors*

Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges

Analysis, Fate and Biological Treatment



The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Founded by Otto Hutzinger

Editors-in-Chief: Damià Barceló • Andrey G. Kostianoy

Volume 24

Advisory Board: Jacob de Boer, Philippe Garrigues, Ji-Dong Gu, Kevin C. Jones, Thomas P. Knepper, Alice Newton, Donald L. Sparks

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Recently Published and Forthcoming Volumes

Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and Biological Treatment

Volume Editors: T. Vicent, G. Caminal, E. Eljarrat, and D. Barceló Vol. 24, 2013

Global Risk-Based Management of Chemical Additives II: Risk-Based Assessment and Management Strategies Volume Editors: B. Bilitewski, R.M. Darbra, and D. Barceló Vol. 23, 2013

Chemical Structure of Pelagic Redox Interfaces: Observation and Modeling Volume Editor: E.V. Yakushev Vol. 22, 2013

The Llobregat: The Story of a Polluted Mediterranean River Volume Editors: S. Sabater, A. Ginebreda, and D. Barceló

Vol. 21, 2012

Emerging Organic Contaminants and Human Health Volume Editor: D. Barceló Vol. 20, 2012

Emerging and Priority Pollutants in Rivers: Bringing Science into River Management Plans Volume Editors: H. Guasch, A. Ginebreda, and A. Geiszinger Vol. 19, 2012

Global Risk-Based Management of Chemical Additives I: Production, Usage and Environmental Occurrence Volume Editors: B. Bilitewski, R.M. Darbra, and D. Barceló Vol. 18, 2012

Polyfluorinated Chemicals and Transformation Products

Volume Editors: T.P. Knepper and F.T. Lange Vol. 17, 2012

Brominated Flame Retardants

Volume Editors: E. Eljarrat and D. Barceló Vol. 16, 2011

Effect-Directed Analysis of Complex Environmental Contamination

Volume Editor: W. Brack Vol. 15, 2011

Waste Water Treatment and Reuse in the Mediterranean Region Volume Editors: D. Barceló and M. Petrovic Vol. 14, 2011

The Ebro River Basin Volume Editors: D. Barceló and M. Petrovic Vol. 13, 2011

Polymers – Opportunities and Risks II: Sustainability, Product Design

and Processing Volume Editors: P. Eyerer, M. Weller, and C. Hübner Vol. 12, 2010

Polymers – Opportunities and Risks I: General and Environmental Aspects

Volume Editor: P. Eyerer Vol. 11, 2010

Chlorinated Paraffins

Volume Editor: J. de Boer Vol. 10, 2010

Biodegradation of Azo Dyes

Volume Editor: H. Atacag Erkurt Vol. 9, 2010

Water Scarcity in the Mediterranean: Perspectives Under Global Change

Volume Editors: S. Sabater and D. Barceló Vol. 8, 2010

The Aral Sea Environment

Volume Editors: A.G. Kostianoy and A.N. Kosarev Vol. 7, 2010

Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges

Analysis, Fate and Biological Treatment

Volume Editors: Teresa Vicent · Glòria Caminal · Ethel Eljarrat · Damià Barceló

With contributions by

M. Badia-Fabregat · D. Barceló · E. Barón · P. Blanquez · G. Caminal · C. Cruz-Morató · M.S. Díaz-Cruz · E. Eljarrat · M. Farré · P. Gago-Ferrero · M.J. García-Galán · M. Gorga · G. Hernandez-Raquet · A. Jelić · M. Kumar · M.J. López de Alda · E. Marco-Urrea · A. Mikkonen · A. Nousiainen · A. Olivares · M. Petrović · S. Pérez · B. Piña · D. Raldúa · C.E. Rodríguez-Rodríguez · M. Sarrà · B. Thienpont · L. Valentín · T. Vicent · M. Vilaplana



Editors Dr. Teresa Vicent Chemical Engineering Department Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain

Dr. Ethel Eljarrat Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC Barcelona, Spain Prof. Dr. Glòria Caminal Grupo de biocatalisis Aplicada y biodegradación IQAC-CSIC Barcelona, Spain

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Girona, Spain

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry ISSN 1867-979X ISSN 1616-864X (electronic) ISBN 978-3-642-35608-7 ISBN 978-3-642-35609-4 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-35609-4 Springer Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2013934528

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Editors-in-Chief

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC C/Jordi Girona 18–26 08034 Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) H20 Building Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Emili Grahit, 101 17003 Girona, Spain dbcgam@cid.csic.es Prof. Dr. Andrey G. Kostianoy

P.P. Shirshov Institute of Oceanology Russian Academy of Sciences 36, Nakhimovsky Pr. 117997 Moscow, Russia *kostianoy@gmail.com*

Advisory Board

Prof. Dr. Jacob de Boer IVM, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, The Netherlands Prof. Dr. Philippe Garrigues

University of Bordeaux, France

Prof. Dr. Ji-Dong Gu The University of Hong Kong, China

Prof. Dr. Kevin C. Jones University of Lancaster, United Kingdom

Prof. Dr. Thomas P. Knepper University of Applied Science, Fresenius, Idstein, Germany

Prof. Dr. Alice Newton

University of Algarve, Faro, Portugal

Prof. Dr. Donald L. Sparks Plant and Soil Sciences, University of Delaware, USA

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry Also Available Electronically

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is included in Springer's eBook package Earth and Environmental Science. If a library does not opt for the whole package, the book series may be bought on a subscription basis.

For all customers who have a standing order to the print version of *The Handbook* of *Environmental Chemistry*, we offer free access to the electronic volumes of the Series published in the current year via SpringerLink. If you do not have access, you can still view the table of contents of each volume and the abstract of each article on SpringerLink (www.springerlink.com/content/110354/).

You will find information about the

- Editorial Board
- Aims and Scope
- Instructions for Authors
- Sample Contribution

at springer.com (www.springer.com/series/698).

All figures submitted in color are published in full color in the electronic version on SpringerLink.

Aims and Scope

Since 1980, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* has provided sound and solid knowledge about environmental topics from a chemical perspective. Presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches, the series now covers topics such as local and global changes of natural environment and climate; anthropogenic impact on the environment; water, air and soil pollution; remediation and waste characterization; environmental contaminants; biogeochemistry; geoecology; chemical reactions and processes; chemical and biological transformations as well as physical transport of chemicals in the environment; or environmental modeling. A particular focus of the series lies on methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

Series Preface

With remarkable vision, Prof. Otto Hutzinger initiated *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* in 1980 and became the founding Editor-in-Chief. At that time, environmental chemistry was an emerging field, aiming at a complete description of the Earth's environment, encompassing the physical, chemical, biological, and geological transformations of chemical substances occurring on a local as well as a global scale. Environmental chemistry was intended to provide an account of the impact of man's activities on the natural environment by describing observed changes.

While a considerable amount of knowledge has been accumulated over the last three decades, as reflected in the more than 70 volumes of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, there are still many scientific and policy challenges ahead due to the complexity and interdisciplinary nature of the field. The series will therefore continue to provide compilations of current knowledge. Contributions are written by leading experts with practical experience in their fields. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* grows with the increases in our scientific understanding, and provides a valuable source not only for scientists but also for environmental topics from a chemical perspective, including methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

In recent years, there has been a growing tendency to include subject matter of societal relevance in the broad view of environmental chemistry. Topics include life cycle analysis, environmental management, sustainable development, and socio-economic, legal and even political problems, among others. While these topics are of great importance for the development and acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, the publisher and Editors-in-Chief have decided to keep the handbook essentially a source of information on "hard sciences" with a particular emphasis on chemistry, but also covering biology, geology, hydrology and engineering as applied to environmental sciences.

The volumes of the series are written at an advanced level, addressing the needs of both researchers and graduate students, as well as of people outside the field of "pure" chemistry, including those in industry, business, government, research establishments, and public interest groups. It would be very satisfying to see these volumes used as a basis for graduate courses in environmental chemistry. With its high standards of scientific quality and clarity, *The Handbook of*

Environmental Chemistry provides a solid basis from which scientists can share their knowledge on the different aspects of environmental problems, presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches.

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via www.springerlink.com/content/110354/. Articles are published online as soon as they have been approved for publication. Authors, Volume Editors and Editorsin-Chief are rewarded by the broad acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* by the scientific community, from whom suggestions for new topics to the Editors-in-Chief are always very welcome.

> Damià Barceló Andrey G. Kostianoy Editors-in-Chief

Volume Preface

This book on *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and Biological Treatment* provides information on the current state of the art with regard to emerging organic contaminants (ECs) with specially focus on their occurrence in sludge. Much scientific work describes the presence of ECs in rivers, urban wastewater, industrial effluents, etc. Some of these ECs are characterized by their hydrophobicity although their tendency to accumulate in sludge is scarcely reported.

This book aims to review and compile the main developments and knowledge acquired in this field, and tries to remedy this lack of information. The book is structured in nine different chapters, covering the impact of ECs on biosolids applications, advanced chemical analytical methods, the occurrence and fate of ECs in sludge, and biological degradation techniques, with special focus on treatment by fungi. Finally, the last chapter discusses the main conclusions and possible future trends, these being the starting point to be taken into account in future studies in the field.

Due to the demand for sustainable technologies, bioremediation is regarded as one of the best method for pollutant degradation because of its cost, efficiency and environmental friendliness. Among all the microorganisms that can be used in bioremediation, fungi play an important role. The considerable research effort on fungi capacities demonstrates that their biochemical and physiological characteristics can be important for a wide range of biotechnological applications to be used for degrading organic contaminants. As a result of their great promise, this book includes four chapters on fungal degradation, starting with sludge treatments and going on to the degradation of three selected EC families, pharmaceuticals, UV filters and PBDEs, as case studies. These specific studies allow the analysis and development of two important aspects related to degradation processes – metabolite identification and toxicity.

The large number of figures, tables and case studies, together with the double disciplinary approach, environmental analysis and engineering, make *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and Biological Treatment* a relevant and interesting book for a broad audience of scientific researchers such as environmental chemists, environmental engineers, biotechnologists, ecotoxicologists and professionals responsible for waste and water management. We hope that

the information in this book can also be useful to extend the results obtained for the selected families to new ECs.

Finally we would like to thank all the contributing authors of this book for their time and effort in preparing this comprehensive compilation of research papers.

Barcelona, Spain

T. Vicent G. Caminal E. Eljarrat D. Barceló

Contents

Introduction to Organic Contaminants in Soil: Concepts and Risks L. Valentín, A. Nousiainen, and A. Mikkonen	. 1
Analysis of Emerging Contaminants in Sewage Sludge E. Eljarrat, M.S. Díaz-Cruz, M. Farré, M.J. López de Alda, M. Petrović, and D. Barceló	31
Fate of Emerging Contaminants During Aerobic and Anaerobic Sludge Treatment	73
Guillermina Hernandez-Raquet	, -
Biodegradation of Emerging Organic Contaminants by Composting Mathava Kumar	113
Fungal-Mediated Degradation of Emerging Pollutantsin Sewage SludgeC.E. Rodríguez-Rodríguez, G. Caminal, T. Vicent, M.S. Díaz-Cruz,E. Eljarrat, M. Farré, M.J. López de Alda, M. Petrović, and D. Barceló	137
Biodegradation of Pharmaceuticals by Fungi and Metabolites Identification C. Cruz-Morató, C.E. Rodríguez-Rodríguez, E. Marco-Urrea, M. Sarrà,	165
G. Caminal, T. Vicent, A. Jelić, M.J. García-Galán, S. Pérez, M.S. Díaz-Cruz, M. Petrović, and D. Barceló	
UV Filters Biodegradation by Fungi, Metabolites Identification and Biological Activity Assessment M. Badia-Fabregat, G. Caminal, T. Vicent, P. Blanquez, P. Gago-Ferrero,	215

A. Olivares, B. Piña, M.S. Díaz-Cruz, and D. Barceló

Biodegradation of Technical Products of Brominated Flame	
Retardant by Fungi	241
M. Vilaplana, G. Caminal, M. Sarrà, E. Barón, M. Gorga, B. Thienpont,	
D. Raldúa, E. Eljarrat, and D. Barceló	
Conclusions and Future Trends D. Barceló, E. Eljarrat, G. Caminal, and T. Vicent	271
Index	285

Introduction to Organic Contaminants in Soil: Concepts and Risks

L. Valentín, A. Nousiainen, and A. Mikkonen

Abstract This chapter introduces an overview of the main aspects of soil contamination: the types of contaminants, the threats to soil biota and quality, the effects on humans and animals and legislation concerning contaminants, with a focus on European laws and regulations. Although soil is a non-renewable natural resource, humans have increasingly used it as a contaminant sink ever since the Industrial Revolution. Pollution endangers natural soil mechanisms that allow the soil to keep itself in balance and compromises the supply of soil-based goods and services. Detrimental effects of contaminants on soil microbiota may be directly related to loss of biodiversity and functions such as the recycling of nutrients. However, this direct negative effect is still debated among microbial ecologists because microbial communities may be surprisingly resilient (i.e. able to recover from contamination effects) and/or functionally redundant. Likewise, the potential toxicity of soil contamination to humans is controversial as investigations on the mix of different contaminants are very limited. Due to accumulated evidence of the potential toxicity of single contaminants on human health and animals, mostly based on in vitro or in vivo assays, international guidelines, such as the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, have established a list of priority contaminants. Despite worldwide concern about soil contamination, Europe still lacks a common soil legislative tool because the proposed Soil Directive Framework is currently under negotiation. The lack of a European directive is nevertheless compensated by national policies at the member state level.

L. Valentín (🖂)

A. Mikkonen

1

Department of Chemical Engineering, School of Engineering, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: lara.valentin@uab.es

A. Nousiainen Finnish Environment Institute, Hakuninmaantie 6, 00430 Helsinki, Finland

Department of Environmental Sciences, Environmental Ecology, University of Helsinki, Niemenkatu 73, 15140 Lahti, Finland

Keywords Ecological risk, Environmental legislation, Health risk, Soil contaminant, Soil microorganism

Contents

Soil	as a System and Resource	2
Soil	Contamination as the Main Threat to Soil Quality	4
2.1	Contaminants in Soil	5
2.2	Effect of Organic Contaminants on Soil Biota and Quality	12
Heal	Ith Effects of Organic Contaminants on Animals and Humans	15
3.1	Emerging Endocrine-Disrupting Compounds	16
3.2	Potential Toxicity of the Application of Biosolids in Agricultural Land	18
Legi	Islative Framework for Soil Protection and Sewage Sludge Use	19
4.1	European Environmental Policies on Soil Protection	19
4.2	Regulations for Use of Treated Sewage Sludge on Agricultural Land	21
Con	cluding Remarks	24
ferenc		24
	Soil Soil 2.1 2.2 Heat 3.1 3.2 Legi 4.1 4.2 Con	Soil as a System and Resource Soil Contamination as the Main Threat to Soil Quality 2.1 Contaminants in Soil 2.2 Effect of Organic Contaminants on Soil Biota and Quality Health Effects of Organic Contaminants on Animals and Humans 3.1 Emerging Endocrine-Disrupting Compounds 3.2 Potential Toxicity of the Application of Biosolids in Agricultural Land Legislative Framework for Soil Protection and Sewage Sludge Use 4.1 European Environmental Policies on Soil Protection 4.2 Regulations for Use of Treated Sewage Sludge on Agricultural Land Concluding Remarks

1 Soil as a System and Resource

The quality of water and air is of immediate concern for most people because we all consume these natural resources on a daily basis. The importance of soil, the generally thin layer of unconsolidated material on bedrock, is more difficult to grasp for an average citizen or politician. Nonetheless, soil is the "the biogeochemical engine of Earth's life support system" [1]. It provides us with food, fodder, fibre and fuel. In addition to these readily rateable agriculture and forestry goods, soils deliver ecosystem services that cannot be easily traded in markets. These life-supporting functions include, for example, recycling of carbon and essential nutrients of all living materials, filtering and storage of water, regulation of the atmosphere and biological control of pests [1, 2].

Continuing urbanisation, desertification intensified by global change and shortsighted agricultural practices threaten the natural soil capital [3]. In the next few decades, a decreasing land area is still expected to deliver soil-based goods and services to nine billion people [4]. The severity of this discrepancy is exacerbated by the fact that soils must be considered to be a largely non-renewable natural resource [3, 5]; the full functionality of land where the thin surface soil layer is lost by erosion or sandstorm, or severely degraded by persistent anthropogenic pollutants, will not be restored within one human generation. Although native people worldwide have traditionally valued and nurtured soil or "Mother Earth," the policy makers of the modern world have only rather recently identified the endangered status of many soils, much later than was the case for water and air resources. The EU Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection currently identifies erosion, organic matter decline, salinisation, compaction, landslides, contamination and sealing as the major threats to soils [6]. However, the long-awaited binding EU Soil Directive is still at the proposal level [5]. There is an ongoing debate in agricultural policy on whether intensified agriculture on restricted sites or wildlife-friendly farming on larger land areas would better secure delivery of soil-based goods and ecosystem services for the growing population [4]. The possibility of reverting to traditional agro-ecological or biological fertilisation strategies, such as the use of legumes with nitrogen-fixing symbiotic root nodule bacteria or symbiosis between crops and rock phosphate-leaching mycorrhizal fungi, is receiving increasing interest. Additionally, conventional (industrial) agriculture can only be sustainable if the soils are not over-exploited, meaning that the stripped natural soil capital, such as nutrients and carbon, must be replenished [1, 7]. In any case, more efficient recycling of nutrients from waste and by-products will be essential in the future [8]. The production of inorganic nitrogen fertilisers through the energyintensive Haber–Bosch process will become more expensive due to the increasing price of energy. Moreover, readily utilisable phosphorus, available in a few geographically unevenly distributed and non-renewable phosphate rock deposits, may wane even faster than fossil fuel resources [8].

The protocols of conventional agriculture, especially tilling, deplete soil organic matter content, and climate change seems to intensify this negative development [3, 7]. Sufficient organic C correlates positively with essential soil physicochemical properties such as structure and water holding capacity [9]. Biologically, organic C is the common currency of soil, feeding the entire soil food chain, from microbial decomposers to higher organisms [7]. Accordingly, replenishing stocks of soil C by organic fertilisation in the form of manure or sludge is largely beneficial.

To understand, predict and manage the functioning of soil, it is necessary to stop perceiving it merely as dirt or an abiotic surface for the growth of vegetation. Soil is an intricate three-phase system composed of a variety of solids, water and dissolved substances, as well as gases in pore air [10]. The constituents are organised into three-dimensional structures that resemble fractals and change dynamically over time. Intriguingly, changes in soil structure are biologically mediated and take place in a coordinated manner [11]; soil could thus be called the most complex biomaterial on Earth [12]. In addition to the maintenance of soil structure, the majority of other essential soil functions are also biological by nature [13, 14].

Although the role of fauna such as earthworms cannot be neglected [15], the majority of soil properties can be traced to the activity of soil microbiota, especially bacteria, fungi and archaea [13, 16, 17]. It is estimated that approximately 90% of the energy flow in soil passes through microbial decomposers [18]. Moreover, the metabolic agility of soil microbes is not limited to the consumption of various carbonaceous compounds by heterotrophs. Many bacteria and archaea (i.e. prokaryotes) are able to grow autotrophically. Phototrophs such as soil surface cyanobacteria derive energy from light. Chemolithoautotrophs can literally consume rocks and simultaneously perform biogeochemical transformation processes traditionally considered to be within the field of soil chemistry [19]. This wide diversity of energy sources and living strategies is reflected in the phylogenetic diversity of the organisms: estimates of the number of different bacterial species in just one gram of soil are in the range of 10^4 – 10^7 [20]. The total number of prokaryotic cells in that one

gram may reach 10^{10} , but due to their micron-scale sizes, they only cover approximately the same percentage of soil particle surfaces, 10^{-6} %, as the percentage of the surface of the Earth covered by humans [12].

2 Soil Contamination as the Main Threat to Soil Quality

Humans have invented many means to make life more comfortable. Excavating fossil fuels for energy and the advent of agricultural chemicals and pharmaceuticals have facilitated the improvement of the quality of life for many people. Unfortunately, many of these inventions have a downside: chemicals needed for such improvements may have adverse health effects and impacts on the environment and humans. Careless manufacturing and application of industrial and agricultural products together with the lack of suitable waste disposal has caused chemicals to end up where they were not originally meant to be, causing contamination of soil, groundwater, sediments and the food chain itself. In this sense, a contaminated site may be defined as "a site with confirmed presence of dangerous substances caused by man to such level that they may pose a significant risk to a receptor in such a way that action is needed to manage the risk" [21]. Contaminated sites are not equally distributed. Many Western European countries and the United States experienced the early years of industrialisation, and therefore, historically contaminated point source sites, such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and dioxin manufacturing facilities, are often found in these countries. Currently, many emerging economies seem willing to pay the price of environmental pollution for rapid development and an increase in the gross domestic product.

If soil contamination is classified according to the source of contamination, point sources are distinct from diffuse sources. A point source of contamination is frequently related to industrial discharges, improper waste disposal or accidental spills during the transportation or handling of hazardous substances. Domestic examples of point contamination are the careless use of septic tanks and leaking underground oil tanks. Diffuse contamination is associated with certain agriculture and forestry practices, transportation and improper waste and wastewater management. Another diffuse source of contamination is the atmospheric deposition of low-volatile compounds that may affect pristine areas at Arctic and Antarctic latitudes due to the "cold condensation effect" [22]. Soil contamination is often associated with groundwater contamination. Soil porewater moves vertically, at a rate largely determined by soil texture, when excess rain is absorbed into the deeper layers, thereby generating groundwater. By contrast, horizontal groundwater flow is driven by lakes and river systems. Vertical and horizontal groundwater flows are the means of transport for many water-soluble contaminants. Because groundwater pollution is very difficult and expensive to manage, it is imperative to prevent the leaching of contaminants into groundwater. On the other hand, non-water-soluble chemicals threat the function of primary producers living in the soil. Non-watersoluble chemicals also affect higher organisms because poorly biodegradable lipophilic substances tend to accumulate in the food chain.

Despite the difficulties of evaluating the true extent of contamination, the latest estimations in Europe in 2006 set a number of 3.5 million potentially contaminated sites [23]. Of these, approximately 0.5 million were expected to require urgent treatment. The National Priorities List of the 2012 US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) identified 1,305 superfund sites, which are defined as abandoned hazardous waste sites [24].

2.1 Contaminants in Soil

Since the beginning of industrialisation, a great variety of anthropogenic chemical compounds have been synthesised for countless uses. Some chemical groups, such as organochlorides and nitroaromatic compounds, are purposefully synthesised, while the production and incineration of some other commodities, such as polyvinyl chloride (PVC) plastic, create undesired toxic by-products. After the chemical products have served their purpose, they often end up in the environment. The microbes responsible for recycling all matter are seldom well equipped to degrade the new types of molecules, which are therefore biodegraded slowly, if at all. The final destination of persistent contaminants is often the soil, or if they pass through a water treatment plant, either sewage sludge or sediment at the bottom of rivers, lakes or the sea, where they may accumulate, thereby rendering the environment hazardous to life.

The increase in environmental awareness and the acute effects of some toxic compounds have raised questions over the safety of using many chemicals invented for agricultural and industrial applications. A great deal of current research addresses the management and remediation of old contaminated sites. Recent concerns regard the safety of consumer chemicals, especially nanomaterials; the effect of pharmaceuticals on ecosystems; and the combined effect that chemical cocktails have on human and ecosystem health.

In the following sections, the origin and fate of different hazardous and recalcitrant chemicals are considered. Many of the compound groups have been synthesised for several decades around the world, and therefore, in many cases, comprehensive inventories of the production rates of these chemicals are limited. Emission inventories are collected for scientific and administrative purposes, with great differences in their reliability, as well as in their temporal and spatial coverage [25]. Attempts to collect detailed official emission databases have been undertaken by the United Nations under different conventions, such as the Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution [26] with the additional Aarhus Protocol [27] and the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) [28]. Scientific studies often require data on other features beyond those deposited in the official databases, and therefore, many efforts have been undertaken to estimate source emission levels, environmental occurrence and final sinks [29-32]. To understand the current state of soil contaminated with hazardous, persistent chemicals, we have attempted to utilise both scientific and official sources, but the reader should bear in mind that these numbers are rough estimates at best. Descriptions, source emissions and the types of emerging contaminants frequently found in sewage sludge are discussed in [33–39].

2.1.1 Hazardous Compounds Originating from Oil Products

Crude oils are heterogeneous mixtures of hydrocarbons formed underground under high pressure from the remains of organic material. They can be refined into a multitude of products. The main use of oil is as an energy source in traffic, heating and electricity production, as approximately 34% of the global energy demand is met by oil products [40]. Crude oil is also used as a raw material in many man-made materials, such as plastics, paints and solvents. Oil is produced globally in staggering quantities, as global oil demand is foreseen to be 92.9 megabarrels per day in 2015, with an increasing demand reaching 110 megabarrels in 2035 [40]. Crude oil is perhaps globally the most exploited non-renewable natural resource. Accordingly, substances deriving from crude oil are the most common polluters of the environment.

Fate of Fuel Oil

Most fuel oil ends up in its intended place of use, as an energy source in motor vehicles or heating. Burning oil products increases the global levels of atmospheric CO₂, the most important greenhouse gas. Impurities in the oil and incomplete combustion generate nitrous oxides, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) and acid rain from sulphur dioxide because sulphur is a trace element found in many crude oils. Crude oil refining often includes steps in which oxygenated compounds, such as methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE), are added for enhanced combustion. If the fuel oil ends up in soil, the water-soluble additives often leach into groundwater, rendering it unfit for drinking.

Crude oil is only found in a number of locations on Earth, and its uneven distribution requires a vast transportation network. Dramatic oil spills that are a consequence of oil transportation and events such as the explosion at the Deepwater Horizon oil rig attract much media attention because their effects on the environment are directly visible. The most common type of petroleum contamination in the environment, however, is from sources of smaller volumes. Leaking heating oil containers, gasoline station tanks and lines; improper handling of waste; and small accidental spills comprise most of the oil pollution in soil, waterways and groundwater. The information on the amount of petroleum products contaminating our soils is fragmented, but thorough estimates of oil contamination in the oceans have been attempted in several studies starting in the 1970s. Natural seeps are the largest contributor of oil in the sea, at 600 kilotons of oil each year. Oil release to the sea by human activities is nearly equivalent, at 480 kilotons each year [41]. As for soil, the European Environment Agency estimated in 2006 that crude oil was the most important pollutant of the investigated contaminated sites, at 33.7%, which was second only to heavy metal pollution (Table 1).

Table 1 Type and source	of the most relevant group of contamina	uts in European soils		
Contaminants	Example of compounds	Source of contamination ^a	Estimated percentage ^b	References
Heavy metals	Cu, Zn, Cd, Pb, Hg, Cr	Application of animal manure (D) Military facilities (P) Gasoline stations (P) Sawmills and wood preservation sites (P) Mining and metallurgical industry (P.D)	37.3	[21, 42]
Oil hydrocarbons Chlorinated compounds	Alkanes, alkenes, cycloalkanes PCP, PCBs, PCDD/Fs	Oil industry (P,D) Manufacture of pesticide and herbicide (D)	33.7 Chlorinated phenols – 3.6	[23] [43, 44]
		Wood preservation sites (P) Pulp and paper production (P) Municipal waste incineration (P,D) Plastics, fire-retardants manufacture (P,D)	Chlorinated hydrocarbons – 2.4	
Monomeric aromatic hydrocarbons	Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene (BTEX)	Oil industry (P,D) Gasoline stations (P) Manufactured gas plants (P,D)	6	[43]
PAHs	Benzo[a]pyrene, chrysene, fluoranthene	Oil industry (P,D) Gasoline stations (P) Manufactured gas plants (P,D) Wood preservation sites (P) Municipal waste incineration (P,D) Automobile exhaust (D)	13.3	[43, 45]
Nitroaromatics	TNT, nitrobenzene, nitrophenols, atrazine	Manufacture of aniline, dyes, drugs (P,D) Explosive industry, military facilities (P, D) Manufacture of pesticides and herbicides (D)	Ũ	[46]
${}^{a}P = point contamination;$	D = diffuse contamination	and the second of the former of the second of the second	- trontomore officience of	oft of to the

According to the European Environmental Agency, the estimated percentage is based on the frequency with which a specific contaminant is reported to be the most important in the investigated site [23] ^cInformation not available

Fate of Plastic Products

Because plastic products are made of hydrocarbons, they can be burned. However, certain chlorine-rich plastic products, such as PVC, form dioxins when incinerated. Because oil-based plastics are not biodegradable, most man-made plastic that is not burned still exists today. Plastic waste is created in staggering numbers: by 1988 in the United States alone, 30 million tons of plastic were produced annually [47]. Plastic goods most often end up in municipal dumpsites and landfills. Plastic is an inert material and therefore not toxic, but the problem arises from the fact that it does not degrade [48]. Due to careless waste management, massive amounts of plastic are found floating on sea surfaces. Plastic litter comprises most worldwide marine litter, with fishing, merchant and recreational ships as the major sources of plastic litter [49]. Sea currents transport floating material to certain areas, where plastic litter converges as "plastic gyres" found in the Pacific Ocean [50] as well as the Caribbean Sea and the North Atlantic Ocean [51]. In these gyres, up to 580,000 plastic pieces per square kilometre have been reported. Plastic litter is harmful to marine organisms in several ways. For example, marine animals ingest plastic particles that can block their guts, and marine animals can become entangled in plastic debris. Floating plastic can also act as a vector for hazardous compounds or change the ecological balances in the oceans by transporting or providing a good breeding ground for invasive species [49].

Plastic products are known to eventually break down into smaller and smaller pieces (nanoparticles) until they are small enough to enter the cells of living organisms. Because the amount of discarded plastic is so substantial, nanoplastic particles pose an emerging environmental concern. The health effects of nanoplastics are not thoroughly understood, but polystyrene particles up to 240 nm in diameter have been proven to be transportable through placental cells [52].

Fate of BTEX Compounds

The monoaromatic compounds benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene, commonly found in crude oil, are often jointly called BTEX compounds. The most harmful of these compounds is benzene, which is a known carcinogen. BTEX compounds occur naturally near natural gas and petroleum deposits and are detected in the fumes of forest fires. Most of the highly volatile BTEX compounds released by human activity originate from fuel use and end up as pollutants in the air. Inhaling BTEX-polluted air is also the greatest hazard to humans by these compounds. BTEX compounds are water-soluble, and therefore, improper handling can also cause groundwater contamination.

Future of Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Although technologies for using alternate energy sources exist, most of the transportation infrastructure is still based on the consumption of refined crude oil. It seems unlikely that alternate energy sources will surpass crude oil-based fuels in the near future. Therefore, effective methods for cleaning up oil-contaminated environments are required. Because of their high carbon concentration, oil products are often readily utilised by environmental microbes. Thus biological treatment methods are typically effective at oil-polluted sites, and many promising, large scale studies confirm that bioremediation is a feasible, cost-effective method for cleaning up oil contamination in situ. Such is the example of the clean-up approach applied to tackle the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in the USA. The oil was dispersed via the direct application of a dispersant that enhanced the natural biodegradation of the oil [53].

2.1.2 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

PAHs are not produced for commercial purposes. They are naturally formed during volcanic eruptions and forest fires. However, most PAHs originate from anthropogenic sources, such as the incomplete combustion of fossil fuels, wood and waste; automobile exhaust; and petroleum derivative spills [54]. Diffuse contamination of PAHs occurs via adsorption to airborne solid particles [55]. Wind transports the particles to distant locations where they are deposited directly onto the soil or indirectly to soil through vegetation. It is estimated that soil receives $0.7-1 \text{ mg/m}^2$ of PAHs by atmospheric emissions [56, 57]. In 2004, Zhang et al. estimated the total global atmospheric emission of the 16 PAHs listed by the US EPA to be 520 Gigagrams per year [58]. Due to their low solubility, PAHs tend to be deposited into sediments and soil. Once in the soil, PAHs may be degraded or transformed, which will determine their transport, distribution and concentration. PAHs bound to organic matter have reduced mobility but also have a higher resistance to biodegradation. The binding affinity of PAHs to soil organic matter is determined by the octanol-water partition coefficient (Kow). PAHs with high molecular mass, and consequently high $\log K_{ow}$, tend to have a higher affinity for soil organic matter.

2.1.3 Nitroaromatic Compounds

The production of nitroaromatic compounds is one of the largest chemical industries today. These compounds are used in explosives, as starting materials in the pesticide and pharmaceutical industries and in dyes, among many other applications. They are identified by one or more functional nitro groups attached to the aromatic ring structure. Some nitroaromatic compounds are formed naturally, with the reactions catalysed by sunlight or radicals. Certain compounds of this group, such as nitroaromatic antibiotics produced by members of the genus *Streptomyces*, are of biological origin; therefore, pathways for their degradation exist [59]. Despite this, many man-made nitroaromatic compounds have been identified as toxic, mutagenic, carcinogenic and persistent against degradation [60].

Aniline, which is used not only to synthesise drugs, pesticides and explosives but also as a building block for materials such as polyurethane foams, rubber, azo dyes, photographic chemicals and varnishes, is manufactured at a quantity of approximately three million tons each year [61]. The toxic effects of aniline include increased nitration of proteins in the spleen [62].

The most famous explosive is trinitrotoluene, or TNT, which was mainly used in warfare in both world wars, as well as in mining and building. TNT is still widely used and produced. Most of the current problems with TNT and nitroarene compounds are found in sites where ammunition was handled, stored or manufactured. TNT is a persistent contaminant, but its microbial degradation is possible both aerobically [63] and anaerobically [64].

Even though some nitroaromatic compounds are purposefully spread in the environment as pesticides, the majority of their environmental releases are accidental. For example, in the United States alone, 5.1 tons of nitrobenzene were released in soil in 2002 [65]. The greatest known industrial releases have occurred in China; in 2005, an explosion at a chemical factory resulted in the accidental release of 100 tons of benzene and nitrobenzene to the Songhua River [66].

2.1.4 Chlorinated Compounds

Chlorinated compounds have been and still are produced for many purposes. Many cleaning agents, pesticides and pharmaceutical products rely on the chemical properties of the chlorine atom attached to a hydrocarbon backbone or ring structure. Natural degradation pathways do exist for many of these compounds because chlorinated organic compounds are common in certain more complex and biologically active molecules. Some chlorinated compounds are more readily degraded than others, and their degrees of toxicity vary.

In 1994, US PVC manufacturers used 4.26 billion kg of chlorine to produce 4.95 billion kg of PVC [67]. PVC production is the most important reason for man-made organochlorides. The manufacture of the precursor for the plastic, vinyl chloride, is the main reason for dioxin pollution in the United States [68]. The US EPA lists accidental fires and burning of municipal waste containing PVC plastic as other major sources of dioxins [69]. Dioxins are slowly degradable, and they tend to accumulate in sediments. Another important source of organochloride production is the dry-cleaning industry, where the main compound used is tetrachloroethylene (TCE). Although the use of TCE has declined throughout the 1990s due to its classification as a hazardous compound by the US EPA, it is still used in dry-cleaning facilities. For example, in 2001, US plants produced approximately 148 million kg of TCE [70].

Of the 16 POPs listed in the 1998 Aarhus Protocol [27], 11 are organochloride pesticides, which have now been banned in several countries. Most concerns regarding these products relate to their toxicity, with health effects to humans ranging from lung damage and neurological problems to death. Many organochloride pesticides are lipophilic, and they accumulate in the adipose tissues.

Due to these properties and their biochemically stable molecular structures, they are not easily biodegraded in the environment. Organochlorides are transported globally by natural processes and have been observed to accumulate in the Arctic [71]. All pesticides are tested for human toxicity before they are given permission for use. They are often not acutely toxic, at least not in minor concentrations. However, due to their chemical properties, some pesticides are bioaccumulative and are enriched in the food chain to much larger concentrations than the manufacturer intended. The most famous example of this is dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), which was first synthesised in the 1940s. DDT has been banned in many countries, but totally phasing out its use is difficult because it is efficient in preventing malaria vectors, and it is still produced at 4–5 tons each year [72]. Organochlorides of low molecular mass are readily water-soluble and thus can easily contaminate groundwater. Due to the hydrophilic nature of the chlorine atom, organochlorides are efficient compounds in cleaning agents. TCE is used by 90% of dry-cleaners in the United States today. It is toxic to humans and a suspected carcinogen.

Perhaps the most problematic chlorinated compound group includes PCBs, which have been in use since the 1920s for a period of 70 years in hydraulic oils, insulating fluids in transformers and sealants, among other substances, until their toxicity and persistence against degradation were observed. Breivik et al. [30] estimated that the global historical production and consumption of 22 PCB congeners was 1.3 million tons between the years 1930 and 1993 [73]. PCB contamination seems to be unevenly distributed, as many of the highest contamination levels can be found in urban areas [74].

Dioxins are a large group of very toxic chemicals formed when organic matter is burned in the presence of chlorine. Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs) and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) are among the most studied dioxins. Certain dioxins have in fact been coined as the most toxic compounds ever made by man. Dioxins found contaminating the environment are largely the result of human activity. The highest concentrations of dioxins are often found in soils and sediments near the facilities where they were produced or used. Today, the commercial production of many dioxins is banned, and point sources have been closed down. Currently, the largest source of dioxins is the incineration of chlorine-containing waste, which creates dioxin air pollution. Dioxins are lipophilic compounds that tend to accumulate in the adipose tissues of higher organisms. Human exposure to dioxins is mainly by consumption of dairy products, meat, fish and eggs. Dioxins are also found as impurities in PCB products or wood preservatives. A group of dioxins called chlorophenol herbicides, such as 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5-T), are commercially produced in large quantities. Large areas of land were contaminated with this compound when it was sprayed in central Vietnam as a component of Agent Orange, a defoliant sprayed in quantities of hundreds of kilograms during the Vietnam War in the 1970s.

Chlorinated phenols have been traditionally applied in the production of wood preservatives, insecticides and disinfectants. Common chlorinated phenols found in wood preservatives are 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol (TeCP), 2,4,6-trichlorophenol

(TCP), and pentachlorophenol (PCP), in order of abundance. Minor amounts of other trichlorophenols and dichlorophenols may also be present, as well as recalcitrant polychlorinated phenoxyphenols (PCPPs) and PCDD/Fs as impurities [75, 76]. In Finland, approximately 30,000 tons of CP products were used between 1934 and 1988, when they were banned because of their potential toxicity to humans and the environment [77, 78]. The careless manufacturing and application of wood preservatives together with the lack of suitable waste disposal caused massive contamination of river sediments and sawmill sites. For example, the river Kymijoki in southern Finland was identified as the largest source of dioxins accumulating in fish in the entire Baltic area. Similar products were used in other European countries, especially Nordic countries with a large forestry industry, such as Sweden [79].

2.2 Effect of Organic Contaminants on Soil Biota and Quality

Environmental contamination, either from diffuse or point sources, may compromise the ability of ecosystems to provide society with those goods and services that we require. Contamination is also linked to other widely recognised anthropogenic threats to sustainable functioning of our planet, such as the loss of biodiversity. As many soil properties and processes are conferred by soil biota, it is currently widely agreed that biological characteristics should be taken into account when evaluating the quality, or health, of soil [13, 16].

Microbial communities can respond to disturbances, such as contamination, in many different ways; any of these responses may result in perceived stability or the continuation of essential soil functions [80]. The key species may show resistance to perturbation, meaning that the pollutants have no negative (or positive) effect on them. If the initial reaction is negative but the key species are able to regain their numbers and functionality, the community is said to be resilient. If the key species are able to perform the same task under the new conditions, we see redundancy. Only if all these backup strategies fail will the deleterious effects of contamination on soil functions be observed.

Some specific processes, such as the degradation of recalcitrant chlorinated compounds or nitrogen fixation in symbiosis with leguminous plants, can only be performed by a few specialised microbial genera. If these key populations are compromised, these soil functions may be completely lost. However, for the majority of general soil processes, there is functional redundancy, with a plethora of diverse microorganisms able to perform the same actions under slightly differing conditions [17]. For example, the decomposition of plant material is performed by both soil bacteria and fungi, with the former dominating in neutral or alkaline soils and the latter dominating under acidic conditions [81]. The perceived ecological relevance of biodiversity lies in this ability of other species to take over a task if the original agent is disturbed or eliminated (insurance theory). Biodiversity, generally referred to as richness (i.e. number of different species) from the point of view of conservation, is thus assumed to ensure ecosystem stability [16, 17].

The microbial diversity of soil is vast: up to ten million species with a collective prokaryotic genome ten thousand times the size of the human genome have been found in a mere handful of dirt. In addition to rapid microbial mechanisms of genetic reorganisation, and 3.7 billion years of evolution, this diversity is predominantly produced and maintained in soil by spatial isolation of dispersed cells and small colonies [82, 83]. Although the majority of soil bacteria or archaea will never interact, even with their neighbouring cells just a few millimetres away [10, 17], such a wide biodiversity can be expected to convey a very high level of functional redundancy in microbially mediated soil processes. The true relevance of the natural soil microbial species richness, especially because many species are found in very low abundance, is still a highly disputed topic among microbial ecologists [17]. For example, a high richness does not seem to be linked to higher rates of general soil processes such as degradation of organic C. On the other hand, high diversity has been connected to more efficient degradation of hydrocarbons [84] and a reduced persistence of invader species [85]. In addition, a severe decrease in microbial diversity seems to be associated with an increased susceptibility of soil processes to further perturbation [17].

Soil contamination with inorganic or organic pollutants commonly reduces the diversity or evenness (even distribution of species) of soil bacteria [16, 17, 85]. Generally, a combination of multiple stressors, such as different pollutants or contamination and drought, exerts especially high pressure on soil communities, and the combined negative effect may not be additive but rather synergistic [86]. In the case of soil microbes, this general ecological principle does not seem to hold; prior stress has been associated with both an increase in sensitivity and an increase in community resistance or resilience [16]. In the latter case, the explanation may lay either in similar physiological mechanisms of resistance to multiple stressors or in community adaptation through increased numbers of generally more resistant species. The production of persistent resting forms such as bacterial endospores under stressful conditions can result in increased resilience [16]. Dormancy in general, meaning minimal metabolic activity associated with minimal interaction with the environment, can deliver the same advantages and seems to be a common survival strategy for soil bacteria [83].

The apparent resistance of soil microbial communities to contaminants may not be caused by insensitivity of the exposed organisms but rather by the fact that the pollutants simply are not bioavailable in the specific environment to the organisms under observation on the time scale of the observation. This holds especially true for organic contaminants with high K_{ow} values [87]. Aromatic and halogenated compounds introduced into soil in sludge tend to remain adsorbed in sludge solids such as organic material or fine inorganic particles [88]. If the compounds are released due to degradation of the sludge-derived organic material, pollutant molecules may further be adsorbed on or absorbed in more recalcitrant soil organic matter [87]. Such sorption may be either reversible or irreversible, but in any case, the mobility of low-concentration organic contaminants with poor aqueous solubility in soil is very restricted. As soil microorganisms are often located in micropores or inside aggregates, their spatial separation from pollutants can efficiently reduce their exposure.

If an organic pollutant in soil is sufficiently bioavailable to exert toxic effects, it is generally also bioavailable to organisms able to degrade it. However, the opposite may not hold true because degradative bacteria often have specific mechanisms to improve access to and uptake of organic compounds [89]. The evolutionary rationale for acquiring such mechanisms is that the bacteria degrading organic pollutants are often able to use these as sources of energy, C and N [90]. Because the degradation capacity thus provides a combined competitive advantage in the form of both protection and cell building blocks, microbes have evolved pathways to catabolise seemingly any organic compound [91]. Such organisms are also widely spread. Hydrocarbon degraders can be detected in any environment contaminated with crude or refined oil [92], but degraders of many emerging contaminants [34] belong to bacterial taxa common in the soil environment [93]. Horizontal transfer of the degradation genes from a degrader to another bacterial species, genus or even family further increases the capacity of the microbial community to cope with contamination [16]. On the other hand, some of the newer compounds, especially halogenated aromatic molecules, may be thermodynamically and biochemically so challenging to catabolise that optimal degradation pathways are still under evolutionary development [94]. For such compounds, the degraders are not necessarily widely spread in nature yet. Moreover, the concentrations of such emerging contaminants in the environment may not be sufficient to support the development or maintenance of specialised degrader communities, whereas more abundant and readily utilisable pollutants such as oil typically cause a rapid increase in the number of degraders [95].

In addition to various persistent halogenated aromatics, the introduction of pharmaceutical compounds in the environment has received attention. The ecological effects of antibiotics have particularly been studied because they can disturb microbially delivered functions in various environments such as wastewater treatment plants or agricultural soils. Moreover, the risk of development and positive selection of antibiotic-resistant bacteria is a cause of wide concern. Such concerns may seem exaggerated for soil microbial ecology because any soil contains a diversity of microbes that can produce antibiotics or are resistant to them [85]. In fact, many antibiotics were originally found in soil-inhabiting Actinobacteria, and the search for new drugs from similar sources with modern technologies is ongoing [96]. However, if a significant concentration of an antibiotic could be introduced to soil via sewage sludge, the steep concentration gradient can cause an even more rapid development of antibiotic resistance in the heterogeneous soil environment than in more homogeneous aquatic habitats [97]. Another microbial risk related to sewage sludge is the potential introduction of human pathogens into soil. Diverse soil microbial communities can often outcompete invading species such as human or plant pathogens [14]. However, if the sludge contains both a contaminant that compromises the indigenous soil community and a pathogen already acclimatised to the contaminant, the risk of the pathogen becoming established and persisting in the soil environment increases sharply.

To conclude, a review of recent literature on the connections between soil contamination, microbial biodiversity and ecosystem functioning perhaps raises

more questions than answers. Although it is not evident how diversity (and what type of diversity) is related to soil ecosystem service efficiency and stability, a conservative attitude should be maintained because soil is a non-renewable natural resource. Moreover, soil clay and organic matter contents correlate positively with biodiversity and resilience [82] but negatively with pollutant bioavailability [87]. Thus, coarse-textured mineral soils that have the greatest need for improvement by organic fertilisers are also the ones most vulnerable to the negative effects of co-introduced contaminants.

Although the role of bacterial, archaeal and fungal communities in soil health is indisputable, macrobiota have their own important functions, even in intensively managed agricultural soil. The production of soil-based goods – food, fodder, fuel and fibre – obviously depends on plant growth, and primary production is the final driver of ecosystem services [7]. Unfortunately, plants may be, in general, more sensitive to soil contamination by organic pollutants than by bacteria. The exposure and response of plants to emerging contaminants thus deserves much more attention.

3 Health Effects of Organic Contaminants on Animals and Humans

The Stockholm Convention on POPs lists 22 priority chemical substances that pose potential risks of causing adverse effects to human health and the environment. Since the convention was enacted in 2004, evidence for the toxic effects of POPs such as DDT, dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE), PCBs, PCDD/Fs and other halogenated compounds has been demonstrated for both humans and wildlife.

Due to their lipophilic nature, organic chemicals with high molecular mass tend to accumulate in the adipose tissues of living organisms. Thus, even though they are commonly present at low concentrations, adverse effects associated with chronic exposure are of a particular concern. Some POPs are capable of acting as endocrine disrupters that harm the reproductive system and development of wildlife [98–100]. For example, reproduction abnormalities, immune function impairments and thyroid deficiencies have been detected in Baltic grey seals and ringed seals due to PCB intake from food [98]. Exposure to PCBs has also caused immune dysfunction, reproductive failure, increased pup mortality, deformations and adult mortality in minks and ferrets. Other effects in mammals (e.g. seals, dolphins, porpoises and whales) linked to chlorinated compounds such as PCBs, hexachlorobenzene (HCB), 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD), toxaphene and DDT include immunotoxicity, dermal effects, carcinogenicity, vitamin and thyroid deficiencies and mass mortalities by infectious diseases [98, 101]. Water bodies contaminated by effluents from wastewater treatment plants and industries have reduced the viability of larvae of several species of fish; increased blood vitellogenin (i.e. a precursor of egg yolk protein formation) in male trout, carp, flounder and perch; and caused thyroid damage in salmon species [98, 101]. In invertebrates, exposure to PCBs and tributyltin causes masculinisation in different species of female marine gastropods. In birds, among different reproductive effects, the most evident is DDE-induced egg-shell thinning. In reptiles, feminisation and increased developmental abnormalities of turtles and alteration of sex organ development and function in alligators have been associated with exposure to chlorinated compounds [98].

Although the effects of chronic exposure of humans to low levels of POPs are difficult to predict, some biological effects have been described. For example, exposure of children to PCBs and PCDD/Fs may be linked to an elevated risk for infectious diseases. Exposure of pregnant women to PCDD/Fs may cause lower fertility in their male offspring. The adverse effects to human health of acute and chronic exposure of high concentrations of POPs, especially among industrial workers exposed to daily intakes of chemicals, are more evident. Elevated concentrations of DDE and TCDD have been associated with the development of cancers such as breast cancer, leukaemia and thyroid cancer. Dioxin exposure may also be associated with immunotoxicity, reproductive diseases and neurotoxicity. Extreme exposure to chlorinated compounds has resulted in death [101].

In addition to recognition of the toxic properties of the Stockholm POPs, PAHs are also a significant concern; therefore, 16 PAHs are listed by the US EPA as having a possible carcinogenic nature. However, PAHs with a "bay" or "fjord" region in their molecular structure are the most likely carcinogens. For instance, when entering an organism, benzo-*a*-pyrene (BaP) is activated by a series of metabolic reactions that lead to the final carcinogenic metabolite, a reactive diol epoxide, which may bind covalently to DNA, leading to mutations and tumours [102]. Only BaP is classified by the International Agency for Research Cancer (IARC) as carcinogenic to humans due to extensive evidence of the induction of different tumours by BaP in in vitro and in vivo studies in mice and mammalian cell cultures [103, 104].

3.1 Emerging Endocrine-Disrupting Compounds

Despite the evidence concerning chlorinated compounds and PAHs, a general correlation between human diseases and exposure to other organic contaminants has yet to be proven. This is especially true for new emerging contaminants at low levels of exposure. The reasons for the lack of knowledge are insufficient field or semi-field studies, a lack of data concerning residual levels in the body, ecological background, dose–response relationships and contradictory scientific results. Frequently, the main effect associated with emerging contaminants is the alteration of functions in the endocrine system, that is, the contaminants act as endocrine disrupters. The most common endocrine disrupters found in groundwater, bodies of water, wastewater effluents and sewage sludge are triclosan; tributyltin; 17β -estradiol; bisphenol A; nonylphenol; the synthetic musks galaxolide and tonalide;

the pharmaceuticals paracetamol, ibuprofen, naproxen, diclofenac and fluoxetine; polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs); and perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) [88, 105–108]. In the following section, we have focused on three types of endocrine-disrupting agents with particular interest due to the extent of the research conducted on them: bisphenol A, PBDEs and PFCs. For the other potential endocrine-disrupting chemicals listed above, see [108–111] and the references therein.

3.1.1 Bisphenol A

Scientific results for bisphenol A toxicity are contradictory. In experiments with rodents, maternal exposure during pregnancy or early post-natal exposure of pups to low doses of bisphenol A (up to 2.5 mg/kg/day) showed developmental or reproductive effects in the offspring [112]. On the contrary, in a long-term study with minnows, the NOEC (no observed effect concentration, which is defined by the US EPA as "the highest tested concentration of an effluent or a toxicant at which no adverse effects are observed on the aquatic test organisms at a specific time of observation") related to survival, growth and development parameters ranged from 16 to 1280 µg/L. This concentration range is markedly above the measured concentrations in North American and European fresh waters (ranging from 0.081 to 0.47 μ g/L and 0.01 to 0.05 μ g/L, respectively) [113]. The authors concluded that the likelihood that bisphenol A in surface waters would cause an effect in fish, even if exposed for multiple generations, is low [114]. In humans, bisphenol A has been detected in serum, breast milk and urine due to environmental or direct exposure during production, use and disposal of bisphenol A-containing products [112, 115]. Following the scientific results on the toxicity of bisphenol A in animals, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) declared that the actual effects of bisphenol A on human health need further research. The lack of scientific evidence of its toxicity at the current levels of exposure and major methodological flaws were the main reasons for their declaration [116]. Nevertheless, a global concern has been raised regarding the potential effect of bisphenol A on reproduction and neural and behavioural development in foetuses, infants and children. One of the most important worldwide actions concerning bisphenol A was to ban the manufacturing of baby bottles containing bisphenol A in the EU [117], in some states of the United States [118] and in Canada [119].

3.1.2 Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers

PBDEs are a class of brominated flame retardants (BFRs) used in textiles, plastics and electronic products. The effects of BFRs are associated with three commercial mixtures of PBDEs: decaBDE, octaBDE and pentaBDE. In laboratory animal experiments, the toxicity of PBDEs was linked to damage to liver function and, in the case of octaBDE and decaBDE, to an alteration of thyroid hormones and developmental neurotoxicity. Importantly, bacterial tests indicated that these three groups of PBDEs are not mutagenic [120]. Epidemiological studies on humans have focused on three main health effects: endocrine disruption, neurotoxicity and reproductive toxicity. Despite the lack of correlation between thyroid hormone levels and exposure to PBDEs, serum concentrations of PBDEs may be associated with alterations of hormones, as PBDEs may interact as antagonists or agonists at androgen, progesterone and oestrogen receptors [121]. Moreover, PBDEs may be inversely associated with thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) or cause a reduction in thyroid hormone T4, which may result in developmental neurotoxicity [120]. In fact, neurotoxicity is the greatest concern regarding PBDEs because there is enough evidence from animal data that suggests that pre- and postnatal exposure may cause behavioural alterations, particularly in motor performance and cognition [121].

3.1.3 Perfluorinated Compounds

Due to their persistence in the environment, perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) are the two major classes of PFCs found in the environment. Their use in a wide range of products has been reduced due to accumulating evidence of their toxicological effects and because they are now included in the Stockholm Convention. Regardless of industrial efforts to moderate their use, PFCs still remain in the environment. Consequently, serum concentrations in humans at levels proven to cause toxicological effects to laboratory animals have raised concern about their effect on human health [122–124]. A recent study has detected PFCs in human newborn cord blood at levels ranging between 30% and 79% of the maternal plasma, which demonstrates that PFCs pass, at least partly, the placental barrier [125]. Laboratory animal studies have demonstrated that hepatotoxicity (e.g. liver enlargement and induction of peroxisome proliferation), immunotoxicity and reproductive and developmental alterations are the main toxicological effects of PFOA and PFOS [123, 124].

3.2 Potential Toxicity of the Application of Biosolids in Agricultural Land

Epidemiological studies have frequently focused on the exposure to a single compound, usually at a higher concentration than that measured in the environment. Only a few studies exposing animals to a mixture of chemicals at low concentrations have been conducted. Even research using real contaminated environmental samples (e.g., wastewater, soil, sewage sludge) is negligible. To the best of our knowledge, only the studies by Bellingham and colleagues have been conducted with grazing animals exposed to sewage sludge applied to pasture [126, 127]. In their first study

[126], sheep foetuses were exposed to sewage sludge via maternal ingestion of pasture grass. The foetuses presented lower expression of genes of the gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) and galanin systems in the foetal hypothalamus and pituitary gland [126, 127], both having an important role in the regulation of reproductive function. In a similar study [127], foetal and postnatal exposure of rams to sewage sludge caused a reduction in germ cell numbers in a significant fraction of the sheep, indicating sperm production alterations. The results of these studies are difficult to extrapolate to humans because direct exposure to sewage sludge applied to soils is insignificant. Although there is insufficient animal epidemiological data, the effects of the application of biosolids on pasture raise concerns about farm animal health, welfare and productivity [100].

4 Legislative Framework for Soil Protection and Sewage Sludge Use

Whereas water and air have been traditionally more protected, awareness of the need for soil protection, despite the fundamental role of soil in providing important ecosystem services, has been scarce. European experts argue that monitoring all the compounds with potential to enter the soil system is not feasible, and they propose a list of priority substances to be regulated instead. The list is based on the substances that may enter the soil at such concentrations that they pose a risk to human health, crops, and soil biological function and diversity. Several heavy metals (cadmium, copper, lead, zinc, mercury, arsenic, nickel and chromium) and organic contaminants [PAHs, PCDD/Fs, PCBs, hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH), DDT and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethylene (DDE), among others] are included in the list. A concise description of the most relevant organic contaminants in European soils and their origins is provided in the second section of this chapter.

4.1 European Environmental Policies on Soil Protection

One of the main obstacles for effective protection of soil in Europe is that such a policy is spread across many EU laws and regulations, which are mainly focused on the protection of other environmental media or cover other objectives (e.g., air and water legislation and agriculture legislation) [128]. Because these policies are not directly oriented towards soil protection, soil has not been the subject of specific legislation or regulation for many years. A major legislative breakthrough occurred in 2002, when the preliminary communication by the commission "towards a thematic strategy on soil protection" created a common framework for soil protection. The strategy considered many stakeholders and different threats to soil quality and functions, including soil contamination [129]. The first proposal of the soil thematic

strategy was reflected in the sixth Environment Action Programme (EAP), published by the commission in 2002. In the sixth EAP, the main objectives regarding soil protection were the prevention of soil degradation, the preservation of its functions and the restoration of degraded soil [130]. The next step was the creation of extensive consultation processes during a 2003–2004 division into five working groups. Each working group was composed of experts from the public and private sector, research institutes, the European Environment Agency (EEA) and agricultural, industrial, environmental and consumer organisations [21]. The results from the contamination and land management technical group were launched in June 2004 as a set of recommendations for policy, monitoring and research focused on the priority objectives and targets of the soil thematic strategy. The targets were (1) the sustainable use of soil. (2) the preservation of soil as a resource and (3) the remediation of degraded soils. Having examined the results of the contamination technical group, the commission recognised the need for a Soil Framework Directive to be transposed to the national legislation of each member state [6]. The commission recommends that each member state create an inventory of contaminated sites based on a common definition of contaminated sites, as well as a common list of potential contaminating activities. Additionally, each member state must adopt a national remediation strategy on how to manage contaminated sites and declare a timeframe for carrying out remediation plans. Additionally, a list of potentially dangerous substances is to be compiled by each member state to prevent diffuse (non-point) contamination. The directive sets the obligation to provide a soil status report by the owner of the contaminated soil to the administration.

One year after the proposal of the Soil Framework Directive, the European Parliament adopted its first reading. However, in 2010, a few countries impeded the continuation of the process on the basis of excessive cost, administrative burden and subsidiarity. To date, the proposal remains on the council's table [131].

Nevertheless, since adoption of the strategy, the awareness of soil protection has risen, and as a consequence, numerous European projects and networks have been created, such as the CLARINET network¹ (contaminated land rehabilitation network for environmental technology in Europe) and the NICOLE² (network for industrially contaminated land in Europe). Other networks related to soil protection are the SNOWMAN network,³ working as a funding body for sustainable use of soil and water, and EURODEMO+,⁴ which encourages the demonstration of sustainable and cost-effective technologies for the treatment of contaminated soil and groundwater. The web portal EUGRIS⁵ disseminates information related to soil and water management in Europe.

¹ http://www.eugris.info/DisplayProject.asp?ProjectID=4420

² http://www.nicole.org/

³ http://www.snowmannetwork.com/

⁴ http://www.eurodemo.info/

⁵ http://www.eugris.info/

At the member state level, some countries, such as the Netherlands, a pioneer in the protection of soil, have their own national policies and regulations for the management of contaminated soils that were adopted before the Soil Framework Directive [132]. Protection guidelines vary from country to country, and specific legislation for soil contamination only exists for some member states, including the Netherlands, Italy, Austria, France, Belgium, Germany, the UK, Denmark, Spain and Finland [128].

4.2 Regulations for Use of Treated Sewage Sludge on Agricultural Land

Sludge is the solid residue originating from the process of domestic or urban wastewater treatment. The EU encourages the use of sewage sludge in agriculture through the Sewage Sludge Directive 86/278/EEC because of its rich organic matter content and the presence of other essential elements such as nitrogen and phosphorous [133]. The directive requires the pretreatment of sludge before its discharge to agricultural soil to provide protection to potential receptors (soil, vegetation, animal and human) against pathogens. Without any other specifications, the directive requires biological, chemical or thermal pretreatment. The pretreatment must be efficient enough to prevent the application of sludge to soil from being hazardous. For this reason, the sewage directive requires concentration limits for certain heavy metals (cadmium, copper, mercury, nickel, lead and zinc). It also prohibits the application of sewage sludge to "soil in which fruit and vegetable crops are growing or grown" and limits the application to "less than 10 months before fruit and vegetable crops are to be harvested."

The sewage directive was adopted over 20 years ago, and it was based on the existing knowledge of that time. Currently, the EU recognises the need for revision of the directive in light of new scientific evidence about potential risks to human health, the environment and soil quality. The proposal for the revision of the directive in the "3rd draft of the working document on sludge" sets stricter limits on heavy metals depending on the pH of the soil and includes chromium in the analysis [134]. The draft suggests that each treatment plant carry out a minimum number of chemical and biological analyses regarding the quantity of sludge produced per year. The proposal also includes an analysis of some organic contaminants that were not included in the directive (Table 2) [134]. Moreover, the EU is currently reviewing the possibility of analysing halogenated organic compounds, nonylphenol, linear alkylbenzene sulphonates, di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), PAHs, PCBs and PCDD/Fs in sludge applied to agricultural land. Regardless of the debate on the type of organic compounds and their limits, no current guidelines exist for these compounds. Similarly, no regulation takes into account an analysis of new emerging contaminants in sewage sludge. Current biological and physicochemical technologies are unable to completely eliminate
lements of the Sewage Sludge Directive 86/278/EEC [13	33] and the 3rd draft of the working document on sludge of
Directive 86/278/EEC (1986)	Working document on sludge 3rd draft (2000)
No specification of type, temperature and duration of the treatment: biological, chemical or heat treatment, long-term storage or any other appropriate process.	 <i>Advanced treatments:</i> Thermal treatment at >80°C Thermophilic aerobic stabilisation: ≥55°C for 20 h Thermophilic anaerobic digestion: ≥53°C for 20 h Thermal treatment of liquid sludge (70°C for 30 min) followed by mesophilic anaerobic digestion (35°C with mean retention time of 12 days) Lime conditioning: pH ≥ 12 and ≥55°C for 2 h Lime conditioning: pH ≥ 12 for 3 months <i>Conventional treatment:</i> Thermophilic aerobic stabilisation: ≥55°C with mean retention time of 20 days Thermophilic anaerobic digestion: ≥55°C with mean retention time of 20 days Thermophilic anaerobic digestion: ≥53°C with mean retention time of 20 days Thermophilic anaerobic digestion: ≥53°C with mean retention time of 15 days Lime conditioning: pH ≥ 12 for 24 h Mesophilic anaerobic digestion: ≥53°C with mean retention time of 15 days Lime conditioning: pH ≥ 12 for 24 h Mesophilic anaerobic digestion: ≥53°C with mean retention time of 15 days Eime conditioning: pH ≥ 12 for 24 h Mesophilic anaerobic digestion: ≥53°C with mean retention time of 15 days Eime conditioning: pH ≥ 12 for 24 h So an and a secondition time of 15 days Eime condition time of 15 days Extended aeration at ambient temperature (time adjusted to climate conditions)
Cd: 20-40 Cu: 1 000-1 750	Cd: 10 or 250 mg/kg P ^a Cu: 1 000 or 25 000 mo/ke P
Ni: 300–400 Ph: 750–1 200	Ni: 300 or 7,500 mg/kg P Ph- 750 or 18 750 mg/kg P
Zn: 2,500-4,000 Hg: 16-25 Cr: not considered	Zu: 2.500 or 62,500 mg/kg P Hg: 10 or 250 mg/kg P Cr: 1,000 or 25,000 mg/kg P
	lements of the Sewage Sludge Directive 86/278/EEC [1]. Directive 86/278/EEC (1986) No specification of type, temperature and duration of the treatment: biological, chemical or heat treatment, long-term storage or any other appropriate process. appropriate process. Cd: 20–40 Cd: 1,000–1,750 Ni: 300–400 Pb: 750–1,200 Cd: 2,500–4,000 Hg: 16–25 Cf: not considered

Pathogens	Not considered	No Salmonella spp. in 50 g of sludge (wet weight)
		At least 6 Log ₁₀ reduction (or at least 2 Log ₁₀ in the case of conventional treatments) in <i>Escherichia coli</i> to less than 5·10 ² CFU/g of sludge.
Limit values of organic contaminants in	Not considered	$AOX (500)^b$
sludge for use on land (mg/kg dry		LAS (2,600) ^c
matter)		DEHP (100) ^d
		NPE (50) ^e
		PAHs (6) ^f
		$PCBs (0.8)^g$
		PCDD/Fs (100 ng TE/kg dry matter)
Emerging contaminants	Not considered	Not considered
^a Limit values are different if they are rela	ted to phosphorus content of the soil (mg/kg of P) [134]	
^b Sum of adsorbable organic halogens		
^c Linear alkylbenzene sulphonates		
^d Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate		
^e Nonylphenol and nonylphenolethoxylates	s with 1 or 2 ethoxy groups	
^f Sum of acenapthene, phenanthrene, fluori	ine, fluoranthene, pyrene, benzo-bjk-fluoranthene, benzo-	- <i>a</i> -pyrene, benzo- <i>ghi</i> -perylene, indeno-1,2,3 <i>cd</i> -pyrene
^g Sum of the congeners 28, 52, 101, 118, 1	53, 180	

Introduction to Organic Contaminants in Soil: Concepts and Risks

low-biodegradable emerging contaminants from wastewater streams. As these contaminants are often hydrophobic, they directly accumulate in the sludge [88].

Despite increasing concerns related to potential human toxicity, evidence of adverse effects to the environment and endocrine-disrupting properties, more knowledge is required about the occurrence and detection of emerging contaminants in sludge as well as their degradability and actual risk. In this context, the following chapters of this book provide an overview of the current analytical methods for determining emerging contaminants in sewage sludge samples [33] and the different biological treatment processes available for degrading emerging contaminants in sludge [34–39].

5 Concluding Remarks

As the world population increases and clean sites become scarce, new technologies are needed to provide a clean and healthy environment for humans. The chemical industry produces tons of new, potentially hazardous chemicals every year in addition to those substances that are already known to be toxic. These chemicals are designed by humans for specific purposes that have no analogue in the biological world. However, many anthropogenic chemicals have structural resemblances to biologically produced molecules. Microbes inhabiting our soils, sediments and waters are often starved of nutrients and will readily develop ways to use emerging compounds in their metabolism. Microbial evolution is rapid, and for this reason, researchers are finding new genetic pathways for breaking down many anthropogenic chemicals that have not existed for more than a few decades. In this sense, microbes may be a useful resource for cleaning up contaminated environments.

Acknowledgements L. Valentín receives a postdoctoral subsidy *Juan de la Cierva* from the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Sustainability and a postdoctoral research abroad grant from the Finnish Foundations Post Doc Pool (*Säätiöïden post doc pooli*).

References

- Robinson DA, Hockley N, Dominati E, Lebron I, Scow KM, Reynolds B, Emmett BA, Keith AM, de Jonge LW, Schjønning P, Moldrup P, Jones SB, Tuller M (2012) Vadose Zone J 11. doi:10.2136/vzj2011.0051
- 2. Haygarth PM, Ritz K (2009) Land Use Policy 26S:S187
- 3. Banwart S (2011) Nature 474:151
- Tscharntke T, Clough Y, Wanger TC, Jackson L, Motzke I, Perfecto I, Vandermeer J, Whitbread A (2012) Biol Conserv 151:53
- CEC, Commission of the European Communities (2006) Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the protection of soil and amending Directive 2004/35/EC. 2006/0086(COD). Brussels (Belgium). http://ec. europa.eu/environment/soil/pdf/com_2006_0232_en.pdf

- CEC, Commission of the European Communities (2006) Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection, SEC (2006)620-SEC(2006)1165. Brussels (Belgium). http://ec.europa.eu/environment/soil/pdf/com_2006_0231_en.pdf
- 7. Kibblewhite MG, Ritz K, Swift MJ (2008) Philos Trans R Soc 363:685
- 8. Cordell D, Drangert J-O, White S (2009) Global Environ Change 19:292
- 9. de Jonge LW, Moldrup P, Schjønning P (2009) Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 13:1485
- 10. Or D, Smets BF, Wraith JM, Dechesne A, Friedman SP (2007) Adv Water Res 30:1505
- Crawford JW, Deacon L, Grinev D, Harris JA, Ritz K, Singh BK, Young I (2012) J R Soc Interface. doi:10.1098/rsif.2011.0679
- 12. Young IM, Crawford JW (2004) Science 304:1634
- 13. Ritz K, Black HIJ, Campbell CD, Harris JA, Wood C (2009) Ecol Indic 9:1212
- van Elsas JD, Chiurazzi M, Mallon CA, Elhottova D, Krištůfek V, Salles JF (2012) PNAS 109:1159
- 15. Bienert F, De Danieli S, Miquel C, Coissac E, Poillot C, Brun J-J, Taberlet P (2012) Mol Ecol 21:2017
- 16. Griffiths BS, Philippot L (2012) FEMS Microbiol Rev. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6976.2012.00343.x
- 17. Prosser JI (2012) FEMS Microbiol Ecol 81:507
- Nannipieri P, Ascher PJ, Ceccherini MT, Landi L, Pietramellara G, Renella G (2003) Eur J Soil Sci 54:655
- 19. Standing D, Killham K (2007) In: van Elsas JD, Jansson JK, Trevors J (eds) Modern soil microbiology, 2nd edn. CRC, Abington, United Kingdom, p 1
- Delmont TO, Robe P, Cecillon S, Clark IM, Constancias F, Simonet P, Hirsch P, Vogel T (2011) Appl Environ Microbiol 77:1315
- 21. van-Camp L, Bujarrabal B, Gentile A-R, Jones RJA, Montanarella L, Olazabal C, Selvaradjou S-K (2004) Reports of the technical working groups established under the thematic strategy for soil protection, vol 4. Contamination and land management. EUR 21319 EN/4, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities. Luxembourg. http://eusoils.jrc.ec.europa.eu/esdb_archive/Policies/STSWeb/vol4.pdf
- 22. Wania F, Mackay D (1993) Ambio 22:10
- EEA, European Environment Agency (2007) Progress in management of contaminated sites (CSI 015). http://themes.eea.europa.eu/IMS/ISpecs/ISpecification20041007131746/ IAssessment1152619898983/view_content
- 24. US EPA (2012) National Priorities List (NPL). http://www.epa.gov/superfund/sites/npl/
- 25. Breivik K, Vestreng V, Rozovskaya O, Pacyna JM (2006) Environ Sci Policy 9:663
- 26. UN/ECE, United Nations/Economic Council for Europe (1979) The 1979 Geneva convention on long-range transboundary air pollution. United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. http://www.unece.org/env/lrtap/lrtap_h1.html
- 27. UN/ECE, United Nations/Economic Council for Europe (1998) The 1998 Aarhus Protocol on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs). United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. http://www.unece.org/env/lrtap/pops_h1.htm
- 28. UN/EP, United Nations Environment Programme (2001) The Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs). http://www.pops.int
- 29. Bailey RE (2001) Chemosphere 43:167
- 30. Breivik K, Sweetman A, Pacyna JM, Jones KC (2002) Sci Total Environ 290:181
- 31. Li Y-F, Scholtz MT, van Heyst BJ (2000) J Geophys Res 105:6621
- 32. Li Y-F, Scholtz MT, van Heyst BJ (2003) Environ Sci Technol 37:3493
- 33. Eljarrat E, Díaz-Cruz MS, Farré M, López de Alda MJ, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2012) Analysis of emerging contaminants in sewage sludge, Chapter 2. In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges. Analysis, fate and biological treatment. Springer, Berlin

- 34. Hernandez-Raquet G (2012) Fate of emerging contaminants during aerobic and anaerobic sludge treatment, Chapter 3. In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges. Analysis, fate and biological treatment. Springer, Berlin
- 35. Kumar M (2012) Biodegradation of emerging organic contaminants in sewage sludge by composting, Chapter 4. In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges. Analysis, fate and biological treatment. Springer, Berlin
- 36. Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Caminal G, Vicent T, Díaz-Cruz MS, Eljarrat E, Farré M, López de Alda MJ, Petrović M, Barceló D (2012) Fungal-mediated degradation of emerging oollutants in sewage sludge, Chapter 5. In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges. Analysis, fate and biological treatment. Springer, Berlin
- 37. Cruz-Morató C, Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Marco-Urrea E, Sarrà M, Caminal G, Vicent T, Jelić A, García-Galán MJ, Pérez S, Díaz-Cruz MS, Petrović M, Barceló D (2012) Biodegradation of pharmaceuticals by fungi and metabolites identification, Chapter 6. In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges. Analysis, fate and biological treatment. Springer, Berlin
- 38. Badia M, Caminal G, Vicent T, Blanquez P, Gago-Ferrero P, Olivares A, Piña B, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2012) UV filters biodegradation by fungi, metabolites identification and hormonal activity assessment, Chapter 7. In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges. Analysis, fate and biological treatment. Springer, Berlin
- 39. Vilaplana M, Caminal G, Sarra M, Barón E, Gorga M, Thienpont B, Raldúa D, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2012) Biodegradation of technical products of brominated flame retardant by fungi, Chapter 8. In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges. Analysis, fate and biological treatment. Springer, Berlin
- 40. OPEC, Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (2011) World Oil Outlook. http:// www.opec.org/opec_web/static_files_project/media/downloads/publications/WOO_2011.pdf
- 41. Committee on Oil in the Sea, National Research Council (2003) Oil in the sea III: inputs, fates, and effects. http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10388.html.
- 42. Mirsal IA (2008) Soil pollution origin, monitoring and remediation. Springer, Berlin
- Crawford RL, Crawford DL (1996) Bioremediation: principles and applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom
- 44. Merino I, Campos V, Pacios LF, Gómez L (2009) In: Millán Gómez R, Lobo Bedmar C (eds) Contaminación de suelos. Tecnologías para su recuperación. Ciemat, Madrid, p 141
- 45. Achten C, Hofmann T (2009) Sci Total Environ 407:2461
- 46. Ye J, Singh A, Ward O (2004) World J Microbiol Biotechnol 20:117
- 47. O'Hara K, Iudicello S, Bierce R (1988) A citizen's guide to plastics in the ocean: more than a litter problem. Center for Marine Conservation, Washington, DC
- 48. Goldberg ED (1994) Mar Pollut Bull 28:466
- 49. Derraik JGB (2002) Mar Pollut Bull 44:842
- Day RH, Shaw DG, Ignell SE (1998) In: Shomura RS, Godfrey ML (eds) Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Marine Debris, April 2–7, Honolulu, Hawaii. US Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS, NOAA-TM-NMFS-SWFC-154, p 247
- 51. Law KL, Morét-Ferguson S, Maximenko NA, Proskurowski G, Peacock EE, Hafner J, Reddy CM (2010) Science 329:1185
- 52. Wick P, Malek A, Manser P, Meili D, Maeder-Althaus X, Diener L, Diener PA, Zisch A, Krug HF, von Mandach U (2010) Environ Health Perspect 118:432
- 53. Atlas RM, Hazen TC (2011) Environ Sci Technol 45:6709
- 54. Dabestani R, Ivanov IN (1999) Photochem Photobiol 70:10
- 55. Dachs J, Eisenreich SJ (2000) Environ Sci Technol 34:3690
- 56. Wilcke W (2000) J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 163:229
- 57. Johnsen AR, Karlson U (2007) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 76:533
- 58. Zhang Y, Tao S (2009) Atmos Environ 43:812
- 59. Ju KS, Parales RE (2010) Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 74:250

- 60. Purohit V, Basu AK (2000) Chem Res Toxicol 13:673
- 61. Travis AS (2007) In: Rappoport Z (ed) The chemistry of anilines, part 1. Wiley, New York
- 62. Fan X, Wang J, Soman KV, Ansari GAS, Firoze Khan M (2011) Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 255:103
- 63. Esteve-Núñes A, Caballero A, Ramos JL (2001) Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 65:335
- 64. In BH, Park JS, Namkoong W, Hwang EY, Kim JD (2008) Korean J Chem Eng 25:102
- 65. White PA, Claxton LD (2004) Mutat Res-Rev Mutat 567:227
- 66. Lague D (2005) China blames oil company for benzene spill in the river, New York Times, 25 November 2005
- 67. Coeyman M (1994) Chem Week 155:10
- Costner P, Cray C, Martin G, Rice B, Santillo D, Stringer R (1995) PVC: a primary contributor to the U.S. dioxin burden, Greenpeace. https://www.usgbc.org/Docs/ LEED_tsac/Greenpeace_US_PVCreport.pdf
- US EPA (1994) Estimating exposure to dioxin-like compounds: volume II: Properties, sources, occurrence and background exposures, Washington, DC, EPA/600/6-88/005Cb
- 70. Gold L, De Roos AJ, Waters M, Stewart P (2008) J Occup Environ Hyg 5:807
- Macdonald RW, Barrie LA, Bidleman TF, Diamond ML, Gregor DJ, Semkin RG, Strachan WMJ, Li YF, Wania F, Alaee M, Alexeeva LB, Backus SM, Bailey R, Bewers JM, Gobeil C, Halsall CJ, Harner T, Hoff JT, Jantunen LMM, Lockhart WL, Mackay D, Muir DCG, Pudykiewicz J, Reimer KJ, Smith JN, Stern GA, Schroeder WH, Wagemann R, Yunker MB (2000) Sci Total Environ 254:93
- 72. van der Berg H (2009) Environ Health Perspect 117:1656
- 73. Breivik K, Sweetman A, Pacyna JM, Jones KC (2007) Sci Total Environ 377:296
- 74. Jaward FM, Farrar NJ, Harner T, Sweetman AJ, Jones KC (2004) Sci Technol 38:34
- 75. Kitunen VH, Valo R, Salkinoja-Salonen M (1985) Int J Environ Anal Chem 20:13
- 76. Kitunen VH, Salkinoja-Salonen MS (1990) Chemosphere 20:1671
- 77. Jorens PG, Schepens PJC (1993) Hum Exp Toxicol 12:479
- 78. Birnbaum LS (1994) Environ Health Perspect 102:676
- Verta M, Salo S, Korhonen M, Assmuth T, Kiviranta H, Koistinen J, Ruokojärvi P, Isosaari P, Bergqvist P, Tysklind M, Cato I, Vikelsøe J, Larsen MM (2007) Chemosphere 67:1762
- 80. Allison SD, Martiny JBH (2008) PNAS 105:11512
- 81. Rousk J, Brookes PC, Bååth E (2010) Soil Biol Biochem 42:926
- Carson JK, Gonzalez-Quiñones V, Murphy DV, Hinz C, Shaw JA, Gleeson DB (2010) Appl Environ Microbiol 76:3936
- 83. Fierer N, Lennon JT (2011) Am J Bot 98:1
- 84. Dell'Anno A, Beolchini F, Rocchetti L, Luna GM, Danovaro R (2012) Environ Pollut 167:85
- van Elsas JD, Tam L, Finlay RD, Killham K, Trevors JT (2007) In: van Elsas JD, Jansson JK, Trevors J (eds) Modern soil microbiology, 2nd edn. CRC, Abington, United Kingdom, p 177
- 86. Højer R, Bayley M, Damgaard CF, Holmstrup M (2001) Global Change Biol 7:485
- 87. Loibner A, Jensen J, Ter Laak T, Celis R, Hartnik T (2006) In: Jensen J, Mesman M (eds) Ecological risk assessment of contaminated land: decision support for site specific investigations. RIVM report 711701047. Bilthoven, The Netherlands, p 19
- 88. Clarke BO, Smith SR (2011) Environ Int 37:226
- 89. Stroud JL, Paton GI, Semple KT (2007) J Appl Microbiol 102:1239
- Leuing KT, Nandakumar K, Sreekumari K, Lee H, Trevors JT (2007) In: van Elsas JD, Jansson JK, Trevors J (eds) Modern soil microbiology, 2nd edn. CRC, Abington, United Kingdom, p 521
- 91. Robertson SJ, McGill WB, Massicotte HB, Rutherford PM (2007) Biol Rev 82:213
- 92. Brassington K, Hough R, Paton G, Semple K, Risdon G, Crossley J, Hay I, Askari K, Pollard SJT (2007) Crit Rev Env Sci Technol 37:199
- 93. Janssen PH (2006) Appl Environ Microbiol 72:1719
- 94. Copley SD, Rokicki J, Turner P, Daligault H, Nolan M, Land M (2012) Genome Biol Evol 4:184

- 95. Mikkonen A (2012) The potential of microbial ecological indicators to guide ecosophisticated management of hydrocarbon-contaminated soils. PhD thesis, University of Helsinki
- 96. Daniel R (2004) Curr Opin Biotechnol 15:199
- 97. Hermsen R, Deris JB, Hwa T (2012) PNAS 109:10775
- 98. Vos JG, Dybing E, Greim HA, Ladefoged O, Lambré C, Tarazona JV, Brandt I, Vethaak AD (2000) Crit Rev Toxicol 30:71
- 99. Sikka SC, Wang R (2008) Asian J Androl 10:134
- 100. Rhind S (2005) Reprod Domest Anim 40:282
- 101. IPCS, International Programme on Chemical Safety (1995) A review of selected persistent organic pollutants. http://www.who.int/ipcs/assessment/en/pcs_95_39_2004_05_13.pdf
- 102. Mattsson Å (2008) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: DNA damage and cell signaling. PhD thesis, Universitetsservice US-AB. Karolinska Institutet
- 103. IARC, International Agency for Research on Cancer (2010) IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, vol 92. Some non-heterocyclic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and some related exposures. http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol92
- 104. WHO, World Health Organization (1998) Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in drinking water. Background document for development of WHO guidelines for drinking-water quality. http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/chemicals/polyaromahydrocarbons.pdf
- 105. Lapworth DJ, Baran N, Stuart ME, Ward RS (2012) Environ Pollut 163:287
- 106. Rodil R, Benito Quintana J, Concha-Grana E, Lopez-Mahia P, Muniategui-Lorenzo S, Prada-Rodriguez D (2012) Chemosphere 86:1040
- 107. Kristensen DM, Skalkam ML, Audouze K, Lesne L, Desdoits-Lethimonier C, Frederiksen H, Brunak S, Skakkebaek NE, Jegou B, Hansen JB, Junker S, Leffers H (2011) Environ Health Perspect 119:534
- 108. Caliman FA, Gavrilescu M (2009) Clean Soil Air Water 37:277
- 109. Bedoux G, Roig B, Thomas O, Dupont V, Le Bot B (2012) Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 19:1044
- 110. Bruce GM, Pleus RC, Snyder SA (2010) Environ Sci Technol 44:5619
- 111. Antizar-Ladislao B (2008) Environ Int 34:292
- 112. Sekizawa J (2008) J Toxicol Sci 33:389
- 113. Klecka GM, Staples CA, Clark KE, van der Hoeven N, Thomas DE, Hentges SG (2009) Environ Sci Technol 43:6145
- 114. Staples CA, Tilghman Hall A, Friederich U, Caspers N, Klecka GM (2011) Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 74:1548
- 115. Fernandez MF, Rivas A, Pulgar R, Olea N (2001) In: Nicolopoulu-Stamati P, Hens L, Howard CV (eds) Endocrine disrupters. Environmental health and policies. Kluwer, Dordrecht, p 149
- 116. Arnich N, Canivenc-Lavier M, Kolf-Clauw M, Coffigny H, Cravedi J, Grob K, Macherey A, Masset D, Maximilien R, Narbonne J, Nesslany F, Stadler J, Tulliez J (2011) Int J Hyg Environ Health 214:271
- 117. EC, European Commission (2011) Commission Directive 2011/8/EU of 28 January 2011 amending Directive 2002/72/EC as regards the restriction of use of Bisphenol A in plastic infant feeding bottles, Brussels (Belgium)
- 118. US EPA (2010) Bisphenol A Action Plan. http://www.epa.gov/oppt/existingchemicals/pubs/ actionplans/bpa_action_plan.pdf
- 119. Canada (2008) Government of Canada acts to protect new borns and infants from Bipshenol A in polycarbonate plastic baby bottles. http://hc-sc.gc.ca/ahc-asc/media/nr-cp/_2009/ 2009_106-eng.php
- 120. Wikoff-Staskal D, Birnbaum L (2011) In: Eljarrat E, Barcelo D (eds) Handbook of environmental chemisry series, vol 16. Springer, Berlin, p 19
- 121. Costa LG, Giordano G (2007) Neurotoxicology 28:1047
- 122. Ji K, Kim S, Kho Y, Paek D, Sakong J, Ha J, Kim S, Choi K (2012) Environ Int 45:78

- 123. DeWitt JC, Peden-Adams MM, Keller JM, Germolec DR (2012) Toxicol Pathol 40:300
- 124. Lau C, Anitole K, Hodes C, Lai D, Pfahles-Hutchens A, Seed J (2007) Toxicol Sci 99:366
- 125. Gützkow KB, Haug LS, Thomsen C, Sabaredzovic A, Beche G, Brunborg G (2012) Int J Hyg Environ Health 215:216
- 126. Bellingham M, Fowler PA, Amezaga MR, Whitelaw CM, Rhind SM, Cotinot C, Mandon-Pepin B, Sharpe RM, Evans NP (2010) J Neuroendocrinol 22:527
- 127. Bellingham M, McKinnell C, Fowler PA, Amezaga MR, Zhang Z, Rhind SM, Cotinot C, Mandon-Pepin B, Evans NP, Sharpe RM (2012) Int J Androl 35:317
- 128. Rodrigues SM, Pereira ME, da Silva EF, Hursthouse AS, Duarte AC (2009) Environ Int 35:202
- 129. COM, Commission of the European Communities (2002) Communication from the commission to the council, the European Parliament, the Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Towards a Thematic Strategy for Soil Protection. COM (2002) 179
- 130. European Parliament Council (2002) Decision 1600/2002/EC laying down the Sixth Community Environment Action Programme
- 131. EC, European Commission (2012) Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions – The implementation of the Soil Thematic Strategy and ongoing activities. http:// ec.europa.eu/environment/soil/three_en.htm
- 132. Breure T, Peijnenburg W (2003) J Soils Sediments 3:248
- 133. Council of the European Communities (1986) Council Directive of 12 June 1986 on the protection of the environment, and in particular of the soil, when sewage sludge is used in agriculture (86/278/EEC), Brussels, Belgium
- 134. EC, European Commission (2000) Working document on sludge 3rd draft. http://ec.europa. eu/environment/waste/sludge/workingdoc3.htm

Analysis of Emerging Contaminants in Sewage Sludge

E. Eljarrat, M.S. Díaz-Cruz, M. Farré, M.J. López de Alda, M. Petrović, and D. Barceló

Abstract This chapter summarizes the advances in knowledge regarding the analysis of emerging contaminants in sewage sludge samples. Pharmaceutical compounds, estrogens, illicit drugs, UV filters (sunscreens), brominated flame retardants, and perfluorinated compounds are selected as emerging contaminants of particular concern, as many of them display endocrine-disrupting properties. These substances are released as a consequence of human activities and enter the wastewater network after use in households and industry. Due to their physico-chemical properties, they tend to accumulate in sewage sludge during wastewater treatment, so the common practice of spreading sewage sludge over agricultural land can constitute a source of many important xenobiotic compounds. In this chapter, we discuss the use of different sample-preparation techniques applied to sludge, as well as the different approaches for mass spectrometry (MS). Finally, we review the available data concerning the occurrence of selected analytes in sewage sludges.

E. Eljarrat (🖂), M.S. Díaz-Cruz, M. Farré, and M.J. López de Alda

Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA, CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

e-mail: eeeqam@cid.csic.es

M. Petrović ICREAInstitució Catalana de Recerca i Estudis Avançats, Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona, C/Emili Grahit, 101, 17003 Girona, Spain

D. Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA, CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona, C/Emili Grahit, 101, 17003 Girona, Spain

T. Vicent et al. (eds.), *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and* 31 *Biological Treatment*, Hdb Env Chem (2013) 24: 31–72, DOI 10.1007/698_2012_155, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012, Published online: 27 April 2012

Keywords Brominated flame retardants, Estrogens, Gas chromatography, Illicit drugs, Liquid chromatography, Mass spectrometry, Perfluorinated compounds, Pharmaceutical compounds, Polybrominated diphenyl ether, Tandem mass spectrometry, UV filters

Contents

1	Intro	duction	34
2	Eme	rging Contaminants	35
	2.1	Pharmaceutical Compounds	36
	2.2	Estrogens	36
	2.3	Illicit Drugs	37
	2.4	UV Filters (Sunscreens)	37
	2.5	Brominated Flame Retardants	38
	2.6	Perfluorinated Compounds	38
3	Anal	ytical Methodologies	39
	3.1	Sample Preparation	39
	3.2	Instrumental Determination	52
4	Occu	rrence in Sewage Sludge	57
	4.1	Pharmaceutical Compounds	58
	4.2	Estrogens	59
	4.3	Illicit Drugs	59
	4.4	UV Filters (Sunscreens)	64
	4.5	Brominated Flame Retardants	64
	4.6	Perfluorinated Compounds	65
5	Conc	lusions and Perspectives	66
Ret	ferenc	es	67

Abbreviations

4DHB	4,4'-Dihydroxybenzophenone
4HB	4-Hydroxybenzophenone
4-MBC	3-(4-Methylbenzylidene) camphor
AM	Amphetamine
APCI	Atmospheric pressure chemical ionization
APPI	Atmospheric pressure photoionization
ASE	Accelerated solvent extraction
BE	Benzoylecgonine
BFR	Brominated flame retardant
BM-DBM	Butyl methoxydibenzoylmethane
CO	Cocaine
DAD	Diode array detection
DBDPE	Decabromodiphenylethane
DBT	Diethylhexyl butamido triazone
Dw	Dry weight
E1	Estrone
E1-3S	Estrone-3-sulfate

E2	17β-Estradiol
E2-3S	Estradiol-3-sulfate
E3	Estriol
ED	Electrochemical detection
EE2	17α-Ethynyl estradiol
EHMC	Ethylhexyl-methoxycinnamate
EHS	Ethylhexyl salicylate
EHT	Ethylhexyl triazone
EI	Electron impact
EPI	Enhanced product-ion
ESI	Electrospray ionization
EU	European Union
FLD	Fluorescence detection
FR	Flame retardants
GC	Gas chromatography
GPC	Gel permeation chromatography
HBB	Hexabromobenzene
HBCD	Hexabromocyclododecane
HLB	Hydrophilic–Lipophilic Balance
HMS	Homosalate
HRMS	High resolution mass spectrometry
IAMC	Isoamyl methoxycinnamate
IT	Ion trap
K _{OW}	Octanol-water partition coefficient
LC	Liquid chromatography
LDTD	Laser diode thermal desorption
LOD	Limit of detection
LOQ	Limit of quantification
LRMS	Low resolution mass spectrometry
MA	Methamphetamine
MAE	Microwave-assisted extraction
MDL	Method detection limit
MDMA	Ecstasy
MS	Mass spectrometry
MS-MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
NCI	Negative chemical ionization
N-EtFOSAA	Perfluorooctanesulfonamidoacetate
OC	Octocrylene
ОТ	Octyl-triazone
PBB	Polybrominated biphenyl
PBDE	Polybrominated diphenyl ether
PBEB	Pentabromoethylbenzene
PFA	Perfluorinated acid
PFBA	Perfluorobutanoic acid

PFBS	Perfluorobutanesulfonate
PFC	Perfluorinated compound
PFEtS	Perfluoroethanesulfonate acid
PFOA	Perfluorooctanoic acid
PFOS	Perfluorooctanesulfonate
PFOSA	Perfluorooctanesulfonamide
PFPrA	Perfluoropropionic acid
PFPrS	Perfluoropropanesulfonate
PhACs	Pharmaceutically active compounds
PLE	Pressurized liquid extraction
PMALE	Pressurized membrane-assisted liquid extraction
POP	Persistent organic pollutant
QqLIT	Quadrupole linear ion trap
QqQ	Triple quadrupole
RP	Reverse phase
SBSE	Stir bar sorptive extraction
SIM	Selected ion monitoring
SLE	Solid–liquid extraction
SPE	Solid phase extraction
SPME	Solid phase microextraction
SRM	Selected reaction monitoring
TBBPA	Tetrabromobisphenol A
TD	Thermal desorption
TFA	Trifluoro acetic acid
TOF	Time of flight
UPLC	Ultra-performance liquid chromatography
USE	Ultrasonic extraction
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

1 Introduction

New studies are revealing the presence in the environment of substances that we use on a daily basis in our homes, industries, and agricultural fields. These substances are called emerging contaminants. Among the large variety of compounds, we highlight the pharmaceutical compounds, estrogens, illicit drugs, UV filters (sunscreens), brominated flame retardants (BFRs), and perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) due to their endocrine-disrupting properties.

The main points of collection and subsequent release of these contaminants into the environment are wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), where they enter via domestic and hospital sewages or industrial discharges [1]. Some of them are more likely accumulated in sewage sludge, due to their moderate to high hydrophobic properties. Thus, their sorption onto sludge constitutes an important process for their removal from the water column.

The high volume of sewage sludge produced nowadays is partly a consequence of the increase in the number of new WWTPs built to achieve the water-quality standards set by the European Union (EU) (Directives 91/271/EEC and 98/15/ EEC). The EU considers that reuse of sludge should be encouraged, since it represents a long-term solution. In Europe, the agricultural use of sewage sludge is, along with disposal to landfills, the most popular disposal route. Of the total sludge produced in European countries, the percentage of reused sludge reached levels as high as 50% in Germany, 54% in Spain, 65% in France, and 71% in the United Kingdom [2]. Despite the valuable properties of sewage sludge, such as relatively high levels of organic matter, the widespread application of sewage sludge in agriculture needs to be critically evaluated in view of the concomitant presence of a variety of contaminants that may adversely affect environment and health. Sludges are treated before application to reduce odor and pathogen content. Moreover, the application of sewage sludge to soils is limited by guideline concentrations of heavy metals in the soil through the EU Directive on the use of sewage sludge in agriculture (COM 86/278). No similar guidelines exist for organic contaminants in sludge or soils at present. The European Union is currently studying the issue and may enact legislation on the application of sewage sludge containing organic pollutants (such as polychlorinated biphenyls, benzo[a]pyrene, and dioxins and furans) to agricultural land [3]. However, the presence of new emerging contaminants in sewage sludge is not yet evaluated.

In this context, we need to increase our knowledge about the occurrence of all these emerging contaminants in sewage sludge, with the aim of evaluating and reducing potential sources of these compounds entering the environment (e.g., the common practice of using biosolids as fertilizers in agriculture). However, one of the main drawbacks is the availability of reliable analytical methods able to determine these families of compounds from a variety of physical and chemical properties, and in a matrix as complex as the sludge.

This chapter reviews the published analytical methods for the determination of selected emerging contaminants in sewage sludge samples, including sample preparation techniques as well as instrumental approaches. We survey the current state of the art and examine future perspectives. Finally, levels of selected compounds found in sewage sludge samples are reviewed.

2 Emerging Contaminants

In this chapter, among the large variety of compounds, we include some of the emerging contaminants most commonly found in sewage sludge: pharmaceutical compounds, estrogens, illicit drugs, UV filters (sunscreens), BFRs, and PFCs.

2.1 Pharmaceutical Compounds

In a vast array of contaminants of anthropogenic origin reaching our water supplies, pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) are among the ones with the most continuous input into the environment, which is raising concerns of long-term consequences on human health [4]. PhACs are a group of chemical substances that have medicinal properties, and they are produced worldwide on a 100,000 tonne scale. Most of the modern drugs are small organic compounds with a molecular weight below 500 Da, which are moderately water soluble as well as lipophilic, in order to be bioavailable and biologically active. After the oral, parenteral, and/or topical administration, PhACs are excreted via liver and/or kidneys as a mixture of parent compound and metabolites that are usually more polar and hydrophilic than the original drug.

PhACs are designed to have specific pharmacologic and physiologic effects at low doses and thus are inherently potent, often with unintended outcomes in wildlife [5]. Their consumption increased last years and will continue to increase due to the expanding population, inverting age structure in the general population, increase of per capita consumption, expanding potential markets, patent expirations, new target age groups, etc. After their usage, a large fraction of these substances are discharged into the wastewater unchanged or in the form of degradation products that are often hardly eliminable in conventional WWTPs. Depending on the efficiency of the treatment and chemical nature of a compound, PhACs can reach surface and ground waters. In the worst-case scenario, they are encountered in the drinking water, in spite of the expensive treatment steps.

Among pharmaceuticals, antibiotics have become of special concern in recent years. The reason is that these substances are continuously being introduced into the environment and may spread and maintain bacterial resistance in the different compartments. Sulfonamides are very commonly used antimicrobials in humans but mainly in veterinary medicine, due to their broad spectrum of activity and low cost, being the second most widely used veterinary antibiotic in the EU. Their occurrence has been reported in all kinds of water matrices; their high excretion rates (after their intake by humans of livestock) and high water solubility make them very ubiquitous and persistent pollutants in the environment.

2.2 Estrogens

Steroid sex hormones, such as natural and synthetic estrogens, constitute a group of environmental emerging contaminants of particular concern, as they present endocrine-disrupting properties. In the last decades, these compounds have been widely used for human medicine and animal farming and consequently released into the environment. Free unchanged estrogens and less toxic conjugated forms are daily discharged into the aquatic systems through treated and untreated sewage waters, and as a result of fish farming activities, manure runoff, and sewage sludge application in agriculture [1]. The presence of the natural estrogens 17β -estradiol (E2) and estrone (E1), and the synthetic estrogen 17α -ethynyl estradiol (E2), in aquatic environments, even at very low levels (0.1–10 ng/L), has been linked with different estrogenic effects (e.g., intersex, increase of plasma vitellogenin levels) observed in several aquatic species [1, 6]. Contrary to excreted conjugated forms (less toxic and more polar), free estrogens are more likely to accumulate in sediments and sewage sludge, due to their moderate to high hydrophobic properties [log octanol-water partition coefficient (K_{OW}) = 3–5] [1].

2.3 Illicit Drugs

In the last years, drugs of abuse, which present volumes of production and usage comparable to some prescription or over-the-counter drugs, have received increasing interest by environmental analytical chemists as a new confirmed group of environmental emerging contaminants. The main source of these compounds in the aquatic environment is STP effluents, as direct disposal in natural streams is not likely. Some classes of illicit drugs, such as cannabinoids, are highly hydrophobic, with log K_{OW} between 5 and 7.6, and can therefore be expected to bind to sewage sludge [7]. Conversely, other drugs of abuse, such as amphetamine and related compounds, cocainics, LSD and opioids, present medium to polar characteristics, being thus expected to partition to a higher extent in the aqueous phase.

2.4 UV Filters (Sunscreens)

Sunscreen agents, also known as UV filters, have become very popular chemicals since they were shown to have a protective role against photoaging [8], photocarcinogenesis [9], and photoimmunosuppression [10] promoted by UV sun radiation. These compounds are extensively used in personal care products but are also present in a wide variety of industrial goods such as textiles, paints, or plastics to prevent photodegradation of polymers and pigments [11]. According to an exhaustive report on personal care products, UV filters experienced the highest sales growth, 13% in Europe from 2002 to 2003 reaching around 1,000 US \$ mill (ACNielsen Global Services, 2004). However, recent concern has risen due to their potential for endocrine disruption and developmental toxicity [12, 13]. More data about UV filters toxicity in the aquatic environment have been described by Fent et al. [14] and Brausch and Rand [15].

UV filters enter the aquatic environment directly as a result of recreational activities when they are washed off from the skin, or indirectly through wastewater resulting from the use of personal care products, washing clothes, and industrial discharges. Residues of more polar organic UV filters have been found in all kinds

of water matrices [16-18] including tap water [19]. Due to the high lipophilicity and poor biodegradability of many UV filters, they end up in sewage sludge during wastewater treatment [20-23], and accumulate in river sediments [24, 25] and in biota [16-18].

2.5 Brominated Flame Retardants

BFRs are one of the last classes of halogenated compounds that are still being produced worldwide and used in high quantities in many applications. In order to meet fire safety regulations, flame retardants (FRs) are applied to combustible materials such as polymers, plastics, wood, paper, and textiles. Approximately 25% of all FRs contain bromine as the active ingredient. More than 80 different aliphatic, cyclo-aliphatic, aromatic, and polymeric compounds are used as BFRs. BFRs, such as polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD), and tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA), have been used in different consumer products in large quantities, and consequently they were detected in the environment, biota, and even in human samples [26, 27].

Due to the toxicological effect of PBDEs, the production and use of penta-, octa-, and deca-BDE mixtures have been banned in Europe. Moreover, and in response to increasing international regulations on BFR formulations, alternative FRs for achieving commercial product fire safety standards are being developed and used. Some of these non-BDE BFRs are pentabromoethylbenzene (PBEB), hexabromobenzene (HBB), and decabromodiphenylethane (DBDPE) [28].

HBCD is a brominated aliphatic cyclic hydrocarbon used as a flame retardant in thermal insulation building materials, upholstery textiles, and electronics. In 2001, the world market demand for HBCD was 16,700 tons, from which 9,500 tons was sold in the EU. These figures make HBCD the second highest volume BFR used in Europe [29]. HBCD may be used as an alternative for PBDEs in some applications. To date, there are no restrictions on the production or use of HBCD. As a result of their widespread use and their physical and chemical properties, HBCD are now ubiquitous contaminants in the environment and humans [30, 31].

2.6 Perfluorinated Compounds

PFCs have been manufactured since 1940s. Because of their properties, these compounds are employed in a wide variety of industrial and consumer products. Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) have been two of the most used and studied PFCs, but due to their resistance to degradation, widespread in the environment, bioaccumulation and toxicological properties, these two compounds are limited in use and production practically worldwide. However,

due to their high persistence and because they are the degradation products of other PFCs currently in use, PFOS and PFOA are two of the more frequently found compounds in the environment. Recently, PFOS has been included as a persistent organic pollutant (POP) under the Stockholm Convention for global regulation of production and use [32]. PFCs are also prime candidates for chemicals that will need authorization within the REACH regulation [33].

PFCs have been detected in environmental and biological samples being widespread around the world including water, soils and sediments, human samples, and even in remote areas such as the Arctic (atmosphere [34], Arctic Ocean [35], biological samples [36, 37] and few reviews have been published [38, 39]) or Antarctic (biological samples as penguins or seals [40, 41]).

3 Analytical Methodologies

Several methodologies have been published for the determination of selected emerging contaminants in sewage sludge. The most recently reported methods are summarized in Table 1, comprising extraction of the sludge sample, subsequent purification of the extract, and final analysis by either gas or liquid chromatography (GC or LC) coupled to mass spectrometry (MS) or tandem mass spectrometry (MS–MS).

3.1 Sample Preparation

Sampling of sewage sludge must be done according to ISO-5667 [42]. Storage and transport must be carried out in the dark (in order to avoid photodegradation) at approximately 4°C. Pre-treatment must be done immediately in the laboratory by thickening by centrifugation, freeze drying to stabilize the sample, homogenizing and sieving. A number of precautionary measures must be taken in order to avoid sample contamination. All glassware used must be previously washed and heated overnight at 380°C, and further sequentially rinsed with different organic solvents and HPLC grade water. In addition, a set of operational blanks must be processed together with each batch of samples. Since some of the compounds analyzed undergo photodegradation, stock standard solutions and samples were always covered with aluminium foil and stored in the dark.

3.1.1 Extraction Techniques

There are a number of procedures described in the literature dealing with the extraction of emerging contaminants from solid matrices. For extractions of solid samples, Soxhlet is widely accepted as a robust liquid–solid extraction technique.

Table 1 Overview of methods applied to determinati	on of emerging contaminants in sew	vage sludge		
Compounds	Sample preparation	Instrumental analysis	LOD (ng/g)	Ref.
Pharmac euticals				
43 compounds (analgesics and anti-inflammatory drugs, lipid regulator and cholesterol lowering	PLE: MeOH/H ₂ O, 1:2 (v:v), 100°C; SPE: Oasis HLB,	LC-QqLIT-MS	0.01-8	[93]
statin drugs; psychiatric, psychoactive drugs; antibiotics; β-blockers; B. antoconiete: dimenice: anticocontlante)	pH 7			
Prantagonists, duractes, antecoagutants) 19 compounds (pharmaceuticals, steroid hormones,	USE: ACN:water (5:3)	UPLC-MS-MS	0.1–3 ^a	[56]
and EUCS)				
15 compounds (antibiotics and others)	PLE: ACN:water (1:3), 100°C	LC-ESI-MS-MS	0.6–146	[138]
10 compounds (actdrc pharmaceuticals, phenolic EDCs)	USE: MeOH/H ₂ O, derivatization	GC-MS	c7-c1	[601]
31 compounds (analgesics and anti-inflammatory	PLE: MeOH/H ₂ O, 1:2 (v:v),	LC-ESI-MS-MS	0.35-160 (treated);	[49]
drugs, antiulcer agent, psychiatric drugs, antiepileptic drugs, antibiotics,	100°C; SPE: Oasis HLB, pH 7		0.15–114 activated); 0.17–256 (MBRs)	
β-blockers, diuretics, hypoglycemic agents, lipid				
regulator and cholesterol lowering statin drugs, anti-histamines)				
27 compounds (analgesics and anti-inflammatory	PLE: MeOH/H ₂ O, 1:1 (v:v),	LC-ESI-MS-MS	2–580	[50]
drugs, lipid regulator and cholesterol lowering statin drugs: nsvchiatric, nsvchoactive drugs:	oU'C; SPE: Oasis HLB, pH 5.5			
antibiotics; β-blockers; β-antagonists; diuretics;				
anticoagulants)				
20 compounds (antiepileptic drugs, antibiotics, anti- histamines. lipid regulators, analgesics and anti-	USE: MeOH/acetone; SPE: Oasis HLB (pH 2:	LC-ESI-MS-MS	0.26–250	[43]
inflammatory drugs, antihypertensives)	pH 3; pH 6)			
8 compounds (antibiotics and antiepileptic)	USE: MeOH, 0.1 M acetic acid and 5% Na ₂ EDTA 2:1:1	LC-ESI-MS-MS	-17	[44]
	(v:v:v); SPE: Strata-X			

11 compounds (macrolides, sulfonamides, anti- histamines, antiulcer agent and trimethoprim)	PLE: MeOH/H ₂ O (pH 3) 1:1 (v:v), 80°C;	LC-ESI-MS	2.0-11	[51]
6 compounds (lipid regulators, analgesics and	Filtration: 0.45 μm USE: MeOH/acetone;	GC-EI-MS	4-40	[45]
anti-inflammatory drugs)	SPE: Oasis MCX		c L	
12 antibiotics (fluoroquinolones, sulfonamides, cephalosporins, penicillins, nitroimidazoles, tetracyclines, macrolides)	USE: phosphate buffer pH 6	LC-ESI-MS-MS	-5.3	[46]
8 compounds (sulfonamides, macrolides, and trimethoprim)	USE: MeOH/acetone; PLE: MeOH/H ₂ O 1:1(v:v),100°C; SPE: Oasis HLB	LC-ESI-MS-MS	3-41	[52]
9 fluoroquinolones	USE: MeOH/H ₂ O 30:70 (v:v) 15 mM sodium tetraborate solution pH 4.2; SPE: Chromabond Tetracycline polypropylene columns	LC-FLD LC-FLD	MS(SIM): 0.3–7.5 MS(SRM): 0.6–6.8 FLD: 11–62	[47]
Triclosan and transformation products	MAE: MeOH/acetone 1:1 (v:v); SPE: Oasis HLB, pH 2.5	GC-MS-MS	0.8	[48]
<i>Esteroid estrogens</i> E3, E2-3S, E1-3S, 17α-E2, E2, EE2, E1, DES, E2-17A	Lyophilization, homogenization, sieving (<125 µm) PLE Extract filtration (0.45 µm)	LC-ESI-MS-MS	0.15-175	[51]
			3)	continuea

Table 1 (continued)				
Compounds	Sample preparation	Instrumental analysis	LOD (ng/g)	Ref.
E1, E2, E3, EE2	Centrifugation, freezing, lyophilization Tumbling Cleanup: SPE and LC-DAD Derivatization	GC-MS	5-10	[53]
E1, E2, EE2	USE Cleanup: GPC, silica gel, SPE and LC Derivatization	GC-(EI)-MS-MS	2-4	[54, 97]
E1, E2, E3, EE2	USE Cleanup: centrifugation, solid phase ion exchange, LLE and SPE	LC-ESI-TOF	лг	[55]
E1, E2, E1-3G, E1-3S, E2-3S, E2-3,17S, E2-3G, E2-3G-17S, E2-17G, EE2	Centrifugation, lyophilization, homogenization Soxhlet extraction Cleanup: SPE	LC-ESI-MS-MS	Ъг	[61]
E1, E2, E3, EE2	Lyophilization and sieving (2 mm) PLE Cleaning: SPE and LC	GC-EI-MS and LC-ESI-MS-MS	1–3 2–16	[62]
E1, E2 E1, E2, 17α-E2, EE2, E3	SBSE Centrifugation, lyophilization, grinding, sieving USE Cleanup: SPE, derivatization with dansyl chloride, LLE with hexane, silica gel column chromatography	GC-EI-MS UPLC-ESI-MS-MS	0.02 ^b 0.1–0.3 ^b	[63] [56]

E1, E2, EE2, DES	Centrifugation, Iyophilization, crushing, homogenization USE Cleanup: SPE	RR-LC-ESI-MS-MS	0.10-0.98	[57]
E1, E2, E3, EE2	USE Cleanup: SPE	LDTD-APCI-MS-MS	9.2–13.9	[58]
E1, E2, E3, EE2, E1-3S	Lyophilization Mechanical shaking Cleanub: SPE, GPC, SPE	LC-ESI-MS-MS	2.1–5.3	[59]
E1, E2, E3, EE2	USE Cleanup: SPE	LC-DAD-FLD	2.30–30.4 ^b	[09]
Illicit drugs AM	Centrifugation USE	LC-ESI-IT-MS	5	[86]
	Filtration and pH adjustment (pH 10) Cleanup: SPE and filtration			
МА	Homogenization PLE Cleanup: hexane	LC-ESI-IT-MS	ы	[66]
CO, BE, AM, MA	Lyophilization PLE Addition of water + centrifugation	UPLC-ESI-MS-MS	2-20	[100]
UV filters (sunscreens) 4-MBC, EHMC, OC	Solid–liquid extraction with pentane/diethyl ether (1/1, v/v) and diethyl ether/ dichloromethane (4/1, v/v). Cleanup: silica gel in hexane	GC-EI-MS	3-6	[20]
)	(continued)

Table 1 (continued)				
Compounds	Sample preparation	Instrumental analysis	LOD (ng/g)	Ref.
0T	Solid–liquid extraction with pentane/diethyl ether (1/1, v/v) and diethyl ether/ dichloromethane (4/1, v/v). Cleanurs silica gel in hexane	LC-DAD	57	[20]
BP3, OC, OD-PABA, 2DHB, DHMB, PMDSA	PLE with in-cell purification with aluminum oxide	UPLC-ESI-MS-MS	1.5-3.5	[21]
BP3, OC, EHMC, EHS, HMS, OD-PABA, 4-MBC, BM-DBM, IAMC, EHT, DBT	PMALE with low density polyethylene membranes	LC–APPI–MS	0.3–25	[22]
BP3, 4-MBC, EHMC, OC, OD-PABA, 4HB, 4DHB, BPI	PLE with in-cell purification with aluminum oxide	UPLC-ESI-MS-MS	0.2-19 (60 for BP1)	[23]
Brominated flame retardants				
PBDEs	Soxhlet: hexane:DCM (1:1); clean up: H ₂ SO ₄ , alumina SPE	GC-ECNI-MS	0.03–1.2	[139]
PBDEs	Soxhlet: toluene Clean up: 1.Multi layer SiO ₂ - AgNO ₃ , H ₂ SO ₄ , NaOH. 2. Macro Al ₂ O ₃ . 3. GPC Bio- Beads S-X3, 4. Mirii Al ₂ O ₃ .	GC-EI-MS	nr	[140]
PBDEs	Soxhlet: DCM; clean up on silica, Florisil, alumina	GC-HRMS	nr	[141]
PBDEs	PLE: DCM, 100°C, 1,000 psi, cleanup: SEC (Envirosep- ABC)	GC-ECNI and GC-EI	nr	[73]
BDE-209 DBDPE	PLE: heptane, 100°C, 2 cycles; cleanup: aminopropyl gel	GC-ECNI-MS	1.9 ng 1.4 ng	[74, 75]

Soxhlet: hexane/acetone MDGC-ECD 1.3 (3:1, v/v), cleanup: GPC, Bio-Beads SX3 MDGC-ECD 1.3 (3:1, v/v), cleanup: GPC, Bio-Beads SX3 GC-EI-MS nr Soxhlet: toluene; cleanup: 3. HPLC on a intro column, 4. micro alumina GC-EI-MS nr Soxhlet: acetone; cleanup: 3. HPLC on a intro column, 4. micro alumina GC-ECD 1.0 Soxhlet: acetone; cleanup: silica gel LC-ESI-MS 60-1801 MeOH1 1:9, cleanup: Superclean ENV1-18 SPE, centrifugation with HCI 1% and DCM LC-ESI-MS 60-1801 m Soxhlet: hexane:acetone; cleanup: H2SO4, GPC, silica gel, H2SO4 LC-ESI-MS 6-18 ng/ DI Soxhlet: hexane:acetone; cleanup: H2SO4, GPC, silica gel, H2SO4 LC-ESI-MS 1.4-12	PLE: hexane:DCM (1:1), 100°C, 1,500 psi; cleanup: H ₂ SO ₄ , acidic silica gel and basic alumina	GC-NCI-MS	п	[76]
Soxhlet: toluene; cleanup: 1. GC-EI-MS nr Multi Jayer St02-AgNO3, 2. GPC Bio a nitro column, 4. micro alumina Soxhlet: acetone; cleanup: GC-ECD 1.0 silica gel Centrifugation: DCM and LC-ESI-MS 60-180 J MeOH 1:9; cleanup: Superclean ENV1-18 SPE, centrifugation with HCI 1% and DCM nr Soxhlet: hexane: acetone; cleanup: GPC, silica gel, H ₂ SO ₄ DI E. I.C-ESI-MS 60-180 J I.C-ESI-MS 1.0 I.C-ESI-MS 1.0 I.C-ESI-MS 1.14-12 cleanup: H ₂ SO ₄ , GPC, silica gel DI E. I.OSI I.C-ESI-MS 1.14-12 cleanup: H ₂ SO ₄ , GPC, silica gel	Soxhlet: hexane/acetone (3:1, v/v), cleanup: GPC, Bio-Reads SX3	MDGC-ECD	1.3 6.4	[142]
Soxhlet: acetone; cleanup: GC-ECD 1.0 silica gel Centrifugation: DCM and LC-ESI-MS 60–180 µ ReOH 1:9; cleanup: Superclean ENVI-18 SPE, 60–180 µ 10 Superclean ENVI-18 SPE, centrifugation with HCI 1% 60–180 µ 10 nr Superclean ENVI-18 SPE, centrifugation with HCI 1% 60–180 µ nr Souther: hexane:acetone: LC-ESI-MS 6–18 ng/ nr cleanup: GPC, silica gel, H2SO4, 12 H2SO4, Soxhlet: hexane:acetone: LC-ESI-MS 1.4–12 gel BT i.admic.reactone: LC-ESI-MS 1.4–12	Soxhlet: toluene; cleanup: 1. Multi layer SiO ₂ -AgNO ₃ , 2. GPC Bio-Beads S-X3, 3. HPLC on a nitro column, 4 micro alumina	GC-EI-MS	Ē	[143]
Centrifugation: DCM and LC–ESI–MS 60–180 _I MeOH 1:9; cleanup: Superclean ENV1-18 SPE, centrifugation with HCl 1% and DCM LC–ESI–MS 6–18 ng nr Soxhlet: hexane:acetone; LC–ESI–MS 6–18 ng nr cleanup: GPC, silica gel, H ₂ SO ₄ Soxhlet: hexane:acetone; LC–ESI–MS 1.4–12 cleanup: H ₂ SO ₄ , GPC, silica gel DT Ei coll actrotion and 10 CLC ESI MS MS 0.00	Soxhlet: acetone; cleanup: silica gel	GC-ECD	1.0	[144]
nr LC-ESI-MS-MS 6–18 ng Soxhlet: hexane: accetone; LC-ESI-MS nr cleanup: GPC, silica gel, H ₂ SO ₄ Soxhlet: hexane: accetone; LC-ESI-MS-MS 1.4–12 cleanup: H ₂ SO ₄ , GPC, silica gel DI E in coll actencion and 11D C I C ESI MS MS 0.08	Centrifugation: DCM and MeOH 1:9; cleanup: Superclean ENVI-18 SPE, centrifugation with HCl 1% and DCM	LC-ESI-MS	60–180 pg	[145]
Soxhet: hexane:acetone; LC-ESI-MS-MS 1.4-12 cleanup: H ₂ SO ₄ , GPC, silica gel DI E in coll extension and 11D C I C ESI MS MS 0.08	nr Soxhlet: hexane:acetone; cleanup: GPC, silica gel, H.SO.	LC-ESI-MS-MS LC-ESI-MS	6–18 ng/mL nr	[146] [114]
DI E DI E DI LI DI LI DI LI DI LI DI CI CI E E MS MS 0.08	Soxhlet: hexane: acetone; cleanup: H ₂ SO ₄ , GPC, silica oel	LC-ESI-MS-MS	1.4–12	[146]
cleanup: DCM	PLE in-cell extraction and cleanup: DCM	UPLC-LC-ESI-MS-MS	0.08	[147]

Analysis of Emerging Contaminants in Sewage Sludge

Table 1 (continued)				
Compounds	Sample preparation	Instrumental analysis	LOD (ng/g)	Ref.
Perfluorinated compounds PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFOS, 4:2, 6:2, 8:2, 10:2 diPAP	Ion pair extraction - 0.25 M NaCO ₃ + 0.5 M TBAS, pH 10	LC-ESI-MS-MS(QqQ)	0.0625 (PFCs) ^a 0.375 (diPAPs) ^a	[81]
PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, FOSA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUdA, PFDoA, PFTeA, PFHxDA, PFODA	 Extraction with MUDE Solid acid liquid extraction 7.5 mL (1% AcH) Sonication 20 min at 60°C Centrifugation Supermatant separation and pellet with MeOH, 	LC-ESI-MS-MS(QqQ)	< 25 ^a	[148]
PFHxS, PFOS, FOSA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	sonication and centrifugation - 7.5 mL 1% AcH addition - SPE by Oasis HLB Solid acid liquid extraction - 7.5 mL (1% AcH) - Sonication 20 min at 60°C - Centrifugation - Supernatant separation and pellet with MeOH, sonication and	LC-ESI-MS-MS(QqQ)	Ŀ	[149]
	centrifugation; - 7.5 mL 1% AcH addition; - SPE by Oasis HLB	LC-ESI-MS-MS(QqQ)	1-5 ^a	[137]

	[83]	[107]	[86]	(continued)
	1.8–6.8 ^a	a	0.4–1.7	
	UPLC-ESI-MS-MS (QqQ)	LC-ESI-MS-MS(QqQ)	LC-ESI-MS-MS(QqQ)	
 Solid acid liquid extraction Sonication and centrifugation Supernatant separation and solid with MeOH:1% AcH, sonication and centrifugation SPE by Oasis HLB; 	 Solid–alkaline liquid extraction Sonication/heat and overnight incubation Neutralization (HCl); ACN:MeOH (1/1), shaked 2 mL of combined extracts (20 mL) + 98 mL water at pH 4 Sonication SPE by HLB carridges 	Solid–liquid extraction – MeOH, wrist-action shaker – Settled or centrifugation – 1 mL supernatant + 25 mg Envi-Carb graphitized carbon adsorbent + 50 µL AcH, vortexed and centrifugated	Solid–liquid extraction – MeOH, ultrasonic bath – Extracts pooled + 1 L water – SPE by C18	
PFBS, PFHxS, PFHpS, PFOS, PFDS, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA	PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUdA, PFDoA, PFTrA, PFTeA, PFHxS, PFOS	PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTeA	PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFOS, FOSA	

Compounds	Sample preparation	Instrumental analysis	LOD (ng/g)	Ref.
N-EtFOSE, N-EtFOSAA, FOSAA, FOSA, N-	Solid–liquid extraction	LC-ESI-MS-MS(OqO)	0.1 µg/L (vial) ^a	[85]
EtFOSA, PFOSI (perfluorooctane sulfinate),	- Sonication and		46–49 pmol	,
PFOA, PFOS	centrifugation		(microcosm) ^a	
	- Extract poured into a new			
	tube + MeOH			
	 Purification by dispersed 			
	solvent (ENVI-Carb)			
	- (in parallel) SPE from			
	headspace sampling			
PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA,	PLE (MeOH solvent)	LC-ESI-MS-MS	50–2,772 pg/g ^a	[91]
PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTrA, PFTeA,	 Evaporation to 1 + 30 mL 	(QqLIT)	6 6	
PFHxDA, PFODA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, PFDS,	water			
FOSA	 SPE by Oasis WAX 			
For abbreviations of compounds, see text				
Abbreviations: ACN acetonitrile, APCI atmospheric pi	ressure chemical ionization, APPI	atmospheric pressure photoic	onization, DAD diode arr	ay detection,
DCM dichloromethane ECMI electron contine negativ	a ionization EI alactron impact I	701 alactrochrow ELD fluorace	cance detection CC are c	hromotooro

phy, GPC gel permeation chromatography, HRMS high resolution mass spectrometry, IT ion trap, LC liquid chromatography, LDTD laser diode thermal desorption, LLE liquid-liquid extraction, MAE microwave-assisted extraction, MDGC multidimensional gas chromatography, MeOH methanol, MS mass spectrometry, MS-MS tandem mass spectrometry, NCI negative chemical ionization, nr not reported, PLE pressurized liquid extraction, PMALE pressurized membrane-assisted liquid extraction, QqLIT quadrupole linear ion trap, QqQ triple quadrupole, RR rapid resolution, SBSE stir bar sorptive extraction, SPE DCM dichloromethane, ECNI electron capture negative ionization, EI electron impact, ESI electrospray, FLD fluorescence detection, GC gas chromatograsolid phase extraction, TOF time of flight, UPLC ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography, USE ultrasonic extraction ^aMethod quantification limits

^bInstrumental detection limits (without matrix)

The main drawback of this technique is solvent and time-consuming. In the last decade, there have been efforts to develop extraction techniques that allow efficient extraction and reduced solvent volumes in shorter times, incorporating high levels of automation, such as pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) [commonly known as accelerated solvent extraction (ASE)].

In recent years, extraction methods for PhACs have usually been based on liquid partitioning with ultrasonic extraction (USE) [43–47], microwave-assisted extraction (MAE) [48], or the more advanced PLE [49–52]. When compared to the other extraction techniques, PLE provides good recoveries, saves time and organic solvent, which makes it become currently a preferred technique for PhAC analyses.

Extraction methodologies for estrogens have been performed with organic solvents and/or mixtures of them using a variety of techniques, including tumbling [53], shaking and USE [54–60], Soxhlet [61], and faster procedures such as PLE [51, 62]. In 2008, Tan et al. also described a method for determination of estrogens (among other EDCs), based on stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE) with Milli-Q water prior to thermal desorption (TD) and GC–MS analysis [63], and according to the authors, the stir bars can be used more than 50 times with appropriate reconditioning.

As it is summarized in Table 1, drugs have been extracted from sewage sludge by USE or PLE using in all cases a mixture of methanol and acid as extraction solvent.

In the extraction of UV filters, PLE was the technique preferably used, although the more classical solid-liquid extraction technique was still used. Three consecutive extractions using pentane/acetone (1/1, v/v), pentane/diethyl ether (1/1, v/v), and diethyl ether/dichloromethane (4/1, v/v) were applied by Plagellat et al. [20] for the extraction of four UV filters namely 3-(4-methylbenzylidene) camphor (4-MBC), hethylhexyl-methoxycinnamate (EHMC), octocrylene (OC), and octyltriazone (OT). In the methods developed by Nieto et al. [21] and by Gago-Ferrero et al. [23], sewage sludge samples were extracted by PLE. Samples were mixed in the extraction cells with aluminium oxide in order to perform the purification step within the cell. The extracting solvents were methanol and a mixture of methanol/ water (1/1, v/v), operating at 100°C and 10,000 kPa. PLE was also applied by Rodil et al. [24] for the extraction of UV filters, but in combination with nonporous polymeric membranes for improved purification. In the pressurized membraneassisted liquid extraction (PMALE) method, sludge samples were confined in sealed low density polyethylene bags and extracted using a mixture of ethyl acetate/n-hexane (1/3, v/v) at 70°C and 10,000 kPa, resulting in a clear extract. The membrane encloses the sludge sample as barrier to remain particularly high molecular weight matrix molecules and also provides selectivity and specificity in terms of permeation and transport through the membrane. However, a quite important drawback of this proposed methodology is the lack of reproducibility in the manual preparation of the membrane bags.

Table 1 summarizes the recent analytical techniques applied to BFR analyses, including also new applications for emerging BFRs. Liquid-solid extraction, using Soxhlet apparatus, is a widely used standard technique for the determination of BFRs in sewage sludge. Typical solvents used for the extraction of BFRs are toluene, CH₂Cl₂, acetone, and hexane:acetone or hexane:DCM mixtures. The extraction time varied from 12 to 24 h [64-69]. Another traditional extraction method used by some authors is that based on a centrifugation methodology. Extraction was carried out using acetone and acetone:hexane mixtures as solvent extractors [70–72]. However, this technique is also time-consuming. PLE have also been evaluated and reported in some BFR studies [73–76] with heptane and hexane: CH₂Cl₂ mixture applied as solvent extractors. The temperature and pressure used varied from 100 to 150°C and from 1.000 to 1.500 psi, respectively, PBDE recoveries obtained using PLE method are similar to those obtained using the conventional Soxhlet extraction. However, it should be pointed that lower standard deviations were found with PLE, probably due to the automation of the system. The use of solid phase microextraction (SPME) has increased dramatically over the past several years, as it allows efficient extraction, reduced solvent consumption and analysis time, and it is easily automated. SPME was applied to the determination of some PBDE and PBB congeners in sludge [77]. Unlike conventional methods which involve solvent extraction and cleanup steps before instrumental analysis, the proposed method uses headspace extraction, and hard contamination of the chromatographic system is prevented. In this study, PBB-49, BDE-47, BDE-99, BDE-100, and BDE-154 were the selected analytes.

In the analysis of PFCs, we need to avoid undesirable matrix effects, and also the possible disturbance of some target compounds. For example, the hydrolysis of fluorotelomer compounds to fluorotelomer alcohol during the solvent extraction of soils, which was observed by Dasu et al. [78]. Main extraction procedures have been based on ion pair extraction, solid-liquid extraction, alkaline digestion, and PLE. Table 1 presents detailed information about different works published using these methodologies. Hansen et al. [79] obtained good sensitivity of the ion pair extraction approach using methyl tertiary butyl ether. Ion pair extraction procedure has been the basis of several procedures for sludge, and in general good recovery rates have been obtained [80]. However, Eon et al. [81] obtained low recovery rates for longer chain PFCs. Better recoveries, repeatability, and limits of detection (LODs) are in general obtained with solid-acid liquid extraction. This method consists in the ultrasonic assisted acid digestion of sludge [82]. Sample preparation by alkaline digestion has been also widely applied for the analysis of PFCs in complex matrices. This procedure is based on digestion with sodium or potassium hydroxide in methanol followed by solid phase extraction (SPE) [83, 84]. Solid-liquid extraction procedures are the most commonly used methodologies for the extraction of nonvolatile PFCs due to the facility and simplicity of the extraction [85-89]. It has been applied using mixtures of hexane and acetone or using methanol. Less reported has been the use of PLE [90–92].

3.1.2 Purification

Cleanup of the extracts is a key process when dealing with sludge matrices, since it not only removes matrix interferences, but may also cause losses of the target analytes in intense and long procedures, resulting in poor recoveries. The most effective cleanup of the extracts of sludge samples containing pharmaceutical residues has proved to be SPE. So far, the most comprehensive method is developed by Jelic et al. [93], who optimized and validated a protocol for simultaneous analysis of 43 pharmaceutical compounds in sewage sludge using PLE followed by SPE cleanup. Several other methods were developed using similar approach. Radjenovic et al. [49] used the PLE-SPE combination for the isolation of 31 pharmaceuticals from sludge samples proceeding from the conventional activated sludge treatment and pilot-scale membrane bioreactors. Barron et al. [50] used the same approach for sample preparation for analysis of 27 pharmaceuticals in soil and treated sludge. Also, Nieto et al. [51] and Göbel et al. [52] extracted the target compounds from sludge samples using the PLE-SPE. In all the mentioned methods, a hydrophilic-lipophilic balance (HLB) reversed-phase sorbent was used as SPE packaging. This sorbent has been found suitable for multi-residue methods in neutral pH condition, with a proper selection of the eluent (solvent) [94–96].

Purification methodologies for estrogens have been carried out by SPE with C18 [53, 54], polymeric [56, 60–62], silica [56–59] and anion exchange materials [59], preparative LC [53, 62], gel permeation chromatography (GPC) [54, 59, 97], liquid–liquid extraction [56], combination of them, or simple filtration [51]. However, the latter corresponds to the method with the highest reported method detection limits (MDL) [up to 175 ng/g dry weight (dw)].

Drugs have been purified by SPE in the analysis of amphetamine (AM) by Kaleta et al. [98], by various consecutive washing steps with hexane in the analysis of methamphetamine (MA) by Jones-Lepp and Stevens [99], and by simple centrifugation after addition of water, to separate the aqueous extract from a bottom sediment layer and a top fat layer, in the analysis of AM, MA, cocaine (CO), and benzoylecgonine (BE) by Langford et al. [100], who found little improvement in reducing matrix effects when applying SPE cleanup.

In the UV filter analyses, clear extracts were obtained which did not need any further time- and labor-consuming cleanup when using PLE with in-cell purification. In contrast, a thorough purification procedure was required for the cleanup of the extracts obtained by solid–liquid extraction. Columns packed with silica gel (previously activated) in hexane having Na_2SO_4 at the top of the column were employed for the purification of the extracts. The two first fractions obtained with 20 mL of hexane and 20 mL of hexane/diethyl ether (9/1, v/v) were discarded and 4-MBC, EHMC, and OC were collected with 50 mL of hexane/diethyl ether (9/1, v/v). OT was recovered with 70 mL of hexane/diethyl ether (3/2, v/v).

For PBDE analyses, the complexity of sludge matrix implies the use of multistep purification methods. Sludge extracts contain relatively large amounts of elemental sulfur, which would disturb the GC analysis, and must be removed. Typical methods for sulfur removal are treatment with copper powder, silica modified with $AgNO_3$ in a multilayer silica column, or desulfuration with mercury. Sewage sludge samples contain also high levels of organic matter that must disturb the purification via column chromatography. For this reason, the purification step started with treatment with concentrated sulfuric acid to remove organic matter. A cleanup stage was then performed with the aim of purification as well as fractionation of the extract, using a great variety of adsorbents (e.g., silica, Florisil, and alumina). However, these conventional multi-step purification methods are time-consuming. PBBs, HBB, DBDPE, and HBCD were analyzed using the same protocols reported for PBDE determinations. However, TBBPA is a phenolic in its native state and a derivatization step prior to injection on the GC system is required. Different derivatization methods were found in the literature. Cariou et al. [101] used n-nonane/MSTFA (50:50, v/v) as derivatization reagent, leading to the diTMS derivative. Acetic acid anhydride could also be used to give the diacetylated derivatives [102]. Acetic acid anhydride and pyridine (1:1) at 60°C for 30 min was applied by Sellström and Jansson [103]. Some authors preferred to use diazomethane to obtain the TBBPA dimethyl ether derivative, reducing the polarity of the two hydroxyl groups [104, 105]. However, methylated TBBPA derivatives were analyzed, making it impossible to distinguish between dimethyl-TBBPA and TBBPA present in the sample.

The analysis of PFCs requires cleanup to remove co-extracted lipids and other matrix constituents. Without further cleanup, this may lead to enhancement or suppression of the electrospray ionization, resulting in inaccuracies [106]. Cleanup of extract can be performed by a washing step after sample enrichment on the SPE cartridge using a variety of commercial cartridges C18 [82], Oasis WAX cleaned-up by addition of Envi-carb (graphitized carbon) and 50 μ L glacial acetic acid [107]. As a final cleanup step, extracts may be filtrated over, e.g., nylon filters to remove solids from the final extract, but care should be taken to avoid losses or contamination of the sample extract. Yamashita et al. tested several nylon filter types used for removal of solids from the final extract and found that some filters contained trace amounts of PFOS and PFOA [108]. A simple methanol-washing step reduced the filter-originating PFOS and PFOA to below limits of quantification (LOQ).

3.2 Instrumental Determination

There are a variety of analytical methodologies developed for the analysis of emerging contaminants selected for this chapter. In almost all cases, the instrumental analysis is based on the use of GC or LC coupled to MS or MS–MS. The selection of one or another technique depends primarily on the physicochemical properties of the compounds. We summarize the more recently developed methodologies for each of the families (Table 1).

3.2.1 GC-MS

GC–MS is applied in some methods for the analysis of pharmaceuticals in sludge [45, 109]. However, this technique can only be successfully applied for a limited number of nonpolar and volatile pharmaceutical compounds, while analysis of polar pharmaceuticals requires a time-consuming and often irreproducible derivatization. Consequently, LC–MS is the preferred technique in many laboratories. Some other detection techniques are also employed, such as diode array (DAD) and electrochemical (ED) and fluorescence detection (FLD). In the case of fluoroquinolones, FLD is still the favored technique.

A similar situation exists for the case of estrogens, which have also been analyzed by GC or LC coupled to MS or MS–MS. However, LC–MS offers the advantages, as compared to GC–MS, of not requiring prior compound derivatization and allowing the analysis of both free and conjugated estrogens in a single run.

GC–MS operated in electron impact (EI) mode was only sporadically used for the determination of some UV filters such as 4-MBC, EHMC, and OC. Separation was achieved on a 60 m \times 0.25 mm i.d. DB-5 column, with 0.25-µm film thickness. For quantification of the compounds, data acquisition was performed in selected ion monitoring (SIM) mode recording three characteristic ions per compound. GC–MS allowed the differentiation between the two isomers (*cis/trans*) for 4-MBC and EHMC.

GC coupled to either negative chemical ionization (NCI)-low resolution mass spectrometry (LRMS) or EI-LRMS is an alternative more frequently used for PBDE and PBB analyses. NCI-LRMS is by far the most popular technique because it provides high levels of sensitivity. However, if high specificity and accuracy in quantification are needed (e.g., by using the isotopic dilution method), EI-LRMS shows better performance, but at the expense of lower sensitivity. GC-high resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS)-based analytical methods have also been developed for determination of congener-specific PBDE compounds, providing the most selective and sensitive method. However, HRMS needs sophisticated, expensive instruments that require a trained personnel and frequent maintenance. Moreover, an MS strategy on BFR analysis in sewage sludge was also developed based on the use of ion trap (IT)-MS.

HBCD can be determined by GC–MS, using methods similar to those developed for PBDE determinations. As the response factors of the three diastereomers do not appear to differ very much, HBCD can be quantified as total HBCD. However, the different isomers have not so far been separated by this technique. Moreover, because isomers of HBCD are thermally labile (it is known that HBCD decomposition takes place between 240°C and 270°C), elution from a GC column usually results in a broad, diffuse peak. In addition, a number of chromatographic peaks corresponding to different breakdown products were detected. These peaks could interfere with some BFR congeners (e.g., BDE-99) [102, 110]. TBBPA can be also determined by GC–MS; however, a derivatization step must be carried out prior to injection on the GC system.

3.2.2 LC-MS

As mentioned before, LC is the preferred technique for the analysis of pharmaceuticals. Among LC modes, reversed-phase with octadecyl C18-bonded or octyl C8-bonded silica packing is the most commonly used stationary phase. Although single MS has been used for quantification of pharmaceutical residues in the environment, MS–MS detection is preferred for increased analytical sensitivity and selectivity in complex matrices. LC–MS–MS is often applied with triple quadrupole (QqQ) or IT–MS. QqQ instruments can help to avoid false positive results if the ions of at least two ion–ion transitions are used in combination with at least one ion intensity ratio. IT–MS allows a reliable confirmation of analytes due to the possibility of multiple ion–ion transitions. Recently, a hybrid quadrupole linear ion trap (QqLIT)-MS has been applied for the analysis of pharmaceuticals in sewage sludge [93] providing very good sensitivity for the simultaneous analysis of 43 PhACs. Regarding the ionization techniques, electrospray ionization (ESI) is widely used in published works.

The analysis of estrogens in sludge has been reviewed by Kuster et al. [6] in 2004. Most of the LC–MS methodologies are based on reverse phase (RP) chromatography and ESI in the negative ion mode [51, 55, 57, 59, 61, 62], though ESI in the positive ion mode after derivatization of the compounds with dansyl chloride [56], which according to the authors, improves the analytical sensitivity about 20 times, and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) combining both positive (for analysis of E2 and EE2) and negative ionization (for E1 and estriol (E3)) has also been used [58]. The latter conditions were employed in an ultrafast analytical method (15 s per sample), based on laser diode thermal desorption (LDTD)–APCI–MS–MS, in which the target analytes are not subjected to any previous chromatographic separation [58]. Finally, in most instances, detection has been performed in the selected reaction monitoring (SRM) mode recording two SRM transitions per compound, whereas quantification has often rely on the use of isotopically labeled surrogate/internal standards.

To date, several methodologies, all of them based on LC coupled to MS–MS, have already been reported to determine illicit drugs and their metabolites in aqueous matrices and to further estimate drug use at the community level [111]. However, only three analytical methods have been published so far in the peerreviewed literature for the determination of illicit drugs, namely, AM, MA, CO, and its metabolite BE, in sewage sludge samples. In all methodologies, analysis has relied on the use of RP-LC or RP-UPLC (ultra-performance liquid chromatography) coupled to MS or MS–MS with ESI ionization working in the positive mode. With these methodologies, LODs in the range 2–10 μ g/kg dw have been achieved. Matrix ionization effects have been observed to either induce signal suppression (up to 30% in the analysis of AM by Kaleta et al. [98] and 39% in the analysis of BE by Langford et al. [100]) or enhancement (110%, 62%, and 12% for AM, MA, and CO, respectively, as reported by Langford et al. [100]).

LC–MS–MS was also the method of choice for the analysis of UV filters in solid matrices. Both LC and UPLC have been applied in three out of the four methods available for the determination of UV filters in sludge. Separation was performed on C8 and C18 LC-chromatographic columns (Zorbax, Eclipse, Vydac, and Purosphere) using binary gradient elution of mobile phases consisting of water/ methanol or water/acetonitrile. MS–MS detection was performed in SRM with ESI and atmospheric pressure photoionization (APPI) in both positive and negative modes. For each compound, two characteristics transitions were monitored. In addition to MS and MS–MS, diode array detection (DAD) was occasionally applied to the determination of OT. Spectra were recorded between 240 and 360 nm and discrete channels at 310 nm.

For the analysis of sewage sludge by PLE combining extraction and cleanup in a single step, and followed by LC–MS–MS analysis, the determination was fast and sensitive, affording LODs lower than 19 ng/g dw. Good recovery rates, especially given the high complexity of sludge matrix (between 70% and 108%) were afforded. The GC–MS-based method was somewhat more accurate, despite the additional purification step required, showing recovery rates in the range 88–101%, and more sensitive allowing LODs between 3 and 6 ng/g dw. As expected, DAD detection for OT was less sensitive, with a limit of detection of 57 ng/g dw.

Matrix effects were evaluated by Gago-Ferrero et al. [23]. Both signal suppression and signal enhancement were observed. The extent of these effects was found to be fairly dependent on the UV filter. Thus, quantification should be performed by standard addition or internal standard calibration. Since standard addition is a high time-consuming procedure, internal standard calibration with appropriate isotopically labeled compounds is the best option.

Traditionally, the analysis of BFRs has been developed using GC as the principal separation technique, due to the volatility of these compounds. However, GC analysis of some BFR compounds, such as HBCD or TBBPA, presented some drawbacks. That because, in recent years, methods employing LC–MS and LC–MS–MS have been developed offering good results. Guerra et al. [112] presented an overview of current analytical methods for selected BFRs, focusing on instrumental determination using LC–MS. Table 1 summarizes different LC–MS methods found in the literature for the analysis of different BFRs.

The most suitable LC–MS interface for TBBPA analysis is ESI operating in the negative mode. Tollbäck et al. [113] reported LODs 30–40 times lower than with APCI. In addition, it permitted the monitoring of the intact TBBPA molecule, as the soft ionization of ESI improved selectivity and accuracy. Similar results were found by Morris et al. [114]. In terms of sensitivity, LC–ESI–MS can be competitive with published GC–EI–MS techniques with LODs in the ppt range. Another proposed method is based on the use of LC–APPI–MS [115] to analyze TBBPA and its related degradation products working with a 100-C8 column. LC–QqLIT–MS was proposed to analyze TBBPA and related compounds [bisphenol A (BPA), monobromobisphenol A (MonoBBPA), dibromobisphenol A (DiBBPA), and tribromobisphenol A (TriBBPA)] in sewage sludge and sediment samples [116].

LC–MS or LC–MS–MS using ESI or APCI are versatile tools for the isomerspecific determination of trace levels of HBCDs, monitoring the specific transitions m/z 640.6 to m/z 78.9 and 80.9. Budakowsky and Tomy [117] showed that APCI has lower intensities than in a similar experiment with ESI. Consequently, the ESI mode was preferred for determining diastereoisomers in several studies. Different methods for the analysis of diastereoisomeric HBCD using LC–ESI–MS–MS and SRM were developed, obtaining LODs of 0.5–6 pg on-column [117, 118].

Some other LC–ESI–MS–MS methods have been developed for the simultaneous analysis of diastereoisomeric HBCDs and TBBPA [119, 120]. Two different LC–QqLIT–MS methods were developed by Guerra et al. [119] comparing an SRM experiment with an enhanced product-ion (EPI) experiment to analyze α -HBCD, β -HBCD, and γ -HBCD together with TBBPA and related compounds (BPA, MonoBBPA, DiBBPA and TriBBPA). The methods developed displayed excellent LODs in SRM mode (0.1–1.8 pg), but even better results were obtained in EPI mode (0.01–0.5 pg). In order to analyze sewage sludge, the previously optimized experiment involving SRM was used [119]. Sample extraction was based on the use of sonication-SPE, obtaining mLODs of 1.4–12 ng/g. Recent studies involving the use of UPLC–ESI–MS–MS for the analysis of HBCD and TBBPA through a C18-BEH column found iLODs of 0.03–0.06 pg on-column and mLODs of 0.080–0.082 ng/g for sewage sludge samples [121].

It is also important to note that matrix-related effects, either signal enhancement or more commonly signal suppression, can have a pronounced effect on quantitative measurements. Based on these observations, the use of isotope-labeled standards is helpful to achieve accurate analytical measurement data on the diastereoisomers. Several methods found in the open literature include use of both ¹³C-labeled and d₁₈-labeled surrogates as recovery and/or instrument standards [118].

LC separation of PFCs has been mainly carried out with C18 and C8 columns. In spite of the widely used of RP-C18 columns for PFCs analysis, the interference producing the enhancement of spectral signal has been reported. RP columns with shorter alkyl chain bonded phases (e.g., C8, C6, phenyl, phenylhexyl) also separated the branch isomers, but to a lesser extent. To minimize the separation of branched isomers, the authors increased the LC column temperature to 35°C or 40°C [122–124]. Taniyasu et al. [125] explored the chromatographic properties and separation of short-chain PFCs on RP-C18 and ion-exchange columns. The results showed that the peaks of perfluoropropionic acid (PFPrA) and perfluoroethanesulfonate acid (PFEtS) were broad and not adequately resolved whereas that of trifluoro acetic acid (TFA) was not retained in the analytical column eluting with the solvent front. This suggested that RP columns are not suitable for the analysis of short-chain perfluorinated acids (PFAs), especially TFA. As a proper alternative, ion-exchange columns have superior retention properties for more hydrophilic substances enabling the analysis of short-chain perfluoroacids, TFA, PFPrA, perfluorobutanoic acid (PFBA), PFEtS, perfluoropropanesulfonate (PFPrS), and perfluorobutanesulfonate (PFBS) together with several long-chain perfluoroacids.

ESI operating in the negative ion mode has been the interface most widely used for the analysis of anionic perfluorinated surfactants. In addition, ESI has also been optimized for the determination of neutral compounds such as the sulfonamides perfluorooctanesulfonamide (PFOSA), perfluorooctanesulfonamidoacetate (*N*-EtFOSAA), and *t*-Bu-PFOS. The use of APPI has been explored in few works [126–128]. Takino et al. [126] found as the main advantage of this technology, the absence of matrix effects, but the LODs were considerably higher than those obtained by LC–ESI–MS–MS.

LC-MS-MS performed using QqQ mass spectrometer combined with SRM is one of the more widely applied detector, as well as, to be one of the better suited for quantification of PFCs. Nowadays, the performance of IT and time of flight (TOF) have been also considered for trace quantification of PFCs. PFCs contain carboxylic, sulfonic, hydroxy or sulfonamide group. They have acidic properties and can therefore dissociate. Therefore, ESI in the negative mode is best suited, allowing LODs in the pg–ng/g range. Pseudo molecular ions are formed such as $[M-K]^-$ for PFOS (m/z 499), $[M-H]^-$ for PFOA (m/z 413) and PFOSA (m/z 498), which are generally selected as precursor ions for MS2 experiments using IT and a triple quadrupole instruments. Berger et al. [106] have presented a comparison between IT, OqO, and TOF instruments. MS-MS showed excellent specificity, but the matrix background is eliminated by the instrument, thus it cannot be visualized. Applying TOF–MS gives an estimation of the amount of matrix left in the extract, which could impair the ionization performance, and the high mass resolution of the TOF-MS instrument offers excellent specificity for PFCs identification after a crude sample injection. Recently, the analytical suitability of three different LC-MS-MS systems, QqQ, conventional 3D IT, and QqLIT, to determine trace levels of PFCs in fish and shellfish was compared [129]. In this study, the accuracy was similar in the three systems, with recoveries always over 70%. Precision was better for the QqLIT and QqQ systems (7-15%) than for the IT system (10-17%). The QqLIT (working in SRM mode) and QqQ systems offered a linear dynamic range of at least three orders of magnitude, whereas that of the IT system was two orders of magnitude. The main advantage of QqLIT system is the high sensitivity, at least 20-fold higher than the QqQ system. Another advantage of QqLIT systems is the possibility to use EPI mode and MS³ modes in combination of SRM mode for confirmatory purposes of target analytes in complex matrices.

4 Occurrence in Sewage Sludge

During the last decade, a large amount of environmental data have been generated for different emerging contaminants, showing the wide distribution of these contaminants in the environment. However, although some compounds have been well studied and their levels have been reported for different matrices and different countries, for some others, data in the literature are very scarce. The content of emerging pollutants in sewage sludge from wastewater treatment plants gives an



Fig. 1 Range of concentrations obtained for the different emerging contaminants in sewage sludge samples

indication of the general exposure and use of these compounds. The range of contaminants found in sewage sludge samples is a reflection of what is being used in society. Table 2 shows some of the studies carried out in sewage sludge samples from different countries, and Fig. 1 represented the range of contamination levels found for each of the selected emerging contaminants.

4.1 Pharmaceutical Compounds

While variety of pharmaceutical residues have been detected in effluent and surface water samples, only few works have been reported regarding their occurrence in sewage sludge samples.

Carbamazepine (anticonvulsant) is one of the most frequently detected pharmaceuticals in environmental and sewage treatment plant samples, known for its persistence. Its presence has been detected in treatment plants in concentration range from 1.7 ng/g in South China [56] to 120 ± 10 ng/g in Ireland [50]. In Spain reported levels of carbamezapine ranged from 11 to 42 ng/g [130] in one study, while Radjenovic et al. [49] reported levels between 74 and 90 ng/g.

Anti-inflammatory drugs such as Ibuprofen, acetaminophen, diclofenac, atorvastatin, and hydrochlorthiazide were detected in the highest concentrations in samples from three WWTPs in Spain [93]. These compounds were present in average concentrations from 43 to 117 ng/g, 42 to 103 ng/g, 28 to 75 ng/g, 21 to 65 ng/g, and 29 to 126 ng/g, respectively.

Antimicrobial agents as well as macrolide antibiotics and fluoroquinolones used in human and veterinary medicine are of particular interest due to their potential for
antibiotic resistance. Therefore, they were subject of analysis in all the recent publications. In Table 2 are presented the concentrations of macrolide antibiotic clarithormycin, though erythromycin, azythromycin, and roxithromycin were detected in sludge samples as well. Spongberg et al. [43] found clarithromycin in concentrations from 1.6 to 30.2 ng/g in a WWTP in Ohio (USA), and Göbel et al. [52] reported higher concentrations, up to 63 ng/g in WWTPs in Germany and Switzerland. Nieto et al. [51] reported very high levels for tylosin and roxithromycin ranging from 1,074 to 1,958 ng/g and from 337 ng to 1,453 ng/g, respectively. The most prescribed fluoroquinolones worldwide are ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin. These two compounds were detected in sludge samples in wide concentration range, reaching values of 778 ng/g for ciprofloxacin in Ohio (USA) [44], and 510 ng/g for ofloxacine in Austria [52].

Triclosan is an antimicrobial compound widely used in household products, including cosmetics, oral sanitary products, detergents, etc. Thence, it is not surprising that it was detected in concentrations of approximately 1,000 ng/g in treated sludge and 5,000 ng/g in biological sludge from an urban WWTP in Spain [48].

4.2 Estrogens

Of the various estrogens detected in sewage sludge, E3 has been the compound measured at the highest concentration (up to 406 ng/g dw), followed by EE (up to 313 ng/g), E2 (up to 203 ng/g), DES (up to 184 ng/g), and E1 (up to 137 ng/g), all of them showing the highest concentrations in sludge samples from Spain (see Table 2). Of the various conjugated estrogens, which have seldom been investigated [51, 61, 130], only estrone-3-sulfate (E1-3S) and estradiol-3-sulfate (E2-3S) have been detected, at concentrations up to 59 and 189 ng/g, respectively, in Spain [51, 130]. In terms of detection frequency, E1 seems to be the most ubiquitous compound [55] (detected in eight out of nine studies), followed by E2 (detected in seven out of nine studies), EE (detected in five out of seven studies), and E3 (detected in sludge samples from Canada [58] and Spain [51, 130], and its finding in the latter suggests illicit use of this compound, perhaps for illegal growth promoting purposes.

4.3 Illicit Drugs

The investigations done by Kaleta et al. [98] and Jones-Lepp and Stevens [99] are to date the only ones that report occurrence of illicit drugs in sewage sludge, since Langford et al. [100] did not detect any of the four illicit drugs analyzed in sewage sludge samples from three Scottish STPs. Kaleta et al. [98] detected AM in all the

Analyte	Location, country (year)	Concentration	Reference
Pharmaceuticals			
Carbamazepine	Spain	74–90	[49]
•	Spain	10-13	[93]
	Ireland	120 ± 10	[50]
	China	nq-22.3	[138]
	USA	34.5	[44]
	USA	4.7-12.8	[50]
Diclofenac	Spain	nq-425	[49, 93]
	Japan	35 ± 7	[45]
	USA	10.4-23.1	[44]
Trimethoprim	Spain	nq-13.8	[49]
-	Germany	87-133	[52]
	Switzerland	13-30	[52]
Clarithromycin	USA	5.2	[44]
•	USA	1.6-30.2	[50]
	Germany	16-41	[52]
	Switzerland	25-63	[52]
Ciprofloxacin	USA	778	[44]
1	USA	22.6-46.4	[50]
	Sweden	0.9-4.8	[52]
	Austria	230	[47]
Ofloxacin	Spain	44.6-86.6	[49]
	Sweden	0.1–2	[7]
	Austria	510	[47]
Triclosan	Spain	418-1,508	[48]
	Ireland	10-24.6	[43]
	Ohio, USA	320	[44]
Esteroid estrogens			
E1	Spain (2007–2008)	43-137	[51, 130]
	France (2008)	2-8	[62]
	Australia (2004–2005)	4.00-4.50	[63]
	Australia (2005)	$17.5 \pm 30.3;$	[150]
	China (2008)	$33.8\pm51.3^{\rm a}$	[61]
	China (2010)	9.7-22.9	[57]
	Canada	1.6-5.4	[58]
	UK	32–54	[59]
	Spain	up to 994	[<mark>60</mark>]
		nd	
E2	Spain (2008)	<250	[51]
	France (2008)	1-10	[62]
	Australia (2004–2005)	0.83-3.60	[63]
	Australia (2005)	$2.2 \pm 3.7;$	[150]
	China (2008)	17.3 ± 30.0^{a}	[61]
	China (2010)	nd	[57]
	Canada	3.9-10.2	[58]
	UK	41–57	[59]
	Spain	up to ~60	[<mark>60</mark>]
		11.9–203	

Table 2 Concentration levels (expressed in ng/g dw) of selected emerging contaminants in sewage sludge samples

(continued)

Analyte	Location, country (year)	Concentration	Reference
α-E2	Spain (2008)	<250	[51]
	Australia (2005)	nd	[150]
	China (2008)	nd	[56]
E3	Spain (2007–2008)	104-406	[51, 130]
	France (2008)	nd	[62]
	Australia (2005)	nd	[150]
	China (2008)	nd	[56]
	Canada	45-69	[58]
	UK	up to 27	[59]
	Spain	4.85-35.6	[60]
EE2	Spain (2007–2008)	213-313	[51, 130]
	France (2008)	1-18	[62]
	China (2008)	nd	[56]
	China (2010)	nd	[57]
	Canada	47–55	[58]
	UK	up to ~200	[59]
	Spain	13.6-94.9	[<mark>60</mark>]
DES	Spain (2007–2008)	25-184	[51, 130]
	China (2010)	nd	[57]
E1-3S	Spain (2007–2008)	0.64-37	[51, 130]
	UK	up to 59	[59]
E2-3S	Spain (2007–2008)	0.64–189	[51, 130]
Illicit drugs			
AM	Austria (2006)	5-300	[98]
	Scotland (2011)	nd	[100]
МА	Milwaukee WI US (2007)	nd	[99]
	Los Angeles, CA, US (2007)	4	[99]
	Scotland (2011)	nd	[100]
CO	Scotland (2011)	nd	[100]
BE	Scotland (2011)	nd	[100]
UV filters (sunscreens)	Scotland (2011)	na	
4 MDC	S-::	150 4 000	[20]
4-MBC	Switzerland (2001, 2003)	150-4,980	[20]
	Cetalania, Spain (2010)	73 ± 3 720, 2,820	[22]
FUNC		/30-3,830	[23]
EHMC	Switzerland (2001, 2003)	10-390	[20]
	Cetalaria, Spain (2010)	33 ± 3	[22]
	Catalonia, Spain (2010)	na-3,350	[23]
OC	Tarragona, Spain (2007)	700-1,842	[21]
	Switzerland (2001, 2003)	320-18,740	[20]
	Leipzig, Germany (2009)	$585 \pm 90^{\circ}$	[22]
0.77	Catalonia, Spain (2010)	1,060–9,170	[23]
OT	Switzerland (2001, 2003)	/00-27,700	[20]
BP3	Tarragona, Spain (2007)	10-20	[21]
	Leipzig, Germany (2009)	29 ± 3^{a}	[22]
	Catalonia, Spain (2010)	nd-790	[23]
OD-PABA	Tarragona, Spain (2007)	132-170	[21]

Leipzig, Germany (2009)

Catalonia, Spain (2010)

(continued)

[22] [23]

 $1.9\,\pm\,0.3^a$

nd

Table 2 (continued)

Analyte	Location, country (year)	Concentration	Reference
EHS	Leipzig, Germany (2009)	280 ± 37^a	[22]
HMS	Leipzig, Germany (2009)	331 ± 47^a	[22]
BM-DBM	Leipzig, Germany (2009)	517 ± 78^a	[22]
DBT	Leipzig, Germany (2009)	54 ± 12^{a}	[22]
IAMC	Leipzig, Germany (2009)	20 ± 3^{a}	[22]
EHT	Leipzig, Germany (2009)	928 ± 143^{a}	[22]
2DHB	Tarragona, Spain (2007)	nd	[21]
4DHB	Catalonia, Spain (2010)	nd-620	[23]
BP1	Catalonia, Spain (2010)	nd	[23]
4HB	Catalonia, Spain (2010)	nd-150	[23]
Brominated flame retardar	uts	na 150	[20]
DDDE	Service (2005)	107 1 195	[120]
PBDEs	Spain (2003)	197-1,185	[139]
	Palo Alto USA	142-2,491	[140]
	North Carolina USA $(2002, 2005)$	nd-58 800	[141]
	Switzerland (2003 and 2005)	138_617	[142]
	Baden-Württemberg Germany	45-461	[1+2]
Deca-BDE-209 DBDPE	12 different countries (1998–2006)	3 4-19 000 nd-220	[74]
Deca-DDL-20), DDDI L	Stockholm Sweden (2006–2007)	650-1 100 66-95	[74]
	Spain (2002)	32-541, 0.2-15	[76]
HBCD	Sweden (2000)	nd-33	[144]
112 02	The Netherlands, UK, Ireland	nd-9.120	[114]
	(2002)	39–597	[143]
	Baden-Württemberg, Germany		
TBBPA	Montreal, Canada (2003)	300	[145]
	Switzerland (2003 and 2005)	nd-600	[142]
Perfluorinated compounds			
PFHxS, PFOS, PFOA,	New York State (2005)	PFOA = 18-241	[148]
PFDA. PFUdA		PFDA = nd-91	[]
		PFUdA = nd-115	
		PFHxS = nd-18	
		PFOS = nd-65	
PFOS, FOSA, PFOA,	Georgia (2005)	PFOS = 8.2-990	[137]
PFDA, PFUnA,		PFOA = 8.3 - 219	
PFDoA		PFDA = 12 - 201	
		FOSA = nd-117	
		PFUnDA = 5.9-37	
		PFDoDA = 7.2-48	
PFOA, PFNA, PFDA,	Denmark	PFOA = 0.7 - 19.7	[<mark>86</mark>]
PFUnA, PFHxS,		PFNA = 0.4 - 8.0	
PFOS, FOSA		PFDA = 1.2-32	
		PFUnA = 0.5-4.4	
		PFHxS = 0.4-10.7	
		PFUS = 4.8 - 74.1	
DEO A DEOC	(2007)	FUSA = 0.5 - 3.0	[[]]
PFUA, PFUS	(2000)	PFUS = 236 - 5,383	[31]
	Ontaria Canada (2002)	$r_{FOA} = 454 - 4,780$	[01]
	Omario, Canada (2002)		[01]

Table 2 (continued)

(continued)

Analyte	Location, country (year)	Concentration	Reference
PFOS, (6:2, 8:2, 10:2) diPAP		PFOS = 100 PFCAs = 1.6-0.17 6:2 diPAP = 55-590 8:2 UPAP = 12.060	
		diPAP = 12-860 10:2 diPAP = 28, 220	
PFOA, PFOS	Singapore (2006–2007)	PFOA = 6.5-54.4 PFOS = 13.1-617.7	[136]
PFOA, PFDA	Korea (2008)	PFOA = nq-5.3 PFDA = 2.2-11.8	[137]
PFBS, PFHxS, PFHpS, PFOS, PFDS, PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTrA, PFTeA, FOSA	Hong Kong (2008)	$\begin{array}{l} {\rm PFBA} = 3.1 - 111.4 \\ {\rm PFPeA} = 0.5 - 10.1 \\ {\rm PFHxA} = 0.3 - 27.8 \\ {\rm PFHpA} = 0.4 - 4 \\ {\rm PFOA} = 1.3 - 15.7 \\ {\rm PFNA} = 0.5 - 23 \\ {\rm PFDA} = 0.3 - 15.2 \\ {\rm PFUnA} = 0.4 - 7.8 \\ {\rm PFDoA} = 0.6 - 8.6 \\ {\rm PFTrA} = 0.2 - 19 \end{array}$	[84]
PFBA, PFPeA, PFHxA, PFHpA, PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnA, PFDoA, PFTrA, PFTeA, PFHxDA, PFODA, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, PFDS, FOSA	Catalonia, Spain (2010)	$\begin{array}{l} PFBA = nd-22.6\\ PFPeA = nq-17.2\\ PFPAA = nd-4.8\\ PFHpA = nq-4.5\\ PFOA = 7.0-30.3\\ PFNA = 1.0-2.4\\ PFDA = 6.1-23.5\\ PFUNA = nq-12.2\\ PFDOA = 2.7-11.3\\ PFTeA = nq-5.0\\ PFHxDA = nq-4.9\\ PFODA = nd-0.9\\ PFODA = nd-0.9\\ PFBS = nd-7.6\\ PFOS = 53-121.1\\ PFDS = nd-7.5\\ FOSA = nd-10.7\\ \end{array}$	[91]

Table 2 (co	ontinued)
-------------	-----------

For abbreviations of compounds, see text

nd below limit of detection, nq below limit of quantification

^aAverage \pm standard deviation

samples analyzed (sewage sludge from aeration tanks and processed sludge from 12 different STPs from Austria) at concentrations up to around 300 ng/g dw and presumed also the presence of ecstasy (MDMA). Meanwhile, Jones-Lepp and Stevens [99] found MA (4 ng/g dw) in Class A biosolids (biosolids that can be used as soil amendment without restriction) from an STP in Los Angeles, CA, but did not detect it in commercial biosolids Milorganite[®] from Milwaukee, WI.

4.4 UV Filters (Sunscreens)

To date literature on UV filters levels in sewage sludge is very scarce, and only results relative to some compounds are available. To the author's knowledge, there are only four studies [20-23] on the occurrence of UV filters in sewage sludge.

From the various compounds investigated, the most lipophilic 4MBC, OC, OT, and EHMC were the UV filters most frequently found (in most cases with 100% of detection). The highest concentrations observed by far corresponded to OT, with a maximum value of 27,700 ng/g dw [20]. This sunscreen agent is not susceptible to bio- and photo-degradation, and due to its high lipophilicity (log $K_{OW} = 8.1$) adsorbs onto sludge. As expected, significantly higher concentrations were observed in samples collected in summer and at WWTPs treating urban wastes from big cities. For instance in summer, OC showed twice the concentration that had in winter [21].

Degradation products and metabolites considered in the studies were also found in several samples. Gago-Ferrero et al. [23] reported for the first time the occurrence in sewage sludge of two major degradation products of BP-3 known to have estrogenic activity: 4,4'-dihydroxybenzophenone (4DHB) and 4-hydroxybenzophenone (4HB). In this study, results revealed the presence of UV filters in 15 WWTPs in Catalonia (Spain) at concentrations ranging from 40 to 9,170 µg/g dw. In a similar survey carried out by Plagellat et al. [20] in 14 WWTPs from Switzerland, 4-MBC, EHMC, OC and OT were detected in all the sludge samples analyzed showing mean concentrations in the range 110–5,510 ng/g dw. In comparison, lower concentrations were reported by Rodil et al. [22] for 4-MBC, EHMC, BP3 and OD-PABA (1.9–585 ng/g dw) in solely one sludge sample from a WWTP in Leipzig. Also in this sample residue of isoamyl methoxycinnamate (IAMC), butyl methoxydibenzoylmethane (BM-DBM), ethylhexyl salicylate (EHS), homosalate (HMS), diethylhexyl butamido triazone (DBT), and ethylhexyl triazone (EHT) were detected for the first time at concentrations from 20 to 928 ng/g dw.

The concentration levels observed in sewage sludge show that UV filters originate mainly from private households, but besides this, surface runoff and industrial discharges may be considered as additional sources. This indicates that in addition to sunscreens, cosmetics and other personal products, UV filters from plastics, textiles, and other materials can be released to the environment by either volatilization or leaching.

4.5 Brominated Flame Retardants

Although some compounds, such as PBDEs, have been well studied and their levels have been reported for different matrices (including sewage sludge), there are not enough data information about HBCDs and TBBPA, and in the case of the emerging compounds (HBB, PBEB and DBDPE) only a few studies have been published.

The first European results from 1988 reveal levels of about 20–30 ng/g dw of PBDEs in sewage sludges collected in Sweden [65], being deca-BDE-209 the

compound found at the highest concentrations in most sludges. A survey conducted in three WWTPs in Sweden showed levels of PBDEs of about 200 ng/g dw, along with minor contribution of other BFRs (e.g., TBBPA and HBCD) [71]. Öberg et al. [72] studied the distribution and levels of BFRs in 116 sewage sludge samples from 22 municipal WWTPs in Sweden between October 1999 and September 2000. Their results showed that there were considerable variations in the concentrations of BFRs in sewage sludge, and that there was a statistically significant variation among municipal WWTPs, implying influence from local sources. Two examples of industries that can give specific contributions are the electronics (TBBPA) and textile industries (BDE-209), and the highest concentrations of each pollutant were indeed found in samples with such connections. Other studies have also been carried out in different European countries. Christensen et al. [131] reported on the PBDE concentration in sewage sludge samples from Bjergmarken, Roskilde, Denmark, with values around 500 ng/g dw. Another work, with samples from The Netherlands [132], showed total PBDE levels up to 230 ng/g dw. HBCD and TBBPA were also found in sewage sludges from Ireland, The Netherlands, and UK [66]. HBCD levels ranged from not detected to 9,120 ng/g dw, whereas TBBPA concentrations ranged from not detected to 600 ng/g dw. Few studies have been conducted in USA [133, 134]. Hale et al. [133] reported levels from four regions of the USA, with values in the range 1,000-2,290 ng/g dw for tri- to hexa-BDEs, and 85-4,890 ng/g dw for deca-BDE-209, with mean values of about 1,600 ng/g dw and 1,000 ng/g dw, respectively. Concentrations of BDE-47, -99, -100, and -209 exceeded those of the major PCB congeners and other halogenated contaminants present. In general, substantially higher levels have been reported in sludge in USA than in European sludge.

Works including a wide range of different BFRs were recently published. In the first, sewage sludge from 32 WWTPs in south Germany was analyzed [45]. HBB was detected in all sludge with concentrations in the range 4.5–2,468 ng/g dw. Moreover, all 32 samples contained PBDEs in the range 45–462 ng/g dw. Finally, TBBPA was detected in all samples with an average concentration of 16 ng/g dw and a maximum concentration of 62 ng/g dw.

In some countries, such as The Netherlands, most of the sewage sludge is burned in specific sludge incinerators. In other countries, sewage sludge may be deposited in landfills. That procedure may delay input of BFRs into the environment through contaminated leachate water. The higher BFR concentrations found in the USA samples are of environmental concern, because disposal of sewage sludge by application to agricultural and other land is widely practised in the USA.

4.6 Perfluorinated Compounds

During recent years, several works have been published reporting the concentrations of PFCs found in sludge. In most of these works, PFOS continues to be the more frequently found compound, partly because is a very stable

compound and partially because is the end product of the degradation of other PFCs currently in use. In general, the concentrations of PFCs found in these studies were in the range of ng/g dw, sometimes reaching to concentrations in the range of $\mu g/g dw$ [135]. For example, Yu et al. studied the presence and mass flows of PFOS and PFOA in two different WWTPs from Singapore in 2006-2007 receiving different amounts of industrial and urban wastewater [136]. In all the samples, the presence of PFOS and PFOA was confirmed and the concentrations ranging from 13.1 to 702 ng/g dw for PFOS. The sample presenting the highest values of PFCs pollution was from the anaerobic digester. In this case, the presence of PFCs was directly related to industrial use. Another example was reported by Ma et al. [84]. The authors studied the presence of PFCs in three WWTPs from Hong Kong in 2008. Sludge was presented as the major sink of PFCs (0.2-7.305 mg/g dw). In another study, Guo et al. evaluated the fate of PFCs in WWTPs (municipal, livestock, and industrial) from Korea in 2008 [137]. The results concluded that PFCs in sludge from a livestock WWTP were below the LOD, whereas industrial wastes presented high concentrations of PFCs, as it was expected. Navarro et al. [89] studied the presence of PFCs in 20 domestic WWTPs in Spain. In this case, the influence of inhabitants was studied but no correlation was found between the concentration of PFCs and the number of inhabitants attributed to the WWTPs. This result supports the previous reported works.

5 Conclusions and Perspectives

Over recent years, different methodologies for the analysis of emerging compounds have been developed. However, for some of these pollutants, very few studies are referred to the analysis of sewage sludge.

Sample preparation procedure plays a fundamental role in developing analytical methodology for complex matrixes, such as sludge. Techniques, such as PLE, that provide fast, safe and easy preparation procedures, and use smaller amounts of samples and solvents receive significant attention. In general, and regarding the instrumental determination, developed methodologies are based on the use of MS, coupled to either GC or LC. LC–MS offers an improvement over GC–MS, since the derivatization step is avoided for the more polar compounds. The required sensitivity needs the use of MS–MS. Different configurations have been applied, being the most common the use of QqQ. However, in recent years other MS configurations have also appeared in diverse works, such as QqLIT or Q-TOF. In general, LODs reached with LC–MS has shown advantages in terms of versatility and less complicated sample preparation.

The application of developed methods to the analysis of emerging contaminants in sludge samples showed the presence of all the contaminants in concentration levels in the range of ng/g dw. These findings indicate that thorough control and monitoring of organic contaminants, including the emerging contaminants, is needed in order to ensure safe management of sewage sludge, of which it is estimated 45% is employed in agriculture, 18% is accumulated in open dumps, and 17% is incinerated.

Acknowledgements This research study was funded by the Spanish Ministry of Environment and Rural and Marine Media (Project MMAMRM-010/PC08/3-04.), and by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness through the projects CEMAGUA (CGL2007-64551/HID) and SCARCE (Consolider Ingenio 2010 CSD2009-00065).

References

- 1. Kuster M, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D (2005) In: Barceló D (ed) The handbook of environmental chemistry, vol 5, Part O. Springer, Berlin, p 1
- 2. Magoarou P (2000) In: Proceedings of Workshop on Problems around Sludge. EUR 19657 EN, p 8
- 3. Gawlik BM, Bidoglio G (2004) Evaluation of the relevance of organic micro-pollutants in sewage sludge. Provisional report for Commenting: Results of a JRC-Co-ordinated survey on background values. EUR 20??? EN, 00 pp. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg
- 4. Daughton CG, Ternes TA (1999) Environ Health Perspect 107:907
- 5. Halling-Sørensen B, Nors Nielsen S, Lanzky PF, Ingerslev F, Holten Lützhøft HC, Jørgensen SE (1998) Chemosphere 36:357
- 6. Kuster M, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D (2004) Trends Anal Chem 33:790
- 7. Petrovic M, López de Alda MJ, Díaz-Cruz S, Postigo C, Radjenovic J, Gros M, Barcelo D (2009) Philos Trans R Soc A 367:3979
- 8. Seite S, Colige A, Piquemal-Vivenot P (2000) Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 16:147
- 9. Liardet S, Scaletta C, Panizzon R (2001) J Invest Dermatol 117:1437
- 10. Whitmore SE, Morison WL (1995) Arch Dermatol 131:1128
- Lowe NJ, Shaatg NA, Pathak MA (1997) Sunscreens: development, evaluation and regulatory aspects. Marcel Dekker, New York
- 12. Kunz PY, Fent K (2006) Aquat Toxicol 79:305
- 13. Schreurs RH, Sonneveld E, Jansen JH, Seinen W, van der Burg B (2005) Toxicol Sci 83:264
- 14. Fent K, Kunz P, Gomez E (2008) Chimia 62:1
- 15. Brausch JM, Rand GM (2011) Chemosphere 82:1518
- 16. Balmer ME, Buser HR, Müller MD, Poiger T (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:953
- 17. Wick A, Fink G, Ternes TA (2010) J Chromatogr A 1217:2088
- 18. Fent K, Zenker A, Rapp M (2010) Environ Pollut 158:1817
- Díaz-Cruz MS, Gago-Ferrero P, Llorca M, Barcelo D (2012) Anal Bioanal Chem 402:2325 doi:10.107/s00216-011-5560-8
- 20. Plagellat C, Kupper T, Furrer R, De Alencastro LF, Grandjean D, Tarradellas J (2006) Chemosphere 62:915
- 21. Nieto A, Borrull F, Marcé RM, Pocurull E (2009) J Chromatogr A 1216:5619
- 22. Rodil R, Schrader S, Moeder M (2009) J Chromatogr A 1216:8851
- 23. Gago-Ferrero P, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barcelo D (2011) Chemosphere 84:1158
- 24. Rodil R, Moeder M (2008) Anal Chim Acta 612:152
- 25. Gago-Ferrero P, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barcelo D (2011) Anal Bioanal Chem 400:2195
- 26. Labandeira A, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2007) Environ Pollut 146:188

- 27. Eljarrat E, Labandeira A, Marsh G, Raldua D, Barceló D (2007) Chemosphere 69:1278
- Covaci A, Harrad S, Abdallah MAE, Ali N, Law RJ, Herzke D, de Wit CA (2011) Environ Int 37:532
- 29. Bromine Science and Environmental Forum. http://www.bsef.com
- 30. Guerra P, de la Cal A, Marsh G, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2009) J Hydrol 369:360
- Eljarrat E, Guerra P, Martínez E, Farré M, Alvarez JG, López-Teijón M, Barceló D (2009) Environ Sci Technol 43:1940
- 32. UNEP (2010) United Nations Environment Programme: Stockholm convention on persistent organic pollutants (POPs). Geneva
- Directive 2006/122/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2006. European Official Journal European Union 2006, L 372:32–34
- 34. Shoeib M, Harner T, Vlahos P (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:7577
- 35. Wania F (2007) Environ Sci Technol 41:4529
- 36. Sonne C (2010) Environ Int 36:461
- Martin JW, Smithwick MM, Braune BM, Hoekstra PF, Muir DCG, Mabury SA (2004) Environ Sci Technol 38:373
- 38. Stemmler I, Lammel G (2010) Atmos Chem Phys 10:9965
- 39. Butt CM, Berger U, Bossi R, Tomy GT (2010) Sci Total Environ 408:2936
- 40. Schiavone A, Corsolini S, Kannan K, Tao L, Trivelpiece W, Torres D Jr, Focardi S (2009) Sci Total Environ 407:3899
- 41. Tao L, Kannan K, Kajiwara N, Costa MM, Fillmann G, Takahashi S, Tanabe S (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:7642
- 42. International Standards Organisation (1997) ISO 5667-13:1997, Water quality Sampling Part 13: Guidance on sampling of sludges from sewage and water-treatment works. ISO, Geneva
- 43. Spongberg AL, Witter JD (2008) Sci Total Environ 397:148
- 44. Chenxi W, Spongberg AL, Witter JD (2008) Chemosphere 73:511
- 45. Kimura K, Hara H, Watanabe Y (2007) Environ Sci Technol 41:3708
- Lindberg RH, Wennberg P, Johansson MI, Tysklind M, Andersson BAV (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:3421
- 47. Matthias Ferdig AKWB (2005) J Sep Sci 28:1448
- 48. Morales S, Canosa P, Rodríguez I, Rubí E, Cela R (2005) J Chromatogr A 1082:128
- 49. Radjenović J, Jelić A, Petrović M, Barceló D (2009) Anal Bioanal Chem 393:1685
- 50. Barron L, Tobin J, Paull B (2008) J Environ Monit 10:353
- 51. Nieto A, Borrull F, Pocurull E, Marcé RM (2008) J Chromatogr A 1213:224
- 52. Göbel A, Thomsen A, McArdell CS, Alder AC, Giger W, Theiß N, Löffler D, Ternes TA (2005) J Chromatogr A 1085:179
- 53. Esperanza M, Suidan MT, Marfil-Vega R, Gonzalez C, Sorial GA, McCauley P, Brenner R (2007) Chemosphere 66:1535
- 54. Ternes TA, Andersen H, Gilberg D, Bonerz M (2002) Anal Chem 74:3498
- 55. Thomas KV, Dye C, Schlabach M, Langford KH (2007) J Environ Monit 9:1410
- 56. Yu YY, Huang QX, Cui JL, Zhang K, Tang CM, Peng XZ (2011) Anal Bioanal Chem 399:891
- 57. Liu S, Ying GG, Zhao JL, Chen F, Yang B, Zhou LJ, Lai HJ (2011) J Chromatogr A 1218:1367
- 58. Viglino L, Prevost M, Sauve S (2011) J Environ Monit 13:583
- Chiu TY, Koh YKK, Paterakis N, Boobis AR, Cartmell E, Richards KH, Lester JN, Scrimshaw MD (2009) J Chromatogr A 1216:4923
- 60. Martín J, Santos JL, Aparicio I, Alonso E (2010) J Sep Sci 33:1760
- 61. Hu JY, Chen X, Tao G, Kekred K (2007) Environ Sci Technol 41:4097
- 62. Muller M, Rabenoelina F, Balaguer P, Patureau D, Lemenach K, Budzinski H, Barceló D, López de Alda MJ, Kuster M, Delgenès JP, Hernandez-Raquet G (2008) Environ Toxicol Chem 27:1649

- 63. Tan BLL, Hawker DW, Müller JF, Tremblay LA, Chapman HF (2008) Water Res 42:404
- 64. Stratton CL, Mousa JJ, Bursey JT (1979) Analysis for polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs) in environmental samples, US EPA, report no 560/13-79-001
- 65. Hagenmaier H, She J, Benz T, Dawidowsky N, Düsterhöft N, Lindig C (1992) Chemosphere 25:1457
- 66. de Boer J, Wester PG, van der Horst A, Leonards PEG (2003) Environ Pollut 122:63
- 67. Kohler M, Zennegg M, Gerecke AC, Schmid P, Heeb N (2003) Organohalogen Compd 61:123
- 68. Moche W, Stephan K (2003) Organohalogen Compd 61:147
- 69. Kolic TM, MacPherson KA, Reiner EJ, Ho T (2003) Organohalogen Compd 61:175
- 70. Nylund K, Asplund L, Jansson B, Jonsson P, Litzén K, Sellström U (1992) Chemosphere 24:1721
- 71. Sellström U, Kierkegaard A, Alsberg T, Jonsson P, de Wit C (1999) Organohalogen Compd 40:383
- 72. Öberg K, Warman K, Öberg T (2002) Chemosphere 48:805
- 73. La Guardia M, Hale RC, Harvey E (2007) Environ Sci Technol 41:6663
- 74. Ricklund N, Kierkegaard A, McLachlan MS (2008) Chemosphere 73:1799
- 75. Ricklund N, Kierkegaard A, McLachlan MS, Wahlberg C (2008) Chemosphere 74:389
- Eljarrat E, Labandeira A, Martínez A, Fabrellas B, Barceló D (2005) Organohalogen Compd 67:459
- 77. Salgado C, Chao MG, Jares CG, Cela R, Llompart M (2003) Proceedings of the Third Scientific Meeting of the Spanish Society of Chromatography and Related Techniques, Almería, Spain, November 19–21, p 131
- 78. Dasu K, Royer LA, Liu J, Lee LS (2010) Chemosphere 81:911
- 79. Hansen KJ, Clemen LA, Ellefson ME, Johnson HO (2001) Environ Sci Technol 35:766
- 80. Zhang T, Gerecke AC, Kannan K, Müller CE (2010) J Chromatogr A 1217:5026
- 81. Eon J, Furdui V, Reiner E, Libelo EL, Mabury S (2009) Environ Sci Technol 43:4589
- 82. Higgins CP, Field JA, Criddle CS, Luthy RG (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:3946
- 83. Yoo H, Jenkins TM, Libelo EL (2009) J Chromatogr A 1216:7831
- 84. Ma R (2010) Environ Pollut 158:1354
- 85. Rhoads KR, Janssen EML, Luthy RG, Criddle CS (2008) Environ Sci Technol 42:2873
- 86. Bossi R, Strand J, Sortkjær O, Larsen MM (2008) Environ Int 34:443
- 87. Li F, Zhang C, Qu Y, Chen J, Chen L, Liu Y, Zhou Q (2010) Sci Total Environ 408:617
- 88. Sun H, Giger W, Alder AC (2011) Environ Pollut 159:654
- 89. Navarro I, Sanz P, Martínez MA (2011) Anal Bioanal Chem 400:1277
- 90. Schröder HFJ (2003) J Chromatogr A 1020:131
- 91. Llorca M, Farré M, Picó Y, Barceló D (2009) J Chromatogr A 1216:7195
- Kunacheva C, Tanaka S, Fujii S, Boontanon SK, Musirat C, Wongwattana T, Shivakoti BR (2011) Chemosphere 83:737
- 93. Jelic A, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2009) Talanta 80:363
- 94. Krogh KA, Björklund E, Loeffler D, Fink G, Halling-Sørensen B, Ternes TA (2008) J Chromatogr A 1211:60
- 95. Buchberger WW (2007) Anal Chim Acta 593:12
- 96. Trenholm RA, Vanderford BJ, Holady JC, Rexing DJ, Snyder SA (2006) Chemosphere 65:1990
- 97. Carballa M, Omil F, Ternes T, Lema JM (2007) Water Res 41:2139
- 98. Kaleta A, Ferdig M, Buchberger W (2006) J Sep Sci 29:1662
- 99. Jones-Lepp TL, Stevens R (2007) Anal Bioanal Chem 387:1173
- 100. Langford KH, Reid M, Thomas KV (2011) J Environ Monit 13:2284
- 101. Cariou R, Antignac JP, Debrauwer L, Zalco D, Le Bizec B, André F (2003) Organohalogen Compd 61:53
- 102. Covaci A, Voorspoels S, de Boer J (2003) Environ Int 29:735
- 103. Sellström U, Jansson B (1995) Chemosphere 31:3085

- 104. Quade SC, Alaee M, Marvin C, Hole R, Solomon KR, Bunce NJ, Fisk AT (2003) Organohalogen Compd 62:327
- 105. Jakobsson K, Thuresson K, Rylander L, Sjödin A, Hamar L, Bergman A (2002) Chemosphere 46:709
- 106. Berger U, Haukås M (2005) J Chromatogr A 1081:210
- 107. Powley CR, George SW, Ryan TW, Buck RC (2005) Anal Chem 77:6353
- 108. Yamashita N, Kannan K, Taniyasu S, Horii Y, Petrick G, Gamo T (2005) Marine Pollut Bull 51:658
- 109. Samaras V, Thomaidis N, Stasinakis A, Lekkas T (2011) Anal Bioanal Chem 399:2549
- 110. Eljarrat E, de la Cal A, Raldúa D, Duran C, Barceló D (2004) Environ Sci Technol 38:2603
- 111. Postigo C, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D (2008) TrAC 27:1053
- 112. Guerra P, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2011) TrAC 30:842
- 113. Tollback J, Crescenzi C, Dyremark E (2006) J Chromatogr A 1104:106
- 114. Morris S, Allchin CR, Zegers BN, Haftka JJH, Boon JP, Belpaire C, Leonards PEG, van Leeuwen SPJ, de Boer J (2004) Environ Sci Technol 38:5497
- 115. Debrauwer L, Riu A, Jouahri M, Rathahao E, Jouanin I, Antignac JP, Cariou R, Le Bizec B, Zalko D (2005) J Chromatogr A 1082:98
- 116. Guerra P, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2010) Anal Bioanal Chem 397:2817
- 117. Budakowski W, Tomy G (2003) Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 17:1399
- 118. Janák K, Covaci A, Voorspoels S, Becher G (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:1987
- 119. Guerra P, de la Torre A, Martinez MA, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2008) Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 22:916
- 120. Suzuki S, Hasegawa A (2006) Anal Sci 22:469
- 121. Mascolo G, Locaputo V, Mininni G (2010) J Chromatogr A 1217:4601
- 122. Kuklenyik Z, Reich JA, Tully JS, Needham LL, Calafat AM (2004) Environ Sci Technol 38:3698
- 123. Calafat AM, Kuklenyik Z, Caudill SP, Reidy JA, Needham LL (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:2128
- 124. Calafat AM, Ye X, Silva MJ, Kuklenyik Z, Needham LL, Kolossa M, Tuomisto J, Astrup Jensen A (2006) Int J Androl 29:166
- 125. Taniyasu S, Kannan K, Yeung LWY, Kwok KY, Lam PKS, Yamashita N (2008) Anal Chim Acta 619:221
- 126. Takino M, Daishima S, Nakahara T (2003) Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 17:383
- 127. Chu S, Letcher RJ (2008) J Chromatogr A 1215:92
- 128. Song L, Wellman AD, Yao H, Adcock J (2007) Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 21:1343
- 129. Llorca M, Farré M, Picó Y, Barceló D (2010) Anal Bioanal Chem 398:1145
- 130. Nieto A, Borull F, Pocurull E, Marcé RM (2010) Environ Toxicol Chem 29:1484
- 131. Christensen JH, Groth BS, Vikelsoe J, Vorkamp K (2003) NERI Technical Report 481
- 132. de Boer J, Allchin C, Zegers B, Boon JP, Brandsma SH, Morris S, Kruijt AW, van der Veen I, van Hesselingen JM, Haftka JJH (2002) RIVO rapport C033/02
- 133. Hale RC, Alaee M, Manchester-Neesvig JB, Stapleton HM, Ikonomou MG (2003) Environ Int 29:771
- 134. Hale RC, La Guardia MJ, Harvey EP, Gaylor MO, Mainor TM, Duff WH (2001) Nature 412:140
- 135. Guo R, Cai Y, Jiang G (2008) Talanta 75:1394
- 136. Yu JHJ, Tanaka S, Fujii S (2009) Water Res 43:2399
- 137. Guo R, Lee ES, Lee JH, Oh JE (2010) Water Res 44:3476
- 138. Ding Y, Zhang W, Gu C, Xagararaki I, Li H (2011) J Chromatogr A 1218:10
- 139. Eljarrat E, Marsh G, Labandeira A, Barceló D (2008) Chemosphere 71:1079
- 140. Knoth W, Mann W, Meyer R, Nebhuth J (2007) Chemosphere 67:1831
- 141. North KD (2004) Environ Sci Technol 38:4484
- 142. Kupper T, de Alencastro LF, Gatsigazi R, Furrer R, Grandjean D, Tarradellas J (2008) Chemosphere 71:1173

- 143. Kuch B, Schneider C, Metzger J, Weber R (2005) Organohalogen Compd 67:434
- 144. Remberger M, Sternbeck J, Palm A, Kaj L, Strömberg K, Brorström-Lundén E (2004) Chemosphere 54:9
- 145. Saint-Louis R, Pelletier E (2004) Analyst 129:724
- 146. Covaci A, Gerecke AC, Law RJ, Voorspoels S, Kohler M, Heeb NV, Leslie H, Allchin CR, de Boer J (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:3679
- 147. Lagalante AF, Oswald TD (2008) Anal Bioanal Chem 391:2249
- 148. Sinclair E, Roblee K, Yamashita N, Kannan K (2006) Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 50:398
- 149. Loganathan BG, Sajwan KS, Sinclair E, Senthil Kumar K, Kannan K (2007) Water Res 41:4611
- 150. Tan BLL, Hawker DW, Müller JF, Leusch FDL, Tremblay LA, Chapman HF (2007) Environ Int 33:654

Fate of Emerging Contaminants During Aerobic and Anaerobic Sludge Treatment

Guillermina Hernandez-Raquet

Abstract The detection of a wide range of biologically active contaminants in sewage has raised the question as to whether these pollutants are disseminated in the environment via wastewater effluents. Numerous studies have shown that in wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) pollutants are removed from liquid effluent by biological degradation or by sorption into biosolids. Thus, in a general assessment of the environmental fate of emerging pollutants, adsorption must be taken into account in their elimination from the water. However, despite abundant information existing on the removal rates and residual pollutant concentration in liquid effluent, little information exists on the occurrence and fate of emerging pollutants concentrated in the solid fraction of wastewater (sewage sludge or biosolids).

The aim of this review is to present a comprehensive evaluation of the presence of three classes of emerging contaminants in sludge: alkylphenols, hormones, and pharmaceuticals. In particular, the fate of these compounds during sewage and sludge treatment by aerobic and anaerobic processes is addressed.

Keywords Activated sludge, Anaerobic treatment, Hormones, Nonylphenol, Pharmaceuticals

Contents

1	Introduction	74
2	Alkylphenolic Detergents	76
3	Hormones	83
4	Pharmaceuticals	90
5	Conclusions and Perspectives	102
Re	ferences	103

73

G. Hernandez-Raquet

Laboratoire d'Ingénierie des Systèmes Biologiques et Procédés, UMR5504, UMR792, CNRS, INRA, INSA, 135 avenue de Rangueil, 31077 Toulouse Cedex 04, France e-mail: g_hernan@insa-toulouse.fr

Abbreviations

APE	Alkylphenolic polyethoxylated
BOD	Biological oxygen demand
CAPEC	Alkylphenoxy-ethoxycarboxylate
COD	Chemical oxygen demand
E1	Estrone
E2	Estradiol
E3	Estriol
EE2	Ethinylestradiol
ER	Estrogen receptor
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
K _d	Partition coefficient
LAS	Linear alkylbenzene sulfonates
LOD	Limit of detection
MeEE2	Mestranol
NP	Nonylphenol
NP1EC	Nonylphenoxy-acetic acid
NP1EO	Nonylphenol monoethoxylate
NP2EC	Nonylphenoxyethoxy-acetic acid
NP2EO	Nonylphenol diethoxylate
NPnEO	Nonylphenol polyethoxylates
OP	Octylphenol
PEC	Predicted environmental concentration
Pg	Progesterone
SRT	Solid retention time
Т	Testosterone
TKN	Total Kjeldahl nitrogen
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

1 Introduction

There exists a growing concern about the release into the environment of a wide range of organic compounds known as emerging contaminants. Emerging contaminants include chemical compounds such as detergents, pharmaceuticals as well as natural and synthetic hormones. These compounds are characterized in terms of their biological activity. Contaminants such as natural and synthetic hormones, octylphenol and nonylphenol derivating from alkylphenolic detergents, as well as plasticizers are known as endocrine disruptors. They are able to interact with the endocrine system and alter functions such as reproduction, growth, and development in wildlife populations and humans and so have been associated with the reduction of fertility, changes in sex ratio and imposex incidence observed in wild fish populations [1]. In addition, endocrine-disrupting contaminants are suspected in the increase in the incidence of breast cancer and the decrease in the quality and quantity of sperm in humans. Emerging contaminants such as pharmaceuticals have been designed to stimulate a specific response in animals and humans. However, after their use and excretion, they may affect nontargeted organisms; in this way, pharmaceuticals may induce negative responses in wildlife. For instance, antibiotics are known to induce resistance to antibiotics in bacteria, while other compounds seem to increase the toxicity of complex mixtures of pollutants [2]. Though, the impact of pharmaceuticals such as anti-inflammatory drugs, antibiotics, and mutagenic compounds used in the treatment of cancer is not completely understood. They are suspected of inducing abnormal physiological processes in living organisms [3]. Hence, the continuous presence of emerging contaminants in the environment is an actual risk for wildlife and humans.

Depending on their origin and use, emerging contaminants enter the environment via very diverse routes. Chemical compounds of industrial use, such as detergents, enter the environment via regulated or unregulated discharge to surface water or from WWTP. Pharmaceuticals and natural and synthetic hormones reach the environment mainly via industrial or urban WWTP. Veterinary medicines and animal hormones are released through direct excretion in the field or by manure spreading on land, and these contaminants can reach aquifers and groundwater via runoff and leaching from manure-dressed soils. Regarding the diversity of emerging contaminants and the wide range of routes by which they enter the natural environment, over the last 15 years great effort has been made in developing analytical methods to assess their occurrence in diverse environmental matrices. Thus, several studies have reported trace levels of emerging pollutants present in sewage, wastewater effluents, surface, ground and drinking water, soils, sediments, and sludge [4–6].

Currently, abundant literature stated on the level of emerging compound contamination in divers aqueous matrices such as industrial and agricultural effluents, raw sewage and WWTP effluents from urban origin, surface, ground and drinking water [7–9]. In contrast, little information exists on the occurrence and fate of emerging contaminants in solid matrices, even though these pollutants may display hydrophobic properties. Thus, it is expected that some fraction of them will be adsorbed to sewage sludge, manure, or sediments. In most of the WWTP around the world, sewage is treated biologically by activated sludge combining aerobic and anoxic processes. During such treatment, emerging contaminants are partially eliminated from the liquid effluent via biological degradation or by sorption into sewage sludge. Indeed, as much as 80% of hormones (ethynylestradiol, estrone), 50% of nonylphenol and 30% of pharmaceuticals (e.g. triclosan) may be adsorbed into sludge [10–12]. Thus, several studies have suggested that sorption of emerging pollutants by solid organic matter is the main mechanism involved in eliminating pollutants from the water phase [10, 11].

Sewage sludge is an abundant by-product of wastewater treatment processes. For 2006, a production of more than 16 million tons was estimated for the USA and the European Union [13, 14]. Due to its high content in organic matter and nutrients, sewage sludge is used as a fertilizer or conditioner for soils. Indeed, sludge spreading on land is considered as one of the more economic and environmentally

sustainable approaches for sludge management and nutrient recycling. Sludge spreading is widely practiced: about 30% and 50%, respectively, of the sludge produced annually in Canada and USA are applied to land [15]. Fifty percent to seventy percent of the sludge produced is spread on land [5, 16]. In addition, agricultural sludge resulting from manure treatment is also applied to land.

Prior spreading, sludge is generally stabilized using anaerobic digestion (about 70% of sewage sludge is anaerobically digested), mesophilic or thermophilic aerobic treatment or composting [17]. Despite the importance of sludge spreading practices, however, little information exists on the presence of emerging contaminants in sludge substrates or on their fate during sludge treatment. Similarly, little information exists on the microorganisms involved in the biological attenuation of such contaminants.

This chapter has three main objectives: firstly, to summarize the behavior of emerging contaminants during sewage treatment because it determines their transfer to biosolids; secondly, to provide a comprehensive overview of the current knowledge regarding the occurrence of these pollutants in sludge. Finally, the potential routes for the elimination of emerging contaminants in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions are discussed.

2 Alkylphenolic Detergents

Due to their cleaning and surfactant properties, alkylphenolic polyethoxylated (APE) detergents are used in the formulation of industrial and household products. They are used in the paper industry, metal production, and in oil extraction. APE are also used in making paints, detergents, pesticides, plastics, and resins [18]. Indeed, with the anionic detergents LAS (linear alkylbenzene sulfonates), nonionic alkylphenol ethoxylated detergents represent most of the worldwide production of detergents. LAS do not present estrogenic activity and are almost fully eliminated (93–97%) by WWTP [19]. In contrast, APE and their derivates nonylphenol (NP) and octylphenol (OP) are estrogenic and persist during the biological treatment of sewage. With an annual consumption worldwide of nonylphenol polyethoxylate (NP*n*EO, where *n* indicates the number of ethoxy units) in excess of 600,000 tones, it is by far the most commercially important APE, representing 90% of total production [20]. This means that the main detergent derivate will be NP [21].

Polyethoxylated NPEO are weakly estrogenic and easily degraded by microbial activity [22]. In contrast, its short-chain metabolites nonylphenol-monoethoxylate (NP1EO), nonylphenol diethoxylate (NP2EO), and NP are estrogenic and more recalcitrant to biodegradation. The estrogenic activity of NP was discovered by chance by the Soto's team in the early 1990s on account of its ability to induce the proliferation of breast cancer cells MCF7 [23]. Thereafter, the ability of NP to compete with natural hormones for binding to the nuclear estrogen receptor was elucidated [24]. NP is tenfold more estrogenic that its parent polyethoxylated NPEO and is the most recalcitrant derivate of APE surfactants. In addition, NP is



Fig. 1 Degradation pathway of polyethoxylated nonylphenols

reported as inhibiting testicular growth and inducing vitellogenin production in male fish (a protein associated with egg production), even at low microgram-perliter levels [25, 26]. The estrogenic effect of NP and its accumulation in several organisms both vertebrate and invertebrate has also been demonstrated [27–30]. Due to its estrogenic properties, NP has been included in the list of priority pollutants in the European Union Water Framework Directive [31]. Moreover, in 2003, the European Parliament endorsed a directive for restricting the use of nonylphenol and nonylphenol ethoxylates in the formulation of cosmetics, personal care products, and some industrial applications, authorizing their use only in processes where these substances are destroyed or fully recycled [32].

The estrogenic properties of NP have aroused a lot of interest in determining the degradation pathway of NPEO in different environmental conditions. Comprehensive studies in NPEO degradation have been conducted in full-scale wastewater treatment plants which are the main receptacle of such pollutants [33]. A general scheme of NPEO degradation pathways is presented in Fig. 1. During sewage treatment, the cleavage of the terminal ether bond of long-chain NPEO leads to the formation of shorter ethoxylated compounds, mainly NP2EO and NP1EO, which are further transformed into NP [22, 34, 35]. These metabolites are more resistant and estrogenic than the parent compound. In aerobic conditions, NPEO are also degraded by ω -carboxylation of the terminal alcohol forming ethoxycarboxylated nonylphenols such as nonylphenoxy-acetic acid (NP1EC) and nonylphenoxyethoxy-acetic acid (NP2EC). Such carboxylates can also be transformed into NP. Carboxy-alkylphenoxy-ethoxycarboxylates (CAPEC) are also produced via simultaneous oxidation of the alkyl and ethoxyl groups [36]. The degradation of NPEO and its metabolites has been confirmed in laboratory experiments using simplified conditions. Aerobic respirometric tests have demonstrated the easy mineralization (transformation to CO₂) of long-chain NPEO, after 35 incubation days [37]. Similar results have also been reported for NP degradation in mesophilic aerobic reactors, using activated sludge as the inoculum [38]. However, in such aerobic respirometric tests, more than 50% of the initial amount of NP was still not degraded after 35 days period, suggesting that NP was adsorbed into the biomass, limiting its further degradation [37]. The degradation of NP in anoxic environments has also been reported in experiments performed under sulfate-reducing [39, 40] and nitrate-reducing [41] conditions but not under methanogenic conditions. Under nitrate-reducing conditions, NP degradation was observed when NP presented a branched alkyl chain [41]. Nevertheless, under anoxic conditions, the degradation rates are slower than those measured in aerobic conditions.

The sorption of NP into the solids has important consequences for its fate during wastewater treatment. During sewage treatment, NPEO degradation is accompanied by the production of metabolites that differ in their physicochemical properties, particularly in respect to its hydrophobicity. Therefore, the distribution of NPEO and its metabolites within the sewage matrix evolves through the wastewater treatment process. Long-chain NPEO detergents are hydrophilic compounds that remain in the liquid phase. However, as the NPEO ethoxylated chain is shortened, losing its hydrophilic moieties, they became less hydrophilic. Consequently, the compounds NP1EO, NP2EO, and NP, displaying a high octanol/water partition coefficient (log K_{ow} between 4.17 and 4.48 [42]), will be sorbed into the lipophilic sludge fraction. Thus, based on mass balance calculations carried out in diverse sewage treatment plants, it has been estimated that up to 60% of the total amount of NPEO entering WWTP can be sorbed into the solids [10, 43]. Similarly, the levels of these compounds increased in sediments exposed to WWTP effluent [44, 45].

Worldwide surveys on the presence of alkylphenolic detergents in sewage sludge have shown that most of sludge samples displayed high levels of NP, NP1EO, and NP2EO (Table 1). NP1,2EO, and NP concentrations ranged from the limit of detection (LOD) to 3,150 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹, a level much higher than that proposed by the European Union regulations (50 and 400 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹; EU 2000, 2003). Sludge stabilized by aerobic or anaerobic processes showed NP concentrations ranging from, respectively, 0.1 to 800 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹ and 0.6 to 2,540 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹ (see references in Table 1). NP concentrations in sludge vary regionally, depending on the use of NPE surfactants: low NPEO concentrations were recorded in Denmark (0.3–67 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹) and Australia (< 0.4 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹), whereas high NPEO levels, ranging from 14.3 to 3,150 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹ were reported in Spain [46]. High NP concentrations were also reported in California and New York, with mean values of 754 and 1,500 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹, respectively [47, 48]. NPEO concentrations in sludge from different WWTP vary as a function of the sewage treatment process used. In general, lower levels of NP1,2EO, and NP are detected in WWTP using aerobic treatment based on activated sludge; in such systems, raw, dewatered, and thermally

Table 1 Concentrations of	of nonylphenol and no	nylphenol mono- an	id di-ethoxylates	in sewage sludge		
	NP + NP1,2EO					
	$(mg kg_{dw}^{-1})$	Mean value	Number of			
Type of sludge n	nin-max	$(mg kg_{dw}^{-1})$	samples	Type of wastewater treatment	Country	Reference
Aerobic stabilization	80-500	250	8	nm	Switzerland	[35]
Aerobic stabilization	200-1,270	798	5	nm	Switzerland	[10]
Aerobic digested sludge	0.02-0.4	0.11	1	Activated sludge + nitrification/ denitrification	Australia	[6]
Aerobic/extended aerobic treatment	4.9–10	7.4	2	Activated sludge	Australia	[158]
Anaerobic digestion	450-2,530	1,010	30	ши	Switzerland	[35]
Anaerobic digestion	900-2,540	1,410	24	nm	Switzerland	[10]
Anaerobic digestion	707 - 1,030	830	5	Activated sludge	USA	[47]
Anaerobic digestion	348	348	1	Activated sludge	Italy	[52]
Anaerobic digestion	942 - 1,901	1,496	5	Activated sludge	USA	[48]
Anaerobic digestion	103-856	327	18	Activated sludge/chlorination	Canada	[53]
Anaerobic digestion	1,600	1,600	1	Activated sludge	USA	[148]
Anaerobic digestion	1.7-513	111	5	Activated sludge	Australia	[158]
Anaerobic digestion	109–122	114	1	Thermal hydrolysis	Australia	[158]
Anaerobic digestion	0.6 - 91.1	44	3	nm	Australia	[158]
Raw sludge	50-2,668	620	69	nm	Spain	[46]
Dewatered sludge	LOD-212	22	18	Activated sludge or aerated lagoon	Canada	[53]
Dewatered sludge	22–650	136	36	Primary + chemical and activated sludge	Norway	[159]
Dewatered sludge	2.5-3.7	nm	c,	Activated sludge	Germany	[50]
Dewatered sludge	342	342	1	Activated sludge	Italy	[52]
Dewatered sludge	72-808	242	16	Activated sludge/chlorination	Canada	[53]
Dewatered sludge	193	193	1	Activated sludge	USA	[61]
Dewatered sludge	510	510	1	Activated sludge	USA	[148]
						(continued)

and di-ethovylates in m lon-henol entrations of nonvluhenol and

Table 1 (continued)						
	NP + NP1, 2EO					
	$(mg kg_{dw}^{-1})$	Mean value	Number of			
Type of sludge	min-max	$(mg kg_{dw}^{-1})$	samples	Type of wastewater treatment	Country	Reference
Dewatered sludge	8.9	8.9	1	Activated sludge	Greece	[160]
Thermal treated	130-492	303	2	Activated sludge/chlorination	Canada	[53]
Thermal treated	511-587	544	1	Activated sludge	NSA	[47]
Thermal dried	14 - 3, 150	458	41	nm	Spain	[46]
Dried sludge	297–394	346	2	Activated sludge	NSA	[148]
Composted sludge	LOD-193	65	6	Activated sludge	NSA	[47]
Composted sludge	18-363	140	30	nm	Spain	[46]
Composted sludge	9-505	201	4	Activated sludge	NSA	[148]
Chemically stabilized (lime)	498–953	730	2	Activated sludge	USA	[47]
Chemically stabilized (lime)	7.6-43	23	2	nm	Australia	[158]
nm	LOD-1,193	128	149	nm	Germany	[161] (1987–1989)
nm	0.3-67	15	20	uu	Denmark	[162]
nm	LOD-360	27	100	uu	Germany	[49] (1994–1995)
LOD below the limit of	f detection, nm not ment	ioned				

80

treated sludge displayed NP1,2EO and NP concentrations of about 265 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹. When sludge is composted, the corresponding average level is about 135 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹; this value reflects both the sludge dilution with composting material as well as NPEO degradation during the composting process. In anaerobically digested sludge, high levels of short-chain NP1,2EO and NP are generally observed; it results from the high NP sorption into sludge, the reduction of solid mass due to digestion, with the consequent increasing concentration of these compounds in the residual solid, and NP production during anaerobic digestion (from long-chain NPEO) accompanied by a limited degradation of this compound under anaerobic conditions. Nevertheless, in the recent years, the concentrations of NP1,2EO and NP in sludge tended to decrease as a consequence of government pressure exerted on industries to restrict the use of alkylphenolic detergent in their processes [49, 50].

Due to the high levels of short-chain NPEO and NP found in anaerobically digested sludge and the interest of this process for sludge stabilization (up to 70% of sludge is anaerobically digested) and energy production (methane), the study of the fate of NPEO during sludge digestion has received a lot of attention. Several studies concluded that NP1EO, NP2EO, and NP are recalcitrant to biodegradation under methanogenic conditions; thus, these compounds may accumulate during the anaerobic digestion of sludge [35, 51-53]. This was clearly demonstrated in controlled batch experiments carried out with ¹⁴C-labeled NP, NP1EO and NP2EO and using inocula from different sources: an anaerobic digester, sludge landfill, and municipal waste landfill. These experiments showed that, whatever the origin of the inoculum, NP1,2EO transformation led to the accumulation of NP which was no further degraded [51]. Moreover, high NP concentrations $(20 \text{ mg g}_{dw}^{-1})$ may inhibit anaerobic gas production [51, 54]. In contrast, mass balance calculations done for untreated and digested sludge in batch experiments showed that, even if the final NP concentration increased after anaerobic treatment, a fraction of NPEO was not transformed into NP or other metabolites [52]. This suggests that NPEO was partially eliminated by anaerobic digestion. Similarly, in continuous reactors feed with mixed sludge (50:50, primary:secondary sludge) naturally contaminated with NPEO, a net removal of 25% for such compounds was measured [55]. However, in other experiments using continuous reactors fed with secondary sludge spiked with NP, and taking into account the concentrations of NP and solids measured in the feed and treated sludge, the mass balance analysis showed that NP was completely recalcitrant to biological degradation under methanogenic conditions [56]. In these last experiments, the levels of NP and estrogenic activity measured by the MELN in vitro test were compared, showing that neither NP nor estrogenic activity was eliminated during sludge digestion. The contrasting results obtained in such experiments led to more recent research to compare NP removal from different types of sludge: primary, secondary, mixed sludge or thermally treated sludge. In these experiments, carried out in continuous anaerobic reactors under mesophilic conditions, between 20% and 60% removal of NP was observed [57]. Nevertheless, in these experiments, as well as in those preceding, the resulting digested sludge contained higher levels of NP per gram of dw than the sludge prior to anaerobic treatment. Overall, the results obtained in

continuous reactors suggest that NP degradation is conditioned by several parameters such as the length of treatment, the physicochemical properties of the sludge and the composition and metabolic activity of the microbial community.

The treatment of sludge contaminated with NP1,2EO and NP by mesophilic and thermophilic aerobic processes has also been studied. Experiments carried out in batch cultures (60°C) and in continuous reactors (55°C) showed that, respectively, only 66% and 40% of the initial NP and NP1,2EO amounts were removed [58, 59]. In contrast, experiments done in continuous reactors under mesophilic temperatures (35°C) showed that these compounds were completely removed [56]. These results are in accordance with previous observations showing that NPEO are more easily transformed in aerobic environments [38].

The fate of NPEO has also been studied during sludge composting under mesophilic (35° C) or thermophilic conditions (50° C, 55° C, and 65° C). In laboratory experiments using a mixture of sludge with straw and plant residues or municipal solid waste, a similar decrease of NP, NP1,2EO levels was observed at 35° C, 50° C, and 55° C. However, at 65° C and above, a big accumulation of NP was observed [60]. In another study, NP degradation was monitored during composting (55° C) of both naturally contaminated sludge and NP-spiked sludge. Under such conditions, about 95% of the initial concentrations were eliminated after 15 and 45 days of incubation for, respectively, unspiked and spiked experiments [61]. This suggests that aerobic processes such as composting and extended sludge aeration ensure efficient removal of NP1,2EO and NP. Otherwise, these data suggest that at temperatures higher than 55° C, the microorganism involved in NP metabolism was less or not active [60].

Recently, others methods for sludge treatment have been developed, combining aerobic and anaerobic biological sludge treatment or physicochemical treatment (ozonation, thermal, mechanical, or chemical treatment) with biological aerobic or anaerobic processes. In experiments using anaerobic digestion followed by aerobic treatment to eliminate NP1,2EO and NP present in sludge, it was shown that NP1EO and NP2EO were completely eliminated whereas a residual, but low, NP level was still apparent after aerobic treatment [56]. In contrast, in the control experiment treating sludge by aerobic mesophilic processes only, the NP and total NPE were completely eliminated. Other authors have applied thermophilic aerobic treatment prior mesophilic anaerobic sludge digestion. In such experiments, a removal of about 45% of NP and NP1,2EO was observed; values that were equivalent to the efficiency of the aerobic thermophilic process alone [59]. The main objectives of the anaerobic treatment of sludge are: firstly, to reduce sludge volume and the level of its fermentable organic matter; secondly, to produce energy (methane). Thus, combining anaerobic digestion with the aerobic treatment of sludge seems to be advantageous because it permits both a high methane production level with efficient NP removal. This configuration may also reduce the energy required for aeration of anaerobically digested sludge that contains a lower amount of solids than raw sludge. Experiments combining ozonation with the anaerobic digestion of sludge showed a significant increase (about 50%) of NP removal [59]. Such treatment also reduces to the same extent the solid content of sludge.

Consequently, the treated sludge presented similar levels of NP and NP1,2EO per gram of dry weight as sludge before treatment. Nevertheless, before validating the use of such advanced processes, the assessment of their economic and environmental cost is still needed [62].

Little information exists on the microflora involved in NP degradation during sludge treatment. Indeed, most of the information on NP-degrading microorganisms has been obtained in simplified laboratory experiments performed in liquid media and under aerobic conditions. In such conditions, different species belonging to *Candida* and *Sphingomonas* have been identified for their capacity to degrade linear or branched NP as sole carbon source [38, 63, 64]. Under sulfate-reducing conditions, using soil bacteria as inoculum for a simplified aqueous medium, five isolates were obtained; the most efficient, related to *Bacillus niacin*, was able to degrade 98% NP (50 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹) after 77 days of incubation [40]. Recently, *Pseudomonas* and *Alcaligenes* species have also been found in denitrifying enrichments [41]. Nevertheless, further research is still needed to identify the microorganisms involved in NP degradation in complex sludge systems, particularly in anaerobic environments.

3 Hormones

Hormones (estrone E1, estradiol E2, estriol E3, testosterone T, progesterone Pg) are chemical messengers naturally produced by the endocrine system of humans and animals. They are involved in cell communication throughout the organism. Hormones participate in the control of important physiological functions such as growth, development, and reproduction. Hormones are C18 steroids, made up of by 18 carbon atoms distributed in three hexagonal (A–C) and one pentagonal (D) rings (Table 2). The different substitutions in the cyclopentane–phenanthrene nucleus differentiate these molecules. In synthetic estrogens, the addition of ethinyl and methyl groups to estradiol forms ethinylestradiol (EE2) and mestranol (MeEE2), compounds used to control reproduction (contraceptive pills) and to regulate hormonal disorders in humans. Estrogens dissolve poorly in water, with solubility of about 13 mg L⁻¹ for the natural compounds, while EE2 and MeEE2 display solubility of, respectively, 4.8 and 0.3 mg L⁻¹ (Table 2). Steroid hormones show moderate affinity with solids (Log K_{ow} 2.4–4 [65]) which means that a fraction of these chemicals will be sorbed to sludge, sediments and the particulate matter in sewage.

After exerting their action in the organism, natural and synthetic hormones are catabolized in the liver by conjugation to glucuronide and/or sulfate moieties, forming more polar conjugated forms which are excreted via urine. This is the main route of hormone excretion in humans and pigs. A fraction of hormones is also excreted in a free form via feces; in animals such as sheep and cattle this is the main route for hormone excretion (Table 3) [66, 67].

The natural estrogens E1–E3, as well as the synthetic estrogen EE2, have received considerable attention in the last decade as they are able to induce strong

Compound	Chemical structure	Molecular weight	Solubility $(mg L^{-1})$	$\log K_{ow}^{a}$	$Log K_{ow}^{a}$
Cyclopentane phenanthrene	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 4 \\ 6 \\ 0 \\ 7 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 16 \\ 14 \\ 16 \\ 14 \\ 16 \\ 16 \\ 16$				
Estrone	HO H	E1	270.4	13.0	3.43
17-α-Estradiol	HO CH3 PH	αE2	272.4		
17-β-Estradiol	HO HO HO HO	βΕ2	272.4	13 ^b	3.94
Estriol	HO H	E3	288.4	13 ^b	2.81
Progesterone	H ₂ C H ₃ C CH ₃	Pg	314.4	7 ^c	3.05
Testosterone		Т	288.4	18–25	3.32
Ethinylestradiol	HO CH ³ OH	EE2	296.4	4.8	4.15

Table 2Hormone properties

(continued)

Compound	Chemical structure	Molecular weight	Solubility (mg L^{-1})	$Log K_{ow}^{a}$	$Log K_{ow}^{a}$
Mestranol	H ₃ C ₀ CH ³ H ₃ CH	MeEE2	310.4	0.3	4.67

Table 2 (continued)

^aLog K_{ow} octanol/water partition coefficient ^b[65] ^c[163]

Species	Category	Fecal excretion contribution (%)	Urine excretion $(\mu g day^{-1})$	Excreted hormones
Humans	Cycling female	5 ^a	16–35	$\beta E2 < E1 = E3$
	Pregnant female		5,270–7,030	$\beta E2 < E1 \ll E3, P^b$
	Noncycling female		7–13	$E3 < E1 = \beta E2$
	Male		7–9	$T^{c}, \beta E2 < E1 = E3$
Cattle	Calves	58–67 ^a	15	αE2, E1, βE2
	Cycling cows		99	αE2, E1, βE2
	Pregnant		2,176-104,320	αE2, E1, βE2, P
	Bulls		1,616	T, A ^d , αE2, E1, βE2
Pigs	Cycling sows	4–12 ^a	100	$\alpha E2 < \beta E2, E1, E3$
	Pregnant		10,876	P, $\alpha E2 < \beta E2$, E1, E3
	Boars		4,000	Τ, Ε1, αΕ2 βΕ2
Sheep	Cycling ewes	87–90 ^a	3	$\beta E2 < E1 \ll \alpha E2^a$
	Pregnant		52	
	Rams		3	
Chickens	Female	69 ^a	2.5	E1, βE2, E3
	Male		2	E1, βE2, E3, T
	Laying hens		6	•

 Table 3 Daily excretion of hormones by human and animals

^aInformation does not concern either the sex or the stage of development

^bIncludes progesterone derivates pregnanediones, pregnenolones and pregnanediols

^c α - and β -testosterone

^dAndrostenedione [67, 79-83]

estrogenic responses at ng per liter levels. Indeed, in comparison with synthetic chemical displaying estrogenic activity (called xenoestrogens), and with the exception of pharmaceutical hormones, natural hormones display the highest affinity for binding to nuclear estrogen receptors (ERs) and present the greatest estrogenic potency. The relative estrogenic activity for different xenoestrogens, with E2 estrogenicity arbitrarily fixed at 1, display values of 2.46 for EE2, 1.76 for E3, 0.025 for E1, 0.015 for genistein, 0.0066 for bisphenol A, and 0.0032 for nonylphenol, as measured by the MELN in vitro test [68, 69]. In contrast, conjugated

hormones are inactive compounds showing very little or no estrogenic activity. However, after their excretion, conjugated hormones undergo deconjugation by the intestinal and fecal flora result in active free hormones [70]. Thus, conjugated hormones represent a reservoir of estrogenic activity.

The best documented negative effects of hormones observed in natural environments are those induced by estrogens. For instance, estrogen hormones are responsible for the induction of vitellogenine production in male fish; estrogens also alter the sexual development (imposex) of wild fish populations and inducing feminization [71–73]. Nevertheless, studies performed in controlled conditions have demonstrated that other phyla are also impacted by such exposure. For instance, the mollusk Potamopyrgus antipodarum, when exposed to EE2 at a 1-ng L^{-1} level, displayed an increase in embryo production while the larval development in the crustaceans Balanus amphitrite and Elminius modestus was altered by exposure to E2. DNA damage has also been reported in such species [74, 75]. Some evidence also exists for the impact of estrogen in plants: for example, a higher phytoestrogen content was measured in alfalfa irrigated with wastewater containing between 10 and 300 ng L^{-1} of E1 and E2 [76]. The consequence of human exposure to estrogens is difficult to assess due to the presence in the environmental of a wide range of contaminants. Even so, the increase in reproductive alterations as well as the increase in breast and testicular cancer observed in the last decades is likely to have resulted, at least partially, from exposure to estrogens [77, 78].

The main source of hormones is thus the excretions of the human population and livestock. The make-up and rate of hormone excretion by humans and animals varies as a function of their sex, age, state of reproduction and development, and for animals, their species (Table 3 [67, 79–83]). Human excretions are generally collected in sewers, while animal hormones are concentrated in manure; thus, high levels of free and conjugated estrogens have been measured in raw sewage and manure [67, 79, 84–88]. Human hormones will eventually enter the environment mainly via wastewater treatment plants while hormones produced by animals reach the environment via direct excretion in fields or by manure spreading (treated or not) on the land.

Due to the high endocrine-disrupting potency of estrogen hormones, their occurrence and fate in sewage treatment plants and in manure disposal/treatment units have been abundantly documented. Similarly, their degradation pathways, as well as the microflora involved in their degradation, have been widely studied in controlled experiments [89]. On this account, this last aspect will be not treated here, with preference to discussing the occurrence and fate of hormones in wastewater, sludge, and manure.

For human hormones, several studies carried out in urban WWTP in different countries around the world have shown wide variability in hormone concentrations in raw sewage. Free hormones levels ranged from < 0.5 to 670 ng L⁻¹ for E1, < 0.5 to 125 ng L⁻¹ for E2, 2 to 660 ng L⁻¹ for E3, < 0.2 to 70 ng L⁻¹ for E4, < 0.5 to 8.5 ng L⁻¹ for E2, 33 to 253 ng L⁻¹ for E3, and nd to 11 ng L⁻¹ for E42 [89]. In some cases, conjugates may constitute up to 60% on the total amount of hormones

entering WWTP [90]. Nevertheless, despite the variability observed in hormone levels, their concentration, make-up and ratio of free:conjugated hormones measured in sewage is a function of the characteristics of human population (sex composition, age, and contraception practices), the size of sewers, and the deconjugation and degradation rates occurring in the sewers. Thus, the hormone levels in raw sewage can be accurately estimated by mathematical models based on such parameters [81].

As regards the hormones produced by animals, their concentration in manure is less well documented that the presence of human hormones in sewage. Animal manure is a mixture of urine, feces, residual feed, bedding, and cleaning water. Thus, very high variations in hormone levels in manure can be expected as a function of farm practices. For instance, in raw liquid effluents or slurry from pig farms, levels of 5,300, 665, 1,250 and 2,600 ng L^{-1} of E1, α E2, β E2 and E3, respectively, have been reported [87]. For dairy raw wastewater, the corresponding levels for E1, α E2, β E2, were, respectively, 873, 2,282, and 643 ng L⁻¹ while E3 was not detected [88]. The conjugated hormones E1, α E2, and β E2 have also been detected in manure, mainly in sulfate forms, whereas glucuronide forms were never detected [91]. Farm wastewater is frequently stored in a series of lagoons; in such cases, the hormone levels vary greatly depending on the dilution and the lagoon (primary or secondary lagoons), and also from on farm to another. For example, in two different studies very contrasting hormone levels were found in primary lagoons: in the first, levels of 10,000, 2,500 and 2,500 ng L^{-1} of, respectively, E1, α E2, β E2 were detected (E3 was not measured [92]). In the second study, much lower levels were detected, with E1, α E2, β E2, and E3 levels of, respectively, 3,172, 360, 275, and 3,000 ng L^{-1} . Such differences certainly resulted from the distinct characteristics and manure handling practices of each farm (e.g. number of animals, dilution) as well as waste age. Very high and variable levels of hormones have also been reported for solid manure, ranging from <100 to 1,416 ng g_{dw}^{-1} of α E2, LOD-1,500 ng g_{dw}⁻¹ of β E2 and 98–4,800 ng g_{dw}⁻¹ of E1 [92–94].

The fate of hormones, irrespective of their origin, will be a function of the physicochemical properties of the hormones, the conditions prevailing in the sewage or manure disposal or treatment unit and the microbial activity. As hormones tend to be sorbed by the organic matter, the concentration of solids prevailing in these systems will greatly affect the fate of hormones.

The fate of hormones in urban WWTP has been abundantly documented. Several studies reported high removal rates for hormones from the liquid phase of sewage, particularly in those WWTP using activated sludge processes. For instance, removal rates of 40–96%, 40–100%, 40–96%, and 40–98% for, respectively, E1, E2, E3, and EE2 were reported in WWTP all around the world. Nevertheless, residual hormone concentrations of < 0.3-100 ng L⁻¹ of E1, < 0.2-20 ng L⁻¹ of E2, < 1-275 ng L⁻¹ of E3, and < 0.3-7.5 ng L⁻¹ of EE2 have been detected in treated effluents, which shows that hormones were not completely removed by the treatment processes [82, 84, 86, 90, 95–97].

Due to their lipophilic properties, hormones tend to be divided up between the liquid and solid phases, making sorption an important parameter for hormone elimination from the liquid phase of sewage. In laboratory studies based on an

empiric partition coefficient (K_d) and assuming no hormone degradation, it was estimated that up to 70%, 79%, and 76% of E1, E2, and EE2, respectively, would be sorbed into sludge during sewage treatment [98]. Thus, in actual WWTP using only enhanced precipitation (e.g. addition of FeCl₃), low removal rates of estrogens were recorded and up to 43% E2, 24% E1, and 100% EE2 were associated with the solid fraction of the treated effluent [99]. In contrast, in WWTP using activated-sludge processes, various studies based on mass balance calculation and taking into account hormone concentrations in solid and liquid phases of sewage concluded that the main mechanism for hormone elimination was the microbial degradation. It seems that the low concentration of solids (from 300–500 mg L^{-1} in raw sewage to 4–5 g L^{-1} in the biological reactor) and by the high level of colloids that interact with hormones decrease their sorption into the solids [99, 100]. In such systems, hormone sorption into sludge represents less than 10% of the total amount of hormones entering the system [85, 86, 90]. Other parameters of the treatment process, including hydraulic and solid retention times (HRT, SRT), redox potential, carbon load, temperature, concentration of solids, floc size, aromatic composition and salinity, have also been cited as determining the efficiency of hormone removal. Nevertheless, their specific influence on the overall performance of the process remains difficult to assess [86, 101–104].

As to hormones produced by animals, their fate during manure disposal varies greatly because manure is generally held for variable periods (from a few months to many years) in a wide range of structures (pits, ponds, lagoons or, for solid manure, in piles) without any specific treatment before being spread [105]. In dairy, pig and poultry farms holding manure in lagoons, a decrease in hormones levels was observed through successive lagoons [91, 93, 106]. Nevertheless, in such systems, it is difficult to differentiate hormone biodegradation from dilution or elimination by sorption and precipitation. In structures such as pits or ponds, where anaerobic conditions prevail, very high levels of hormones are frequently reported, suggesting that hormones are not easily removed from manure [92, 93]. The elimination of hormones from animal slurries by aerobic biological treatment has been studied in laboratory experiments as well as in actual farms. In such aerobic conditions, 90% elimination of hormones and higher has been reported [107, 108]. Nevertheless, in these studies the fraction of hormones sorbed into the solids was not considered. In a recent study done in our laboratory, measuring hormones in both the liquid and solid phases, we observed that hormones contained in swine manure were not or only removed slightly when manure was put in anaerobic tanks. In contrast, when manure was aerobically treated, high hormone removal rates were obtained [109, 110].

The occurrence and fate of hormones in sewage sludge have received much less attention when compared to hormones present in liquid effluents. For information concerning the presence of hormones in liquid effluents see chapter by Eljarrat et al., this volume [172].

The fate of hormones during sludge treatment has been also poorly documented. Two surveys based on full-scale anaerobic reactors treating sludge concluded that hormones were poorly eliminated or not at all in methanogenic conditions [85, 111]. These results are in accordance with laboratory experiments performed in simplified anaerobic conditions (liquid media inoculated with sludge [112]). Such experiments showed that E2 was transformed into E1 which was further partially removed (17%), whereas EE2 was not degraded. Similarly, in experiments using methanogenic reactors with sludge spiked with hormones, no EE2 elimination was observed while E1 was reduced to E2 which was not further degraded [113]. Only one study reported hormone degradation in anaerobic sludge reactors. Indeed, Carballa et al. [114] reported 85% of removal for E1, E2, and EE2 contained in sludge treated by mesophilic digestion (37°C). Similar values were also reported for thermophilic reactors (55°C), except for EE2 (75%). Such high degradation rates seem to have been a function of a long adaptation period.

The fate of hormones present in manure or sludge produced during manure treatment and displaying a high solid content (> 20 g L^{-1}) can be compared to the fate of hormones observed in sewage sludge. In a recent study carried out in our laboratory, we assessed the fate of hormones in controlled continuous bioreactors fed with manure (50 $g_{dw} L^{-1}$) naturally contaminated with hormones (about 29 μ g L⁻¹). Our results showed that under mesophilic anaerobic conditions (35°C) no hormone removal was observed. Similarly, in anaerobic thermophilic reactors (55°C) inoculated with two different inocula (from digesters treating sewage sludge or solid horse manure) no hormone degradation was observed. Similar observations were recorded with an anaerobic tank where sludge from manure treatment, containing high levels of hormones, was held: hormone levels stayed constant for a period of 4 months [109, 110]. These observations confirm the recalcitrance of hormones during anaerobic treatment as reported in previous studies [85, 111–113]. Only Carballa's study reported hormone removal in such conditions. However, in this last study, hormones were spiked into sludge which can strongly affect the sludge's adsorption and degradation capabilities [57].

To our knowledge, no study directly concerns the aerobic treatment of hormones contained in sludge, but the high rates of hormone removal observed during sewage or manure treatment by aerobic processes suggest that estrogens can be removed in aerobic conditions [84, 87, 109]. Indeed, experiments conducted in aerobic conditions in a trickling filter treating manure showed removal of estrogens varying from 44% to 99%, depending on the compound [87, 109]. Similarly, in experiments done in our laboratory under aerobic/anoxic mesophilic conditions (35°C), or coupling anaerobic digestion with aerobic/anoxic treatment to eliminate hormones from swine manure, we observed hormone elimination higher than 40% and 80%, for the respective processes. In these last conditions, despite hormone removal occurring only during the aerobic/anoxic phase, a positive effect of anaerobic digestion on further hormone removal was observed. It is possible that anaerobic digestion, by modifying the manure structure, facilitates hormone desorption, increasing the availability of hormones for aerobic microbial activity [109, 110]. During composting of manure, a standard aerobic treatment process, it was observed that hormone levels decreased by more than 80% after 3 months of incubation [93]. Overall, these data suggest that hormone removal involves mainly aerobic processes.

Despite no specific study existing on the fate of hormones during sludge treatment by the addition of lime, some data exist on the presence of hormones in limed sludge (see chapter by Eljarrat et al., this volume [172]). Lime-stabilized sludge displays low hormone levels, suggesting hormone desorption from sludge. Indeed, in experiments using bisphenol A, which has a pK_a similar to that of estrogens (10.3), it was desorbed from sludge, probably by deprotonation at the high pH levels (>12) that can be reached during such sludge treatment [115].

The environmental impact of hormones seems to be mainly related to liquid effluents. However, in the light of the high levels of hormones present in solid matrices such as manure or sludge from WWTP with poor hormone removal rates (e.g. enhanced precipitation [116]) there, it is still a need to implement treatment processes to efficiently remove hormones from sludge and manure.

4 Pharmaceuticals

The term pharmaceutical includes more than 4,000 chemicals used to control and treat different kinds of diseases in humans and animals. Pharmaceuticals include analgesics, anti-inflammatories, anti-epileptics, β -blockers, compounds used to prevent and treat parasites and microbial infections (parasiticides and antibiotics) and those for combating cancer. Hormones are also a class of pharmaceuticals; but due to their particular involvement in endocrine disruption, they have been discussed in a separate section (see above).

The estimated consumption of pharmaceuticals per 1,000 people, based on the average medical and veterinary prescriptions in Australia and USA, is about 180 g day⁻¹. This is equivalent to a pharmaceutical consumption, for the USA alone, of about 20,000 tons per year [117]. A similar level of consumption can also be expected in other developed countries. A large amount of these pharmaceuticals enter the environment primarily following therapeutic use as a result of their excretion in urine and feces in their original form, or as their conjugates or metabolites [118]. Pharmaceuticals also enter the environment when expired or unwanted drugs are flushed down the toilets. So, as with hormones produced by humans and animals, pharmaceuticals mainly enter the environment after passing through wastewater treatment plants, by direct excretion of animals into the land and by manurespreading practices [118–120]. In addition, in the particular case of fish farming, pharmaceuticals may also be directly introduced into the environment [121].

The potential number of pharmaceuticals that may contaminate the environment is very large. Consequently, it can be expected that the effects of exposure to these substances on living organisms will be very variable. The possible impact of pharmaceuticals will be a function of the specific action for which each compound was designed, plus the eventual impact on nontargeted functions or organisms. For instance, a rapid decline in the vulture population in India and Pakistan, observed in the early 2000s, was related to the birds consumption of dead cattle treated with diclofenac, a widely used anti-inflammatory. This agent may produce, as a side effect, kidney disorders in mammals but in vultures it caused unexpected renal failure [122]. Information exists on the negative effects of pharmaceuticals on Daphnia magna, a zooplankton organism commonly used in ecotoxicological studies. The exposure of this organism in laboratory tests to clofibric acid (>10 μ g L⁻¹), a cholesterol-regulating pharmaceutical, induced a higher production of male offspring [123]. Similar changes in sex ratios were observed when D. magna was exposed to triclosan, an antimicrobial agent. The chronic exposure of this organism to fluoxetine (36 μ g L¹), an antidepressant, increased fertility while exposure to a mixture of fluoxetine and clofibric acid resulted in increased mortality and the incidence of deformities [123]. Similarly, experiments performed with Thamnocephalus platyurus exposed to 28 pharmaceuticals, including antiinflammatory agents, biocides, β -blockers, and drugs acting on the nervous system, showed that 17 of these compounds were toxic or very toxic for this crustacean [124]. The effect of pharmaceuticals in plants has also been documented; the main risk seems to be its transfer to and accumulation in the plants. For instance, greenhouse experiments shown that chlortetracycline antibiotics are absorbed by corn, green onion, and cabbage growing in soil amended with manure containing antibiotics [125]. The effects of exposure to pharmaceuticals at the community level have been assessed in multispecies experimental systems. In such conditions, the exposure to diclofenac induced an increase or decrease of bacterial and cyanobacterial biomass, depending on the season and the level of contamination; the composition of bacterial and protozoan communities was also modified [126]. Similar changes in community composition have also been observed in plankton and microbial communities exposed to antibiotics [127–129]. A well-documented effect of pharmaceuticals in the environment is the increased incidence of bacteria resistant to antibiotics in environments exposed to such compounds [129-131]. This exposure may greatly affect human populations because resistance to antibiotics may be transferred to pathogens and the commensal bacteria of human, livestock, and crops. Another important issue is the endocrine-disrupting effect of some pharmaceuticals. Indeed, using the estrogen reporter test YES and E-Screen assay, it has been demonstrated that compounds including fibrates, furosemide, and tamoxifen were able to bind and interact with the estrogen receptor [132]. Nevertheless, although some evidence exists on the negative impact of pharmaceuticals on the environment, most of these ecotoxicological evaluations have been based on the toxicity observed at very high concentrations that far exceed the expected concentrations in the natural environment. Indeed, the predicted environmental concentrations (PEC) estimated mathematically, based on production volumes and potential dilution, are much lower than the levels actually used for toxicology assays. At PEC levels, the ecological risk of most of these pharmaceuticals is unknown. Otherwise, in the environment, organisms are chronically exposed to mixtures of pharmaceuticals instead of single compounds. The consequences of such exposure have been little documented. The ecotoxicological impact of pharmaceuticals has thus not yet been completely assessed despite their widespread presence in the environment.

The occurrence of pharmaceuticals in different areas of the environment, including sediments, surface, drinking, and groundwater has been exhaustively summarized by Heberer [120], Khetan and Collins [133], Monpelat et al. [134], and Fatta-Kassinos et al. [135]. Thus, in this paper we will focus our attention on the behavior of pharmaceuticals during wastewater and sludge treatment processes.

As mentioned above, wastewater treatment plants represent one of the main sinks for pharmaceuticals before their dispersal in the environment. The pharmaceuticals most frequently detected in raw sewage include three main classes of compound: antibiotics, β -blockers, and analgesic-anti-inflammatories (Fig. 2 [136]). These compounds are present in raw sewage at concentrations varying from 100 ng L^{-1} up to levels of around 10 µg L^{-1} . Numerous studies indicate that the degradation of pharmaceuticals in WWTP varies from no removal to their complete mineralization. The elimination of pharmaceuticals is a function of a molecule's properties, the treatment processes applied and the conditions prevailing during the process [118, 137–139]. Consequently, the concentrations reported in treated effluents from WWTP vary widely: from trace levels for pharmaceuticals that are well eliminated to concentrations similar to those found in raw sewage. when a pharmaceuticals is poorly or not removed (Fig. 3 [136]). Widely used compounds such as the analgesics ibuprofen and naproxen are readily biodegradable (> 80% [139, 140]). Similarly, despite the great consumption of paracetamol, this compound is rarely found in treated effluents due to its degradability [141]. Nevertheless, the degradation of a wide range of pharmaceuticals in WWTP is rarely complete. Widely consumed compounds such as diclofenac, the β-blockers nadolol and atenolol and the diuretic furosemide display removal rates of, respectively, 58%, 60%, 59%, and 50% but these rates may vary up to 50% between different WWTP, depending on the biological treatment [140]. The removal of the antibiotics ofloxacin, norfloxacin, ciprofloxacin, sulfamethoxazole, tetracvcline, and enrofloxacin also varied from 18% to 100%, in different WWTP [137, 142] but compounds such as lincomycin and spiromycin were, in some cases, not removed [143]. Carbamazepine, a commonly prescribed antiepileptic, has been detected in similar concentrations in raw sewage and treated effluents, showing its resistance to biological degradation [86, 144, 145]. Because the physicochemical properties of pharmaceuticals vary widely in molecular weight, structure, and functionality, it is not surprising that their degradation is also very variable. In an attempt to determine the main factors governing the removal of pharmaceuticals, Santos et al. [145] assessed, by correlation and principal component analysis, the relationship between pharmaceutical properties, influent load, and the characteristics of treatment processes. The authors concluded that a correlation exists between the total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) load entering the raw sewage, the removal of biological (BOD) and chemical oxygen demand (COD), the elimination of TKN and oil and the hydraulic retention time; other parameters, such as the total suspended solids and pharmaceutical concentration, also influence the removal rate.

Recently, with the development of more advanced and sensitive analytical methods, studies on the fate of pharmaceuticals in WWTP have taken into account the analysis of pharmaceuticals sorbed into sludge (Table 4, and references therein). The antiseptics triclocarban and triclosan and the antibiotic ofloxacin have been reported in sludge at concentrations up to 441, 133, and 58 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹, respectively. Compounds such as the anti-inflammatory ibuprofen, the antiepileptic carbamazepine and the antidepressant fluoxetine have also frequently been reported though at lower levels (11, 6 and 3 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹, respectively), whereas the β -blockers were found at low



Concentration (µg.L⁻¹)

Fig. 2 Concentrations of main pharmaceuticals found in raw sewage [136]



Fig. 3 Concentrations of main families of pharmaceuticals found in treated effluents from urban wastewater treatment plants [136]

levels in only a few samples (up to 85 μ g kg_{dw}⁻¹). Pharmaceutical concentrations reported in studies carried out in different countries and with different types of sludge showed wide variations, which result from differences in the local consumption of pharmaceuticals and type of sewage treatment. Nevertheless, environmental monitoring done in WWTP in Spain and Chine showed no seasonal variation in the concentration of different pharmaceuticals detected in sludge, data which reflects the continuous consumption of such chemicals over the year [146, 147].

The presence of certain pharmaceuticals at high levels in sludge, such as triclosan and triclocarban, can be explained by their physicochemical properties. Indeed, these lipophilic compounds, displaying Log K_{ow} values of 3.5–4.2 and 4.5–4.8, respectively, are likely to be associated with sludge. However, some of the pharmaceuticals detected in sludge are not lipophilic (Table 4). For instance, high levels of hydrophilic compounds such as tylosin (up to 1–4 mg kg_{dw}^{-1}), tetracycline $(0.038-5.2 \text{ mg kg}_{dw}^{-1})$, and ofloxacin (up to 58 mg kg_{dw}^{-1}) have been detected in different sludge samples. These data suggest that regardless of these pharmaceuticals properties, they are not completely removed by wastewater treatment and are sequestered in the sludge fraction. Pharmaceuticals need to be fairly soluble in water to be readily adsorbed orally by humans and animals and consequently are often ionic compounds with low $Log K_{ow}$ coefficients (Table 4). Ionic compounds do not significantly bioconcentrate and would thus not be expected to significantly sorb to sewage sludge. However, pharmaceuticals containing polar functional groups (amine or carboxylic functional groups) may interact with the organic matter and/or minerals, leading to sorption regardless of their lipophilicity. The organic carbon content of sludge is frequently cited as an important parameter determining the sorption of pharmaceuticals. However, different studies have failed to find a correlation between levels of pharmaceuticals and the organic carbon content of sludge [148, 149]. It seems that the physicochemical properties of pharmaceuticals are not the only factor determining their sorption into sludge. Other parameters such as changes in the

Table 4 Concentrati	ons of pharmaceuticals in se	wage sludge			
			Maximum concentration	Mean value (minimum value)	
Class	Compound	$\operatorname{Log} K_{\operatorname{ow}}^{-1}$	$(\mu g k g_{dw}^{-1})$	$(\mu g k g_{dw}^{-1})$	Reference
Analgesic/anti- inflammatorv	Codeine		30	LOD	[164]
			328	(10)	[165]
	Diclofenac	4.51		LOD	[160]
				67	[139]
			87	43 (LOD)	[166]
			209 ± 149	144 (LOQ)	[150]
			74.9 土 4	57	[167]
			23.09	16.7	[168]
	Ibuprofen	3.97		300	[139]
			359	246	[164]
			114	65 (24)	[166]
			117 ± 6	84	[167]
			520	160	[150]
			11,900	(66)	[165]
	Ketoprofen		21.1 ± 1.3	13.3 (LOD)	[167]
	Naproxen	3.18		54	[160]
			273	119	[164]
			5.9 ± 0.7	3.4	[167]
			1,020	(21)	[165]
Antihistaminic	Cetinizine			83	[139]
	Cimetidine		893	504	[164]
			9,780	(1)	[165]
			6.1 ± 0.5	c.	[167]
	Diphenhydramine	3.27	1,740	1,166	[164]
			7,000	609	[148]
Anti-epileptic	Carbamazepine		28	11	[129]
			2.9	2.4	[147]
		3.27	238	163	[164]
					(continued)
Table 4 (continued)					
---------------------	-------------	--	--------------------------------------	----------------------------	--------------------
į			Maximum concentration	Mean value (minimum value)	e k
Class	Compound	$\operatorname{Log} K_{\operatorname{ow}}$	(µg kg _{dw} ⁻¹)	$(\mu g k g_{dw}^{-1})$	Reference
			42	29 (11)	[166]
			12.7 ± 1	11	[167]
			79 ± 6	56	[150]
			6,030	(6)	[165]
			34.5		[157]
			12.8	7.7	[168]
			390	46	[148]
β-Blocker	Atenolol	0.16 - 1.95		< 50	[139]
			85 ± 39	31 (LOQ)	[150]
			10.8 ± 1	8	[167]
β-Blocker	Metoprolol	1.88 - 2.28		310	[139]
			34	18	[147]
			21	16 (12)	[166]
	Propranolol	3.37 - 3.48	7.8	6.2	[147]
			26	15 (LOQ)	[166]
			44 ± 17	37	[150]
Antidepressant	Citalopram		960	620 (440)	[139]
	Fluoxetine	1.22	258	171	[164]
			3,130	(12)	[165]
			125 ± 51	57	[150]
			1,500	608	[148] ^e
	Paroxetine	1.37	60 ± 31	50	[150]
Antidiabetic	Metformin		456	305	[164]
Antianginal	Diltiazem		109	45	[164]
			225	(1)	[165]
Antifungal	Miconazole		1,100		[164]
			9,210	(14)	[165]

96

	Thiabendazole		370	110	[164]
			239	(8)	[165]
Antiseptic	Triclocarban	3.5-4.2	5,088	3,467	[147]
			48,100	36,060	[164]
			441,000	(187)	[165]
			nm	$51,000 \pm 1,500$	[154]
	Triclosan	4.53-4.8	16,790	5,580	[16]
			11,200	3,700	[158]
			1,187	883	[147]
			19,700	12,640	[164]
			133,000	(430)	[165]
			320		[157]
			55,000	30,000 (20,000)	[153]
			16,800	5,580(90)	[156]
			10,500	2,709	[148]
Hypolipidemic	Gemfibrozil		159	152	[164]
			33.9 ± 5	27	[167]
			119 ± 71	57	[150]
			2,650	(12)	[165]
			3.7	2.9	[168]
			420	236	[148]
Stimulant	Caffeine		80	50	[169]
			643	248	[164]
			1,110	(65)	[165]
			5.2	4.8	[168]
			1,200	218	[148]
Antibiotic	Acetaminophen	0.46	389	160	[129]
			419	177 (13)	[166]
			103 ± 9	74	[167]
			145 ± 51	52	[150]
	Anhydrotetracycline	0.34	880	392	[164]
					(continued)

Table 4 (continued)					
			Maximum concentration	Mean value (minimum value)	
Class	Compound	$\operatorname{Log} K_{\operatorname{ow}}^{-1}$	$(\mu g k g_{dw}^{-1})$	$(\mu g k g_{dw}^{-1})$	Reference
			1,960	(64)	[165]
	Azithromycin	4.02	1,220	838	[164]
			128 ± 171	85	[150]
			6,530	(10)	[165]
			158	98	[170]
	Chlortetracycline		368	168	[129]
			43	23	[164]
			1,010	1,010	[165]
			12.7	13.7	[168]
	Ciprofloxacin	0.28	10,800	6,858	[164]
			47,500	(75)	[165]
			778		[157]
			46.3	34.5	[168]
	Clarithromycin	3.18	95	66	[164]
			47 土 3	25 (LOQ)	[167]
			617	(6)	[165]
			5.2		[157]
			30.2	15.8	[168]
			63	32	[170]
Antibiotic	Doxycycline	-2.08	313	225	[129]
			1,780	906	[164]
			5,090	(51)	[165]
			296		[157]
	Erofloxacin	0.7	29	nd	[164]
			66	(12)	[165]
	4-Epianhydrotetracycline		399	261	[164]

98

	4-Epichlortetracycline		93	nd	[164]
			2,160	(126)	[165]
	4-Epitetracycline		3,040	2,376	[164]
			4,380	(47)	[165]
	Erythromycin	3.06	68	30	[129]
			183	81	[164]
			110 ± 53	51	[150]
			3.6		[157]
	Isochlortetracycline		36	nd	[164]
	Lomefloxacin		16	nd	[164]
	Minocycline		2,630	1,884	[164]
	Norfloxacin	-1.03	418	289	[164]
			1,290	(66)	[165]
	Ofloxacin	-0.39	8,140	5,446	[164]
			178 ± 275	57 (LOQ)	[150]
			58,100	(74)	[165]
	Oxytetracycline	-1.12	765	293	[129]
			114	87	[164]
	Ranitidine		30	21	[164]
	Roxithromycin		1,446	867 (337)	[166]
			1,800	1,550	[171]
			131	35	[170]
	Sulfamethoxazole		40	19	[129]
			3	nd	[164]
			178	70 (LOQ)	[166]
			28 ± 6	14	[150]
			651	(4)	[165]
			160	155	[148] ^e
Antibiotic	Sulfanilamide		87	nd	[164]
			15,600	(191)	[165]
					(continued)

			Maximum concentration	Mean value (minimum value)	
Class Com	pound	$\operatorname{Log} K_{\operatorname{ow}}^{-1}$	$(\mu g k g_{dw}^{-1})$	$(\mu g k g_{dw}^{-1})$	Reference
Sulfa	athiazole		63	36 (LOQ)	[166]
Sulfa	apyridine		38	18 (LOQ)	[166]
			197	62	[170]
Tetra	acycline	-1.3	282	282	[129]
			2,790	1,914	[164]
			5,270	(38)	[165]
			180		[157]
			15.7	(D00)	[168]
Trim	lethoprim	0.91	60	26	[164]
			17	(DOI) 6	[166]
			11.2 ± 1	7 (LOQ)	[167]
			43 ± 7	28	[150]
			204	(12)	[165]
			133	61	[170]
Tylo	sin	1.63	1,958	1,516(1,074)	[166]
			4,000	2,950	[171]

composition of the inlet or differences in the processes used in different WWTP, the conditions prevailing into the system (e.g. suspended solid concentration, water and sludge retention time, pharmaceutical load in the influent) and the structure and activity of biomass, can also influence the removal and repartition of pharmaceuticals between the liquid and solid phases of sewage [118, 150, 151].

Studies based on mass balance calculations have estimated that between 50% and 79% of triclosan is effectively degraded in WWTP, 2-6% is released in the treated effluent but 15-50% is linked to sewage sludge [152, 153]. Similarly, triclocarban is poorly removed from WWTP (21%), a small fraction is release via treated effluents (3%) but most of the amount entering to the WWTP is released in sludge (76% [154]). Nevertheless, in other studies concerning 13 pharmaceuticals (atenolol, cetirizine, citalopram, dextropropoxyphene, diclofenac, furosemide, ibuprofen, metoprolol, naproxen, oxazepam, sulfamethoxazole, tramadol, and trimethoprim) it was reported that for most of these compounds, sorption involved less than 1% of the amount entering in raw sewage; only cetirizine, citalopram and sulfamethoxazole were sorbed in higher proportions of 6.7%, 3.1%, and 3.1%, respectively [139]. Similar results were obtained for carbamazepine, for which sorption into sludge represented about 0.15% of the amount entering the WWT plant [144]. Thus, it seems that pharmaceuticals sorbed into sludge do not represent a big proportion of sink of pollution. However, due to the potential negative impact of pharmaceuticals on living organisms, it remains vital to determine the fate of these contaminants during sludge treatment.

Very few studies have dealt with the behavior of pharmaceuticals during sludge treatment. Studies based on the comparison of pharmaceutical concentrations in sludge coming from different full-scale sludge treatment processes suggest that most of these compounds are not easily removed from sludge; nevertheless this statement is compound- and condition dependent. A recent USA survey of sludge used for spreading on land showed that sludge frequently contained high levels of carbamazepine, diphenhydramine, and fluoxetine independently of the process used for sludge stabilization (drying, composting or anaerobic digestion) suggesting that they were not removed by such sludge treatment processes [148]. Nevertheless, compounds such as triclosan were detected at concentrations lower in aerobically treated sludge (220 μ g kg⁻¹) than in digested sludge (mean of 5,580 μ g kg⁻¹), suggesting that triclosan was more efficiently removed in aerobic conditions when compared to its poor removal observed in anaerobic conditions [155, 156].

In order to determine more precisely the fate of pharmaceuticals during sludge treatment, different experiments have been conducted in controlled conditions. In continuous anaerobic reactors treating sludge spiked with pharmaceuticals, Carballa et al. [114] observed removals higher than 80% for naproxen, sulfameth-oxazole, and roxithromycin, while 40% and 23% of ibuprofen and iopromide, respectively, were eliminated at both mesophilic (37°C) and thermophilic (55°C) temperatures. For diclofenac and diazepam, elimination of about 60% was observed in mesophilic conditions while in thermophilic conditions, 38% and 73% of these two compounds, respectively, were eliminated. In these experiments, the sludge retention time (15 or 30 days) did not seem to influence pharmaceutical removal

[114]. In another study, it was observed that triclocarban was not transformed during anaerobic digestion of sludge in batch conditions after a period of 19 days of incubation [154]. Consequently, the digested sludge displayed a higher concentration of this compound than the sludge prior digestion (50 mg kg_{dw}⁻¹ [154]).

During the aerobic thermophilic treatment of sludge, ibuprofen and galaxolide were removed, respectively, 95% and more than 75% of initial concentrations after 20 days of incubation. However, even after 45 days incubation no complete elimination was observed [61]. Observations in composted sludge, which is considered to be an aerobic treatment, showed that several pharmaceuticals, including carbamazepine, diphenhydramine, fluoxetine, and triclosan, were not significantly removed by composting at mesophilic or thermophilic temperatures [148].

After sludge treatment (aerobic or anaerobic), sludge is generally stored for a period before spreading on land. The fate of six antibiotics, one antibacterial and one antiepileptic during such a period, was assessed by Chenxi et al. [157] using batch conditions in an aerobic or anaerobic environment. In addition, the effect of sun irradiation was also tested. The authors reported no removal of carbamazepine, triclosan, and ciprofloxacin whatever the experimental conditions tested. Tetracycline and doxycycline were slightly removed (77 days) while the elimination of erythromycin and clarithromycin was relatively fast during the period studied. Clindamycin was eliminated rapidly in the first 2 days (>50%) but afterwards elimination was very slow. A significant positive effect of aeration was observed for tetracycline and erythromycin removal. In contrast, no effect of sun radiation was observed, indicating the low impact of photo-degradation on pharmaceuticals removal.

Overall, the elimination of pharmaceuticals during sludge treatment seems to be a function of the molecule as well as of the conditions prevailing into the treatment system. Data from full-scale and lab-scale monitoring suggest that aerobic conditions permit more efficient elimination of a wider spectrum of molecules. Nevertheless, further research is still needed to identify the main parameters governing the removal of pharmaceuticals.

5 Conclusions and Perspectives

There is a widespread concern that emerging contaminants are contaminating the environment. Diverse studies worldwide have demonstrated the presence of detergent derivates, natural and synthetic hormones and pharmaceuticals as well as their potential negative impact on living organisms. Abundant information exists on the effect of acute exposure to single molecules for few some living organisms. However, emerging contaminants are present in the environment as complex mixtures. To date, there has been little effort to determine the ecological risk of chronic exposure of living organisms to such mixtures.

A great effort has also been realized to identify the physicochemical parameters that favor the elimination of numerous molecules. Partitioning of pollutants between liquid and solid phases of wastes (urban or animal), biological aerobic treatment, HRT and SRT seem to play a significant role on the removal of pollutants. Nevertheless, further research is still needed to identify the main parameters governing the removal of emerging contaminants, particularly for pharmaceutical molecules from solid matrices. Such research should also include the economic evaluation of using advanced technology for pollutant treatment.

Substantial progress has been made to identify the conditions that favor the biodegradation of various emerging pollutants; it is well known that wide range of molecules is removed by the aerobic metabolism of bacteria. Nevertheless, little knowledge exists about the elimination of hormones and most of pharmaceuticals in anoxic or anaerobic conditions. Similarly, the microbial communities or strains involved on the elimination of emerging pollutants, as well as the characterization of their metabolic pathways, have been poorly documented. Integrating such information in treatment technologies may help to define better strategies for the protection of the environment.

References

- Routledge EJ, Sheahan D, Desbrow C, Brighty GC, Waldock M, Sumpter JP (1998) Identification of estrogenic chemicals in STW effluent. 2. In vivo responses in trout and roach. Environ Sci Technol 32:1559–1565
- Ding C, He J (2010) Effect of antibiotics in the environment on microbial populations. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:925–941
- Hartmann A, Alder AC, Koller T, Widmer RM (1998) Identification of fluoroquinolone antibiotics as the main source of umuC genotoxicity in native hospital wastewater. Environ Toxicol Chem 17:377–382
- 4. Ahel M, Molnar E, Ibric S, Giger W (2000) Estrogenic metabolites of alkylphenol polyethoxylates in secondary sewage effluents and rivers. Water Sci Technol 42:15–22
- Andreu V, Ferrer E, Rubio JL, Font G, Pico Y (2007) Quantitative determination of octylphenol, nonylphenol, alkylphenol ethoxylates and alcohol ethoxylates by pressurized liquid extraction and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry in soils treated with sewage sludges. Sci Total Environ 378:124–129
- 6. Petrovic M, Gonzalez S, Barcelo D (2003) Analysis and removal of emerging contaminants in wastewater and drinking water. Trends Anal Chem 22:685–696
- Kolpin DW, Furlong ET, Meyer MT, Thurman EM, Zaugg SD, Barber LB, Buxton HT (2002) Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in US streams, 1999–2000: a national reconnaissance. Environ Sci Technol 36:1202–1211
- Schwab BW, Hayes EP, Fiori JM, Mastrocco FJ, Roden NM, Cragin D, Meyerhoff RD, D'Aco VJ, Anderson PD (2005) Human pharmaceuticals in US surface waters: a human health risk assessment. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 42:296–312
- Tan BL, Hawker DW, Muller JF, Tremblay LA, Chapman HF (2008) Stir bar sorptive extraction and trace analysis of selected endocrine disruptors in water, biosolids and sludge samples by thermal desorption with gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Water Res 42:404–412
- Brunner PH, Capri S, Marcomini A, Giger W (1988) Occurrence and behaviour of linear alkylbenzene sulphonate, nonylphenol, nonylphenol mono- and nonylphenol diethoxylates in sewage and sewage sludge treatment. Water Res 22:1465–1472

- Layton AC, Gregory BW, Seward JR, Schultz TW, Sayler GS (2000) Mineralization of steroidal hormones by biosolids in wastewater treatment systems in Tennessee U.S.A. Environ Sci Technol 34:3925–3931
- Bester K (2003) Triclosan in a sewage treatment process balances and monitoring data. Water Res 37:3891–3896
- NEBRA (2007) North East Biosolids and Residual Association. A National biosolids regulation, quality, end use, and disposal survey.http://www.nebiosolids.org/uploads/pdf/ NtlBiosolidsReport-20July07.pdf. Accessed on 2 November 2011
- 14. Laturnus F, von Arnold K, Gron C (2007) Organic contaminants from sewage sludge applied to agricultural soils – false alarm regarding possible problems for food safety? Environ Sci Pollut Res 14:53–60
- Webber MD, Rogers HR, Watts CD, Boxall ABA, Davis RD, Scoffin R (1996) Monitoring and prioritisation of organic contaminants in sewage sludges using specific chemical analysis and predictive non-analytical methods. Sci Total Environ 185:27–44
- 16. Kookana RS, Ying GG, Waller NJ (2011) Triclosan: its occurrence, fate and effects in the Australian environment. Water Sci Technol 63:598–604
- Carballa M, Omil F, Ahad JME (2009) Influence of different pretreatments on anaerobically digested sludge characteristics: suitability for final disposal. Water Air Soil Pollut 199:311–321
- Tolls J, Kloeppersams P, Sijm D (1994) Surfactant bioconcentration a critical-review. Chemosphere 29:693–717
- Navas JM, Gonzalez-Mazo E, Wenzel A, Gomez-Parra A, Segner H (1999) Linear alkylbenzene sulphonates and intermediate products from their degradation are not estrogenic. Mar Pollut Bull 38:880–884
- Hager CD (1998) Alkylphenol ethoxylates biodegradability, aquatic toxicity and environmental activity. In: Karsa DR (ed) Annual surfactant review. Sheffield Academic Press, Sheffield, UK, pp 1–29
- Guenther K, Heinke V, Thiele B, Kleist E, Prast H, Raecker T (2002) Endocrine disrupting nonylphenols are ubiquitous in food. Environ Sci Technol 36:1676–1680
- 22. Ahel M, Giger W, Koch M (1994) Behaviour of alkylphenol polyethoxylate surfactants in the aquatic environment – I. Occurrence and transformation in sewage treatment. Water Res 28:1131–1142
- Soto AM, Justicia H, Wray JW, Sonnenschein C (1991) p-Nonyl-phenol: an estrogenic xenobiotic released from "modified" polystyrene. Environ Health Perspect 92:167–173
- 24. Tabira Y, Nakai M, Asai D, Yakabe Y, Tahara Y, Shinmyozu T, Noguchi M, Takatsuki M, Shimohigashi Y (1999) Structural requirements of para-alkylphenols to bind to estrogen receptor. Eur J Biochem 262:240–245
- 25. Jobling S, Sumpter JP (1993) Detergent components in sewage effluent are weakly estrogenic to fish – an in-vitro study using rainbow-trout (*Oncorhynchus-Mykiss*) hepatocytes. Aquat Toxicol 27:361–372
- 26. Jobling S, Sheahan D, Osborne JA, Matthiessen P, Sumpter JP (1996) Inhibition of testicular growth in rainbow-trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) exposed to estrogenic alkylphenolic chemicals. Environ Toxicol Chem 15:194–202
- 27. Ahel M, McEvoy J, Giger W (1993) Bioaccumulation of the lipophilic metabolites of nonionic surfactants in fresh-water organisms. Environ Pollut 79:243–248
- Nakamura M, Nagoya H, Hirai T (2002) Nonylphenol induces complete feminization of the gonad in genetically controlled all-male amago salmon. Fish Sci 68:1387–1389
- Staples C, Mihaich E, Carbone J, Woodburn K, Klecka G (2004) A weight evidence analysis of the chronic ecotoxicity of nonylphenol athoxylates, nonylphenol ether carboxylates, and nonylphenol. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 10:999–1017
- 30. Correa-Reyes G, Viana MT, Marquez-Rocha FJ, Licea AF, Ponce E, Vazquez-Duhalt R (2007) Nonylphenol algal bioaccumulation and its effect through the trophic chain. Chemosphere 68:662–670

- 31. EU (2001) European Commission decision no. 2455/2001/EC of the European Parliament and of the council of 20 November 2001 establishing the list of priority substances in the field of water policy and amending directive 2000/60/EC. Off J L331
- 32. EU (2003) Directive 2003/53/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2003 amending for the 26th time Council Directive 76/769/EEC relating to restrictions on the marketing and use of certain dangerous substances and preparations (nonylphenol, nonylphenol ethoxylate and cement). Off J L178/24
- 33. Ahel M, Giger W, Molnar E, Ibric S (2000) Determination of nonylphenol polyethoxylates and their lipophilic metabolites in sewage effluents by normal-phase high-performance liquid chromatography and fluorescence detection. Croat Chem Acta 73:209–227
- 34. Ahel M, Conrad T, Giger W (1987) Persistent organic chemicals in sewage effluents. 3. Determinations of nonylphenoxy carboxylic acids by high-resolution gas chromatography/ mass spectrometry and high-performance liquid chromatography. Environ Sci Technol 21:697–703
- 35. Giger W, Brunner PH, Schaffner C (1984) 4-Nonylphenol in sewage sludge: accumulation of toxic metabolites from nonionic surfactants. Science 225:623–625
- 36. Di Corcia A, Costantino A, Crescenzi C, Marinoni E, Samperi R (1998) Characterization of recalcitrant intermediates from biotransformation of the branched alkyl side chain of nonylphenol ethoxylate surfactants. Environ Sci Technol 32:2401–2409
- Staples CA, Naylor CG, Williams JB, Gledhill WE (2001) Ultimate biodegradation of alkylphenol ethoxylates surfactants and their biodegradation intermediates. Environ Toxicol Chem 20:2450–2455
- Tanghe T, Devriese G, Verstraete W (1998) Nonylphenol degradation in lab scale activated sludge units is temperature dependent. Water Res 32:2889–2896
- 39. Chang BV, Yu CH, Yuan SY (2004) Degradation of nonylphenol by anaerobic microorganisms from river sediment. Chemosphere 55:493–500
- 40. Chang BV, Chiang BW, Yuan SY (2007) Biodegradation of nonylphenol in soil. Chemosphere 66:1857–1862
- 41. De Weert JPA, Vinas M, Grotenhuis T, Rijnaarts HHM, Langenhoff AAM (2011) Degradation of 4-n-nonylphenol under nitrate reducing conditions. Biodegradation 22:175–187
- 42. Ahel M, Giger W (1993) Aqueous solubility of alkylphenols and alkylphenol polyethoxylates. Chemosphere 26:1461–1470
- 43. Esperanza M, Suidan MT, Nishimura F, Wang ZM, Sorial GA (2004) Determination of sex hormones and nonylphenol ethoxylates in the aqueous matrixes of two pilot-scale municipal wastewater treatment plants. Environ Sci Technol 38:3028–3035
- 44. Hale RC, Smith CL, De Fur PO, Harvey E, Bush EO, La Guardia MJ, Vadas GG (2000) Nonylphenols in sediments and effluents associated with diverse wastewater outfalls. Environ Toxicol Chem 19:946–952
- 45. Ferguson PL, Iden CR, Brownawell BJ (2001) Analysis of nonylphenol and nonylphenol ethoxylates in environmental samples by mixed-mode high performance liquid chromatography-electrospray mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 938:79–91
- 46. Abad E, Martinez K, Planas C, Palacios O, Caixach J, Rivera J (2005) Priority organic pollutant assessment of sludges for agricultural purposes. Chemosphere 61:1358–1369
- 47. La Guardia MJ, Hale RC, Harvey E, Mainor TM (2001) Alkylphenol ethoxylate degradation products in land-applied sewage sludge (biosolids). Environ Sci Technol 35:4798–4804
- Pryor SW, Hay AG, Walker LP (2002) Nonylphenol in anaerobically digested sewage sludge from New York state. Environ Sci Technol 36:3678–3682
- 49. Jobst H (1998) Chlorophenols and nonylphenols in sewage sludges. Part II: did contents of pentachlorophenol and nonylphenols reduce? Acta Hydrochim Hydrobiol 26:344–348
- Bolz U, Hagenmaier H, Körner W (2001) Phenolic xenoestrogens in surface water, sediments, and sewage sludge from Baden-Wurttemberg, south-west Germany. Environ Pollut 115:291–301

- 51. Ejlertsson J, Nilsson ML, Kylin H, Bergman A, Karlson L, Oquist M, Svensson BH (1999) Anaerobic degradation of nonylphenol mono- and diethoxylates in digestor sludge, landfilled municipal solid waste, and landfilled sludge. Environ Sci Technol 33:301–306
- 52. Bruno F, Curini A, Di Corcia A, Fochi I, Nazzari M, Samperi R (2002) Determination of surfactants and some of their metabolites in untreated and anaerobically digested sewage sludge by subcritical water extraction followed by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. Environ Sci Technol 36:4156–4161
- 53. Lee HB, Peart TE, Chan J, Gris G (2004) Occurrence of endocrine-disrupting chemicals in sewage and sludge samples in Toronto, Canada. Water Qual Res J Canada 39:57–63
- Battersby NS, Wilson V (1989) Survey of the anaerobic biodegradetion potential of organic chemicals in digesting sludge. Appl Environ Microbiol 55:433–439
- 55. Patureau D, Delgenès N, Delgenès JP (2006) Impact of sewage sludge processes on the removal of endocrine disrupters like NPE (nonylphenol ethoxylates). In: IWA specialised conference – sustainable sludge management: state of the art, challenges and perspectives, Moscow, Russia. IWA, pp 585–591
- 56. Hernandez-Raquet G, Soef A, Delgenès N, Balaguer P (2007) Removal of the endocrine disrupter nonylphenol and its estrogenic activity in sludge treatment processes. Water Res 41:2643–2651
- 57. Barret M, Cea-Barcia C, Guillon A, Cerrère H, Patureau D (2010) Influence of feed characteristics on the removal of micropollutants during the anaerobic digestion of contaminated sludge. J Hazard Mater 181:241–247
- Banat FA, Prechtl S, Bischof F (2000) Aerobic thermophilic treatment of sewage sludge contaminated with 4-nonylphenol. Chemosphere 41:297–302
- Patureau D, Delgenès N, Delgenès JP (2008) Impact of sewage sludge treatment processes on the removal of the endocrine disrupters nonylphenol ethoxylates. Chemosphere 72:586–591
- 60. Moeller J, Reeh U (2003) Degradation of nonylphenol ethoxylates in sewage sludge and source separated municipal solid waste under bench-scale composting conditions. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 70:248–254
- Buyuksonmez F, Sekeroglu S (2005) Presence of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in biosolids and their degradation during composting. J Residuals Sci Technol 2:31–40
- Jones OAH, Green PG, Voulvoulis N, Lester JN (2007) Questioning the excessive use of advanced treatment to remove organic micropollutants from wastewater. Environ Sci Technol 41:5085–5089
- Corti A, Frassinetti S, Vallini G, D'Antone S, Fichi C, Solaro R (1995) Biodegradation of nonionic surfactants. I. Biotransformation of 4-(1-nonyl)phenol by a *Candida maltosa* isolate. Environ Pollut 90:83–87
- 64. Fujii K, Urano N, Ushio H, Satomi M, Kimura S (2001) Sphingomonas cloacae sp. nov., a nonylphenol-degrading bacterium isolated from wastewater of a sewage treatment plant in Tokyo. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 51:603–610
- 65. Lai KM, Johnson KL, Scrimshaw MD, Lester JN (2000) Binding of waterborne steroid estrogens to solid phases in river and estuarine systems. Environ Sci Technol 34:3890–3894
- Sandor T, Mehdi AE (1979) Steroids and evolution. In: Barrington JEW (ed) Hormones and evolution. Academic Press, New York, pp 1–72
- 67. Lange IG, Daxenberger A, Schiffer B, Witters H, Ibarreta D, Meyer HHD (2002) Sex hormones originating from different livestock production systems: fate and potential disrupting activity in the environment. Anal Chim Acta 473:27–37
- 68. Balaguer P, Francois F, Comunale F, Fenet H, Boussioux AM, Pons M, Nicolas JC, Casellas C (1999) Reporter cell lines to study the estrogenic effects of xenoestrogens. Sci Total Environ 233:47–56
- 69. Pillon A, Boussioux AM, Escande A, Ait-Aissa S, Gomez E, Fenet H, Ruff M, Moras D, Vignon F, Duchesne MJ, Casellas C, Nicolas JC, Balaguer P (2005) Binding of estrogenic compounds to recombinant estrogen receptor-alpha: application to environmental analysis. Environ Health Perspect 113:278–284

- Dray J, Dray F, Tiller F, Ulman A (1972) Hydrolysis of urine metabolites of different steroid hormons by b-glucuronidase of *Escherichia coli*. Ann Inst Pasteur 123:853–857
- Andersen L, Holbech H, Gessbo A, Norrgren L, Petersen GI (2003) Effects of exposure to 17 alpha-ethinylestradiol during early development on sexual differentiation and induction of vitellogenin in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Comp Biochem Physiol C-Toxicol Pharmacol 134:365–374
- 72. Desbrow C, Routledge EJ, Brighty GC, Sumpter JP, Waldock M (1998) Identification of estrogenic chemicals in STW effluent. 1. Chemical fractionation and in vitro biological screening. Environ Sci Technol 32:1549–1558
- 73. Jobling S, Casey D, Rodgers-Gray T, Oehlmann J, Schulte-Oehlmann U, Pawlowski S, Baunbeck T, Turner AP, Tyler CR (2003) Comparative responses of molluscs and fish to environmental estrogens and an estrogenic effluent. Aquat Toxicol 65:205–220
- 74. Atienzar FA, Billinghurst Z, Depledge MH (2002) 4-n-Nonylphenol and 17-beta estradiol may induce common DNA effects in developing barnacle larvae. Environ Pollut 120:735–738
- 75. Billinghurst Z, Clare AS, Matsumura K, Depledge MH (2000) Induction of cypris major protein in barnacle larvae by exposure to 4-n-nonylphenol and 17 beta-oestradiol. Aquat Toxicol 47:203–212
- 76. Shore LS, Kapulnik Y, Gurevich M, Wininger S, Badamy H, Shemesh M (1995) Induction of phytoestrogen production in *Medicago sativa* leaves by irrigation with sewage water. Environ Exp Bot 35:363–369
- 77. Brody JG, Rudel RA (2003) Environmental pollutants and breast cancer. Environ Health Perspect 111:1007–1019
- 78. Sharpe RM, Irvine DS (2004) How strong is the evidence of a link between environmental chemicals and adverse effects on human reproductive health? Br Med J 328:447–451
- 79. D'Ascenzo G, Di Corcia A, Gentili A, Mancini R, Mastropasqua R, Nazzari M, Samperi R (2003) Fate of natural estrogen conjugates in municipal sewage transport and treatment facilities. Sci Total Environ 302:199–209
- Hanselman TA, Graetz DA, Wilkie AC (2003) Manure-borne estrogens as potential environmental contaminants: a review. Environ Sci Technol 37:5471–5478
- Johnson AC, Williams RJ (2004) A model to estimate influent and effluent concentrations of estradiol, estrone, and ethinylestradiol at sewage treatment works. Environ Sci Technol 38:3649–3658
- 82. Johnson AC, Belfroid A, Di Corcia A (2000) Estimating steroid oestrogen inputs into activated sludge treatment works and observations on their removal from the effluent. Sci Total Environ 256:163–173
- 83. Sarmah AK, Northcott GL, Leusch FDL, Tremblay LA (2006) A survey of endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) in municipal sewage and animal waste effluents in the Waikato region of New Zealand. Sci Total Environ 355:135–144
- 84. Ternes TA, Kreckel P, Mueller J (1999) Behaviour and occurrence of estrogens in municipal sewage treatment plants – II. Aerobic batch experiments with activated sludge. Sci Total Environ 225:91–99
- Andersen H, Siegrist H, Halling-Sorensen B, Ternes TA (2003) Fate of estrogens in a municipal sewage treatment plant. Environ Sci Technol 37:4021–4026
- 86. Joss A, Andersen H, Ternes T, Richle PR, Siegrist H (2004) Removal of estrogens in municipal wastewater treatment under aerobic and anaerobic conditions: consequences for plant optimization. Environ Sci Technol 38:3047–3055
- 87. Furuichi T, Kannan K, Suzuki K, Tanaka S, Giesy JP, Masunaga S (2006) Occurrence of estrogenic compounds in and removal by a swine farm waste treatment plant. Environ Sci Technol 40:7896–7902
- Hanselman TA, Graetz DA, Wilkie AC, Szabo NJ, Diaz CS (2006) Determination of steroidal estrogens in flushed dairy manure wastewater by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. J Environ Qual 35:695–700

- Combalbert S, Hernandez-Raquet G (2010) Occurrence, fate and biodegradation of estrogens in the environment. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86:1671–1692
- 90. Muller M, Rabenoelina F, Balaguer P, Patureau D, Lemenach K, Budzinski H, Barcelo D, De Alda ML, Kuster M, Delgenes JP, Hernandez-Raquet G (2008) Chemical and biological analysis of endocrine-disrupting hormones and estrogenic activity in an advanced sewage treatment plant. Environ Toxicol Chem 27:1649–1658
- Hutchins SR, White MV, Hudson FM, Fine DD (2007) Analysis of lagoon samples from different concentrated animal feeding operations for estrogens and estrogen conjugates. Environ Sci Technol 41:738–744
- 92. Raman DR, Williams EL, Layton AC, Burns RT, Easter JP, Daugherty AS, Mullen MD, Sayler GS (2004) Estrogen content of dairy and swine wastes. Environ Sci Technol 38:3567–3573
- Zheng W, Yates SR, Bradford SA (2008) Analysis of steroid hormones in a typical airy waste disposal system. Environ Sci Technol 42:530–535
- 94. Combalbert S, Pype ML, Bernet N, Hernandez-Raquet G (2010) Enhanced methods for conditioning, storage, and extraction of liquid and solid samples of manure for determination of steroid hormones by solid-phase extraction and gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 398:973–984
- 95. Baronti C, Curini R, D'Ascenzo G, Di Corcia A, Gentili A, Samperi R (2000) Monitoring natural and synthetic estrogens at activated sludge sewage treatment plants and in a receiving river water. Environ Sci Technol 34:5059–5066
- 96. Cargouet M, Perdiz D, Mouatassim-Souali A, Tamisier-Karolak S, Levi Y (2004) Assessment of river contamination by estrogenic compounds in Paris area (France). Sci Total Environ 324:55–66
- 97. Nakada N, Tanishima T, Shinohara H, Kiri K, Takada H (2006) Pharmaceutical chemicals and endocrine disrupters in municipal wastewater in Tokyo and their removal during activated sludge treatment. Water Res 40:3297–3303
- Andersen HR, Hansen M, Kjolholt J, Stuer-Lauridsen F, Ternes T, Halling-Sorensen B (2005) Assessment of the importance of sorption for steroid estrogens removal during activated sludge treatment. Chemosphere 61:139–146
- 99. Braga O, Smythe GA, Schafer AI, Feitz AJ (2005) Fate of steroid estrogens in Australian inland and coastal wastewater treatment plants. Environ Sci Technol 39:3351–3358
- 100. Holbrook RD, Love NG, Novak JT (2004) Sorption of 17-beta-estradiol and 17 alphaethinylestradiol by colloidal organic carbon derived from biological wastewater treatment systems. Environ Sci Technol 38:3322–3329
- 101. Clara M, Kreuzinger N, Strenn B, Gans O, Kroiss H (2005) The solids retention time: a suitable design parameter to evaluate the capacity of wastewater treatment plants to remove micropollutants. Water Res 39:97–106
- 102. Johnson AC, Aerni HR, Gerritsen A, Gibert M, Giger W, Hylland K, Jurgens M, Nakari T, Pickering A, Suter MJF, Svenson A, Wettstein FE (2005) Comparing steroid estrogen, and nonylphenol content across a range of European sewage plants with different treatment and management practices. Water Res 39:47–58
- 103. Koh YKK, Chiu TY, Boobis AR, Scrimshaw MD, Bagnall JP, Soares A, Pollard S, Cartmell E, Lester JN (2009) Influence of operating parameters on the biodegradation of steroid estrogens and nonylphenolic compounds during biological wastewater treatment processes. Environ Sci Technol 43:6646–6654
- 104. Servos MR, Bennie DT, Burnison BK, Jurkovic A, McInnis R, Neheli T, Schnell A, Seto P, Smyth SA, Ternes TA (2005) Distribution of estrogens, 17 beta-estradiol and estrone, in Canadian municipal wastewater treatment plants. Sci Total Environ 336:155–170
- 105. Burton CH, Turner C (2003) Manure management, treatment strategies for sustainable agriculture. Silsoe Research Institute, Bedford
- 106. Fine DD, Breidenbach GP, Price TL, Hutchins SR (2003) Quantitation of estrogens in ground water and swine lagoon samples using solid-phase extraction, pentafluorobenzyl/

trimethylsilyl derivatizations and gas chromatography-negative ion chemical ionization tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1017:167-185

- 107. Ermawati R, Morimura S, Tang YQ, Liu K, Kida K (2007) Degradation and behavior of natural steroid hormones in cow manure waste during biological treatments and ozone oxidation. J Biosci Bioeng 103:27–31
- 108. Yang W, Cicek N (2008) Treatment of swine wastewater by submerged membrane bioreactors with consideration of estrogenic activity removal. Desalination 231:200–208
- 109. Combalbert S (2011) Dynamic and impact of steroid hormones and endocrine activities in swine effluents and in swine manure treatment systems. University of Montpellier, France
- 110. Combalbert S, Capdeville MC, Motte JC, Bellet V, Balaguer P, Dabert P, Beline F, Budzinski H, Bernet N, Hernandez-Raquet G (2012) Estrogens and antibiotics elimination during swine manure treatment by anaerobic digestion coupled to aerobic process. Bioresour Technol (submitted)
- 111. Ternes TA, Andersen H, Gilberg D, Bonerz M (2002) Determination of estrogens in sludge and sediments by liquid extraction and GC/MS/MS. Anal Chem 74:3498–3504
- 112. Czajka CP, Londry KL (2006) Anaerobic biotransformation of estrogens. Sci Total Environ 367:932–941
- 113. de Mes T, Kujawa-Roeleveld K, Zeeman G, Lettinga G (2008) Anaerobic biodegradation of estrogens – hard to digest. Water Sci Technol 57:1177–1182
- 114. Carballa M, Omil F, Alder AC, Lema JM (2006) Comparison between the conventional anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge and its combination with a chemical or thermal pretreatment concerning the removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products. Water Sci Technol 53:109–117
- 115. Ivashechkin P, Corvini PFX, Dohmann M (2004) Behaviour of endocrine disrupting chemicals during the treatment of municipal sewage sludge. Water Sci Technol 50:133–140
- 116. Braga O, Smythe GA, Schafer AI, Feltz AJ (2005) Steroid estrogens in primary and tertiary wastewater treatment plants. Water Sci Technol 52:273–278
- 117. Musson SE, Townsend TG (2009) Pharmaceutical compound content of municipal solid waste. J Hazard Mater 162:730–735
- 118. Jones OAH, Voulvoulis N, Lester JN (2005) Human pharmaceuticals in wastewater treatment processes. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 35:401–427
- 119. Boxall ABA, Fogg LA, Blackwell PA, Kay P, Pemberton EJ, Croxford A (2004) Veterinary medicines in the environment. In: Reviews of Environ Contam Toxicol, vol. 180. Springer, New York, pp 1–91
- 120. Heberer T (2002) Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data. Toxicol Lett 131:5–17
- 121. Holmström K, Gräslund S, Wahlström A, Poungshompoo S, Bengtsson BE, Kautsky N (2003) Antibiotic use in shrimp farming and implications for environmental impacts and human health. Int J Food Sci Technol 38:255–266
- 122. Green RE, Newton I, Shultz S, Cunningham AA, Gilbert M, Pain DJ, Prakash V (2004) Diclofenac poisoning as a cause of vulture population declines across the Indian subcontinent. J Appl Ecol 41:793–800
- Flaherty CM, Dodson SI (2005) Effects of pharmaceuticals on Daphnia survival, growth, and reproduction. Chemosphere 61:200–207
- 124. Nalecz-Jawecki G, Persoone G (2006) Toxicity of selected pharmaceuticals to the anostracan crustacean *Thamnocephalus platyurus* comparison of sublethal and lethal effect levels with the 1 h Rapidtoxkit and the 24 h Thamnotoxkit microbiotests. Environ Sci Pollut Res 13:22–27
- 125. Kumar K, Gupta SC, Baidoo SK, Chander Y, Rosen CJ (2005) Antibiotic uptake by plants from soil fertilized with animal manure. J Environ Qual 34:2082–2085
- 126. Lawrence JR, Swerhone GD, Topp E, Korber DR, Neu TR, Wassenaar LI (2007) Structural and functional responses of river biofilm communities to the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory diclofenac. Environ Toxicol Chem 26:573–582

- 127. Wilson CJ, Brian RA, Sanderson H, Johnson DJ, Bestari KT, Sibley PK, Solomon KR (2004) Structural and functional responses of plankton to a mixture of four trtracyclines in aquatic microcosms. Environ Sci Technol 38:6430–6439
- Cordova-Kreylos AL, Scow KM (2007) Structural and functional responses of plankton to a mixture of four trtracyclines in aquatic microcosms. ISME J 1:585–595
- 129. Ding C, He J (2010) Effect of antibiotics in the environment on microbial populations. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:925–941
- 130. Teuber M (2001) Veterinary use and antibiotic resistance. Curr Opin Microbiol 2001:493–499
- 131. Ghosh S, LaPara TM (2007) The antibiotic use in farm animals on the proliferation and persistence of antibiotic resistance among soil bacteria. ISME J 1:191–203
- 132. Isidori M, Bellotta M, Cangiano M, Perrella A (2009) Estrogenic activity of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment. Environ Int 35:826–829
- Khetan SK, Collins TJ (2007) Human pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment: a challenge to green chemistry. Chem Rev 107:2319–2364
- 134. Monpelat S, Le Bot B, Thomas O (2009) Occurrence and fate of pharmaceutical products and by-products, from resource to drinking water. Environ Int 35:803–814
- 135. Fatta-Kassinos D, Meric S, Nikolaou A (2011) Pharmaceutical residues in environmental waters and wastewater: current state of knowledge and future research. Anal Bioanal Chem 399:251–275
- 136. Capdeville MJ (2011) Study of the biogeochemical cycles of emerging contaminants in aquatic ecosystems. University of Bordeaux, France
- 137. Zorita S, Martensson L, Mathiasson L (2009) Occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals in a municipal sewage treatment system in the south of Sweden. Sci Total Environ 407:2760–2770
- 138. Onesios KM, Yu JT, Bouwer EJ (2009) Biodegradation and removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in treatment systems: a review. Biodegradation 20:441–466
- 139. Wahlberg C, Bjorlenius B, Acay N (2011) Fluxes of 13 selected pharmaceuticals in the cycle water of Stockholm. Sweden Water Sci Technol 63:1772–1780
- 140. Gross M, Petrovic M, Ginebrada A, Barcelo D (2010) Removal of pharmaceuticals during wastewater treatment and environmental risk assessment using hazard indices. Environ Int 36:15–26
- 141. Roberts PH, Thomas KV (2006) The occurrence of selected pharmaceuticals in wastewater effluent and surface waters of the lower Tyne catchment. Sci Total Environ 356:3567–3573
- 142. Li B, Zhang T (2011) Mass flows and removal of antibiotics in two municipal wastewater treatment plants. Chemosphere 83:1284–1289
- 143. Castiglioni S, Bagnati R, Fanelli R, Pomati F, Calamari D, Zuccato E (2006) Removal of pharmaceuticals in sewage treatment plants in Italy. Environ Sci Technol 40:357–363
- 144. Miao XS, Yang JJ, Metcalfe CD (2005) Carbamazepine and its metabolites in wastewater and in biosolids in a municipal wastewater treatment plant. Environ Sci Technol 39:7469–7475
- 145. Santos JL, Aparicio I, Callejon M, Alonso E (2009) Occurrence of pharmaceutically active compounds during 1-year period in wastewaters from four wastewater treatment plants in Seville (Spain). J Hazard Mater 164:1509–1516
- 146. Jones-Lepp TL, Stevens R (2007) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in biosolids/ sewage sludge: the interface between analytical chemistry and regulation. Anal Bioanal Chem 387:1173–1183
- 147. Yu Y, Huang Q, Cui J, Zhang K, Tang C, Peng X (2011) Determination of pharmaceuticals, steroid hormones, and endocrine-disrupting personal care products in sewage sludge by ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 399:891–902
- 148. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Zaugg SD, Burkhard MR, Werner SL, Cahill JD, Jorgensen GR (2006) Survey of organic wastewater contaminants in biosolids destined for land application. Environ Sci Technol 40:7207–7215

- 149. Metcalfe CD, Koening BD, Bennie DT, Servos M, Ternes TA, Hirsch R (2003) Occurrence of neutral and acidic drugs in the effluents of Canadian sewage treatment plants. Environ Toxicol Chem 22:2872–2880
- 150. Radjenovic J, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2009) Fate and distribution of pharmaceuticals in wastewater and sewage sludge of the conventional activated sludge (CAS) and advanced membrane bioreactor (MBR) treatment. Water Res 43:831–841
- 151. Majewski M, Gallé T, Yargeau V, Fischer K (2011) Active heterotrophic biomass and sludge retention time (SRT) as determining factors for biodegradation kinetics of pharmaceuticals in activated sludge. Bioresour Technol 102:7415–7421
- 152. Singer H, Muller S, Tixier C, Pillonel L (2002) Triclosan: occurrence and fate of a widely used biocide in the aquatic environment: field measurements in wastewater treatment plants, surface waters, and lake sediments. Environ Sci Technol 36:4998–5004
- 153. Heidler J, Halden RU (2008) Meta-analysis of mass balances examining chemical fate during wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Technol 42:6324–6332
- 154. Heidler J, Sapkota A, Halden RU (2006) Partitioning, persistence and accumulation in digested sludge of the topical antiseptic triclocarban during wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Technol 40:3634–3639
- 155. McAvoy DC, Schatowitz B, Jacob M, Hauk A, Eckhoff WS (2001) Measurement of triclosan in wastewater treatment systems. Environ Toxicol Chem 21:1323–1329
- 156. Ying GG, Kookana RS (2007) Triclosan in wastewater and biosolids from Australian wastewater treatment plants. Environ Int 33:199–205
- 157. Chenxi W, Spongberg AL, Witter JD (2008) Determination of the persistence of pharmaceuticals in biosolids using liquid-chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Chemosphere 73:511–518
- 158. Langdon KA, Warne MS, Smernik RJ, Shareef A, Kookana RS (2011) Selected personal care products and endocrine disruptors in biosolids: an Australia-wide survey. Sci Total Environ 409:1075–1081
- 159. Paulsrud B, Wien A, Nedland KT (2000) A survey of toxic organics in Norwegian sewage sludge, compost and manure. Aquateam, Norwegian Water Technology Centre ASOSLO
- 160. Samaras VG, Thomaidis NS, Stasinakis AS, Lekkas TD (2011) An analytical method for the simultaneous trace determination of acidic pharmaceuticals and phenolic endocrine disrupting chemicals in wastewater and sewage sludge by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 399:2549–2561
- 161. Jobst H (1995) Chlorophenols and nonylphenols in sewage sludges. Part I: occurrence in sewage sludges of Western German treatment plants from 1987 to 1989. Acta Hydrochim Hydrobiol 23:20–25
- 162. Törslöv J, Samsöe-Petersen L, Rasmussen JO, Kristensen P (1997) Use of waste products in agriculture. Contamination level, environmental risk assessment and recommendations for quality criteria. Environmental Project No. 366, Danish Environmental Protection Agency
- 163. Nandi I, Bateson M, Bari M, Joshi HN (2003) Synergistic effect of PEG-400 and cyclodextrin to enhance solubility of progesterone. AAPS Pharm Sci Tech 4:E1
- 164. McClellan K, Halden RU (2010) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in archived U.S. biosolids from the 2001 EPA national sewage sludge survey. Water Res 44:658–668
- 165. USEPA (2009) Targeted National Sewage Sludge Survey. Washington, DC. EPA-822-R-08–014, p 79
- 166. Nieto A, Borrull F, Pocurull E, Marcé RM (2010) Occurrence of pharmaceuticals and hormones in sewage sludge. Environ Toxicol Chem 29:1484–1489
- 167. Jelic A, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2009) Multi-residue method for trace level determination of pharmaceuticals in solid samples using pressurized liquid extraction followed by liquid chromatography/quadrupole-linear ion trap mass spectrometry. Talanta 80:363–371
- 168. Spongberg AL, Witter JD (2008) Pharmaceutical compounds in the wastewater process stream in Northwest Ohio. Sci Total Environ 397:148–157

- 169. Ding Y, Zhang W, Gu C, Xagoraraki I, Li H (2011) Determination of pharmaceuticals in biosolids using accelerated solvent extraction and liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1218:10–16
- 170. Göbel A, Thomsen A, McArdell CS, Alder AC, Giger W, Theiß N, Löffler D, Ternes TA (2005) Extraction and determination of sulfonamides, macrolides, and trimethoprim in sewage sludge. J Chromatogr A 1085:179–189
- 171. Nieto A, Borrull F, Marcé RM, Pocurull E (2007) Selective extraction of sulfonamides, macrolides and other pharmaceuticals from sewage sludge by presurized liquid extraction. J Chromatogr A 1174:125–131
- 172. Eljarrat E, Díaz-Cruz MS, Farré M, López de Alda MJ, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2012) Analysis of emerging contaminants in sewage sludge. Hdb Env Chem DOI 10.1007/ 698_2012_155

Biodegradation of Emerging Organic Contaminants by Composting

Mathava Kumar

Abstract Sewage sludge is a rich source of organic matter and nutrients, which can be utilized for soil improvement and plant growth. The utilization of sewage sludge for plant growth and conversion of sludge into renewable resource is often restricted by the presence of hazardous organic matter (HOM) including di-(2ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) and antibiotics. HOM enters the sewerage system through various domestic and industrial sources; they are mostly hydrophobic in nature and recalcitrant to microorganisms. HOM has the tendency to accumulate in the sludge during biological wastewater treatment processes and, subsequently, raise the difficulty of further sludge treatment and/or disposal. The application of sewage sludge containing HOM can create risk to ecosystems. The stability and biodegradation of DEHP and antibiotics during composting are discussed in this chapter. Finally, the recent advances in the bioremoval of these HOM are briefly summarized.

Keywords Antibiotics, Biodegradation, Composting, Emerging contaminants, Sludge treatment

Contents

1	Introduction	114
2	Hazardous Organic Matter in Municipal Sewage Sludge	115
3	Characteristics of PAEs	116
	3.1 Di-(2-ethylhexyl) Phthalate	119
	3.2 Environmental Fate and Transformations of DEHP	120
4	Biodegradation of PAEs	121
5	Composting	124

M. Kumar (🖂)

Department of Civil Engineering, National Institute of Technology Calicut, Kozhikode, Kerala 673601, India

e-mail: mathavakumar@gmail.com; mathav@nitc.ac.in

6	Biodegradation of DEHP in Composting Processes	125
	6.1 Kinetics and the Influence of Experimental Parameters on DEHP Degradation	126
7	Antibiotics in the Environment	127
8	Biodegradation of Antibiotics in Composting Processes	129
9	Summary and Conclusion	132
Ref	ferences	133

1 Introduction

The drastic growth and development in both industrial and domestic sectors has increased the production and usage of artificial chemicals that subsequently increase the amount of these wastes drained into the domestic sewage system. Wastewater catchments receive organic pollutants from three main sources such as household disposal, fossil fuel spillages, and urban runoff. The properties and composition of wastewater are more complicated than past decades, consequently increasing the loading and difficulty of handling the sewage treatment systems. In recent years, hazardous and persistent organic pollutants have been identified very frequently in municipal wastewater treatment plants [1–4]. The lipophilic/hydrophobic substances are efficiently removed from wastewater and concentrated principally in sewage sludge during sedimentation of wastewater. The solids removed from wastewater, i.e., sludge, contain many organic and inorganic substances. Some of these organic pollutants accumulated in sewage sludge are harmful and recalcitrant to biodegradation and can cause risks to humans and animals when disposed without proper treatment. Several researchers have investigated the likely xeno-estrogenic effects of organic pollutants such as endocrine disrupting chemicals (EDCs) [5–7]. The exposure to EDC can produce irretrievable effect to reproductive systems of living beings. More than 60 organic and inorganic compounds are included in the priority EDC list suggested by the US and Japanese governments.

Sewage sludge is an unwanted and inevitable by-product of wastewater treatment process. The treatment and disposal of sludge may account for over 50% of both the capital investment and operational costs of a conventional activated sludge-based wastewater treatment system. One of the most important decisions in the design of a municipal wastewater treatment system is the selection of the final disposal of sewage sludge, as appropriate disposal or reuse of sewage sludge is beneficial to the management of wastewater treatment plants. Ocean disposal of sewage sludge has been banned by many European nations, and, on the other hand, incineration and sanitary landfill of sewage sludge are not preferred due to the production and transformation of secondary pollutants.

Di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) is the main HOMs, which is frequently detected in sewage and sludge samples. Owing to its high hydrophobicity and complex molecular structure, DEHP is difficult to break up using normal biological processes. Subsequently, the concentration of DEHP identified in the sludge cakes of municipal sewage treatment plants exceeds the restricted values by EU for land

application of sewage sludge (The European Directive 86/278 and 91/156 as Waste Basis Directive). Therefore, the concentration of DEHP in sewage sludge has to be reduced below the levels suggested by the USEPA and the EU before land application. To efficiently reduce the DEHP, the selection of a proper method for the degradation of DEHP and/or other organic pollutants was also an important task. Many conventional treatment techniques can be employed for the stabilization of sewage sludge. Among the techniques, composting is the cheapest and simplest method adopted for the recycling of organic wastes, i.e., sewage sludge. Considering the current status of environmental policies on sludge management as well as the main disposal routes of sewage sludge, composting is the most acceptable method because of its low environmental impact. Most of the organic wastes can be converted into reusable sources by composting. These organic wastes include municipal solid wastes (MSW), animal manure, household wastes, agricultural wastes, and sewage sludge. As a whole, the production and quantity of sewage sludge along with recalcitrant HOMs become serious issues in the management of sludge disposal in sewage treatment plants.

2 Hazardous Organic Matter in Municipal Sewage Sludge

Sewage sludge contains abundant nutrients and hydrocarbons that are highly valuable for recycling as soil fertilizers. On the other hand, sewage sludge also contains a portion of bio-resistant organic matter, which is harmful and may cause diseases to humans even at trace levels. The presence of HOMs reduces the appeal of converting sludge into renewable resources. The organic compounds generally observed in sewage sludge are polychlorinated terphenyls, naphthalenes, chloropesticides, halogenated hydrocarbon solvents, aromatic hydrocarbon solvents (BTEX), chlorobenzenes, polyaromatic hydrocarbons, phenols, chlorophenols, phthalates, petroleum hydrocarbons, surfactants (LAS and nonylphenol), organotin compounds, and 2,4-dichloroaniline [4]. However, there are no existing regulations for the land disposal of HOMs in sewage sludge in Taiwan. On the other hand, many developed countries have defined safety values for the disposal of sewage sludge in various environmental sources, i.e., inland, water, and sea disposal. In many developed countries, the land application of sewage sludge has been a popular disposal route in comparison with traditional disposal methods such as incineration or sanitary landfill. Therefore, stringent disposal standards have been enforced for the disposal of sewage sludge along with organic matter and heavy metal concentrations. The safety values suggested by the EU for the land application of organic compounds and dioxins in sewage sludge are shown in Table 1. Many researchers carried out different kinds of survey to report groups of hazardous organic pollutants in different types of sewage sludge samples. The types of hazardous organic pollutants identified in sewage sludge are represented in Table 2. It can be briefly concluded from Table 2

Compounds	Limit values (mg/kg-dry matter)
AOX (sum of halogenated organic compounds)	500
LAS (linear alkylbenzene sulphonates)	2,600 (1,300) ^b
DEHP (di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate)	100 (50) ^b
NPE (nonylphenol and nonylphenol ethoxylates with one or two ethoxy groups)	50 (10) ^b
PAH (sum of various polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons)	6 (3) ^b
PCB (sum of polychlorinated biphenyls)	0.8
	(ng TE/kg dry matter)
PCDD/F (polychlorinated dibenzodioxin/dibenzofuran)	100

Table 1 Limit values of EU for the land application of organic compounds and dioxins^a

^aThe Directive 86/278 (Waste Basis Directive) recommended by the EU

^bValues in parentheses are the limit values valid from July 1st, 2000

that the composition of sewage sludge varies largely based on the nature of sewage treatment, i.e., combined industrial wastewater, municipal sewage treatment, or individual sewage treatment. The organic pollutants along with various HOMs determined in the sewage sludge include DEHP, one of the family of phthalate esters (PAEs), which is the major and the most detected organic pollutant in municipal sewage sludge [1]. Concentrations of DEHP in sewage sludge in previous studies were detected in the range of 105–153 mg/kg (dry weight basis). The concentrations of DEHP detected in the sewage sludge and soil of various countries are shown in Table 3.

3 Characteristics of PAEs

PAEs are widely used industrial chemicals [1, 16, 17]. They serve as important additives to impart flexibility in polyvinyl chloride (PVC) resins. PAEs are highly suitable as plasticizers due to their thermal stability, fluidity, and low volatility. Plasticizers are used in the preparation of building, home furnishing, transportation and clothing materials, and, to a limited extent, in food packaging and medical products. PAE is a mixture of branched isomers, i.e., isomeric di-iso-octyl phthalate (DIOP), or linear isomers, i.e., linear di-n-octyl phthalate (DnOP). The release of PAEs into the environment during manufacture, use, and disposal has been addressed by several researchers [10, 18–20]. Eighteen commercially important PAEs are used in the plastic manufacturing process. However, dimethyl phthalate (DMP), diethyl phthalate (DEP), dipropyl phthalate (DPP), di-n-butyl phthalate (DnBP), diisobutyl phthalate (DIBP), diallyl phthalate (DAP), dihexyl phthalate (DHP), DnOP, diisononyl phthalate (DINP), butylbenzyl phthalate (BBP), and DEHP are the most indispensable part of PAEs used in the PVC manufacturing process [16, 21–23]. PAE production in the world is around 2.7 million metric tons (t) per year, out of which, 200,000 t is produced in the USA and 350,000 t is produced in both Japan and Germany.

References	Organic pollutants	Concentrations	Sample types
Fürhacker and Haberl [8]	Benzene, toluene, xylene, and volatile chlorinated hydrocarbons, PCB and pesticides	Trace level close to the detected limits for each volatile compounds	Sewage sludge
Rogers [3]	Organochlorine pesticides and PCBs, chlorophenols and chlorophenoxy acids, organophosphorus compounds, nitrosamines and nitroaromatics, mineral oils, alkylphenols, lipids, acrylamide monomer, <i>phthalate esters</i> , surfactants and related residues, chlorobenzenes, PCDD and PCDF, PAH, and pharmaceutical chemicals	 0.03–0.5 μg/g for PCBs and organochlorine pesticides, 0.1–2,400 μg/l for chlorinated phenols, 0.3–53 μg/l for nitrosamines, 620 mg/l for mineral oils, 0.45–2.5 g/kg for alkylphenols, 12–1,250 mg/kg for phthalate esters, 0.01–40.2 mg/kg for chlorobenzenes, 80–7,700 pg/g for PCDD and PCDF 	Sewage sludge, agrochemical sewage
O'Connor [9]	Phthalate esters (DEHP), PAHs, PCBs, chlorinated pesticides and hydrocarbons, acid- extractable pentachlorophenol (PCP) and dinitrophenol (DNP), volatile aromatics (benzene, trichloroethylene), alkyl amines (nitrosamines)	>100 mg/kg for phthalate esters, 1–10 mg/kg for PAHs, 0.5–1 mg/kg for PCBs, <1 for chlorinated pesticides and hydrocarbons, 1–5 mg/kg for PCP, <1 mg/kg for PNP, 1–10 mg/kg for volatile aromatics, <1 mg/kg for nitrosamines	Sewage sludge and sludge- amended soils
Eljarrat et al. [10]	PCDD, PCDF, PCB congeners (28, 52, 101, 138, 153, and 180)	1.9E02–5.3E02 ng/g for PCBs, 1.1E02–7.4E02 pg/g for total PCDD and PCDF	Sewage sludge
Schnaak et al. [4]	Polychlorinated terphenyls, naphthalenes, chloropesticides, halogenated hydrocarbon solvents, aromatic hydrocarbon solvents (BTEX), chlorobenzenes, polyaromatic hydrocarbons (EPA 610), phenols, chlorophenols, <i>phthalates</i> , petroleum hydrocarbons, LAS and nonylphenol (NP), organotin compounds and 2,4- dichloroaniline	 μg/kg to 10 mg/kg for chlorine-contained compounds; μg/kg to 1 g/kg for solvent and phenols; 1 mg/kg to 10 g/kg for EPA610, DEHP, LAS, and mineral oils 	Sewage sludge

 Table 2 Hazardous organic pollutants identified in sewage sludge in different studies

Table 2 (continued)

References	Organic pollutants	Concentrations	Sample types
Wilson et al. [11]	Volatile organic compounds (VOCs), PCBs, chlorophenols (CPs), PCDDs	13,000 μg/kg for VOCs, 270 μg/kg for PCBs, 410 μg/kg for CPs, and 8,000 ng/kg for PCDDs	Sewage sludge and sludge- amended soils
Mangas et al. [12]	Petroleum aliphatic hydrocarbons (AHCs), linear alkylbenzenes (LABs), PCB, and PAH	180–550 μg/g for AHCs, 10–25 μg/g for LABs, 5–20 ng/g for PCB, and 100–200 ng/g for PAH	Sewage sludge and sludge- amended soils
Litz [2]	PCDDs, PCDFs, AOX, PCBs, PAHs, LAS, nonylphenol, tributyltin oxides, <i>DEHP</i>	Risk assessment were conducted in this study, concentrations were not addressed	Sewage sludge
Fromme et al. [13]	Phthalates (BBP, DBP, <i>DEHP</i>), bisphenol A (BPA), bisphenol F (BPF)	0.004–1.363 mg/kg for BPA, 27.9–154 mg/ kg for DEHP, others were detected in low amounts	Sewage sludge
Fauser et al. [5]	Phthalates (<i>DEHP</i> , DPP, DBP, BBP, DnOP, DnNP), nonylphenols (NP and NPDE), LAS	13.1–44.3 μg/l for total inlet DEHP, 2.75–9.65 μg/l for NP, 37.1–216.8 μg/l for NPDE, 2.47–4.53 mg/l for LAS	Wastewater and sludge
Petersen et al. [14]	<i>DEHP</i> , NP/NPE, LAS, PAH	27–55 mg/kg for DEHP, 12.5–60 mg/kg for NP, 110–2,870 mg/ kg for LAS, 3.38–9.15 mg/kg for PAH	Sewage sludge (collected from anaerobic digested tank and aeration tank)
Aparicio et al. [15]	DEHP, NP, nonylphenolethoxylates with one or two ethyl groups (NPEs), PCBs	122.09–1,651.85 mg/kg for DEHP, 26.32– 1,432.61 mg/kg for NP, 30.93–1,700 mg/ kg for NPEs, 0.01– 0.192 mg/kg for PCBs	Sewage sludge

DEHP is the most widely employed industrial chemical among the 18 PAEs. DEHP makes up more than 90% of PAE-containing plastic refuses [18]. DEHP is used to improve the fluidity of the PVC matrix, but the weak physical bonding between the DEHP and the PVC matrix promotes the leachability of DEHP into the environment. This leaching process makes DEHP a ubiquitous pollutant [24]. Several phthalates have been detected in water systems, sediments, soil, air, and living organisms. In Western Europe, approximately 250 t of DEHP per year is leaching from landfills to groundwater.

Authors	Sample types	DEHP concentration (mg/kg dry weight)	Countries
Staples et al. [16]	MSSP ^a	136–578	USA
Schnaak et al. [4]	MSSP ^a	170	Germany
Marttinen et al. [17]	MSSP ^a	58-80	Finland
Sablayrolles et al. [25]	MSSP ^a	159–173	France
Bagó et al. [26]	MSSP ^a	149–512	Spain
Jasen and Jepsen [27]	MSSP ^a	2–68	Denmark
Irvine et al. [28]	SoilP ^b	10-25,000	USA

Table 3 DEHP concentration detected in sewage sludge and soil of various countries

^aSludge cake from municipal sewage treatment plant

^bContaminated soil collected near a PVC manufacturing plant

Table 4 The physicochemical properties of DEHP (source: Staples et al. [11])

Compound	Di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP)
Formula	$CB_{24B}HB_{38B}OB_{4B}$
Structure	
Molecular weight	390.56
Specific gravity	0.986 (20/20°C)
Melting point	-47°C
Boiling point	384°C
Flash point	199°C
Vapor pressure	1.0E-7 mmHg
$(\log KB_{owB}^{a})$	7.54 (average value)
Aqueous solubility ^b	0.6–400 μg/l at 20°C
Henry's constant	$1.71E-5 \text{ atm m}^{3}/\text{mol}$
Half-life	2,000 years (aqueous hydrolysis) 0.2–2.0 days (atmospheric photo-oxidation)
Toxicity	It is carcinogenic, hepatotoxic, nephrotoxic, and mutagenic to mammals Chronic toxicity may be predominant for DEHP; no obvious acute toxicity Bioconcentration factor (BCF) is high, and the persistence is medium

^alog KB_{owB} : octanol/water partitioning coefficient (relative hydrophobicity index). log KB_{owB} > 3 reveals that compounds favor to adsorb onto the surface of particulate matter defined by the Danish Environmental Protection Agency

^bValues were estimated and predicted under standard conditions derived from Staples et al. [11] and Brown et al. [29]

3.1 Di-(2-ethylhexyl) Phthalate

DEHP has a branch-like structure with two side alkyl chains, each chain comprised of eight carbons. This molecular structure reflects DEHP's poor water solubility compared to PAEs containing shorter alkyl chain lengths. DEHP can readily accumulate in lipids of aqueous biota when present in water due to its high hydrophobic property [26]. The consumption of DEHP in drinking water can cause serious health concerns because of the testicularatrophy and hepatocellular carcinomas that have been proven in rats and mice [24, 30, 31]. In addition, there has also been an increasing focus on likely xeno-estrogenic effects of DEHP and its metabolites [16, 32, 33]. Due to these reasons, DEHP has been categorized as EDCs. The detailed physicochemical characteristics of DEHP are given in Table 4.

3.2 Environmental Fate and Transformations of DEHP

The fate and biodegradation/bioaccumulation of hydrophobic/lipophilic compounds such as DEHP in different environments are mainly based on water solubility. The loss of DEHP from wastewater treatment facilities, landfills, and sludge-amended soil is partially a function of aqueous solubility. Rogers [3] investigated the fate and the behavior of 15 environmental organic pollutants in sewage treatment plants, and reported that the major mechanisms controlling the fate of DEHP in the environment are sorption (onto solid surface/association with fats and oils), chemical degradation (abiotic processes, e.g., hydrolysis), biodegradation, and volatilization. Sorption and volatilization of an organic pollutant can be predicted by $\log KB_{owB}$ and Henry's law constant (Hc), respectively, and their values mainly depend on the type and molecular structure of an organic pollutant. Generally, an organic compound with log $KB_{owB} < 2.5$ does not preferably sorb on a solid matrix in aqueous systems. On the other hand, organic compounds with log KB_{owB} between 2.5 and 4.0, or >4.0, have medium and high potential for sorption, respectively. The volatilization loss of an organic pollutant in the environment can be estimated using Hc and Hc/Kow. An organic compound with Hc > 1 × 10P^{-4P} and Hc/ KB_{owB} > 1 × 10P^{-9P} has high volatilization potential whereas the compound with Hc < 1 × 10P^{-4P} and Hc/ KB_{owB} < 1 × 10P^{-9P} has low volatilization potential.

The interactions between Hc, log KB_{owB} , and vapor pressure are used to explain the tendency of DEHP accumulation and/or sorption in various environments. Therefore, the partitioning behavior of PAEs with colloidal and particulate organic carbon is an important factor in the measurement of DEHP in real world samples. Turner and Rawling [34] found that the partitioning behavior of DEHP between aqueous and solid phases was a function of particle concentration and particulate organic carbon. The presence of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) plays an important role as a carrier to enhance the interactions between hydrophobic organics and DOC, thus increasing the solubility of DEHP when a considerable amount of DOC is present in water [35]. It can be further emphasized that water solubility is a key factor affecting the extent of biodegradation of organic matter in the aqueous phase. Ejlertsson et al. [10] emphasized that water solubility and the degradability of side chains that esterify phthalic acid are some of the influencing factors in the degradation of PAEs.

4 Biodegradation of PAEs

The transformation of PAEs in the environment can be attributed to abiotic and biotic hydrolysis processes. Several intermediates or end products are produced during abiotic or biotic degradation of PAEs. Hydrolysis of PAEs produces acids and alcohols [36, 37]. However, biotic degradation is responsible for rapid depletion of PAEs in the environment [38, 39]. PAEs can be biologically degraded by a two-step hydroxylation process [37, 40]. The degradation pathway involves sequential cleavage of the ester bond to yield the phthalate monoester, and then phthalic acid is further metabolized before entering the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle to produce carbon dioxide and water. The end product after the TCA cycle is further mineralized into COB_{2B} and $HB_{2B}O$ by aerobes or CHB_{4B} and $HB_{2B}O$ by anaerobes, respectively. Moreover, the hydrolysis process can be enhanced by the presence of metal ions, anions, or organic material that serves as catalysts [16].

Biodegradation is the major process which affects the environmental fate of PAEs. Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and actinomycetes are responsible for the degradation of PAEs in aerobic and some anaerobic environments [41]. Although some individual microbes are capable of completely mineralizing PAEs, more efficient metabolism appears to result from mixed microbial populations [16]. Researchers indicated that hydrolysis of PAEs into monoester and alcohol is the common microbial metabolism under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. However, the detailed metabolic pathways of PAEs under anaerobic conditions are poorly documented. On the other hand, many researchers hypothesize that the monoester is degraded into phthalic acid and subsequently is degraded into COB_{2B} and water following the similar degradation pathway reported for benzoate [36]. Based on a recent comprehensive review, Ejlertsson and Svensson [42] proposed a more detailed biodegradation pathway of PAEs under aerobic and anaerobic conditions (Fig. 1).

Wang et al. [37] revealed that the metabolic breakdown of PAEs by microorganisms is considered to be one of the major routes of environmental degradation for these widespread pollutants. In addition, to discuss the types of microorganisms used to degrade DBP, Wang et al. [40] further investigated the biodegradation of phthalic acid ester in soil by introducing indigenous microorganisms. The results demonstrated that the adsorption of DBP by soil conformed to the Freundlich equation. The indigenous bacteria were capable of degrading phthalate in soil. The inoculation of the soil with DBP-degrading bacteria (DBP degrader) enhanced the DBP degradation rate. The enumeration of microorganisms indicated a good correlation between phthalate degradation and the microbial count. The data also indicated that inoculation of the soil microorganisms with DBP degrader enhanced the DBP biodegradation when compared with microorganisms capable of biodegrading xenobiotics. Thus, using the DBP degrader seems to be a promising strategy for removing hazardous compounds from the environment. Equally, the microbial degradation by anaerobic sludge of three phthalate, listed as priority pollutants by both China National Environmental



Fig. 1 Biodegradation pathway of phthalate esters in the environment

Monitoring Center and the USEPA, namely, DMP, DBP, and DOP was investigated by Wang et al. [43]. The experimental results indicated that the biodegradation rate and the biodegradability of the three phthalates under anaerobic conditions appeared to be related to the length of the alkyl-side chains. More than 90% DMP and DBP with the short alkyl-side chain phthalates can be degraded, whereas the DOP degradation under the same experimental conditions appeared to be relatively slow. It is noteworthy that both the ester groups and the phthalate ring were mineralized at a significant rate. The kinetics study demonstrated that biodegradation of the three phthalates conformed to a first-order model with respect to their concentrations.

On the contrary, the simple first-order model cannot fully describe all of the degradation of PAEs. Madsen et al. [38] investigated the kinetics of DEHP mineralization in sludge-amended soil. A biphasic model with two independent kinetic expressions was proposed in this study to describe the whole degradation behavior of DEHP in sludge-amended soil. The initial mineralization activity fits well by first-order kinetics ($r^2 > 0.97$), whereas mineralization in long-term incubations (>40 days) was described better by fractional power kinetics $(rP^{2P} > 0.95)$. The mineralization activity was much lower in the late phase presumably due to a decline in the bioavailability of DEHP caused by diffusion-limited desorption. Also, the results further emphasized that aerobic DEHP mineralization was four to five times faster than anaerobic mineralization. DEHP mineralization in sludgeamended soil was much more temperature-sensitive than was DEHP mineralization in soil without sludge. It is obvious that indigenous microorganisms in sewage sludge appear to govern the biodegradation of DEHP in sludge-amended soil. The concentration of DEHP remaining was more than 68% in the absence of oxygen after 1 year. A significant fraction of DEHP in sludge-amended soils may escape mineralization under in situ conditions. Consequently, the authors suggest that optimizing aerobic DEHP degradation in sewage sludge prior to field application appears to be a more efficient strategy for reducing the long-term DEHP levels than optimizing degradation in sludge-amended soils. Similar results were obtained by Cheng et al. [44]. Some laboratory-scale land-simulated experiments were performed to investigate the biodegradation behavior of DEHP in sewage sludge under various conditions (moisture, temperature, sunlight, and ventilation). The results indicated that DEHP could be degraded in sludge under the conditions of adequate ventilation, sufficient sunlight, and proper moisture content. However, about 70% of DEHP remained in sludge after 189 days of reaction time and it proved that DEHP is persistent in the environment. No degradation or reduction of DEHP was found in sterilized-sludge samples. The phenomenon obtained here is well supported by Madsen et al. [38] that indigenous microorganisms in sewage sludge play an important role in dominating the degradation of DEHP in sludge and sludge-amended soils.

Roslev et al. [39] revealed that microbial degradation is believed to be the principal sink for DEHP in aquatic and terrestrial systems, such as sewage, soils, sediments, and surface waters. Degradations of DEHP by indigenous and inoculated microorganisms in sludge-amended soil were performed in this study. The results exhibited that depletion of DEHP due to microbial mineralization was appreciably slower in assays performed with sludge-amended soil than in sludge assays performed without sludge. The degradation kinetics is complex, and DEHP appears to become increasingly less bioavailable during incubation for more than

4 weeks. The limited contributions of the soil microorganisms to the degradation of DEHP in sludge-amended soil were probably due to the immobilization of DEHP and its metabolites in the sludge matrix (which is so called the "aging effect"). The results summarized that indigenous microorganisms in the sewage sludge were responsible for the majority of the DEHP degradation in sludge-amended soil. The findings described above reflect a significant amount of DEHP (and its metabolites) with poor biodegradability and extractability (e.g., bound residues) that may remain in sludge-amended soil for extended periods of time despite the presence of microorganisms that are capable of degrading the compounds. However, it is uncertain whether this old DEHP poses a potential in situ risk (e.g., when the pollution exceeds 100 days).

In addition, Roslev et al. [39] pointed out that biodegradation of DEHP in aged environmental samples may be overestimated when conventional chemical extraction processes were used to isolate DEHP from the sample matrix. Calculating only the concentration difference leads to inaccurate results because it owes the reduction of DEHP to poor extractability rather than to actual microbial mineralization. This phenomenon is more pronounced when DEHP is diffused into soil micropores or is immobilized in the soil matrix while the pollution increasingly ages. Klinge et al. [45] also indicated that hydrophobic contaminants sorbed to sludge in wastewater treatment plants and enter the soil environment when the sludge is applied to agricultural fields. These compounds adsorb strongly to organic matter, and thus, their bioavailability is limited in organic-rich systems like sludgeamended soils. Due to the strong interferences of matrix effects, extracting hydrophobic compounds from organic-rich systems in order to obtain real concentrations is heavy and complicated.

5 Composting

Composting can be defined as the biological decomposition and stabilization of organic substrates, under conditions that allow development of thermophilic temperatures ranging from 35°C to 75°C as a result of biologically produced heat [46]. The end product of composting, i.e., compost, is a stable product rich in nutrients and free of pathogens that can be beneficially applied to land [47, 48]. Composting is a combined process which links physical, chemical, and biological factors with the ultimate goal of producing a humus-like, safe, and stable final product that can be used as soil improvement or fertilizers for plant growth. Compost can improve soil conditions and plant growth, and can reduce the potential for erosion, runoff, and nonpoint source pollution [46, 49]. Hassouneh et al. [47] revealed that composting is not a simple process, but the sum of a series of complex metabolic processes and transformations, brought on by the activity of a large mixed microbial population. These processes, however, vary according to the composition of composting materials. Moreover, high-temperature aerobic composting under thermophilic phase can kill most pathogens and parasites' eggs [50].

Several researchers emphasized that compost is also an excellent material to use to prevent the acidification and the deterioration of soil productivity [8, 51–54]. Several factors including moisture content, temperature, aeration rate, and carbon to nitrogen ratio have direct influence on composting process, which has been reviewed in detail in the past.

Sludge stabilization by composting is considered the least expensive method used worldwide for the purpose of sludge utilization [47, 50, 55]. The sewage sludge can be applied to land directly after digestion and dewatering or after cocomposting with other materials. However, the temperature during composting has to be maintained over 55°C for at least 3 days. Composting, in general, requires huge spaces for operation, which is a major problem. The expansive land requirement for operation of composting increases the overall cost of treatment. Therefore, to lower the cost, the treatment facility can be constructed near the sewage treatment unit. In addition, the marketing of compost as a soil conditioner or fertilizer can further minimize the overall cost of composting. Most organic matter can be biodegraded more rapidly in the thermophilic stage caused by the high activity of microorganisms during the composting process. This stage can last for several weeks or months depending on the size of the system and the composition of the ingredients [51, 56]. DEHP is resistant to being fully biodegraded during the conventional sludge digestion process [57]; however, the biodegradation of DEHP can be stimulated by thermophilic aerobic sludge digestion (TAD) at the temperatures of approximately $60-70^{\circ}C$ [58]. Most microorganisms cannot survive under thermophilic condition and therefore are killed during thermophilic stage.

6 Biodegradation of DEHP in Composting Processes

Metabolic breakdown of PAEs by microorganisms is considered as one of the major routes of environmental degradation for these widespread pollutants [37]. Owing to the low vapor pressure and thermal stability of DEHP, volatilization may not occur in environmental systems. In other words, loss of DEHP caused by a physicochemical pathway was insignificantly compared to biodegradation [16, 40]. Cheng et al. observed that the loss of DEHP from the sterilized sludge cakes was negligible after the completion of 100 days of aeration experiments [44]. PAEs with shorter side alkyl chains are relatively water soluble, i.e., DBP and DEB are readily biodegradable under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Amir et al. [59] reported that DEHP underwent either a hydrolysis or de-esterification step to form monoesters (MEHP). Phthalic acid was produced after the biotransformation of MEHP. The rates of MEHP degradation were of the same order as those of DEHP, meaning that dealkylation and de-esterification were the major biodegradation mechanisms [59]. A list of DEHP biodegradation studies by composting are shown in Table 5. The concentrations of DEHP remained almost unchanged when composting time was extended in many investigations (more than 30 days). Other phenomena such as adsorption, assimilation, and the poly-condensation can also explain the reduction

Reference	Composting method	Feeding materials (bulking agent)	Organic pollutants	Degradation
Hartlieb et al. [60]	In-vessel composting (1.8 m ³)	Municipal biowaste (shredded shrubbery)	DEHP, pyrene and simazine	86% after 370 days
Moeller and Reech [61]	In-vessel composting (10 l, insulated)	Municipal solid waste (garden park waste)	DEHP (38–160 mg/kg dry weight in MSW compost)	96–99% after 25 days
		Sewage sludge (straw and garden park green waste)	DEHP (3–6 mg/kg dry weight in sewage sludge compost)	91% after 25 days
Marttinen et al. [17]	Compost bins (220 l) Rotary drum (5 m ³)	Raw municipal sewage sludge Anaerobically digested municipal sewage sludge (tree bark and peat)	DEHP (60 μg/g dry weight)	58% after 85 days 34% after 85 days
Amir et al. [59]	Platform (semi- industrial and industrial	Lagooning sludge (straw)	Phthalic acid esters (DEHP concentration 6.26 mg/kg)	91% after 180 days
	trials)	Activated sludge (grass)	Phthalic acid esters (DEHP concentration 28.67 mg/kg)	94% after 135 days
Cheng et al. [62]	In-vessel composting (110 l)	Sewage sludge (sawdust)	DEHP (333 mg/kg dry weight in sludge cake)	85–88% after 18 days

 Table 5
 Biodegradation of DEHP in composting processes

of DEHP detection. DEHP is adsorbed onto organic matter such as ligno-cellulosic fractions. The binding between DEHP and these organic matters can be very tight especially in the stabilization (maturated) phase.

6.1 Kinetics and the Influence of Experimental Parameters on DEHP Degradation

The first-order kinetic model was used in most cases to describe the behavior of DEHP degradation by various biological treatments under aerobic or anaerobic conditions [16, 41, 43, 63]. However, a simple first-order model is insignificant to describe the degradation of PAEs especially in long-term treatment trials, such as sludge-amended soil and composting. Poor regression values ($r^2 < 0.6$) were obtained when a simple first-order kinetic model was used to describe whole

degradation behavior with two distinct degradation phases. Roslev et al. [39] and Madsen et al. [38] proposed an empirical biphasic model with two independent kinetic expressions to describe the two distinct phases of DEHP degradation in sludge-amended soil. The initial DEHP mineralization activity was well described by first-order kinetics, and the mineralization of the long-term trials (>40 days) was described by fractional power kinetics.

The first-order and fractional power kinetics were also used to describe the behavior of DEHP biodegradation in the thermophilic phase, including the initial mesophilic phases (phase I) and the phase thereafter (phase II), respectively [62]. The fractional power kinetic model parameters, i.e., *K* and *N*, were calculated by (1)–(3) and derived from a plot of log (C/C_0) versus log(t). The half time ($t_{0.5}$) of DEHP degradation in phases I and II was calculated using first-order and fractional power kinetic equations (3), respectively.

$$\frac{C}{C_0} = Kt^{-N} \tag{1}$$

$$\log\left(\frac{C}{C_0}\right) = \log K - N\log t \tag{2}$$

$$t_{0.5} = 10^{(1/N\log(K/0.5))} \tag{3}$$

The degradation of DEHP is directly related to releasable TOCw, perhaps the presence of TOCw improved the solubility and microbial degradability under thermophilic conditions in several studies [61, 62]. Bauer and Herrmann [18] revealed that the elution of DEHP from MSW was facilitated by the presence of dissolved organic matter (DOM) even under anaerobic conditions.

7 Antibiotics in the Environment

Pharmaceutical antibiotics are widely used for the medical treatment of microbial infective diseases. Consequently, tons of antibiotics are annually administered to humans and animals [64]. It is estimated that there are approximately 200,000 pharmaceuticals on the world market. At present, the antibiotics use ranges from 100,000 to 200,000 t annually in the world of which 50–70% is used in the veterinary prophylaxis and/or as growth promoters in animal breeding. Recently, there has been an increasing and alarming concern about penetration of pharmaceuticals into the water and wastewater systems [65–67]. Most pharmaceutical antibiotics are designed to be quickly excreted from the treated body and are consequently entering into sewerage system either unaltered or as metabolites. Some of the excreted antibiotics at higher dosages are bioactive and recalcitrant [68]. On the other hand, antibiotics in the concentration below the lethal level are a

serious risk to health and to the environment due to the generation of drugresistance of pathogenic bacteria and bacterial resistance to disinfection products. A recent study reported that almost 100% samples taken from various parts of the hydrosphere contained trace concentrations of antibiotics [65].

The classification of antibiotics and the most popular antibiotic in its class are given in Table 6. Usually, the antibiotics excreted are partially metabolized and end up in sewage system. Some of the most commonly used antibiotics (e.g., sulfa drugs and β -lactam antibiotics) are difficult to biodegrade because of their complex structure, which protect them from the attack of wastewater biocoenosis. Moreover, the difficulty in biodegradation is also due to the lack of significant microorganism

Class of antibiotics	Name of the most commonly used antibiotic	Use
Aminoglycoside	Amikacin and gentamycin	Infections caused by Gram-negative bacteria such as <i>E. coli</i> and <i>Klebsiella</i>
Ansamycins	Geldanamycin	Antitumor antibiotics
Carbapenems	Ertapenam, doripenam, and meropenam	Bactericidal for both Gram-positive and Gram- negative organisms
Cephalosporin	Ceftiofur and cephapirin	Gastrointestinal upset, diarrhea, nausea and allergic reactions
Licosamides	Clindamycin and lincomycin	Serious staph-, pneumo-, and streptococcal infections in penicillin-allergic patients, also anaerobic infections
Lipopeptide	Daptomycin	Gram-positive organisms
Macrolide	Azithromycin, erithromycin, and telithromycin	Streptococcal infections, lower and upper respiratory tract infections and pneumonia
Nitrofurans	Furazolidone	Bacterial or protozoal diarrhea or enteritis
β-Lactam and penicillins	Amoxicillin, novamax	Wide range of streptococcal infections, syphilis and Lyme diseases
Polypeptides	Bacitracin, colistin, and polymyxin B	Eye, ear, or bladder infections
Quinolones	Ciprofloxacin, enoxacin, and levofloxacin	Urinary tract infections
Sulfanomides	Sulfadimethaoxine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxazole, sulfadiazine, and sulfathiazole	Urinary tract infections
Tetracycline	Demeclocycline, minocycline, and tetracycline	Syphilis, chlamydial infections and Lyme disease, mycoplasmal diseases and acne rickettsial infections
Others (against mycobacteria)	Clofazimine, ethionamide, and rifampicin	Gram-positive and mycobacteria

Table 6 Biodegradation of DEHP in composting processes

in the corresponding environment where the antibiotics are present. Therefore, a great portion of these compounds are not removed by classical sewage and wastewater treatment plants and are eventually accumulate either in sewage sludge due to high hydrophobicity or discharged into receiving waters. These effects lead to significant persistency of several antibiotics in various environments [69].

On the other hand, significant quantity of antibiotics are used as feed supplements to promote the growth of domestic animals and their dosage ranging from 3 to 220 g/kg of feed depending on type and size of animals and the nature of antibiotics. Several investigations pointed out that as much as 70–90% of some antibiotics maybe excreted as the parent compound in manures [70–72]. Generally, manures from various sources are rich in nutrients (e.g., animal wastes from livestock forming); so, the land application of manures without intensive treatment is a common practice in many parts of the world. It has been shown that antibiotics generally remain stable during manure storage and end up in agricultural fields in manure applications. Due to this, residues of the antibiotics were found in soils and adjacent areas [73]. Therefore, agricultural application of manures containing antibiotics is also one of the dominating pathways for the release of antibiotics into the terrestrial environment (e.g., soil).

8 Biodegradation of Antibiotics in Composting Processes

At present, the antibiotics principally originating from either human pharmaceutical entering the environment via wastewater treatment plans and/or from veterinary antibiotics (VAs) entering the environment via application of animal manures and manure-based composts to agricultural lands are generating serious threat to the environment. Composting process involves diverse variety of microorganisms, which eventually is the most preferable process for removing antibiotics from soils, sediments, and manures. Some of the composting investigations carried out in the recent past are shown in Table 7. Commercial compost generally consists of 30-50% animal manures with the remaining material being composed of organic material such as sawdust, husks, and oil cake [77]. Some researchers pointed out that the concentrations of VAs decreased significantly during the incubation of manures. For instance, the concentration of chlortetracycline (CTC) was reduced by 92% in poultry manure and 27% in pig manure during incubation under aerobic conditions [70]. The observed decreases were due to the adsorption and/or complexation of VAs to organic compounds and divalent cations present in manures. During composting more VA adsorption sites are generated (as part of the process and due to the feed matrix) [60], and consequently, extractable concentrations of VAs and their metabolites decline with time in high organic matrix [78]. Kim et al. [65] investigated the decline in extractable tetracycline (CTC), sulfonamides (SMZ), and macrolides (TYL) during composting. After composting for 5-6 weeks in batch reactors, the concentration of all three VAs declined below the relevant Korean guideline values. The mineralization of antibiotics during

Table 7 Rece	at investigations on biodegra	adation of antibiotic	cs in composting process		
Reference	Composting method	Feeding materials	Target antibiotics	Operating condition	Outcomes
Dolliver et al. [74]	Managed pile (12 m ³) and also in vessel composting units (rotating drum type)	Turkey manure	Chlortetracycline (CTC), monensin, sulfamethazine (SMZ) and tylosin (TYL)	Initial extractable concentration of targets: CTC—1.5 mg/kg; monensin—11.9 mg/kg; TYL—3.7 mg/kg; SMZ— 10.8 mg/kg	 Total-extractable CTC concentration declined rapidly compared to other antibiotics CTC decline over 99% in 35 days First-order decay of the antibiotics was observed antibiotics was observed than managed pile and in- vessel composting Low-level manure
					metagement anter an mutat moisture adjustment was suggested as the practical option for manure management
Bao et al. [70]	Lab-scale in-vessel composting (20–251 identical lab vessels)	Broiler manure, layer-hen manure, and hog manure	Chlortetracycline (CTC)	CTC initial concentration: 94.71 mg/kg in broiler manure and 879.6 mg/kg in hog manure; Manure turned every day for first 28 and 4 days once subsequently	 More than 90% CTC depleted in 42 days of composting Removal is less in hog manure (only 27%) Half-lives of CTC: 11, 86.6 and 12.2 days in broiler manure, hog manure, and layer-hen manure, respectively, according to first-order kinetics

130
composting is due to the release of different hydrolytic enzymes (protease, lipase, and cellulose) by microorganisms [79].

Antibiotics removal during composting may occur due to hydrolysis, biodegradation, and sorption to composting feed matrix. Sorption to the composting feed matrix leads to an overestimation of the efficiency of the system to antibiotics removal and to the release of persistent molecules after biomass death [80]. The "carbon dioxide (CO₂)-evolution test," formerly known as "Modified Sturm test" allows the evolution of the biodegradability of the antibiotics via the measure of the produced CO₂ [81]. In this test, the CO₂ produced by microbial activity was trapped in a solution of barium hydroxide (Ba(OH)₂) which precipitate as barium carbonate in the presence of CO₂. The remaining barium hydroxide is titrated with standard HCl, and the mass of CO₂ produced ($m_{CO_2,P}$) during composting is estimated (4). In the similar way, the mass of CO₂ produced from the control composting runs can also be calculated ($m_{CO_2,PE}$). In addition, the theoretical mass of carbon ($m_{CO_2,theo}$) which can be produced from the target antibiotic(s) (m_{CiTC}) and composting feedstock (m_{CiRC}) can be calculated from (5). From (4) and (5), the biodegradation percentage of the antibiotics can be calculated from (6).

$$m_{\rm CO_2,P} = (C_{\rm Ba(OH)_2)} V_{\rm (Ba(OH)_2)} - C_{\rm HCl} V_{\rm HCl}) \times 44$$
(4)

$$m_{\rm CO_2, theo} = \left(\frac{(m_{\rm CiTC} + m_{\rm CiRC}) \times 44}{12}\right) \tag{5}$$

Biod (%) =
$$\left(\frac{m_{\text{CO}_2,\text{P}} - m_{\text{CO}_2,\text{PE}}}{m_{\text{CO}_2,\text{theo}}}\right) \times 100$$
 (6)

9 Summary and Conclusion

The presence of DOM can alter the partitioning behavior and the solubility of DEHP in the dissolved phase. Moreover, DEHP has the tendency to adsorb quantitatively onto solid particles especially when particulate matter is present. In composting, the rate of DEHP degradation was more rapid in the thermophilic phase compared to mesophilic phase. However, the degradation of DEHP was not directly related to releasable TOCw due to the presence of TOCw improving the solubility and microbial degradability under thermophilic conditions. Moreover, DEHP degradation was in good correlation with VS, TC, and TN in most of the studies. DEHP degradation could be well fitted using two-phase degradation kinetics, i.e., rapid initial phase expressed using first-order kinetics and subsequent slow phase could be explained by fractional power kinetics. However, active composting microorganisms involved in DEHP degradation can be useful resources for the biodegradation of DEHP, and similar compounds are present in industrial wastewater and sediment. Antibiotics from human pharmaceutical and from VAs pose serious threat to the environment. Composting is an effective process for the mineralization/treatment of antibiotics, and it is mainly due to the release of different hydrolytic enzymes (protease, lipase, and cellulose) by microorganisms. The quantification of total organic carbon utilized during composting is essential to exactly identify the degree of treatment achieved especially in case of hydrophobic HOMs and antibiotics. Further research is required to identify the microorganisms, the enzymes, and other specific factors such as degradation, mineralization, or sorption that are involved in the mitigation of HOMs and antibiotics concentrations in soils/sediments/manure during composting.

References

- 1. Cheng HF, Chen SY, Lin JG (2001) Hazardous organic matters in municipal sewage sludge in Taiwan. Water Sci Technol 44:65–70
- 2. Litz NTh (2000) Harmful organic constituents in sewage sludge and their assessment of relevance. In: Specialized conference on disposal and utilization of sewage sludge: treatment methods and application modalities, Athens, October 13–15
- 3. Rogers HR (1996) Sources, behavior and fate of organic contaminants during sewage sludges. Sci Total Environ 185:3–26
- Schnaak W, Kuchler T, Kujawa M, Henschel KP, Sußenbach D, Donau R (1997) Organic contaminants in sewage sludge and their ecotoxicological significance in the agricultural utilization of sewage sludge. Chemosphere 35:5–11
- Fauser P, Vikelsøe J, Sørensen PB, Carlsen L (2003) Phthalates, nonylphenols and LAS in an alternately operated wastewater treatment plant – fate modeling based on measured concentrations in wastewater and sludge. Water Res 37:1288–1295
- 6. Kuch HM, Ballschmiter K (2000) Determination of endogenous and exogenous estrogens in effluents from sewage treatment plants at the ng/L-level. Fresen J Anal Chem 366:392–395
- 7. Lin JG, Arunkumar R, Liu CH (1999) Efficiency of supercritical fluid extraction for determining 4-nonylphenol in the municipal sewage sludge. J Chromatogr A 840:71–79
- 8. Fürhacker M, Haberl R (1995) Composting of sewage sludge in a rotating vessel. Water Sci Technol 32:121–125
- 9. O'Connor GA (1996) Organic compounds in sludge-amended soils and their potential for uptake by crop plants. Sci Total Environ 185:71–81
- Ejlertsson J, Alnervik M, Jonsson S, Svensson BH (1997) Influence of water solubility, sidechain structure on the degradation of phthalic acid esters under methanogenic conditions. Environ Sci Technol 31:2761–2764
- 11. Wilson SC, Alcock RE, Sewart AP, Jones KC (1997) Persistence of organic contaminants in sewage sludge-amended soil: A field experiment. J Environ Qual 26:1467–1477
- Mangas E, Vaquero MT, Comllas L, Broto-Puig F (1998) Analysis and fate of aliphatic hydrocarbons, linear alkylbenzenes, polychlorinated biphenyls and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sewage sludge-amended soils. Chemosphere 36:61–72
- Fromme H, Küchler T, Otto T, Pilz K, Müller J, Wenzel A (2002) Occurrence of phthalates and bisphenol A and F in the environment. Water Res 36:1429–1438
- 14. Petersen SO, Henriksen K, Mortensen GK, Krogh PH, Brandt KK, Sørensen J, Madsen T, Petersen J, Grøn C (2003) Recycling of sewage sludge and household compost to arable land: fate and effects of organic contaminants, and impact on soil fertility. Soil Tillage Res 72:139–152

- 15. Aparicio I, Santos JL, Alonso E (2007) Simultaneous sonication-assisted extraction, and determination by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry, of di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate, nonylphenol, nonylphenol ethoxylates and polychlorinated biphenyls in sludge from wastewater treatment plants. Anal Chim Acta 584:455–461
- Staples CA, Peterson DR, Parkerton TF, Adams WJ (1997) The environmental fate of phthalate esters: a literature review. Chemosphere 35:667–749
- Marttinen SK, Hanninen K, Rintala JA (2004) Removal of DEHP in composting and aeration of sewage sludge. Chemosphere 54:265–272
- Bauer MJ, Herrmann R (1997) Estimation of the environmental contamination by phthalic acid esters leaching from household waters. Sci Total Environ 208:49–57
- Cadogan DF, Papez M, Poppe AC, Scheubel J (1993) An assessment of the release, occurrence and possible effect of plasticizers in the environment. Prog Rubber Plast Techol 10:1–19
- Lundanes E, Jara S, Lysebo C, Greibrokk T (2000) Determination of phthalates in water samples using polystyrene solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography quantification. Anal Chim Acta 407:165–171
- DeFoe DL, Holcombe GW, Hammermeister DE, Beisinger KE (1990) Solubility and toxicity of eight phthalate esters to four aquatic organisms. Environ Toxicol Chem 9:623–636
- 22. Gibbons JA, Alexander M (1989) Microbial degradation of sparingly soluble organic chemicals: phthalate esters. Environ Toxicol Chem 8:283–291
- Howard PH (1991) Handbook of environmental fate and exposure data for organic chemicals, vol I: Large production and priority pollutants. Lewis, Chelsea, pp 107–292
- 24. Rhodes JE, Adams WJ, Biddinger GR, Robillard KA, Gorsuch JG (1995) Chronic toxicity of 14 phthalate esters to *Daphnia magna* and Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Environ Toxicol Chem 14:1967–1976
- 25. Sablayrolles C, Montréjaud-Vignoles M, Benanou D, Patria L, Treilhou M (2005) Development and validation of methods for the trace determination of phthalate in sludge and vegetables. J Chrom 1072:233–242
- 26. Bagó B, Martín Y, Mejía G, Broto-Puig F, Díaz-Ferrero J, Agut M, Comellas L (2005) Di-(2ethylhexyl) phthalate in sewage sludge and post-treated sludge: Quantitative determination by HRGC-MS and mass spectral characterization. Chemosphere 59:1191–1195
- Jasen J, Jepsen S (2005) The production, use and quality of sewage sludge in Denmark. Waste Manag 25:239–247
- Irvine RL, Earley JP, Kehrberger GJ, Delaney BT (1993) Bioremediation of soils contaminated with bis-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (BEHP) in a soil slurry-sequencing batch reactor. Environ Progr 12:39–44
- 29. Brown D, Croudance CP, Williams NJ, Shearing JM, Johnson PA (1998) The effect of phthalate ester plasticisers tested as surfactant stabilized dispersions on the reproduction of the *Daphnia Magna*. Chemosphere 36:1367–1379
- Adams WJ, Biddinger GR, Robillard KA, Gorsuch JW (1995) A summary of the acute toxicity of 14 phthalate-esters to representative aquatic organisms. Environ Toxicol Chem 14:1569–1574
- Wilkinson CF, Lamb JC IV (1999) The potential health effects of phthalate esters in children's toys: a review and risk assessment. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 30:140–155
- 32. Huber WW, Grasl KB, Schulte HR (1996) Hepatocarcinogenic potential of di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in rodents and its implications on human risk. Crit Rev Toxicol 26:365–481
- 33. Koch HM, Rossbach B, Drexler H, Angerer J (2003) Internal exposure of the general population to DEHP and other phthalates – determination of secondary and primary phthalate monoester metabolites in urine. Environ Res 93:177–185
- 34. Turner T, Rawling MC (2000) The behavior of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in estuaries. Mar Chem 68:203–217
- Ohlenbusch G, Kumke MU, Frimmel FH (2000) Sorption of phenols to dissolved organic matter investigated by solid phase microextraction. Sci Total Environ 253:63–74
- Shelton DR, Boyd SA, Tiedje JM (1984) Anaerobic biodegradation of phthalic acid esters in sludge. Environ Sci Technol 18:93–97

- Wang JL, Liu P, Qian Y (1995) Microbial degradation of di-n-butyl phthalate. Chemosphere 31:4051–4056
- Madsen PL, Thyme JB, Henriksen K, Møldrup P, Roslev P (1999) Kinetics of di-(2ethylhexyl) phthalate mineralization in sludge-amended soil. Environ Sci Technol 33:2601–2606
- 39. Roslev P, Madesn PL, Thyme JB, Henriksen K (1998) Degradation of phthalate and di-(2ethylhexyl) phthalate by indigenous and inoculated microorganisms in sludge-amended soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:4711–4719
- 40. Wang JL, Liu P, Shi HC, Qian Y (1997) Biodegradation of phthalic acid ester in soil by indigenous and introduced microorganisms. Chemosphere 35:1747–1754
- 41. Yan H, Ye C, Yin C (1995) Kinetics of phthalate ester biodegradation by *Chlorella* pyrenoidsa. Environ Toxicol Chem 14:931–938
- 42. Ejlertsson J, Svensson BH (1995) A review of the possible degradation of polyvinyl chloride (PVC) plastics and its components phthalic acids esters and vinyl chloride under anaerobic conditions prevailing in landfills. Dept. of Water and Environmental Studies, Linkoping University, Linkoping, p 20
- Wang JL, Chen LJ, Shi HC, Qian Y (2000) Microbial degradation of phthalic acid esters under anaerobic digestion of sludge. Chemosphere 41:1245–1248
- Cheng HF, Chen SY, Lin JG (2000) Biodegradation of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in sewage sludge. Water Sci Technol 41:1–6
- 45. Klinge C, Gejlsbjerg B, Ekelund F, Madsen T (2001) Effects of sludge-amendment on mineralization of pyrene and microorganisms in sludge and soil. Chemosphere 45:625–634
- 46. Epstein E (1997) The science of composting. Technomic Publishing Company, Lancaster
- Hassouneh O, Jamrah A, Qaisi K (1999) Sludge stabilization by composting: a Jordanian case study. Bioprocess Eng 20:413–421
- Walker LP, Nock TD, Gossett JM, VanderGheynst JS (1999) The role of periodic agitation and water addition in managing moisture limitations during high-solids aerobic decomposition. Process Biochem 34:601–612
- 49. Aggslides SM, Londra PA (2000) Effects of compost produced from town wastes and sewage sludge on the physical properties of a loamy and a clay soil. Bioresour Technol 71:253–259
- Wei YS, Fan YB, Wang MJ, Wang JS (2000) Composting and compost application in China. Resour Conserv Recycl 30:277–300
- Fang M, Wong JWC, Ma KK, Wong MH (1999) Co-composting of sewage sludge and coal fly ash: nutrient transformations. Bioresour Technol 67:19–24
- Qiao L, Ho G (1997) The effects of clay amendment on composting of digested sludge. Water Res 31:1056–1064
- 53. Said-Pullicino D, Erriquens FG, Gigliotti G (2006) Changes in the chemical characteristics of water-extractable organic matter during composting and their influence on compost stability and maturity. Bioresour Technol. doi:10.1016/j.biortech. 2006.06.018
- 54. Yamada Y, Kawase Y (2006) Aerobic composting of waste activated sludge: kinetic analysis for microbiological reaction and oxygen consumption. Waste Manage 26:49–61
- Kim DS, Kim JO, Lee JJ (2000) Aerobic composting performance and simulation of mixed sludges. Bioprocess Eng 22:533–537
- 56. Lazzari L, Sperni L, Salizzato M, Pavoni B (1999) Gas chromatographic determination of organic micropollutants in samples of sewage sludge and compost: behavior of PCB and PAH during composting. Chemosphere 38:1925–1935
- 57. Cheng HF, Kumar M, Lin JG (2010) Assessment of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) removal in attached growth and suspended growth biological treatment systems of a municipal sewage treatment plant. Sep Sci Technol 45:221–227
- Banat FA, Prechtl S, Bischof F (1999) Experimental assessment of bio-reduction of di-2ethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) under aerobic thermophilic conditions. Chemosphere 39:2097–2106
- Amir S, Hafidi M, Merlina G, Hamdi H, Jouraiphy A, Gharous ME, Revel JC (2005) Fate of phthalic acid esters during composting of both lagooning and activated sludges. Process Biochem 40:2183–2190

- 60. Hartlieb N, Ertunc T, Schaeffer A, Klein W (2003) Mineralization, metabolism and formation of non-extractable residues of ₁₄C-labelled organic contaminants during pilot-scale composting of municipal biowaste. Environ Pollut 126:83–91
- Moeller J, Reech U (2003) Degradation of DEHP, PAHs and LAS in source separated MSW and sewage sludge during composting. Compos Sci Utiliz 11:370–378
- 62. Cheng HF, Kumar M, Lin JG (2008) Degradation kinetics of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) and organic matter of sewage sludge during in-vessel composting. J Hazard Mater 145(1-3):55–62
- Gavala HN, Alatriste-Mondragon F, Iranpour R, Ahring BK (2003) Biodegradation of phthalate esters during the mesophilic anaerobic digestion of sludge. Chemosphere 52:673–682
- Thiele-Bruhn S (2003) Pharmaceutical antibiotic compounds in soils a review. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 166:145–167
- 65. Kummerer K (2009) Antibiotics in the aquatic environment a review Part I. Chemosphere 75:417–434
- 66. Sarmah AK, Meyer MT, Boxall ABA (2006) A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (Vas) in the environment. Chemosphere 65:725–759
- 67. Ziemianska J, Adamek E, Sobczak A, Lipska I, Makowski A, Baran W (2010) The study of photocatalytic degradation of sulfonamides applied to municipal wastewater. Physicochem Probl Miner Process 45:127–140
- Colinas C, Ingham E, Molina R (1994) Population responses of target and non-target forest soil-organisms to selected biocides. Soil Biol Biochem 26:41–47
- 69. Vieno N, Tuhkanen T, Kronberg L (2007) Elimination of pharmaceuticals in sewage treatment plants in Finland. Water Res 41:1001–1012
- Bao Y, Zhou Q, Guan L, Wang Y (2009) Depletion of chlortetracycline during composting of aged spiked manures. Waste Manage 29:1416–1423
- Kumar K, Gupta SC, Baidoo KS, Chander Y, Rosen CJ (2005) Antibiotic uptake by plants from soil fertilized with animal manure. J Environ Qual 34:2082–2086
- 72. Philips I, Casewell M, Cox T, Degroot B, Friis C, Jones R, Nightingale C, Preston R, Waddell J (2004) Does the use of antibiotics in food animals pose a risk to human health? A critical review of published data. J Antimicrob Chemother 53:28–52
- Roman H, Thomas T, Klaus H, Kari-Ludwig K (1999) Occurrence of antibiotics in the aquatic environment. Sci Total Environ 225:109–118
- 74. Dolliver H, Gupta S, Noll S (2008) Antibiotic degradation during manure composting. J Environ Qual 37:1245–1253
- Ramaswamy J, Prasher SO, Patel RM, Hussain SA, Barrington SF (2010) The effect of composting on the degradation of a veterinary pharmaceutical. Biores Technol 101:2294–2299
- 76. Kim K-R, Owens G, Ok YS, Park W-K, Lee DB, Kwon S-I (2012) Decline of extractable antibiotics in manure-based composts during composting. Waste Manage 32:110–116
- 77. Nonghyup (2007) The list and application guideline for the production companies of composts and organic fertilizers. Nonghyup, Seoul
- Arikan OA, Mulbry W, Rice C (2009) Management of antibiotic residues from agricultural sources: use of composting to reduce chlortetracycline residues in beef manure from treated animals. J Hazard Mater 164:483–489
- Mondini C, Farnasier F, Sinicco T (2004) Enzymatic activity as a parameter for the characterization of the composting process. Soil Biol Biochem 36:1587–1594
- Jelic A, Gros M, Ginebreda A, Cespedes-Sanchez R, Ventura F, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2011) Occurrence, partition and removal of pharmaceuticals in sewage water and sludge during wastewater treatment. Water Res 45:1165–1176
- Prado N, Ochoa J, Amrane A (2009) Biodegradation by activated sludge and toxicity of tetracycline into a semi-industrial membrane bioreactor. Bioresour Technol 100:3769–3774

Fungal-Mediated Degradation of Emerging Pollutants in Sewage Sludge

C.E. Rodríguez-Rodríguez, G. Caminal, T. Vicent, M.S. Díaz-Cruz, E. Eljarrat, M. Farré, M.J. López de Alda, M. Petrović, and D. Barceló

G. Caminal

Grupo de biocatalisis Aplicada y biodegradación, IQAC-CSIC, C/Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

T. Vicent (⊠)

Departament d'Enginyeria Química, Escola d'Enginyeria, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: Teresa.Vicent@uab.cat

M.S. Díaz-Cruz, E. Eljarrat, M. Farré and M.J. López de Alda Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA), Spanish Council for Scientific Research (CSIC), Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

M. Petrović Institució Catalana de Reserca i Estudis Avançats (ICREA), Passeig Lluis Companys 23, 80010 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), H2O Building, Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona, 101-E-17003 Girona, Spain

D. Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA), Spanish Council for Scientific Research (CSIC), Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), H2O Building, Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona, 101-E-17003 Girona, Spain

T. Vicent et al. (eds.), *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and* 137 *Biological Treatment*, Hdb Env Chem (2013) 24: 137–164, DOI 10.1007/698_2012_159, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012, Published online: 19 June 2012

C.E. Rodríguez-Rodríguez

Unitat Asociada de Biocatàlisi Aplicada IQAC-CSIC, Escola d'Enginyeria, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain

Centro de Investigación en Contaminación Ambiental, Universidad de Costa Rica, 2060 San José, Costa Rica

Abstract This chapter summarizes the novel approaches employed for the removal of emerging pollutants from sludge by means of fungal processes. The first part of the chapter introduces the potential application of fungi in bioremediation, which sets the background for the next chapters of the book. This includes a description of the fungal enzymatic systems usually involved in the oxidation of pollutants, as well as a brief review of the wide range of contaminants so far known to be degraded by fungi. The second half of the chapter presents the state of the art in application of fungi to remove emerging pollutants in sludge which, due to its novelty, is reduced to only a few reports performed in solid-phase and slurry reactors with *Trametes versicolor*, mostly under sterile conditions. Data available include several emerging pollutants which were grouped according to their function or activity: pharmaceutical compounds (26 drugs), brominated flame retardants (6), UV filters (7) and estrogens (3). Finally some considerations about the residual toxicity of the processes are discussed.

Keywords Biodegradation, Emerging pollutants, Sewage sludge, *Trametes versicolor*, White-rot fungi

Contents

1	Introduction	139
2	White-Rot Fungi	141
	2.1 Enzymatic System of WRF	141
3	Treatment of Sludge by Fungi	144
	3.1 Solid-Phase Treatment	145
	3.2 Bioslurry Treatment	153
4	Concluding Remarks	158
Ref	ferences	160

Abbreviations and Symbols

4DHB	4,4'-Dihydroxybenzophenone
4-MBC	3-(4-Methylbenzylidene) camphor
ABTS	2,2'-Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid)
AS	Activated sludge
BFR	Brominated flame retardants
BP1	Benzophenone-1
BP3	Benzophenone-3
COD	Chemical oxygen demand
DDE	Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene
DDT	Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
Deca-BDE-209	Deca-bromodiphenyl ether
DecaBDEthane	Deca-bromodiphenyl ethane

DGGE	Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis
DMP	2,6-Dimethoxyphenol
DNT	2,4-Dinitrotoluene
dw	Dry weight
E1	Estrone
E2	17β-Estradiol
E3	Estriol
EDC	Endocrine disrupting compound
EE2	17-α-Ethinylestradiol
EHMC	Ethylhexyl-methoxycinnamate
HBT	1-Hydroxybenzotriazole
Hepta-BDE-183	2,2',3,4,4',5',6-Hepta-bromodiphenyl ether
Hexa-BDE-154	2,2',4,4',5,6'-Hexa-bromodiphenyl ether
LiP	Lignin peroxidase
LMEs	Lignin-modifying enzymes
LMPs	Lignin-modifying peroxidases
MBR	Membrane bioreactor
MnP	Manganese peroxidase
n.d.	Not detected
NCPA	<i>N</i> -(4-Cyanophenyl)acetohydroxamic acid
ND24	Naproxen degradation test
NHA	N-Hydroxyacetanilide
OC	Octocrylene
OD-PABA	Octyl-dimethyl-p-aminobenzoic acid
PAH	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
PBDEs	Polybrominated diphenyl ethers
Penta-BDE-99	2,2',4,4',5-Penta-bromodiphenyl ether
PhC	Pharmaceutical compounds
RDX	Cyclotrimethylenetrinitramine
RSD	Relative standard deviation
Tetra-BDE-47	2,2',4,4'-Tetra-bromodiphenyl ether
TNT	2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene
U	Activity units
UV-F	Ultra-violet filters
VP	Versatile peroxidase
WRF	White-rot fungi
WSP	Wheat straw pellets
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

1 Introduction

The concept of developing a technology for the environmental application of fungi, particularly white-rot fungi (WRF) appeared in the 1980s [1]. Since then, the development of biotechnologies using WRF has been studied to treat a wide variety

of wastes and their role in the bioremediation of hazardous compounds in soils has been established. Most studies on bioremediation have focused on bacteria as degraders because of their rapid growth, and their usual ability to employ the pollutants as only substrates. Bacterial degradation of xenobiotics differs from WRF-mediated degradation: while bacteria usually employ the pollutants as nutrient sources (C and N), in WRF oxidation by means of their lignin-modifying enzymes (LMEs) yields no net energy, and the degradation becomes a co-metabolic process in which additional C and N sources are required [2]. This capacity represents an advantage respect bacteria-mediated approaches as it prevents the need to internalize the pollutant into the cell, therefore permitting to attack low soluble compounds and avoiding toxicity problems.

The capacity of WRF to transform and mineralize a wide range of pollutants without a preconditioning period via co-metabolic pathways makes them interesting for the degradation of recalcitrant xenobiotics. The use of WRF and their LMEs for the removal of xenobiotics has been reviewed elsewhere [1-7].

Chemicals degraded by WRF include pesticides such as organochlorines DDT and its very toxic metabolite DDE [8, 9] and organophosphate pesticides such as chlorpyrifos, fonofos and terbufos [10]; polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) of different degrees of chlorine substitution [11–13], some even to mineralization [14, 15]; diverse polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in liquid media and from contaminated soils or in complex mixtures such as creosote [16–18]; components of munition wastes including TNT and its metabolites DNT [19–23], nitroglycerin [24] and RDX [25].

Specific effluents have also been subjected to WRF-mediated remediation studies. Decolourization, dechlorination and detoxification of highly toxic bleach plant effluents derived from the pulp and paper industry have been reported [26–28], while degradation and decolourization of synthetic dyes due to the non-specificity of the LMEs have been widely documented [29, 30]. Likewise, treatment of the acidic, phenolic-rich olive oil mill wastewater has shown COD reduction, decolourization and dephenolization [31–34].

More recently, research moved towards the application of WRF to remove the so-called emerging pollutants. From these organic contaminants, the endocrine disrupting compounds (EDC) comprise the most studied group. Removal of EDC has been demonstrated in aqueous phase and soil with WRF and LMEs [5, 35, 36], and even some work has been conducted at different reactor scale configurations [37–40]. On the contrary, approaches on the removal of pharmaceutical compounds (PhC) are incipient, and most of the work has been performed in liquid media, aiming at demonstrating the ability of WRF to degrade the xenobiotics. Reports include the degradation of analgesics [41–46], antibiotics [47–49], psychiatric drugs [50–52] and lipid regulators [45, 46]. Similar is the panorama of brominated flame retardants (BFR) [53–55] and UV-filters (UV-F) [56], whose degradation by WRF has been barely studied.

2 White-Rot Fungi

WRF comprise an ecophysiological group of fungi capable to biodegrade lignin. Taxonomically WRF include mostly basidiomycetes and some ascomycetes [57]. As the most significant lignin degraders among the wood-inhabiting microorganisms, WRF present an extracellular oxidative system employed in the primary attack of lignin and its posterior mineralization [58] in a non-specific and non-selective mechanism. This enzymatic system includes LMEs, which are extracellular and metal-containing oxidoreductases, especially peroxidases and laccases. The extracellular enzymes generate diffusible oxidizing agents that attack the molecules, many of these being activated oxygen species [59, 60]. The reactions they catalyze include lignin polymerization and dimethoxylation, decarboxylation, hydroxylation and breakdown of aromatic rings.

WRF show several features which make them interesting agents for potential use in bioremediation: (1) their enzymatic system is highly non-specific and therefore able to oxidize a wide range of pollutants; (2) the main enzymes are produced constitutively, thus reducing the need to adaptation at polluted sites or matrices; (3) most oxidative enzymes are extracellular, which permits the degradation of low solubility contaminants; (4) the wide distribution and hyphae-growth facilitate colonization and access to sequestered pollutants; (5) inexpensive lignocellulosic wastes can be employed as substrate/carrier for growth/inoculation of WRF, as they are also necessary as nutrient source during co-metabolic removal of organopollutants.

2.1 Enzymatic System of WRF

2.1.1 Lignin-Modifying Enzymes

Decomposition of lignin is possible thanks to the production of LMEs. WRF secrete mainly two different groups of LMEs, laccases and lignin-modifying peroxidases (LMPs), particularly lignin peroxidase (LiP), manganese peroxidase (MnP) and versatile peroxidase (VP), which act synergistically during lignin degradation [61]. The main difference is the electron acceptor, O_2 for laccases and H_2O_2 for peroxidases. Besides the fungal oxidative enzymes, the reactions of lignin biodegradation also involve secreted fungal metabolites like phenolic and other aromatic compounds, peptides, organic acids and lignocellulose-derived compounds and metal ions [61, 62].

The secretion pattern is species dependent; different WRF species produce various combinations of the main lignin degrading enzymes (LiP, MnP and laccase). According to their production, WRF can be grouped in three categories [63]: LiP–MnP group, like *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*; MnP-laccase group,

including *Trametes versicolor*, *Dichomitus squalens*, *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora*, *Pleurotus ostreatus*, *Lentinus edodes* and *Panus tigrinus*; LiP-laccase group, like *Phlebia ochraceofulva*. An additional group, the laccase-aryl alcoholoxidase group, has also been proposed.

The production of ligninolytic enzymes takes place during the secondary metabolism of several WRF. The lignin degrading system is induced when starvation of C or N occurs; moreover, agitation and temperature can significantly affect the levels of these enzymes; factors affecting LMEs are reviewed by Gao et al. [1].

Laccase

Fungal laccases (benzenediol:oxygen oxidoreductase, EC 1.10.3.2) belong to the multicopper blue phenoloxidases. They comprise glycosylated proteins expressed in multiple forms and variable molecular weight, ranging from 59 to 110 kDa. Laccase is expressed as multiple constitutive and induced isoenzymes [30, 64]. The enzyme contains four copper atoms (Cu), in different states of oxidation (I, II, III) [65], which play an important role in the catalytic mechanism. Laccase oxidizes different compounds while reducing O_2 to H_2O , a total reduction of four electrons.

The low specificity of electron-donating substrates is remarkable for laccases. These enzymes have high redox potential, making them able to oxidize a broad range of aromatic compounds (e.g. phenols, polyphenols, methoxy-substituted phenols, aromatic amines, benzenethiols) through the use of oxygen as electron acceptor. Other enzymatic reactions they catalyze include decarboxylations and demethylations [66].

The catalytic cycle of laccase includes several one-electron transfers between a suitable substrate and the copper atoms, with the concomitant reduction of an oxygen molecule to water during the sequential oxidation of four substrate molecules [66]. With this mechanism, laccases generate phenoxy radicals that undergo non-enzymatic reactions [65]. Multiple reactions lead finally to polymerization, alkyl-aryl cleavage, quinone formation, C_{∞} -oxidation or demethoxylation of the phenolic reductant [67].

Reported redox potentials of laccases are lower than those of non-phenolic compounds, and therefore these enzymes cannot oxidize such substances [7]. However, it has been shown that in the presence of small molecules capable to act as electron transfer mediators, laccases are also able to oxidize non-phenolic structures [68, 69]. As part of their metabolism, WRF can produce several metabolites that play this role of laccase mediators. They include compounds such as *N*-hydroxyacetanilide (NHA), *N*-(4-cyanophenyl)acetohydroxamic acid (NCPA), 3-hydroxyanthranilate, syringaldehyde, 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylben-zothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS), 2,6-dimethoxyphenol (DMP), violuric acid, 1-hydroxybenzotriazole (HBT), 2,2,6,6-tetramethylpipperidin-*N*-oxide radical and acetovanillone, and by expanding the range of compounds that can be oxidized, their presence enhances the degradation of pollutants [3].

Peroxidases

The class II secreted fungal heme peroxidases include the LMPs LiP, MnP and VP [70]. All of these enzymes are extracellular and contain protoporphyrin IX (heme) as prosthetic group. They use H_2O_2 or organic hydroperoxides as electron accepting cosubstrates during the oxidation of diverse compounds. They are secreted as glycosilated, 35–38 kDa size proteins.

The classical peroxidative catalytic cycle involves the formation of a so-called compound I intermediate product of the binding of the hydrogen peroxide to the heme group of the enzyme and the subsequent release of a water molecule. The cycle operates through a second intermediate, compound II, to the resting state enzyme by two individual one-electron withdrawals from the reducing substrates [70].

LiP (EC 1.11.1.14) and MnP (EC 1.11.1.13) were first described in the WRF *P*. *chrysosporium* in the 1980s [71].

MnP is the most commonly widespread of the class II peroxidases [72, 73]. It catalyzes a H_2O_2 -dependent oxidation of Mn^{2+} to Mn^{3+} . The catalytic cycle is initiated by binding of H_2O_2 or an organic peroxide to the native ferric enzyme and formation of an iron-peroxide complex; the Mn^{3+} ions finally produced after subsequent electron transfers are stabilized via chelation with organic acids like oxalate, malonate, malate, tartrate or lactate [74]. The chelates of Mn^{3+} with carboxylic acids cause one-electron oxidation of various substrates; thus, chelates and carboxylic acids can react with each other to form alkyl radicals, which after several reactions result in the produced peroxides and are used by MnP in the absence of H_2O_2 . The versatile oxidative capacity of MnP is apparently due to the chelated Mn^{3+} ions, which act as diffusible redox-mediator and attacking, non-specifically, phenolic compounds such as biopolymers, milled wood, humic substances and several xenobiotics [72, 75, 76].

LiPs are secreted as multiple isozymes and isoforms. They are catalytically the most powerful fungal peroxidase and have the ability to directly oxidize dimeric lignin model compounds. In the presence of H_2O_2 , LiP catalyzes oxidation of an endogenously generated low-molecular-mass redox mediator veratryl alcohol (the preferred aromatic electron donor [77]), which subsequently generates aryl cation radicals through one-electron oxidations of non-phenolic aromatic nuclei in lignin. These are then degraded to aromatic and aliphatic products, which are mineralized intracellularly. The produced radicals can participate in diverse reactions, including benzylic alcohol oxidation, carbon–carbon bond cleavage, hydroxylation, phenol dimerization/polymerization and demethylation [2]. The substrate oxidation capacity of LiP includes the bleaching of coloured compounds, depolymerization of synthetic lignin and transformation of organopollutants such as PAHs, chlorophenols and explosives [78–81].

VP (E.C. 1.11.1.46) was first described in liquid cultures of *Pleurotus eryngii* growing on peptone as nitrogen source [82, 83] and *Bjerkandera* sp. [84]. VP is a heme containing structural hybrid between MnP and LiP, as it is able to oxidize Mn^{2+} , veratryl alcohol, simple amines, phenolic, nonphenolic and high molecular

weight aromatic compounds and high-redox potential dyes in reactions which are of manganese-independent character [85]. Therefore this enzyme has a wider catalytic versatility for electron donors as compared to LiP and MnP, and it has been postulated that its catalytic cycle is constituted by the sum of the catalytic cycles of those enzymes [70].

2.1.2 Cytochrome P450 System

Ability of WRF to degrade pollutants was first ascribed to the LMEs in nitrogenlimiting conditions, particularly LiP and MnP in P. chrysosporium, one of the first WRF employed as potential bioremediation agent. However, it was demonstrated afterwards that some xenobiotics such as 2,4-dichlorophenoxiacetic acid and 2.4.5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid could be degraded in nitrogen-rich media, without the expression of LiP and MnP [86, 87], thus suggesting the role of additional enzymatic systems. Posterior research demonstrated that the intracellular cytochrome P450 system exerts a leading role in the degradation of organic contaminants by WRF, as reviewed by Cerniglia [88]. Evidence is based on the induction pattern of cytochrome P450 codifying genes in response to exposure to organic pollutants [89] and also on the important reduction in the extent of degradation in the presence of cytochrome P450 inhibitors, observed in the metabolism of PAHs by *P. ostreatus* [90], dibenzyl sulphide [91], aromatic sulphur compounds such as dibenzothiophene [92], chlorinated hydrocarbons such as trichloro- and perchloroethylene by T. versicolor [93, 94]. Moreover, the complete sequencing of P. chrysosporium's genome revealed an estimated of 148 genes corresponding to P450 monooxygeneses, the highest number of sequenced fungi so far [95, 96]. The intracellular cytochrome P450 monooxygenases catalyze a broad range of reactions, which include hydroxylation, heteroatom oxygenation, dealkylation, epoxidation of C=C bonds, reduction and dehalogenation [97]. Its role in lignin degradation has been related to the intracellular depletion of metabolites released after the depolymerization of lignin by extracellular peroxidases [89].

3 Treatment of Sludge by Fungi

Sludge is an inevitable by-product of the wastewater treatment process. The terms sewage sludge and biosolids refer to the insoluble residue produced during biological wastewater treatment and subsequent sludge stabilization procedures [98]. Usually sludge resulting from these treatment operations is mainly liquid, with a solid content ranging from 0.5% to 15%. In this respect, treatment processes are aimed at increasing the solid content in order to reduce the sludge volume, or decreasing volatile solids and stabilizing the fraction of organic matter. The increase in solids involves sludge thickening and dewatering, a requisite

prior to the application of subsequent processes such as composting, incineration and landfilling. Dewatering techniques include centrifugation, filtration, water evaporation and percolation (wetlands) [99]. On the other hand, common stabilization approaches include biological anaerobic and aerobic digestion, lime stabilization, composting and heat drying, or new techniques such as radiation [98, 100, 101]. Nonetheless, recent research of the fate of emerging pollutants in WWTPs by environmental chemists has revealed that those treatments are not efficient enough in the removal of organic micropollutants [102–107], as it is reviewed in the chapter by Hernandez-Raquet [108] of this book.

In this context, the search for alternative green technology approaches becomes an imperative task. Among the potential biotechnological possibilities, fungal feasible bioremediation approaches for removal of organic pollutants from sludge are circumscribed to those in which the fungus is able to survive and colonize, and include slurry phase bioremediation and solid phase, compost-like biotreatment with dewatered sludge. Although not employed for the treatment of sludge, fungalmediated slurries have been applied for the ex situ bioremediation, at bench or reactor scale, of soils contaminated with PAHs [109–112], hexachlorocyclohexane [113], pentachlorophenol [114] or dioxin-like compounds [115]. Similarly, several reports deal with the application of fungal bioaugmentation for the treatment of PAH-, pentachlorophenol- and DDT-contaminated soil with dissimilar results in the efficiency of removal in composting [116–118] and biopile-processes [119–121], including field-scale trials for the removal of pentachlorophenol with T. versicolor [122]. Moreover, More et al. [123] reviewed potential applications of filamentous fungi for wastewater sludge treatment (other than biodegradation of pollutants), such as organic solids reduction, bioflocculation and biocoagulation and enhanced dewaterability/filterability.

Despite the high potential described for *T. versicolor* and WRF in general in terms of degrading ability, most of the reports refer to liquid media and soils; however research concerning their application in complex matrixes such as sludge is limited. Moreover, as degradation of many hazardous materials has been demonstrated mostly at laboratory scale, and especially under sterile conditions, the technical challenges including bacterial competition and the scale-up of the processes remain before considering a real application.

The next sections discuss the removal of several groups of emerging pollutants at pre-existent concentrations from sewage sludge by means of fungal treatments in solid-phase biopiles, both under sterile and non-sterile conditions and in bioslurry reactors under sterile conditions.

3.1 Solid-Phase Treatment

The use of solid-phase techniques has especially increased in the last decades in the case of fungal-mediated bioprocesses, since they reproduce the natural habitat and growth conditions for filamentous fungi. Moreover, solid-phase bioreactors

constitute an inexpensive treatment method for remediation of solids, since they require minimum maintenance and small amounts of energy for aeration and mixing, thus making these systems cost-effective when long treatments are required [124]. This feature is especially important in the potential treatment of sludge, as the spectrum of pollutants with variable degrees of recalcitrance it contains is clearly wide. As good fungal colonization of the solid matrix (i.e. dry sludge) is necessary in bioremediation, the fungal inoculum should facilitate the delivery of the biomass and provide a lignocellulosic nutrient source for growth [125]. In this respect, WRF are produced on organic lignocellulosic wastes such as wood chips, wheat straw, corn cobs, grape stalks or barely bran which, in addition, promote the production of LMEs [126] for the posterior application in the target matrix.

In the cases here described, an agricultural semi-processed residue, wheat-straw pellets (WSP), was employed as a component of the solid-phase system [127]. Besides acting as a substrate and carrier, WSP plays also a role as a bulking material in the sludge-system. Moreover, *T. versicolor* grown on this substrate showed a better degrading performance, though less biomass and laccase production, when compared to other wastes [128]. The biopiles consisted of sewage sludge (obtained after stabilization by thermal dewatering, ~90% solids) supplemented with 38% (w/w, dry basis) *T. versicolor* inoculums previously grown on WSP [129].

Treatment time was set in 42 days, similar to that employed in typical sludgecomposting processes. The determination of ergosterol content, a specific component of fungal cell membranes and a biomarker of viable mycelium [130] demonstrated fungal growth and colonization of the system (Fig. 1). Likewise, important laccase activity was achieved during the treatment process. Moreover, the results from the ND24 test (based on the degradation of spiked naproxen after 24 h, [131]), employed to evaluate degrading ability in solid matrices, suggested that the pollutant-removal potential of the fungus persisted in the sewage sludge biopiles. Overall biological parameters indicated that *T. versicolor* had been active throughout the treatment period.

Under non-sterile conditions, microbial community analysis by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) revealed the prevalence of *T. versicolor* as the main organism in the system up to 21 days (half of the process); however by day 42, other fungi took over as the most abundant taxons. Remarkably, comparison of fungal bioaugmented with non-bioaugmented sludge-biopiles showed a marked inhibitory effect of *T. versicolor* over bacterial populations (unpublished results), which is a promising finding, regarding the usual limitations and challenges pointed to the use of WRF in real applications [1].

3.1.1 Removal of PhC

Pharmaceuticals comprise one of the most common groups of organic microcontaminants present in biosolids, given that conventional biological wastewater treatment processes are inadequate for their complete removal [132].



Fig. 1 Growth and activity of *T. versicolor* during a solid-phase treatment of sewage sludge. (a) Ergosterol content (*circle*) and laccase activity (*square*); (b) degrading ability measured as ND24 (adapted from [129])

For fungal degradation of PhC some data are also available from non-sterile biopiles. From 43 PhC analyzed, 14 were detected in the thermally dehydrated sterile sludge and 9 in non-sterile sludge (Table 1, concentrations reported on a dw basis). Considering that the biosolids had previously received conventional activated sludge (AS) and anaerobic digestion treatments, the occurrence of PhC indicates that many removal values described in the literature for WWTPs refer to elimination from the aqueous phase more than biodegradation or transformation, since they do not take into account the amounts sorbed to biosolids.

Table 1 Occi	urrence and removal of	f emerging pollutants in	n thermally dehy	/drated sewage s	ludge after solid-	-phase treatment	with T. versicol	ər
Group of			Raw sludge		Treated sludge			
emerging contaminants		Compounds	Concentration	RSD (%)	Concentration	RSD (%)	Removal (%)	References
			$(ng g^{-1})$		$(ng g^{-1})$			
PhC	Analgesics/anti-	Ibuprofen	85.9 (161.0)	10.7 (13.3)	13.1 (74.6)	9.2 (8.6)	75 (54)	[129, 133]
	inflammatories	Diclofenac	60.3 (53.6)	15.9(9.0)	13.6 (24.7)	11.0 (6.1)	64 (54)	
		Mefenamic acid	17.9	11.7	3.1	16.1	72	
	Phenazone type drugs	Phenazone	9.6	22.9	.p.u	I	100	
	Lipid regulators and	Bezafibrate	4.5	2.2	n.d.	I	100	
	cholesterol	Fenofibrate	4.2 (13.7)	14.3 (13.1)	n.d. (n.d.)	I	100(100)	
	lowering statin drugs	Atorvastatin	37.8 (19.3)	9.3 (13.5)	4.7 (6.7)	23.4 (23.9)	80 (65)	
	Psyquiatric drugs	Diazepam	19.3	14.5	6.8	2.9	43	
		Carbamazepine	25.6 (10.5)	19.5 (6.7)	9.1 (11.1)	1.1 (11.7)	43 (-4.9)	
	Histamine H2-	Cimetidine	11.4	5.3	n.d.	I	100	
	receptor antagonists	Ranitidine	(17.5)	(7.4)	(n.d.)	I	(100)	
	Diuretics	Hydrochlorothiazide	26.7 (10.8)	11.6 (15.7)	8.0 (3.7)	10.0 (8.1)	52 (65)	
		Furosemide	(23.4)	(7.3)	(n.d.)	I	(100)	
	β-blockers	Atenolol	13.6	16.2	n.d.	I	100	
	Antibiotics	Clarithromycin	21.0 (35.8)	10.5 (19.0)	n.d. (6.5)	- (18.5)	100 (82)	
		Sulfamethazine	19.1	25.4	n.d.	I	100	
		Sulfapyridine	29.4	15.6	n.d.	Ι	100	
		Sulfathiazole	71.1	9.0	n.d.	I	100	

BFR		$(ng g^{-1})$		$(ng g^{-1})$			[134]
	Deca-BDE-209	285	5	41.0	14	86	
UV-F		$(\mu g g^{-1})$		$(\mu g g^{-1})$			[135]
	4DHB	0.07	6	n.d	I	100	
	BP3	0.06	11	n.d	I	100	
	4-MBC	3.10	6	0.40	11	87	
	00	8.00	11	0.92	10	89	
	EHMC	2.20	5	0.16	5	93	
Estrogens		$(ng g^{-1})$		$(ng g^{-1})$			Unpublished
	El	19.66	I	n.d.	Ι	100	data
	E2	3.70	16.21	n.d.	I	100	
	E3	3.40	20.23	n.d.	I	100	
Values corresponding to biopiles con are referred to a dw basis	itaining non-sterile slu	dge are present	ed in parenthesis	. Removal values	s consider diluti	on effect by WSP	; all concentration

The most abundant pollutants belonged to the group of analgesic/antiinflammatory compounds: ibuprofen (85.9 ng g^{-1}) and diclofenac (60.3 ng g^{-1}). Important removal of both compounds occurred after the fungal treatment in sterile conditions, around 75% and 64%, respectively, while in the non-sterile process the removal was 54% for both compounds. A removal of 41% was reported for ibuprofen in a study which considered both the dissolved and the adsorbed fraction during anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge [102]. On the other hand, dissimilar results from no elimination to removal values up to 69% have been described for diclofenac in anaerobic digestion processes [102, 106]. Mefenamic acid, another analgesic, was also detected at a concentration of 17.9 ng g^{-1} and subsequently reduced in 72% after treatment; meanwhile complete removal of the analgesic/ antipyretic phenazone was accomplished. Degradation of mefenamic acid by P. chrysosporium in defined medium has been reported by Hata et al. [136]. Complete elimination of another analgesic, naproxen, was achieved after 72 h in sewage sludge cultures inoculated with T. versicolor; however, in that case the pharmaceutical was spiked instead of pre-existent [137].

Two psychiatric drugs were detected and partially degraded in the sludge: diazepam (only in sterile sludge) and carbamazepine. The findings regarding the antiepileptic carbamazepine are highly remarkable, as its almost negligible removal has been widely documented in conventional AS and membrane bioreactor (MBR) treatments [102, 138]. Furthermore, given its persistence, carbamazepine has been proposed as a molecular marker of sewage [103]. Removal of 43% was achieved after applying the fungal treatment. However, the non-sterile process failed to significantly reduce the concentration of the drug. Previously, elimination of 48% was only reported for high concentrations of carbamazepine spiked in solid-phase sludge treatments with *T. versicolor* in sterile conditions [137]. Similarly, the anxiolytic diazepam, found at 19.3 ng g⁻¹, presented a removal of 43%, similar to the performance showed by anaerobic digestion processes [102].

The lipid regulator drugs bezafibrate and fenofibrate at initial concentrations of 4.5 and 4.2 ng g^{-1} in sterile sludge were completely removed after the fungal treatment. The fate of fenofibrate, also present in non-sterile sludge, was the same. Meanwhile, the most abundant atorvastatin, a cholesterol lowering statin, decreased its concentration in 80% and 65% in sterile and non-sterile conditions, respectively.

Antibiotics exhibited a highly efficient elimination. The macrolide clarithromycin (initial concentration 21.0 ng g⁻¹) and the sulfonamides (sulfamethazine, sulfapyridine and sulfathiazole, initial concentrations ranging from 19.1 to 71.1 ng g⁻¹) were completely removed in sterile sludge. The degradation of clarithromycin was only slightly reduced in non-sterile biopiles (82%). Reports of analogous treatments applied to solid wastes for the removal of antibiotics are scarce, with different levels of success depending on the sulfonamides. Thus, in an anaerobic fermentation process of swine manure, some sulfonamides including sulfadiazine, sulfamerazine, sulfamethoxypyridazine, sulfamethoxazole and sulfathiazole were not removed at all after 34 days [139]. Similarly, in a process of natural attenuation in biosolids,

sulfamethoxazole was completely degraded, whereas sulfamethazine was reduced in only 40% [140].

Other PhC were completely removed, including atenolol (β -blocker) and cimetidine (histamine H2-receptor antagonist), found in sterile sludge, and furosemide (diuretic) and ranitidine (histamine H2-receptor antagonist), found in non-sterile sludge. On the other hand, the diuretic hydrochlorothiazide was eliminated with an efficiency of 52% and 65% in sterile and non-sterile biopiles, respectively, which suggests a potentiated effect of the fungus with the sludge microbiota.

In a recent study, Walters et al. [141] described the occurrence and loss of several PhC from biosolid-soil mixtures exposed at ambient outdoor conditions for 3 years. Some compounds showed no detectable loss over the monitoring period, including diphenhydramine, fluoxetine, thiabendazole and triclosan, while half-life estimates ranging from 182 to 3,466 days were determined for others such as azithromycin, carbamazepine, ciprofloxacin, doxycycline, tetracycline, 4-epitetracycline, gemfibrozil, norfloxacin and triclosan. These findings highlight the potential use of *T. versicolor* to reduce the impact of biosolids once released to the environment, which could reduce the concentrations of PhC in much shorter periods of treatment.

3.1.2 Removal of Deca-BDE-209

Deca-BDE-209 is considered as one of the major sources of pollution by polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) [142], and it is usually the one found at higher concentrations in sewage sludge samples. Characterization of the raw sludge showed an initial deca-BDE-209 concentration of 285 ng g^{-1} , which decreased, after the fungal treatment to 25.4 ng g^{-1} , equivalent to a reduction in 86%. The scarce reports of analogous treatments focused towards the elimination of PBDEs in solid wastes refer to anaerobic digestion. In this respect Gerecke et al. [143] achieved a reduction in the deca-BDE-209 concentration of 30% in sewage sludge under bench-scale anaerobic conditions, while Shin et al. [107] obtained a removal of 39.8% for deca-BDE-209 at bench-scale and around 45% in pilot-scale anaerobic digesters. No additional studies with fungi were found in the literature.

3.1.3 Removal of UV-F

Characterization of the raw sewage sludge in terms of UV-F occurrence and removal is shown in Table 1. The most abundant UV-F was OC at 8.00 µg g⁻¹, followed by 4-MBC (3.10 µg g⁻¹) and EHMC, also known as OMC, (2.20 µg g⁻¹), while lower concentrations were obtained for 4DHB (0.07 µg g⁻¹) and BP3 (0.06 µg g⁻¹). These results are not strange considering the nature of the sludge employed (dehydrated) and the fact that 4-MBC, OC and EHMC present the lowest water solubilities and highest log K_{ow} values.

The fungal treatment with *T. versicolor* resulted in an important reduction in the concentration of UV-F. 4DHB and BP3 were completely removed, while the

remaining compounds were depleted from 87% to 93%. The slightly lower removal efficiency of 4-MBC, OC and EHMC could be partially explained by the higher log K_{ow} of these compounds, which may translate in a reduced bioavailability for the fungus. Reports on fate of UV-F are also scarce, and in the case of WWTPs they are usually based on the removal from the aqueous phase, which does not reflect a real elimination due to the important fraction of those highly hydrophobic compounds that remains adsorbed onto the sludge. The behavior of BP3, 4-MBC and OC was evaluated at the different stages of a wastewater reclamation plant, showing reductions ranging from 7.6% to 21% in the coagulation-flocculation treatment, 3.6–7.3% during continuous microfiltration and 16–25% in the ozonation process [144].

3.1.4 Removal of Estrogens

Raw sludge presented concentrations of E1, E2 and E3 ranging from 3.4 to 19.7 ng g⁻¹, E1 being the most abundant (Table 1). The fungal treatment showed a high efficiency by completely removing all of the estrogens. Other studies in solid matrices include the use of free laccase for the remediation of contaminated sand [40]. The sand was spiked with EDC and treated first in test tubes with laccases from *Trametes* sp. and *Pycnoporus coccineus* and then in a sand-laccase solution (800 U L⁻¹) slurry in a rotating reactor. In tubes, removal of EE2 ranged from 70% to >90%, while the elimination in the rotating reactor reached 85% after 8 h. The same group obtained also a removal of 20% and 60% for E1 after 1 day and 3 days, respectively, in an analogous test tube system with spiked sand and treated with laccase from *P. coccineus* [36].

3.1.5 Reduction of Sludge Toxicity

As the mere disappearance of the parent pollutants cannot be considered as complete degradation and in some opportunities degradation-intermediates can be even more toxic than their parent compounds, a global estimation of toxicity was necessary to determine the reduction of toxic potential in the fungal-treated sludge. The standardized tests of acute immobilization of *Daphnia magna* and bioluminescence inhibition of *Vibrio fischeri* were accordingly applied.

The raw sludge presented high toxicity values in both tests, but especially for the marine bacteria test. Untreated sludge was less toxic than raw sludge, but this effect can be ascribed merely to the dilution of the sludge when mixed with non-toxic substrates (e.g. WSP). However, comparing the values obtained for the untreated sludge with those for the treated sludge, a decrease in toxicity was observed. In the *D. magna* test 56% of toxicity was removed; meanwhile in the *V. fischeri*-based test, a strong decrease in toxicity, from a high value (593 TU) in the untreated sludge to no inhibition, was achieved after the treatment with *T. versicolor*.

Considering that the primary use of biosolids is land application, and particularly on agricultural soils, a reduction in global phytotoxicity is desired and tests focused on seed germination were also performed. The results of the germination index and root elongation [145] clearly demonstrated that the fungal-treated sludge is more suitable for the germination and growth of the tested vegetable-seeds compared to the untreated sludge, in which the germination of crops such as lettuce, pepper and tomato was completely suppressed.

3.2 Bioslurry Treatment

A bioslurry phase system consists of the suspension of a solid phase in water or other liquid medium to a concentration typically between 5% and 40% (w/v) and kept under agitation conditions to allow the microbial growth of the indigenous microbiota or a particular inoculated microorganism [114]. Bioslurry systems for bioremediation purposes have been mostly conducted with bacterial cultures [146, 147], although in the last few years WRF were also successfully applied to soil bioremediation of PAHs, hexachlorocyclohexane and pentachlorophenol [110, 113, 114].

In this case, the bioslurry employed for the degradation of emerging pollutants consisted of a stirred tank bioreactor containing sewage sludge obtained from the outlet of an anaerobic digestor (3.6% w/w in solid content) from a WWTP, and inoculated with *T. versicolor* pellets [148]. The system operated at 25°C in batch mode for 26 days, similar to the residence time of the sludge in the anaerobic reactor. The growth and activity of *T. versicolor* are shown in Fig. 2. Ergosterol profiles revealed a continuous increase in fungal biomass; however, laccase was detected in the reactor only between days 14 and 18. Although the pH was set at 4.5, near the optimum for maximum laccase production [149], enzymatic activity was lower compared to higher solid-content sludge slurries without pH control [137]. The shear stress exerted by the stirrer may have contributed to the reduced laccase production, as described for ligninolytic enzymes in other WRF [110, 150]. Despite the absence of laccase activity in the last stage of the treatment, the steep increase in ergosterol during this period indicated the presence of metabolically active biomass.

3.2.1 Removal of PhC

For therapeutic drugs, the highest concentrations in the raw sludge corresponded to the analgesics diclofenac (209 ng g^{-1}) and ibuprofen (135 ng g^{-1}), and the sulfonamide antibiotic sulfathiazole (143.0 ng g^{-1}). Next in abundance were the diuretic compounds furosemide (79.9 ng g^{-1}) and hydrochlorothiazide (41.3 ng g^{-1}), and the analgesic ketoprofen (42.4 ng g^{-1}). The remaining PhC were found at concentrations below 40 ng g^{-1} . The list of the 24 detected



Fig. 2 Time course of ergosterol content (*circle*) and laccase activity (*square*) during a bioslurry reactor treatment of sewage sludge with *T. versicolor* (adapted from [148])

compounds and their removal values after fungal treatment is shown in Table 2 (concentrations reported on a dw basis).

Removal of analgesics varied from 40% to 92%. Ibuprofen was the most efficiently removed (91.9%), however the degradation of this compound by T. versicolor in liquid medium results in the production of 1,2-hydroxy ibuprofen, a final and more toxic metabolite [45], as it is discussed by Cruz-Morató et al. in this volume [151]. The isomers 1-hydroxy ibuprofen and 2-hydroxy ibuprofen, also described in the early stages of fungal-mediated degradation [45], have been identified in raw wastewater [152]. On the other hand, indomethacin and diclofenac were removed at around 60%, while elimination of ketoprofen, naproxen and mefenamic acid ranged between 40% and 50%. The removal of naproxen (80-90%) and ibuprofen (30-60%) has been described in anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge [102]; nonetheless, the adaptation of sludge was necessary to achieve the degradation of diclofenac (80%). Similar fungal slurry systems at smaller scale and containing 25% sludge have resulted in the partial elimination of spiked naproxen (47%) [137]. Degradation of some of these analgesics has been described with T. versicolor in liquid phase, in most cases with a reduction in the toxicity [42-45]; further details in this respect are reviewed by Cruz-Morató et al. in this volume [151].

The bioslurry treatment successfully removed several of the PhC to nondetectable levels after 26 days: three histamine H2-receptor antagonists (ranitidine, famotidine, cimetidine), two β -blockers (atenolol, sotalol), one barbiturate (butalbital) and one antidiabetic compound (glibenclamide). The elimination of the sulfonamide antibiotics sulfapyridine (100%), sulfamethazine (91.0%) and

Groun of	5 	0 L	Raw cludoe		Treated cludge			
emerging			Naw study		Super Superior			
contaminants		Compounds	Concentration	RSD (%)	Concentration	RSD (%)	Removal (%)	References
PhC			$(ng g^{-1})$		$(ng g^{-1})$			[148]
	Analgesics/anti-	Ketoprofen	42.4	6.83	21.3	1.01	49.8	
	inflammatories	Naproxen	6.17	0.91	3.38	0.68	45.3	
		Ibuprofen	135	14.1	10.9	0.88	91.9	
		Indomethacine	9.60	1.00	3.65	0.29	61.9	
		Diclofenac	209	5.86	84.0	1.37	59.8	
		Mefenamic acid	14.2	3.05	8.37	0.20	41.1	
	Phenazone type drugs	Phenazone	36.7	10.9	20.3	3.64	44.7	
	Lipid regulators and	Bezafibrate	11.8	1.21	6.43	0.26	45.3	
	cholesterol lowering	Gemfibrozil	14.2	3.05	8.37	0.20	41.1	
	statin drugs	Atorvastatin	38.0	3.36	19.1	0.57	49.8	
	Psychiatric drugs	Diazepam	7.71	0.49	5.70	0.72	26.1	
		Carbamazepine	29.2	2.57	20.2	3.49	30.7	
	Histamine H2-receptor	Ranitidine	7.92	0.78	n.d.	I	100	
	antagonists	Famotidine	12.0	0.78	n.d.	I	100	
		Cimetidine	10.4	1.31	n.d.	I	100	
	Sulfonamide antibiotics	Sulfamethazine	6.1	22.0	0.5	I	91.0	
		Sulfapyridine	21.4	2.6	n.d.	I	100	
		Sulfathiazole	143.0		20.1	26.4	85.9	
	β-blockers	Atenolol	1.70	0.17	n.d.	I	100	
		Sotalol	4.88	0.89	n.d.	I	100	
	Barbiturates	Butalbital	16.3	2.30	n.d.	I	100	
	Diuretics	Hydrochlorothiazide	\$ 41.3	0.50	6.89	0.11	83.3	
		Furosemide	79.9	11.3	27.7	2.30	65.3	
	Antidiabetics	Glibenclamide	17.4	1.94	n.d.	I	100	
								(continued)

Table 2 (continued)							
Group of		Raw sludge		Treated sludge			
emerging							
contaminants	Compounds	Concentratic	n RSD (%)	Concentration	RSD (%)	Removal (%)	References
BFR		$(ng g^{-1})$		$(ng g^{-1})$			
PBDEs	Tetra-BDE-47	5.39	13	4.11	10	23.7	
	Penta-BDE-99	6.05	23	3.24	25	46.4	
	Hexa-BDE-154	5.48	35	2.56	15	53.3	
	Hepta-BDE-183	0.61	13	0.62	12	0	
	Deca-BDE-209	232	5.5	145	16	37.5	
Emerging BFRs	DecaBDEthane	26.3	22	22.1	18	16.0	
UV-F		$(\mu g g^{-1})$		$(\mu g g^{-1})$			
	BP1	0.08	7	n.d	I	100	
	4DHB	0.051	7	0.050	6	1	
	BP3	0.034	10	0.019	7	22	
	4-MBC	0.520	11	0.205	11	61	
	OC	7.71	11	3.214	8	58	
	OD-PABA	0.012	11	0.004	12	70	
	EHMC	1.031	7	0.211	8	62	
Estrogens		$(ng g^{-1})$		$(ng g^{-1})$			Unpublished
	E1	21.33		n.d.	Ι	100	data
	E2	14.79	6.39	n.d.	I	100	
	E3	10.15	11.07	n.d.	Ι	100	
Concentrations are referred to a dw	basis						

sulfathiazole (85.9%) and the diuretic drugs (furosemide and hydrochlorothiazide at 65-83%) was also high but incomplete. The elimination of those sulfonamides has been described in liquid medium with *T. versicolor* pellets, with the participation of laccase and cytochrome P450 [133, 153].

Other groups of PhC showed lower removal values, although some degree of elimination was achieved in every case. These groups included the phenazone-type drugs (phenazone, 44.7%) and the lipid regulators and cholesterol lowering statin compounds (bezafibrate, gemfibrozil, atorvastatin, 41.1–49.8%). Similar to findings from solid-phase treatment, the psychiatric drug carbamazepine showed the lowest elimination value at 30.7% together with diazepam (26.1%). An analogous sludge slurry system with *T. versicolor* produced a degradation of 57% when carbamazepine was spiked [137]. Removal up to 60% has been described for diazepam in anaerobic digestion of sludge [102].

3.2.2 Removal of BFR

As it is usually reported, the most abundant BFR detected in the sludge was deca-BDE-209 at a concentration of 232 ng g^{-1} . The other congeners were present at concentrations below 10 ng g^{-1} , except the so-called "emerging BFR" decaBDEthane, detected at 26.3 ng g^{-1} . Removal after the fungal slurry was rather low and ranged from 16% to 53%; however, only hepta-BDE-183 remained unchanged after the treatment (Table 2). The most degradable congener was hexa-BDE-154 (53%), while deca-BDE-209 was removed at only 38%, much less compared to the high removal obtained in solid-phase systems. Remarkably, no correlation in the elimination was observed according to the bromination degree of the detected congeners. Bacterial biotransformation of BFR has been recently reported in aerobic and anaerobic conditions in diverse matrices such as soil, sediments and anaerobic treatment of sewage sludge [104, 154–156]. On the other hand, only two reports deal with BFR degradation by WRF in liquid medium [55, 134] (see [157], this volume). They include the use of surfactants, as the high log K_{ow} values of BFR have been considered as limiting factors for their biologically mediated transformation processes. However, the results from the slurry demonstrate that transformation can still be achieved in a system without additional surfactants.

3.2.3 Removal of UV-F

OC (7.71 μ g g⁻¹), EHMC (1.03 μ g g⁻¹) and 4-MBC (0.520 μ g g⁻¹) were the most abundant UV-F detected in the raw sludge. The remaining sunscreens were found at concentrations below 0.1 μ g g⁻¹. Removal values were higher than 58% for most of the compounds (Table 2), including the complete elimination of BP1. Only BP3 was poorly removed (22%), while 4DHB showed complete recalcitrance and could not be transformed in the process. Higher removals were expected for the least hydrophobic UV-F (such as 4DHB and BP3, $\log K_{ow}$ 2.55 and 3.79) and lower for the most hydrophobic ($\log K_{ow}$: 5.8, 6.15 and 7.35 for EHMC, OD-PABA and OC, respectively), which would strongly adsorb to the solid fraction of the sludge. Nonetheless, the removal profiles did not show this pattern. This finding could suggest that the fungus was able to colonize the solid particles in the slurry or that degradation occurred in the aqueous phase after desorption due to equilibrium displacement. The degradation of 4-MBC and BP3, described with *T. versicolor* in liquid medium [56, 135], is discussed by Badia-Fabregat in this volume[158].

3.2.4 Removal of Estrogens

E1, E2 and E3 were detected at values ranging from 10 to 21 ng g^{-1} (Table 2). In this case, the fungal treatment was extremely efficient, with complete removal for the three chemical species. Degradation of endocrine disrupting chemicals by WRF and their ligninolyitic enzymes has been reviewed elsewhere [4], but never reported in this matrix.

3.2.5 Toxicity

Contrary to the solid-phase biopiles, results from toxicological assays (*D. magna* and *V. fischeri*) indicate an increase in the toxicity of residual sludge after the fungal treatment in the bioslurry. These findings suggest that micropollutants could be more bioavailable in this system than in solid phase, and that aqueous media could favor abiotic reactions among the metabolic intermediates, not so common in solid phase. This is supported by the increase in the toxicity observed in the aqueous-phase degradation for some of the organic pollutants detected in the sludge, including ibuprofen [45], carbamazepine [51] and some BFR [134]. The use of HCl to adjust the pH of sludge to the optimum for *T. versicolor* growth could have led to the formation of higher polarity and higher toxicity intermediates, which contributed to the global increase of toxicity.

4 Concluding Remarks

The fungal-mediated degradation of emerging pollutants from sewage sludge by WRF has been recently reported through the application of solid-phase and bioslurry systems with *T. versicolor*. Solid-phase biopiles have in common the use of a lignocellulosic residue and thermally dehydrated sludge, and included removal values from sterile and non-sterile conditions. Slurry treatments, on the other hand, employed sludge from the effluent of an anaerobic digester and the reported removals refer only to sterile conditions.



Fig. 3 Comparison of solid-phase biopiles (*black bars*) and bioslurry reactor (*gray bars*) in the removal of several emerging pollutants from sewage sludge with *T. versicolor*. Only compounds found during both kinds of treatment are included

Comparison of the efficiency removal (which includes only the pollutants found in both kinds of sludge before fungal treatment, Fig. 3) indicates that a solid-phase treatment is more efficient than the bioslurry process, as only two compounds (ibuprofen and hydrochlorothiazide) were removed at a higher extent in the latter system. In the case of a few compounds (cimetidine, atenolol and sulfapyridine), complete degradation was accomplished regardless of the treatment employed, but in most of the cases the elimination was significantly higher in solid-phase. That was especially highlighted in the case of some UV-F (4DHB and BP3), several PhC (phenazone and bezafibrate) and the deca-DBE-209, as the removal in solid-phase was more than twice the obtained in bioslurry. The first step to overcome one of the biggest challenges in bioaugmentation, i.e. colonization of the matrix, was done, resulting in the removal of PhC in non-sterile sludge, at efficiencies close to those under sterile conditions in most of the cases. The remarkable difference in the final toxicity of the sludge obtained from both strategies, increased in the slurry and dramatically decreased in the biopiles, also supports the possibility of employing a solid-phase treatment with WRF as an eco-friendly strategy to reduce the release of toxic contaminants into the environment.

Further research should focus on: (1) the description of the mechanisms involved in the degradation in situ; (2) the identification of the metabolites released during the process to better estimate the toxicity of the residues; (3) the relationship between the WRF and the microbiota, which may counteract the degrading capacity; and clearly, (4) the optimization of the process and (5) the scale-up necessary to implement a possible real application. Given the challenge of structural elucidation studies with complex environmental matrices such as sludge, the work performed so far respect point (2) in liquid media is reviewed in the next chapters of the book for PhC [151], UV-F [158] and BFR [157].

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the Spanish Ministries of MMAMRM (project 010/PC08/3-04) and MICINN (projects CTQ2010-21776-C02-01 and CGL2007-64551). The Department of Chemical Engineering of the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona is the Unit of Biochemical Engineering of the Xarxa de Referència en Biotecnologia de la Generalitat de Catalunya. The authors are members of a Consolidated Research Group of Catalonia (2009-SGR-656). C. Rodríguez-Rodríguez is recepient of a predoctoral grant from Universidad de Costa Rica and Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas (UCR-CSIC collaboration).

References

- 1. Gao D, Du L, Yang J, Wu WM, Liang H (2010) Crit Rev Biotechnol 30:70
- 2. Pointing SB (2001) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 57:20
- 3. Asgher M, Bhati HN, Ashraf M, Legge RL (2008) Biodegradation 19:771
- 4. Cabana H, Jones JP, Agathos SN (2007) Eng Life Sci 5:429
- 5. Cabana H, Jones JP, Agathos SN (2007) J Biotechnol 132:23
- 6. Majeu JA, Brar SK, Tyagi RD (2010) Bioresour Technol 101:2331
- 7. Rodríguez-Couto S, Toca-Herrera JL (2006) Biotechnol Adv 24:500
- 8. Bumpus JA, Aust SD (1987) Appl Environ Microbiol 53:2001
- 9. Bumpus JA, Powers RH, Sun T (1993) Mycol Res 97:95
- 10. Bumpus JA, Kakar SN, Coleman RD (1993) Appl Biochem Biotechnol 39:715
- 11. Novotný Č, Vyas BRM, Erbanová P, Kubátová A, Šašek V (1997) Folia Microbiol 42:136
- 12. Yadav JS, Quensen JF III, Tiedje JM, Reddy CA (1995) Appl Environ Microbiol 61:2560
- 13. Zeddel A, Majcherczyk A, Hutterman A (1993) Toxicol Environ Chem 40:225
- 14. Beaudette LA, Ward OP, Pickard MA, Fedorak PM (2000) Lett Appl Microbiol 30:155
- 15. Dietrich D, Hickey WJ, Lamar RT (1995) Appl Environ Microbiol 61:3904
- 16. Byss M, Elhottová D, Tříska J, Baldrian P (2008) Chemosphere 73:1518
- 17. Field JA, de Jong E, Feijoo Costa G, de Bont JAM (1992) Appl Environ Microbiol 58:2219
- 18. Lamar RT, White RB, Ashley KC (2002) Remediat J 12:97
- 19. Bumpus JA, Tatarko M (1994) Curr Microbiol 28:185

- Donnelly KC, Chen JC, Huebner HJ, Brown KW, Autenrieth RL, Bonner JS (1997) Environ Toxicol Chem 16:1105
- 21. Hawari J, Halasz A, Beaudet S, Paquet L, Ampleman G, Thiboutot S (1999) Appl Environ Microbiol 65:2977
- 22. Jackson MM, Hou LH, Banerjee HN, Sridha R, Dutta SK (1999) Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 62:390
- 23. van Aken B, Skubisz K, Naveau H, Agathos SN (1997) Biotechnol Lett 19:813
- 24. Bhaumik S, Christodoulatos C, Korfiatis GP, Brodman BW (1997) Water Sci Technol 36:139
- 25. Bayman P, Ritchey SD, Bennett JW (1995) J Ind Microbiol 15:418
- 26. Selvam K, Swaminathan K, Myung Hoon Song MH, Chae K (2002) World J Microbiol Biotechnol 18:523
- 27. Selvam K, Swaminathan K, Rasappan K, Rajendran R, Pattabhi S (2006) Ecol Environ Conserv 12:223
- 28. Font X, Caminal G, Gabarrell X, Vicent T (2006) Environ Technol 27:845
- 29. Blánquez P, Sarrà M, Vicent T (2008) Process Biochem 43:1
- 30. Svobodová K, Majcherczyk A, Novotný C, Kües U (2008) Bioresour Technol 99:463
- 31. Blánquez P, Caminal G, Sarrà M, Gabarrell X (2002) Biotechnol Prog 18:660
- 32. D'Annibale A, Quarantino D, Federici F, Fenice M (2006) Biochem Eng J 29:243
- 33. Dhouib A, Ellouz M, Aloui F, Sayadi S (2006) Lett Appl Microbiol 42:405
- 34. Tsioulipas A, Dimou D, Iconomou D, Aggelis G (2002) Bioresour Technol 84:251
- 35. Soares A, Jonasson K, Terrazas E, Guieysse B, Mattiasson B (2005) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 66:719
- 36. Tanaka T, Yamada K, Tonosaki T, Konishi T, Goto H, Taniguchi M (2000) Water Sci Technol 42:89
- 37. Auriol M, Filali-Meknassi Y, Adams CD, Tyagi RD, Noguerol TN, Piña B (2008) Chemosphere 70:445
- 38. Auriol M, Filali-Meknassi Y, Tyagi RD, Adams CD (2007) Water Res 41:3281
- 39. Blánquez P, Guieysse B (2008) J Hazard Mater 150:459
- Tanaka T, Tonosaki T, Nose M, Tomidokoro N, Kadomura N, Fujii T, Taniguchi M (2001) J Biosci Bioeng 92:312
- 41. Eibes G, Debernardi G, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2011) Biodegradation 22:539
- 42. Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Blánquez P, Vicent T, Caminal G (2010) Bioresour Technol 101:2159
- 43. Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Cruz-Morató C, Caminal G, Vicent T (2010) J Hazard Mater 176:836
- Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Cruz-Morató C, Caminal G, Vicent T (2010) Chemosphere 78:474
- 45. Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Vicent T, Caminal G (2009) Chemosphere 74:765
- 46. Tran NH, Urase Kusakabe O (2010) J Water Environ Technol 8:125
- 47. Accinelli C, Saccà ML, Batisson I, Fick J, Mencarelli M, Grabic R (2010) Chemosphere 81:436
- Rodarte-Morales AI, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2011) World J Microbiol Biotechnol 27:1839
- 49. Schwarz J, Aust MO, Thiele-Bruhn S (2010) Chemosphere 81:1469
- 50. Hata T, Shintate H, Kawai S, Okamura H, Nishida T (2010) J Hazard Mater 181:1175
- Jelić A, Cruz-Morató C, Marco-Urrea E, Sarrà M, Pérez S, Vicent T, Petrović M, Barceló D (2012) Water Res 46:955
- 52. Marco-Urrea E, Radjenović J, Caminal G, Petrović M, Vicent T, Barceló D (2010) Water Res 44:521
- Uhnáková B, Ludwig R, Pěknicová J, Homolka L, Lisá L, Šulc M, Petříčková A, Elzeinová F, Pelantová H, Monti D, Křen V, Haltrich D, Martínková L (2011) Bioresour Technol 102:9409
- 54. Uhnáková B, Petříčková A, Biederman D, Homolka L, Vejvoda V, Bednár P, Papoušková B, Šulc M, Martínková L (2009) Chemosphere 76:826
- 55. Zhou J, Jiang W, Ding J, Zhang X, Gao S (2007) Chemosphere 70:172

- Gago-Ferrero, P, Badia-Fabregat M, Olivares A, Piña B, Blánquez P, Vicent T, Caminal G, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2012) Sci Total Environ doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.03.089
- 57. Eaton RA, Hale MDC (1993) Wood, decay, pests and prevention. Chapman and Hall, London
- Martínez AT, Speranza M, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Ferreira P, Camarero S, Guillén F, Martínez MJ, Gutiérrez A, del Río JC (2005) Int Microbiol 8:195
- 59. Bumpus JA, Tien M, Wright D, Aust SD (1985) Science 228:1434
- 60. Collins PJ, Dobson ADW (1996) Biotechnol Lett 18:801
- 61. Lundell TK, Mäkelä MR, Hildén K (2010) J Basic Microbiol 50:1
- 62. Guillén F, Gómez-Toribio V, Martínez MJ, Martínez AT (2000) Arch Biochem Biophys 383:142
- 63. Hatakka A (1994) FEMS Microbiol Rev 13:125
- Zhu XD, Gibbons J, García-Rivera J, Casadevall A, Williamson PR (2001) Infect Immun 69:5589
- 65. Thurston C (1994) Microbiology 140:19
- Nyanhongo GS, Gübitz G, Sukyai P, Leitner C, Haltrich D, Ludwig R (2007) Food Technol Biotechnol 45:250
- 67. Fakoussa RM, Hofrichter M (1999) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52:25
- 68. Bourbonnais R, Paice MG (1990) FEBS Lett 267:99
- 69. Call HP, Mücke I (1997) J Biotechnol 53:163
- Hofrichter M, Ullrich R, Pecyna MJ, Liers C, Lundell T (2010) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:871
- 71. Cullen D (1997) J Biotechnol 53:273
- 72. Hofrichter M (2002) Enzyme Microb Technol 30:454
- 73. Martínez AT (2002) Enzyme Microb Technol 30:425
- 74. Wariishi H, Valli K, Gold MH (1992) J Biol Chem 267:23688
- Hatakka A (2001) In: Hofrichter M, Steinbüchel A (eds) Biopolymers: lignin, humic substances and coal, 1st edn. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, p 129
- 76. Husain Q, Husain M, Kulshreshtha Y (2009) Crit Rev Biotechnol 29:94
- 77. Reddy CA, D'Souza TM (1994) FEMS Microbiol Rev 13:137
- 78. Bumpus JA (1989) Appl Environ Microbiol 55:154
- 79. Joshi DK, Gold MH (1993) Appl Environ Microbiol 59:1779
- 80. Michels J, Gottschalk G (1994) Appl Environ Microbiol 60:187
- 81. Wesenberg D, Kyriakides I, Agathos SN (2003) Biotechnol Adv 22:161
- 82. Martínez MJ, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Guillén F, Martínez AT (1996) Eur J Biochem 237:424
- Camarero S, Sarkar S, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Martínez MJ, Martínez AT (1999) J Biol Chem 274:10324
- 84. Mester T, Field JA (1998) J Biol Chem 273:15412
- Heinfling A, Martinez MJ, Martinez AT, Bergbauer M, Szewzyk U (1998) FEMS Microbiol Lett 165:43
- 86. Yadav JS, Reddy CA (1993) Appl Environ Microbiol 59:2904
- 87. Yadav JS, Reddy CA (1992) Biotechnol Lett 14:1089
- 88. Cerniglia CE (1997) J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 19:324
- 89. Doddapaneni H, Yadav JS (2004) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 65:559
- 90. Bezalel L, Hadar Y, Cerniglia CE (1997) Appl Environ Microbiol 63:2495
- van Hamme JD, Wong ET, Dettman H, Gray MR, Pickard MA (2003) Appl Environ Microbiol 69:1320
- 92. Ichinose H, Wariishi H, Tanaka H (1999) Biotechnol Prog 15:706
- Marco-Urrea E, Gabarrell X, Sarrà M, Caminal G, Vicent T, Adinarayana-Reddy C (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:7796
- Marco-Urrea E, Parella T, Gabarrell X, Caminal G, Vicent T, Adinarayana Reddy C (2008) Chemosphere 70:404
- Martínez D, Larrondo LF, Putnam N, Gelpke MDS, Huang K, Chapman J, Helfenbein KG, Ramaiya P, Detter JC, Larimer F, Coutnho PM, Henrissat B, Berka R, Cullen D, Rokhsar D (2004) Nat Biotechnol 22:695

- 96. Yadav JS, Doddapaneni H, Subramanian V (2006) Biochem Soc Trans 34:1165
- 97. Bernhardt R (2006) J Biotechnol 24:128
- 98. Arthurson V (2008) Appl Environ Microbiol 74:5267
- 99. Uggetti E, Ferrer I, Llorens E, García J (2010) Bioresour Technol 101:2905
- 100. Goldfarb W, Krogmann U, Hopkins C (1999) Boston Coll Environ Aff Law Rev 26:687
- 101. Wang J, Wang J (2007) J Hazard Mater 143:2
- 102. Carballa M, Omil F, Ternes T, Lema JM (2007) Water Res 41:2139
- 103. Clara M, Strenn B, Ausserleitner M, Kreuzinger N (2004) Water Sci Technol 50:29
- 104. Gerecke AC, Giger W, Hartmann PC, Heeb NV, Kohler HE, Schmid P, Zennegg M, Kohler M (2006) Chemosphere 64:311
- 105. Plagellat C, Kupper T, Furrer R, de Alencastro LF, Grandjean D, Tarradellas J (2006) Chemosphere 62:915
- 106. Radjenović J, Petrović M, Barceló D (2009) Water Res 43:831
- 107. Shin M, Duncan B, Seto P, Falleta P, Lee DY (2010) Chemosphere 78:1220
- 108. Hernandez-Raquet G (2012) In: Vicent T et al. (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges: analysis, fate and biological treatment, Hdb Env Chem, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- 109. Garon D, Sage L, Wouessidjewe D, Seigle-Murandi F (2004) Chemosphere 56:159
- 110. Valentín L, Lu-Chau TA, López C, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2007) Process Biochem 42:641
- 111. Wang X, Gong Z, Li P, Zhang L, Hu X (2008) Environ Eng Sci 5:677
- 112. Zhang Z, Obbard JP (2002) Enzyme Microb Technol 32:3
- 113. Quintero JC, Lu-Chau TA, Moreira MT, Feijoo G, Lema JM (2007) Int Biodeter Biodegr 60:319
- 114. Rubilar O, Feijoo G, Diez C, Lu-Chau TA, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2007) Ind Eng Chem Res 46:6744
- 115. Kamei I, Watanabe M, Harada K, Miyahara T, Suzuki S, Matsufuji Y, Kondo R (2009) Chemosphere 75:1294
- 116. Sayara T, Borràs E, Caminal G, Sarrà M, Sánchez A (2011) Int Biodeter Biodegr 65:859
- 117. Yu Z, Zeng GM, Chen YC, Zhang JC, Yu Y, Li H, Liu ZF, Tang L (2011) Process Biochem 46:1285
- 118. Zeng GM, Huang HL, Huang DL, Yuan XZ, Jiang RQ, Yu M, Zhang JC, Wang RY, Liu XL (2009) Process Biochem 44:396
- 119. Anastasi A, Coppola T, Prigiones V, Varese GC (2009) J Hazard Mater 165:1229
- 120. Cea M, Jorquera M, Rubilar O, Langer H, Tortella G, Diez MC (2010) J Hazard Mater 181:315
- 121. Purnomo AS, Mori T, Takagi K, Kondo R (2011) Int Biodeter Biodegr 65:691
- 122. Walter M, Boyd-Wilson K, Boul L, Ford C, McFadden D, Chong B, Pinfold J (2005) Int Biodeter Biodegr 56:51
- 123. More TT, Yan S, Tyagi RD, Surampalli RY (2010) Bioresour Technol 101:7691
- 124. Nano G, Borroni A, Rota R (2003) J Hazard Mater B100:79
- 125. Schmidt KR, Chand S, Gostomski PA, Boyd-Wilson KSH, Ford C, Walter M (2005) Biotechnol Prog 21:377
- 126. Rodríguez-Couto S, Sanromán MA (2005) Biochem Eng J 22:211
- 127. Novotný Č, Erbanová P, Šašek V, Kubátová A, Cajthaml T, Lang E, Krahl J, Zadražil F (1999) Biodegradation 10:159
- 128. Borràs E, Llorens-Blanch G, Rodríguez-Rodríguez C, Sarrá M, Caminal G (2011) Int Biodeter Biodegr 65:846
- 129. Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Jelić A, Llorca M, Farré M, Caminal G, Petrović M, Barceló D, Vicent T (2011) Bioresour Technol 102:5602
- 130. Barajas-Aceves M, Hassan M, Tinoco R, Vázquez-Duhalt R (2002) J Microbiol Methods 5:227
- 131. Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Marco-Urrea E, Caminal G (2010) J Hazard Mater 179:1152

- 132. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Zaugg SD, Burkhardt MR, Werner SL, Cahill JD, Jorgensen GR (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:7207
- 133. García-Galán MJ, Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Vicent T, Caminal G, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2011) Sci Total Environ 409:5505
- 134. Vilaplana M, Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Barón E, Gorga M, Thienpont B, Raldúa D, Sarrà M, Caminal G, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2012) Env Sci Technol 104:114
- 135. Badia-Fabregat M, Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Gago-Ferrero P, Olivares A, Piña B, Díaz-Cruz MS, Vicent T, Barceló D, Caminal G. J Environ Manage (in press)
- 136. Hata T, Kawai S, Okamura H, Nishida T (2010) Biodegradation 21:681
- 137. Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Marco-Urrea E, Caminal G (2010) Bioresour Technol 101:2259
- 138. Radjenović J, Petrović M, Barceló D (2007) Anal Bioanal Chem 387:1365
- 139. Mohring SAI, Strzysch I, Fernandes MR, Kiffmeyer TK, Tuerk J, Hamscher G (2009) Environ Sci Technol 43:2569
- 140. Wu C, Spongberger AL, Witter JD (2009) J Environ Sci Health Part A 44:454
- 141. Walters E, McClellan K, Halden RU (2010) Water Res 44:6011
- 142. North KD (2004) Environ Sci Technol 38:4484
- 143. Gerecke AC, Hartmann PC, Heeb NV, Kohler HE, Giger W, Schmid P, Zennegg M, Kohler M (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:1078
- 144. Li W, Ma Y, Guo C, Hu W, Liu K, Wang Y, Zhu T (2007) Water Res 41:3506
- 145. Tiquia SM, Tam NFY, Hodgkiss IJ (1996) Environ Pollut 93:249
- 146. Robles-González IV, Fava F, Poggi-Varaldo HM (2008) Microb Cell Fact 7:5
- 147. Wang JL, Zhao G, Wu LB (2005) Biomed Environ Sci 18:77
- 148. Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Barón E, Gago-Ferrero P, Jelić A, Llorca M, Farré M, Díaz-Cruz MS, Eljarrat E, Petrović M, Caminal G, Barceló D, Vicent T. J Hazard Mater (submitted)
- 149. Tavares APM, Coelho MAZ, Agapito MSM, Coutinho JAP, Xavier AMRB (2006) Appl Biochem Biotechnol 134:233
- 150. Venkatadri R, Irvine RL (1990) Appl Environ Microbiol 56:2684
- 151. Cruz-Morató C, Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Marco-Urrea M, Sarrà M, Caminal G, Vicent T, Jelic A, García-Galán MJ, Pérez S, Díaz-Cruz MS, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2012) In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges: analysis, fate and biological treatment, Hdb Env Chem, doi: 10.1007/698_2012_158, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- 152. Quintana JB, Weiss S, Reemtsma T (2005) Water Res 39:2654
- 153. Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, García-Galán MJ, Blánquez P, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D, Caminal G, Vicent T (2012) J Hazard Mater 213–214:347
- 154. Nyholm JR, Lundberg C, Andersson PL (2010) Environ Pollut 158:2235
- 155. Robrock KR, Coelhan M, Sedlak DL, Alvarez-Cohen L (2009) Environ Sci Technol 43:5705
- 156. Tokarz JA III, Ahn MY, Leng J, Filley TR, Nies L (2008) Environ Sci Technol 42:1157
- 157. Vilaplana M, Caminal G, Sarrà M, Barón E, Gorga M, Thienpont B, Raldúa D, Eljarrat E, Barceló D (2012) In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges: analysis, fate and biological treatment, Hdb Env Chem, doi: 10.1007/698_2012_156, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- 158. Badia-Fabregat M, Caminal G, Vicent T, Blánquez P, Gago-Ferrero P, Olivares A, Piña B, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2012) In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges: analysis, fate and biological treatment, Hdb Env Chem, doi: 10.1007/698_2012_157, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg

Biodegradation of Pharmaceuticals by Fungi and Metabolites Identification

C. Cruz-Morató, C.E. Rodríguez-Rodríguez, E. Marco-Urrea, M. Sarrà, G. Caminal, T. Vicent, A. Jelić, M.J. García-Galán, S. Pérez, M.S. Díaz-Cruz, M. Petrović, and D. Barceló

C. Cruz-Morató, E. Marco-Urrea, M. Sarrà, and T. Vicent

Departament d'Enginyeria Química, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona (UAB), 08193 Bellaterra, Spain

e-mail: carles.cruz@uab.cat; Ernest.marco@uab.cat; Montserrat.sarra@uab.cat; teresa.vicent@uab.cat

C.E. Rodríguez-Rodríguez

Centro de Investigación en Contaminación Ambiental (CICA), Universidad de Costa Rica, 2060 San José, Costa Rica

e-mail: carlosesteban.rodriguez@uab.cat

G. Caminal Grupo de biocatalisis Aplicada y biodegradación, IQAC-CSIC, C/Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: gcsqbp@iqac.csic.es

A. Jelić, M.J. García-Galán, S. Pérez, and M.S. Díaz-Cruz Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA, CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

M. Petrović (🖾) ICREA Institució Catalana de Recerca i Estudis Avançats, Passeig Lluís Companys, 2308010 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona, C/ Emili Grahit, 101 Edifici H2O, 17003 Girona, Spain e-mail: mpetrovic@icra.cat

D. Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA, CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona, C/ Emili Grahit, 101 Edifici H2O, 17003 Girona, Spain

T. Vicent et al. (eds.), *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and* 165 *Biological Treatment*, Hdb Env Chem (2013) 24: 165–214, DOI 10.1007/698_2012_158, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012, Published online: 19 June 2012

Unitat Asociada de Biocatàlisi Aplicada IQAC-CSIC, Escola d'Enginyeria, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain

Abstract Pharmaceutical compounds comprise a widely employed group of therapeutic agents now considered as emerging micropollutants. This chapter summarizes the state of the art in the degradation of pharmaceuticals by fungi in liquid matrices (with emphasis on white-rot fungi), including the use of both whole cells and fungal enzymes. The identification of the metabolites produced as well as the proposed degradation pathways available for some drugs are discussed. The information is organized according to the activity of the pharmaceutical compounds, grouped in: anti-inflammatory/analgesic drugs, psychiatric drugs, lipid regulators, antibiotics and other antimicrobial agents, β -blockers, estrogens, and iodinated contrast media. Considering the interest in potential application of fungal treatments in future real scale bioremediation of effluents, the ecotoxicology of the process is included when available.

Keywords Degradation, Pharmaceuticals, Toxicity, Transformation products, White-rot fungi

Contents

1	Intro	duction	167
2	Phar	maceuticals	168
	2.1	Anti-inflammatory Drugs	168
	2.2	Psychiatric Drugs	173
	2.3	Lipid Regulators	176
	2.4	Antibiotics	177
	2.5	Other Antimicrobial Agents	182
	2.6	β-Blockers	185
	2.7	Estrogens	186
	2.8	Iodinated Contrast Media	188
3	Conc	luding Remarks	190
Ret	erenc	es	211

Abbreviations and Symbols

ABTS	2,2-Azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt
BSTR	Batch stirred tank reactor
CLEAs	Cross-linked enzyme aggregates
DMHAP	3,5-Dimethoxy-4-hydroxyacetophenol
E1	Estrone
E2	17β-Estradiol
E3	Estriol
EC ₅₀	Half maximal effective concentration
EE2	17α-Ethinyl estradiol
FBR	Fluidized bed reactor
HBT	1-Hydroxybenzotriazole
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HRT	Hydraulic retention time

LAC	Laccase
LiP	Lignin peroxidase
LME	Lignin modifying enzymes
MnP	Manganese peroxidase
PBR	Packed-bed reactor
SYD	Syringaldehyde
TP	Transformation products
VA	Violuric acid
VP	Versatile peroxidase
WRF	White-rot fungi
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

1 Introduction

The most important removal pathways of organic compounds during wastewater treatment are biotransformation/biodegradation, adsorption to the sludge, and stripping by aeration (volatilization). Also, abiotic removal from the aqueous phase by hydrolytic degradation and/or isomerization/epimerization can occur. In most of the studies, abiotic (adsorption) and biotic degradation (transformation by microorganisms) processes cannot be distinguished, and the term "removal" is usually indistinctly employed to refer to these phenomena. Moreover, without stoichiometric accounting for the transformation products (TPs) of biodegradation one cannot conclude whether the compound was completely destroyed (mineralized) or only structurally altered. Therefore, during the biological treatment of wastewater, microbial enzymatic activity may lead to the formation of TPs that preserved or even increased persistency and/or activity. Considering the potential persistency and toxicity of TPs generated during drinking and wastewater treatment, their identification and quantification, as well as elucidation of main reaction mechanisms are necessary for safe application of such processes. These products may have preserved the mode of action of the parent compound, or even be biologically more active, thus the disappearance of the parent drug does not necessarily equate to its detoxification. Quantitative evaluation of all the TPs formed, as well as their rate constants would afford kinetic and mechanistic data for the evaluation of efficiency in removing pharmaceuticals from real waters. More importantly, for a complete risk assessment study on the TPs of pharmaceuticals formed during drinking and wastewater treatment, determination of their ecotoxicity is fundamental and a prerequisite for a comprehensive protection of the environment.

However, studies dealing with identification of biodegradation products of drugs in wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) are very scarce, possibly due to the complexity of screening and structural elucidation studies in environmental matrices such as wastewater and sludge.

Biotechnological approaches have emerged as promising tools for the elimination of micropollutants including pharmaceuticals. Some of them rely on the use of
specific microorganisms with marked degrading ability, especially bacteria and less frequently fungi. The broad degrading ability of fungi and their enzymes and their implication in the transformation and mineralization of several organic pollutants make them potential agents for bioremediation processes, as it was reviewed by Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al. in this volume [1]. The present chapter summarizes the work done to date on the fungal-mediated degradation of pharmaceuticals and the identification of their TPs in liquid media. For the reasons above described, most of the research found in the literature focuses on the degradation in liquid media, since the easy control of parameters such as addition of nutrients, pH, and the contaminant concentration facilitates the study of the degradation and the identification of TPs. On the other hand, many works presented in the next sections are referred to as degradation regardless whether the target compound is mineralized (completely removed) or transformed to another compound. As mineralization is hardly reported, in the discussion the degradation described refers to transformation, unless explicit mineralization is indicated.

The information is organized in two tables, comprising the degradation of pharmaceuticals by whole fungal cells (Table 1) or by fungal enzymes (Table 2); the discussion is grouped according to the therapeutic function of the pharmaceuticals in anti-inflammatory/analgesic drugs, psychiatric drugs, lipid regulators, antibiotics and other antimicrobial agents, β -blockers, estrogens, and iodinated contrast media. Many of the studies were performed as preliminary approaches in order to determine the feasibility of applying fungal treatments to the biodegradation of pharmaceuticals from real liquid matrices. Therefore, when data is available, the toxicological characteristics of the residual effluent are discussed to assess the suitability of the treatment proposed.

2 Pharmaceuticals

2.1 Anti-inflammatory Drugs

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents are used extensively as nonprescription drugs, and residues of these compounds have been detected ubiquitously in WWTP effluents at the μ g L⁻¹ levels, and they also frequently occur at the ng L⁻¹ level in the aquatic environment (see [2], this volume). As a result, many researchers have focused on the degradation of these pharmaceuticals, which are one of the most studied groups of therapeutic agents in terms of fungal transformation.

One of the most widely used anti-inflammatory drugs is ibuprofen. Marco-Urrea et al. [3] performed a degradation screening using four white-rot fungi (WRF) (*Trametes versicolor*, *Ganoderma lucidum*, *Irpex lacteus*, and *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*) for the removal of 10 mg L^{-1} of ibuprofen after 7 days of incubation in serum bottles and observed that the contaminant was degraded by all of the



Fig. 1 Suggested degradation pathway of ibuprofen by *T. versicolor* (adapted from Marco-Urrea et al. [3])

fungi. However, they noticed that T. versicolor was able to degrade the contaminant in only 1 h, while more time was needed to achieve the complete depletion with the other WRF. 1-Hydroxy ibuprofen and 2-hydroxy ibuprofen were identified as TPs during the early stages of the degradation by T. versicolor, which were subsequently degraded to 1,2-dihydroxy ibuprofen (Fig. 1). In addition, Microtox bioassay experiments performed at different incubation times revealed an increase in the toxicity at the final time point (7 days), when only 1,2-hydroxy ibuprofen was detected (8.3 Equitox m^{-3} vs 0.05 Equitox m^{-3} in the controls with ibuprofen). This finding remarks the importance of the identification of metabolites in any treatment, because they may be more toxic than the parental compound. Rodarte-Morales et al. [4] confirmed the total elimination of ibuprofen by *P. chrysosporium* before 4 days, which agrees with the results by Marco-Urrea aforementioned. In addition, they reported complete degradation of this contaminant by *Bjerkandera* sp. R1 and *Bjerkandera adusta* before 4 and 7 days, respectively. However, neither identification of metabolites nor toxicological analysis were performed in order to evaluate the feasibility of the treatment.

Since it is known that WRF produce highly oxidative enzymes, several studies have also focused on the determination of which of these enzymes are involved in the degradation of contaminants. Marco-Urrea et al. [3] reported that laccase (LAC) from T. versicolor and manganese peroxidase (MnP) from Bjerkandera sp. are not involved in the degradation of ibuprofen, according to the negligible levels (<10%)of degradation after 24 h. They also tested the degradation of ibuprofen by LAC adding different mediators, such as 2,2-azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt (ABTS), 1-hydroxybenzotriazol (HBT), violuric acid (VA), and 3,5-dimethoxy-4-hydroxyacetophenol (DMHAP), but their addition failed to oxidize ibuprofen as well. Tran et al. [5] confirmed those results reporting low degradation values (35%) of ibuprofen (10 μ g L⁻¹) when mediators were added. Marco-Urrea et al. [3] also published that the addition of cytochrome P450 inhibitors did not affect the degradation of that contaminant, thus concluding that an alternate enzyme system different from LACs, MnPs, and cytochrome P450 monooxygenases is involved in the first step of ibuprofen degradation. Rodarte-Morales et al., [6] carried out experiments for the biotransformation of three



Fig. 2 Suggested degradation pathway of diclofenac by *T. versicolor* and its enzyme LAC (adapted from Marco-Urrea et al. [7])

pharmaceutical active compounds (diclofenac, naproxen, and ibuprofen) by *P. chrysosporium* in a fed batch stirred reactor under air and oxygen supply. They observed a complete removal of the contaminant before 24 h after the addition of ibuprofen pulses every 2 days and during 30 days. To sum up, ibuprofen was degraded for all the WRF so far studied. However, a more toxic transformation product was identified in the unique case where subproducts were elucidated. This raises the question whether the treatment by fungi would be a good strategy for the removal of this drug.

The capability of diclofenac degradation by *T. versicolor* was demonstrated by Marco-Urrea et al. [7]. In flask-scale experiments, they observed that almost complete diclofenac removal (>94%) occurred within the first hour with fungal pellets when the drug was added both at relatively high (10 mg L⁻¹) and environmentally relevant low (45 μ g L⁻¹) concentrations in a defined liquid medium. In that treatment, 4'-hydroxydiclofenac and 5-hydroxydiclofenac were found as TPs (Fig. 2), which in 24 h disappeared leading to a decrease in ecotoxicity calculated by the Microtox test, thus suggesting the complete mineralization of

the drug. In addition, the authors carried out experiments to determine the possible role of some enzymes in the degradation of diclofenac. They concluded that the cytochrome P450 system plays a key role in the first step of diclofenac degradation, because the addition of inhibitors of this enzyme resulted in a marked inhibition of diclofenac removal. Purified LAC catalyzes the transformation of diclofenac (>95% degradation) to 4-(2,6-dichlorophenylamino)-1,3-benzenedimethanol but it was not the only enzyme responsible for diclofenac degradation in T. versicolor pellets, as different subproducts were detected when the whole fungus was employed. Tran et al. [5] confirmed the degradation of diclofenac by purified LAC, reaching more than 90% in 30 min. Likewise, Lloret et al. 8] reported complete degradation of diclofenac by purified LAC from Myceliophthora thermophila using mediators, and 83% removal without them. Other enzymes such as VP from B. adusta [9] and lignin peroxidase (LiP) from P. chrysosporim [10] have also shown the ability to remove this micropollutant, but none of those reports refers to the identification of the TPs. Hata et al. [11] reported the degradation of diclofenac with other WRF, in particular Phanerochaete sordida. The target compound, in a concentration of 30 mg L^{-1} , completely disappeared after 4 days, indicating a slower degradation rate than T. versicolor (totally removed after 1 h). *P. sordida* also produced the hydroxylated metabolites found in the degradation by T. versicolor, but in addition 4,5-dihydroxydiclofenac was identified as a metabolite. The ability of Bjerkandera sp. R1, B. adusta and P. chrysosporium to degrade diclofenac was studied by Rodarte-Morales et al. [4]. Their results revealed a complete degradation with the three strains after 7 days, except by Bjerkandera. sp. R1, which accomplished the elimination in 4 days. More recently research was focused on the scale-up of the degradation process by P. chrysosporium in a fed batch stirred reactor under air and oxygen supply [6]. In that work, diclofenac was added into the reactor as pulses every 2 days during 30 days, resulting in complete removal, but metabolites were not analyzed. All these studies have demonstrated that diclofenac can be completely removed by WRF. The degradation of diclofenac by whole fungal cells produced hydroxylated subproducts, which at the end of the treatment had disappeared leading to a decrease in toxicity, suggesting diclofenac mineralization. In addition, researchers observed that many enzymatic systems are involved in the first step of the diclofenac transformation, which could also participate in different steps of its possible mineralization.

Naproxen, is an arylpropionic acid, widely used to relieve mild to moderate pain and in the treatment of osteo- and rheumatoid arthritis. Rodarte-Morales et al. [4] reported complete removal of naproxen (1 mg L^{-1}) in 7 days by *Bjerkandera* sp. R1 and *B. adusta*, and in 4 days by *P. chrysosporium*. On the other hand, Marco-Urrea et al. [12] performed degradation experiments with *T. versicolor* and the contaminant at 10 mg L⁻¹ and 55 µg L⁻¹. In both cases naproxen was completely degraded in a few hours (approx. 6 h), with a higher removal rate for *T. versicolor*. 2-(6-Hydroxynaphtalen-2-yl)propanoic acid and 1-(6-methoxynaphthalen-2-yl) ethanone were identified as the main metabolites of naproxen, but after 6 h they disappeared, resulting in a final nontoxic medium, as determined by Microtox. On the other hand, Marco-Urrea et al. [12] and Tran et al. [5] reported the possible



Metabolite 3

Fig. 3 Suggested degradation pathway of ketoprofen by *T. versicolor* (adapted from Marco-Urrea et al. [13])

implication of cytochrome P450 in the degradation, and the negligible elimination by purified LAC from *T. versicolor*, which was complete (95% after 30 min) when a mediator was added. The same behavior was observed by Lloret et al. [8] when LAC from *M. thermophila* was in contact with the contaminant. Similarly Eibes et al. [9] reported an 80% degradation of naproxen with versatile peroxidase (VP) from *B. adusta* after 7 h.

Ketoprofen is a therapeutic agent with analgesic and antipyretic effects, generally prescribed for toothaches that result in the inflammation of the gums. The fungal degradation of that drug has only been studied with T. versicolor by Marco-Urrea et al. [13], who reported the removal of ketoprofen to non-detectable levels in 24 h when it was added at 10 mg L⁻¹, whereas at low concentration of 40 μ g L⁻¹ it was almost completely removed after 5 h. During time-course degradation experiments, the metabolites 2-[3-(4-hydroxybenzoyl)phenyl]-propanoic acid (1), 2-[(3-hydroxy(phenyl)methyl)phenyl]-propanoic (2) acid and 2-(3-benzyl-4hydroxyphenyl)-propanoic acid were identified (3) (Fig. 3). However, none of these intermediates was detected at the end of the experiment (7 days) except small amounts of 2-(3-benzyl-4-hydroxyphenyl)-propanoic acid (0.08 mg), which was lower in comparison with the amount detected at 24 h (0.53 mg), suggesting a possible mineralization of ketoprofen. The Microtox test showed minimal toxicity, with 15 min EC₅₀ higher than 90%. Regarding the enzymatic degradation, LAC from T. versicolor is not involved in the first step of the degradation, as the addition of the LAC-mediator system failed to oxidize ketoprofen. In contrast, the cytochrome P450 inhibitor 1-aminobenzotriazole produced a reduction in the

ketoprofen degradation rate, suggesting that the first oxidation step of the ketoprofen is cytochrome P450 mediated [5, 13].

Mefenamic is a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug used to treat pain, including menstrual pain. Hata et al. [11] treated that drug with *P. sordida*, and obtained a 90% reduction in mefenamic acid concentration (initial concentration 24 mg L⁻¹) after 6 days. The system produced four metabolites, identified as 3'-hydroxymethyl-mefenamic acid, 3'-hydroxymethyl-5-hydroxymefenamic acid, 3'-hydroxymethyl-6'-hydroxymefenamic acid, and 3'-carboxymefenamic acid. Moreover, the authors confirmed that the fungus almost completely removed the acute lethal toxicity of mefenamic towards the freshwater crustacean *Thamnocephalus platyurus* after 6 days of treatment, suggesting that the metabolites are less toxic than the parental compound.

Other anti-inflammatory drugs whose degradation by fungi has been studied include fenoprofen, indomethacin, and propyphenazone. Tran et al. [5] evaluated the degradability of these pharmaceuticals (10 μ g L⁻¹ of each) by cultures of *T. versicolor*. After 48 h of incubation, they observed complete degradation of fenoprofen and indomethacin and approximately 75% for propyphenazone. In addition, enzymatic assays with LAC from *T. versicolor* resulted in almost complete degradation for fenoprofen (>90% after 3 h) and indomethacin (>90% after 30 min), but negligible levels of degradation (25% after 3 h) were achieved in the case of propyphenazone. However, neither analysis of the TPs nor toxicity assays were performed.

To summarize, the anti-inflammatory drugs studied are degraded at high rates by fungi (about some hours). Studies carried out with inhibitors of intracellular enzyme system (cytochrome p450) and purified extracellular enzymes like LAC, LiP, MnP, and VP revealed that diverse enzymatic systems can act simultaneously to degrade anti-inflammatory drugs when whole fungal cells are used. In general, the first step in the degradation of these drugs involves the production of hydroxylated metabolites. However, in some cases such as ibuprofen, the TPs cannot be subsequently degraded, producing an increase in the toxicity, but in other cases (ketoprofen, diclofenac) the hydroxylated products are degraded leading to a decrease in toxicity, suggesting the mineralization of the compound.

2.2 Psychiatric Drugs

Carbamazepine is one of the most widely prescribed drugs for the treatment of epilepsy, trigeminal neuralgia, and some psychiatric diseases. The degradation of carbamazepine has concerned the scientific community during the last years due to its barely or nondegradability in conventional WWTPs (see [2], this volume). In a degradation screening with four WRF (*T. versicolor, G. lucidum, I. lacteus*, and *P. chrysosporium*), Marco-Urrea et al. [3] reported the elimination of this pollutant at 10 mg L⁻¹ after 7 days only with *T. versicolor* and *G. lucidum*, achieving removals of 58% and 47%, respectively. The application of enzymatic degradation



Fig. 4 TPs in carbamazepine degradation by different fungi

using MnP and commercial LAC-mediator system failed to improve the degradation, suggesting that the extracellular ligninolytic enzyme system did not play a role in the first step of carbamazepine degradation [5, 11]. However, Hata et al. [11] increased the extent of carbamazepine degradation by pure LAC performing repeated treatments with the addition of LAC-mediator pulses every 8 h, achieving a removal of 60% after 48 h. During this process they found 10,11-dihydro-10,11epoxycarbamazepine and 9(10H)-acridone as degradation products at the end of the experiment (48 h). On the other hand, experiments using the cytochrome P450 inhibitors 1-aminobenzotriazole and piperonyl butoxide produced a reduction in the removal, thus indicating a possible role of this enzymatic complex in the oxidation of carbamazepine by T. versicolor and Pleurotus ostreatus [5, 14]. Jelić et al. [15] confirmed the degradation of this psychiatric drug by T. versicolor pellets obtaining a removal of 94% after 6 days when the contaminant was added at 9 mg L^{-1} , while at close environmentally relevant concentrations of 50 μ g L⁻¹, 61% of the contaminant was degraded in 7 days. In experiments at 9 mg L^{-1} the compounds 10,11-dihydro-10,11-epoxycarbamazepine, 10,11-dihydro-10,11-dihydroxycarbamazepine, acridone, and acridine were found as TPs (Fig. 4). Kang et al. [16] reported 10,11-dihydro-10,11-epoxycarbamazepine as the major by-product in the transformation of carbamazepine by Umbelopsis ramanniana and Cunninghamella elegans, but also detected two hydroxylated by-products (2-and 3-hydroxy carbamazepine). Other experiments with Bjerkandera sp. R1, B. adusta and P. chrysosporium were carried out by Rodarte-Morales et al. [4]. Complete degradation was achieved by all the fungi after 14 days. Nevertheless, a slow removal was observed during the first week of assay (<33%), which agrees with previous works from Marco-Urrea et al. [3] with P. chrysosporium. A study by Golan-Rozen et al. [14] revealed 99% removal of carbamazepine by P. ostreatus with subsequent transformation to 10,11-epoxycarbamazepine. In addition, the use of inhibitors of MnP resulted in lower elimination levels (10-30%), which suggests MnP participation in the transformation process. The same authors also suggested that the carbamazepine removal might be partially attributed to the activity of VP, contrary to studies with VP from *B. adusta*, which have shown undetectable removal yields [9]. Low removal yields (<10%) were also obtained with LiP from *P. chrysosporium* [10].

A biological Fenton-like system mediated by *T. versicolor* was used as a new treatment to degrade carbamazepine [17]. That treatment consisted in producing extracellular oxidizing species responsible for the degradation of the pollutants, through a quinone redox cycling mechanism catalyzed by an intracellular quinone reductase and any of the ligninolytic enzymes of *T. versicolor*, after addition of the lignin-derived quinone 2,6-dimethoxy-1,4-benzoquinone and Fe³⁺-oxalate in the medium. In that treatment, 80% of the contaminant was degraded. In addition, researchers found two hydroxylated isomers of carbamazepine, named 4- and 7-hydroxycarbamazepine, which completely disappeared at the end of the incubation period, regarded by the authors as a possible mineralization indicator.

To summarize, carbamazepine can be completely degraded by some fungi like *T. versicolor*, *P. ostreatus*, *U. ramanniana*, and *C. elegans*. The intracellular enzyme system cytochrome P450 seems to play a key role in the first step of the process. It is worth mentioning that the first step of the oxidative breakdown of carbamazepine in the cytochrome P450-mediated metabolism in humans is the oxidation to 10,11-epoxycarbamazepine [18] and consecutively to 10,11-dihydro-10,11-dihydroxycarbamazepine and other hydroxylated compounds [19]. The identification of these metabolites in the studies above mentioned might serve as an additional proof of the involvement of cytochrome P450 in the degradation of carbamazepine. Experiments with MnP and VP indicated that the same enzymes in different fungi can or not participate in the degradation of carbamazepine. Finally, the reports indicate the accumulation of TPs in the medium; however, no analyses of toxicity were carried out, and subsequently the suitability of the treatment is in doubt.

On the other hand, the continuous treatment of carbamazepine has been described by Jelić et al. [15] in an air-pulsed fluidized bed bioreactor (FBR) with *T. versicolor* pellets. The system achieved a reduction of 54% in the outflow respect to the inflow concentration (approximately 200 μ g L⁻¹) at the steady state (day 25) with a hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 3 days, corresponding to a degradation rate of 11.9 μ g g⁻¹ dry weight fungal pellets day⁻¹. By-products were not found during the process, probably due to the low concentration of the contaminant. Parallel experiments in a batch operated bioreactor resulted in high degradation (96%) after 2 days with the release of 10,11-dihydro-10,11-epoxycarbamazepine as the major transformation product. The authors reported low toxicity values (Microtox test) in both bioreactor treatments. However, in both continuous and batch operation the values of toxicity were higher than those in the control (containing only carmabazepine and medium) indicating that TPs may be more toxic than the parent compound.

Citalopram and fluoxetine are antidepressant drugs widely used in human medicine and very persistent in WWTPs. However, there are few studies about the degradation of these pharmaceuticals by fungi and none of them identifies TPs.

Rodarte-Morales et al. [4] observed the complete degradation of citalopram by the WRF strains *Bjerkandera* sp. R1, *B. adusta* and *P. chrysosporium* after 14 days. Nevertheless, the degradation rate was higher with *B. adusta*, as 58% of the citalopram was degraded after 4 days, while the other fungi removed less than 10% after 4 days. Regarding degradation of fluoxetine, the authors reported partial degradation by all the fungi tested, showing removal values ranging from 23 to 46% after 14 days. Eibes et al. [9] studied the degradation of these two pharmaceuticals by VP from *B. adusta* with poor success: elimination of 18% and 10% for citalopram and fluoxacin, respectively.

The degradation of diazepam, a tranquilizer drug, has also been assessed with *Bjerkandera* sp. R1, *B. adusta* and *P. chrysosporium* [4]; however, none of the WRF was able to completely degrade this compound, obtaining degradation yields between 39% and 57% after 14 days of incubation.

All the aforementioned psychiatric drugs are partially degraded by WRF in long periods (days) in comparison with previous anti-inflammatory drugs described (some hours). The major metabolite from carbamazepine was consistently 10,11-epoxycarbamazepine; however, other TPs, especially hydroxylated compounds, were identified during the fungal treatments. In the only study where toxicity was assessed, the TPs of carbamazepine seemed to be more toxic than the predecessor.

2.3 Lipid Regulators

Clofibric acid is the main pharmacologically active metabolite of the lipid-lowering drugs, clofibrate, etofibrate, and etofylline clofibrate. This compound shows low removal efficiency, approx. 28%, in conventional wastewater treatment technologies [20], and its ubiquitous presence has been demonstrated in the environment [21]. The first evidences for clofibric degradation by fungi were described by Marco-Urrea et al. [3] and Tran et al. [5]. Their results showed that clofibric acid (10 mg L^{-1}) was almost totally degraded by T. versicolor after 7 days. Other WRF (G. lucidum, I. lacteus and P. chrysosporium) failed to degrade the contaminant. The failure of MnP and a LACmediator system to degrade clofibric acid led to rule out the participation of these extracellular fungal enzymes in the first step of clofibric acid degradation. In contrast, experiments with active fungal cultures and cytochrome P450 inhibitors suggested a key role of this enzymatic complex in the oxidation of clofibric acid by *T. versicolor*. This fungus was also applied in the treatment of clofibric acid by the induction of oxidizing agents via quinone redox cycling [17]. This approach resulted in the elimination of more than 80% of the drug after 6 h when added at an initial concentration of 10 mg L^{-1} . The authors found a clofibric acid hydroxylated derivative as the main TP of the degradation process, which totally disappeared by the end of the experiment, thus suggesting the possible mineralization of the drug. Anyhow, toxicity was not assessed to evaluate the global applicability of the treatment.

Continuous bioreactor treatment was developed for the removal of clofibric acid by T. versicolor (data not yet published). That bioreactor was operated in

continuous mode with a HRT of 4 days and a clofibric acid concentration in the inflow close to real concentrations (160 μ g L⁻¹). The reactor achieved an 80% reduction in the concentration in the outflow at the steady state, indicating a clofibric acid degradation rate of 16.5 μ g g⁻¹ dry weight fungal pellets day⁻¹. During the treatment only 2-(4-chlorophenozy)-2-(hydroxymethyl)propanoic acid was detected as a major metabolite, confirming the degradation of the contaminant. However, that metabolite was not degraded by the fungus. In addition, results in the standard toxicity bioassay (Microtox test) indicated that the treated effluent was more toxic than the initial inflow, suggesting the production of a more toxic metabolite, which casts doubts on the suitability of the treatment.

Gemfibrozil also belongs to the group of drugs known as fibrates, employed to lower lipid levels. Tran et al. [5] studied gemfibrozil degradation by *T. versicolor* active cultures and its LAC. The researchers obtained a removal of 75% after 7 days when the whole fungus was inoculated. In addition, less than 30% was degraded in experiments with crude and commercial LAC, indicating that these extracellular enzymes are not involved in the first step of gemfibrozil degradation and suggesting that the oxidation of the target compound is done by intracellular enzymes.

Summarizing, intracellular enzyme cytochrome P450 seems to play an important role in the oxidation of lipid regulators while extracellular ligninolytic enzymes are not involved in their degradation. In addition, for clofibric acid hydroxylation products of higher toxicity were obtained after the treatment with fungal cells and also in fungal-mediated Fenton-like process, which in the former case was accumulated leading to an increase in the toxicity, but disappeared in the latter, suggesting mineralization.

2.4 Antibiotics

2.4.1 Sulfonamides

Among antibiotics, the group of the sulfonamides is, comparatively, one of the most studied in terms of fungal degradation. Enzymatic-mediated transformation has been demonstrated with LAC and VP. Schwarz and co-authors [22] reported transformations of 10%, 75%, and 96% for sulfanilamide, sulfadimethoxine, and sulfapyridine, respectively, after 15 days with commercial LAC from T. versicolor $(48,000 \text{ U L}^{-1})$. Aniline was confirmed as a breakdown product of sulfapyridine, while the SO₂ extrusion products 4-(2-imino-1-pyridyl)aniline and 4-(6-imino-2,4dimethoxypyrimidin-1-yl)aniline were determined for sulfapyridine and sulfadimethoxine, respectively. An additional metabolite with elemental composition $C_{12}H_{11}N_3O$ was assigned to sulfapyridine transformation; however, only tentative structures were proposed: 4-(2,3-diaminophenyl)imino-cyclohexa-2,5-dien-1-one and N-(3-pyridyl)pyridine-3-sulfonamide. Degradation was also achieved in shorter periods (hours) in lower LAC activity systems (50–350 U L^{-1}) in the case of sulfamethazine [23], sulfapyridine, and sulfathiazole [24], though it took place in the presence of LAC mediators. The desulfonated was a common metabolite obtained from the three sulfonamides. In addition, desamino-sulfamethazine and hydroxysulfamethazine were identified for sulfamethazine, while a formyl intermediate obtained after the loss of the pyrimidine/thiazole group was recognized from the transformation of sulfapyridine and sulfathiazole. Similarly, the use of VP from *B. adusta* (200 U L⁻¹) resulted in 80% transformation of sulfamethoxazole in 7 h [9]. Intermediate metabolites included 3-amino-5-methylisoxazole and a possible dimerization product of sulfamethoxazole, while anions such as nitrate, nitrite, and sulfate were detected as well.

Degradation of sulfonamides has also involved the use of whole cell fungal systems. García-Galán et al. [23] studied the degradation of sulfamethazine by T. versicolor pellets in liquid medium, obtaining almost complete removal after 20 h. Metabolites from in vivo experiments included the formylated (N-(4,6dimethylpyrimidin-2-yl)-4-(formylamino)benzenesulfonamide) and desulfonated (N-(4,6-dimethylpyrimidin-2-yl)benzene-1,4-diamine) intermediates, the latter being also identified from enzymatic degradation. Similar work with T. versicolor by Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al. [24] led to the elucidation of several degradation intermediates of sulfapyridine and sulfathiazole. From the former sulfonamide, the recognized metabolites included the desulfonated, formyl and hydroxyl intermediates, formyl-desulfonated sulfapyridine, and a formyl-hydroxylated metabolite produced after the loss of the pyridine ring (Fig. 5). As in the case of sulfamethazine, the desulfonated was the only intermediate found both in cellmediated and enzymatic degradation. For sulfathiazole the formyl intermediate was found, as well as a more transformed metabolite result of the hydroxylation of the desaminated and desulfonated parental compound. In those studies the possible role of the cytochrome P450 was also demonstrated in the transformation of sulfamethazine and sulfathiazole, but it was unclear in the case of sulfapyridine. In addition, the simultaneous removal of the three latter sulfonamides was achieved under continuous operation in a 1.5 L FBR containing T. versicolor pellets. Elimination was >94% for each sulfonamide at a HRT of 72 h [24].

The complete degradation of sulfamethoxazole was also reported within 14 days with *P. chrysosporium*, *Bjerkandera* sp. R1 and *B. adusta* [4], although, contrary to the reports of enzymatic transformation, metabolites were not identified. Partial removal (from 30% to 55%) of sulfamethoxazole from activated-sludge-mixed liquor and the effluent of a WWTP was demonstrated at bench scale within 5 days with *P. chrysosporium* propagules entrapped in a granular bioplastic formulation [25]. This approach was also successful in the partial elimination of other kinds of antibiotics, e.g., ciprofloxacin (see below) and the macrolide erythromycin.

Both enzymatic and whole cell-mediated transformation of sulfonamides has been described, usually with high removal efficiencies and relatively short treatments. Although different metabolites have been elucidated, no clear pathways have been defined; however, the desulfonated metabolites have been widely identified (with LAC and fungal cells) along with the products of hydroxylation, formylation, and deamination reactions, and combinations of them.



Fig. 5 TPs of sulfapyridine after degradation by *T. versicolor* (adapted from Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al. [24])

2.4.2 Tetracyclines

Fungal degradation of tetracyclines has been only described by enzymatic means but not with fungal cells. Wen and co-workers [26] described the use of crude lignin peroxidase from *P. chrysosporium* (40 U L⁻¹) which produced a 95% removal of tetracycline and oxytetracycline in 5 min; the degradation was pH dependant and was enhanced by increasing concentrations of veratryl alcohol and H₂O₂. Similarly, Suda et al. [27] reported the complete elimination of tetracycline and chlortetracycline in 15 min, and doxycycline and oxytetracycline in 1 h by LAC from *T. versicolor* in the presence of HBT. Transformation resulted in the complete loss of inhibitory effect towards *Escherichia coli, Bacillus subtilis*, and the green algae *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*. Nonetheless, the identification of TPs of these therapeutic drugs by fungal enzymes has not been yet reported.

2.4.3 Quinolones

Transformation of quinolones by fungi, especially fluoroquinolones, has received some attention. In this respect the most widely studied antibiotic is ciprofloxacin. Wetzstein et al. [28] described the transformation of >50% ciprofloxacin by *Gloeophyllum striatum* after 90 h, with some production of ¹⁴CO₂ from ¹⁴C-labeled structures and reduction in antibacterial activity. Eleven metabolites were elucidated, including mono- and dihydroxylated congeners, an isatin-type compound (proving elimination of C-2) and metabolites indicating both elimination and degradation of the piperazinyl moiety. In a similar study with T. versicolor, Prieto et al. [29] achieved >90% elimination after 7 days and 98% after 20 h with whole cells and LAC/mediators, respectively. The role of the cytochrome P450 enzymatic complex was also implied in the transformation, and six intermediates were elucidated: three previously described by Wetzstein et al. [28], plus a new product of the piperazinyl moiety breakdown. The other two metabolites corresponded to dimeric products formed by a C-C covalent bond and followed by several transformations including the breakdown of the piperazinyl group, removal of a cyclopropyl group and hydroxylation.

Metabolism of ciprofloxacin by *Pestalotiopsis guepini* yielded *N*-acetylciprofloxacin (the most abundant metabolite), desethylene-*N*-acetylciprofloxacin, *N*-formylciprofloxacin, and 7-amino-1-cyclopropyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo-1,4-dihydroquinoline-3-carboxilic acid [30]. Other transformation reports include the regioselective production of *N*-acetylciprofloxacin by *Mucor ramannianus* [31] and the optically active 4-hydroxy-3-oxo-4-vinylcyclopent-1-enyl ciprofloxacin by *Trichoderma viride* [32].

Partial mineralization of enrofloxacin, ranging from 5% to 53%, was demonstrated by different wood-rotting fungi grown on wheat straw after eight weeks, including several strains of the brown-rot fungus G. striatum (the most efficient degrader) and the white-rot fungi I. lacteus, P. chrysosporium, and Stropharia rugosoannulata [33]. Further work with G. striatum by Wetzstein and co-workers [34] led to the identification of several metabolites, including 3-, 6-, and 8-hydroxylated congeners of enrofloxacin (with replacing of the fluorine by a hydroxyl group in one case); 5,6- (or 6,8-), 5,8-, and 7,8-dihydroxylated congeners, prone to autoxidative transformation; products of the cleavage of the heterocyclic core of enrofloxacin (an isatin-type compound and an anthranilic acid derivative) and products of both elimination and degradation of the piperazinyl moiety (1-ethylpiperazine, the 7-amino congener and desethylene-enrofloxacin). Four different degradation routes were proposed (Fig. 6), initiated by either oxidative descarboxylation, defluorination, hydroxylation at C-8 or oxidation of the piperazinyl moiety. Wetzstein et al. [35] subsequently described the patterns of metabolites produced from enrofloxacin by seven basidiomycetes indigenous to agricultural sites. Their findings showed similar patterns of major metabolites, but differed considerably from those obtained from G. striatum, due particularly to the absence of monohydroxylated congeners and a greater variety of metabolites derived from the modification of the piperazine moiety. Metabolites comprised



Fig. 6 Main routes of degradation of enrofloxacin employed by G. striatum (adapted from Wetzstein et al. [34])

ethylpiperazine moieties with oxido-, hydroxyl-, oxo-, and acetoxy groups, or showing partial degradation, linked to the unmodified, oxidatively decarboxylated, or multiply hydroxylated core of enrofloxacin and to isatin- and anthranilic acid-type enrofloxacin congeners. Metabolites with hydroxylated aromatic rings likely suffered additional ring cleavage to form four potential oxidizable *o*-aminophenol and one catechol-type intermediates. The transformation of this fluoroquinolone was also studied with *M. ramannianus*, with 78% removal of the parent compound after 21 days and the identification of enrofloxacin *N*-oxide, *N*-acetylciprofloxacin, and desethylene-enrofloxacin as metabolites, the former being the most abundant [36].

Norfloxacin transformation has been demonstrated by *P. guepini* [30] and *T. viride* [32]. In the first case, the metabolites identified included *N*-acetylnorfloxacin as the major intermediate, desethylene-*N*-acetylnorfloxacin, *N*-formylnorfloxacin, and 7-amino-1-ethyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo-1,4-dihydroquinoline-3-carboxylic acid. For *T. viride*, 4-hydroxy-3-oxo-4-vinylcyclopent-1-enyl norfloxacin was elucidated as an intermediate. In both reports, the intermediates were analogous

to those derived from ciprofloxacin by the same fungi. Similarly, Prieto et al. [29] showed the degradation of norfloxacin by enzymatic means (LAC with mediators, 33% after 20 h) and whole cells of *T. versicolor* (>90% after 7 days). Three metabolites resulting from the transformation of the piperazinyl moiety were identified, with the accumulation of one of them, 7-amino-1-ethyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo-1,4-dihydroquinoline-3-carboxilic acid.

Transformation of the fluoroquinolones sarafloxacin to *N*-acetylsarafloxacin and desethylene-*N*-acetylsarafloxacin by *M. ramannianus* [37] and flumequine to two diasteroisomers of 7-hydroxyflumequine and 7-oxoflumequine by *C. elegans* [38] was also reported. Meanwhile, the quinolone-like antibiotic cinoxacin produced 1-ethyl-1,4-dihydro-3-(hydroxymethyl)[1,3]dioxolo[4,5-g]cinnolin-4-one and 1-ethyl-1,4-dihydro-6,7-dihydroxy-3-(hydroxymethyl)cinnolin-4-one when transformed by *Beauveria bassiana* [39].

Transformation of quinolones has been reported especially with fungal cells of diverse species, even obtaining partial mineralization, though LAC also proved relative efficiency in the removal of some of them. The abundance of metabolites described, many times analogous from one compound to another, has led to the proposal of several degradation pathways, which usually involve breakdown of the parental molecules and reactions of hydroxylation, acetylation, or formylation, among others.

2.5 Other Antimicrobial Agents

Triclosan is a broad spectrum antibacterial agent with antifungal and antiviral properties, widely employed in personal care products such as soaps, shampoos, toothpastes, and cosmetics [40]. Fungal-mediated degradation studies have been mainly performed by means of enzymatic processes, although a couple of whole cell transformation reports are available.

Inoue et al. [41] studied the elimination of triclosan by MnP from *P. chrysosporium*, and LAC from *T. versicolor*. MnP (0.5 nkat mL⁻¹) was the most efficient, achieving a removal of 94% after 30 min and almost complete after 60 min, while LAC (2.0 nkat mL⁻¹) and LAC-HBT removed triclosan at 51% and 66%, respectively. Moreover, the treatment with MnP resulted in the complete loss of bacterial inhibition activity after 30 min and reduced the algal growth inhibition by 90% after 60 min. Similar results were obtained by Kim and Nicell [40] with LAC from *T. versicolor* after 6 h, with concomitant reduction in toxicity even without mediators.

Immobilized enzymes, particularly LAC, have been employed in the degradation of triclosan. The immobilization of LAC from *Coriolopsis polyzona* through the formation of cross-linked enzyme aggregates (CLEAs) and their subsequent use in an FBR for the removal of endocrine disrupting compounds [42] produced the complete removal of triclosan, nonylphenol, and bisphenol A (5 mg L⁻¹ each) at a HRT of 150 min. The application of CLEAs in a perfusion basket reactor [43] resulted in the continuous elimination of the above-mentioned mixture at 85% with a HRT of 325 min during 7 days. Moreover, the system was able to eliminate >95% triclosan and nonylphenol at 100 mg L⁻¹ with a HRT of 400 min. The immobilization of VP from *B. adusta* in the form of CLEAs, although successful in the removal of other endocrine disrupting compounds, could only eliminate 26% of triclosan after 10 min in batch experiments [44]. Immobilized LAC from *C. polyzona* on the diatomaceous earth support Celite[®] R-633 [45] was employed as a catalyst for the removal of triclosan (5 mg L⁻¹) in a packed-bed reactor (PBR). Its operation in repeated batch treatments resulted in the complete elimination of the antimicrobial agent at a contact time of less than 200 min during five cycles. Similarly, the conjugation of LAC from *T. versicolor* with the biopolymer chitosan [46] produced a high-stable solid biocatalyst which degraded triclosan from aqueous solutions (100% after 6 h) with a higher efficiency than free LAC (60% after 6 h).

The identification of TPs derived from triclosan degradation has been determined through experiments with LACs from G. lucidum and C. polyzona and whole cell cultures of T. versicolor and Pycnoporus cinnabarinus. Enzymatic degradation with LAC from G. lucidum (5,000 U L^{-1}) removed 57% triclosan within 24 h and produced dimers and trimers of the parental compound. The degradation was enhanced by the addition of LAC mediators (HBT or syringaldehyde, SYD), reaching 90% removal, and resulted in the formation of different intermediates: 2.4-dichlorophenol and dechlorinated forms of 2.4-dichlorophenol [47], thus suggesting two mechanisms of triclosan removal by LAC, oligomerization in the absence of mediators, and ether bond cleavage with subsequent dechlorination in the presence of mediators (Fig. 7). The production of high-molecular-weight metabolites through a radical polymerization mechanism was also demonstrated by Cabana et al. [48] who identified dimers, trimers, and tetramers, formed through C–C and C–O bonds in enzymatic degradation with LAC from C. polyzona. In this study, the removal of triclosan was 65% with a LAC activity of 100 U L^{-1} , either at 4 or 8 h of treatment. The same authors also described the production of triclosan oligomers as a result of removal with LAC from T. versicolor [46].

Hundt et al. [49] described the transformation of triclosan by whole cell cultures of *T. versicolor* and identified the conjugates 2-*O*-(2,4,4'-trichlorodiphenyl ether)- β -D-xylopyranoside and 2-*O*-(2,4,4'-trichlorodiphenyl ether)- β -D-glucopyranoside, and in coincidence with the enzymatic treatment described by Murugesan et al. [47], 2,4-dichlorophenol. Under the same cultivation conditions, *P. cinnabarinus* also produced the glucoside conjugate determined for *T. versicolor* and an additional product corresponding to the methylation of triclosan, identified as 2,4,4'trichloro-2'-methoxydiphenyl ether. The conjugates exhibited reduced cytotoxicity and antimicrobial activity than triclosan. Elimination of triclosan by fungal cells was also evaluated by Cajthalm et al. [50], although the identification of metabolites was not performed. From seven WRF tested, all but one (*B. adusta*) significantly removed the antimicrobial agent within 14 days, with a progressive reduction in the estrogenic activity throughout the process.



Fig. 7 Proposed pathways for the degradation of triclosan by *G. lucidum* (adapted from Murugesan et al. [47])

Either by enzymatic means or with fungal cells, the transformation of triclosan seems to elapse through oligomerization and the production of 2,4-dichlorophenol. Other different metabolites have been identified depending on the process.

Phenothiazine and its derivates have been used as anthelmintic agents, as well as antiarrhythmic drugs, coronary vasodilators, and antidepressants. Parshikov et al. [51] reported the biotransformation of *N*-acetylphenothiazine, a phenothiazine derivate with an *N*-caronyl substituent, with three fungi, *Aspergillus niger*, *Cunninghamella verticillata*, and *Penicillium simplicissimum*, usually employed as model organisms in studies of drug bioconversion processes in mammalian systems. In the first step of the degradation all the fungi produced *N*-acetylphenothiazine sulfoxide and phenothiazine, while in a second step the last metabolite was transformed to phenothiazine sulfoxide. Furthermore, *C. verticillata* also could degrade phenothiazine to phenothiazin-3-one and phenothiazine-*N*-glucoside.

Oseltamivir, better known as Tamiflu, is the antiviral worldwide employed for the treatment of influenza (flu). Due to the importance of that drug for treating regular seasonal flu and its potential use in the case of pandemic flu scenarios, it is not strange that oseltamir has also been detected in high concentrations in the environment during flu season. In novel fungal-mediated approaches, Accinelli et al. [25] evaluated the efficiency of a granular bioplastic formulation which entraps propagules of *P. chrysosporium* for the removal of oseltamivir from wastewater samples. Their results showed a significant increase in the removal, obtaining two times more elimination values after 30 days in the bioremediated wastewater compared to the controls. This work demonstrated the success of the bioplastic matrix to facilitate the adaptation of the fungus to unusual environments such as wastewater. However, the identification of TPs was not carried out and the toxicity was not assessed; hence, the suitability of the treatment could not be evaluated.

Artemisinin is a naturally occurring sesquiterpene lactone that shows promising attributes as the basis of an anti-malarial agent. However its toxicity and water insolubility limit the application of the drug. This issue could be overcome with the production of semisynthetic derivatives of artemisinin, such as 7β-hydroxyartemisinin, which increase the antimalarial activity. For this reason, Parshikov et al. [52–54] carried out experiments to examine the transformation of artemisinin to 7 β -hydroxyartemisinin with different fungi. The authors achieved a 79% conversion with C. *elegans* but secondary TPs were also found: 7β -hydroxy- 9α artemisinin (6%), 4\alpha-hydroxy-1-deoxoartemisinin (5.4%), and 6\beta-hydroxyartemisinin (7%). Similarly, three strains of *M. ramannianus* were able to metabolize artemisinin into significant yields of hydroxylated metabolites, in particular 7 β -hydroxyartemisinin (88%) and 6 β -hydroxyartemisinin (1%), 4 α -hydroxy-1deoxoartemisinin (6%), and 7α -hydroxyartemisinin (5%). The same research group also assessed the transformation of artemisinin by the fungi Eurotium *amstelodami* and A. *niger* and identified two major TPs, 5β -hydroxyartemisinin and 7 β -hydroxyartemisinin from both organisms: 63% and 32% yields, respectively, from the extract of *E. amstelodami*, and 80% and 19%, respectively, from the extract of A. niger. These results suggest that the fungal transformation of artemisinin takes place through the production of hydroxylated compounds.

2.6 β -Blockers

β-Blockers comprise a group of therapeutic agents employed for the treatment of cardiac arrhythmias, cardioprotection after myocardial infarction, and hypertension. Propranolol, first successful β-blocker developed, and atenolol are among the most commonly used β-blockers for cardiovascular diseases. Due to their long-term use in Europe and North America and their subsequent occurrence in the aquatic environment, they were selected by Marco-Urrea et al. [17] to be degraded by biological Fenton-like system mediated by *T. versicolor* (see Sect. 2.2), developed to degrade emerging contaminants. With an initial pharmaceutical concentration of 10 mg L⁻¹, they achieved degradations above 80% after 6 h of incubation for atenolol and propranolol. The main degradation metabolites produced in the redox

cycling treatment were identified as hydroxylated derivatives for both compounds. These metabolites were accumulated in the medium and the toxicity was not assessed.

2.7 Estrogens

Degradation of estrogens has not only been studied especially by enzymatic means, but there are also some reports of transformation by whole fungal cells.

VP from *B. adusta* was shown to completely degrade estrone (E1), 17 β -estradiol (E2), and 17 α -ethinylestradiol (EE2) after 5–25 min, even at low VP activity (10 U L⁻¹) [9]. MnP from *P. chrysosporium* and LAC from *T. versicolor* in the presence of HBT degraded E2 and EE2 within 1 h as well, with an 80% reduction in their estrogenic activity. Extending the treatment to 8 h resulted in the total removal of the estrogenic activity [55]. Similar results were obtained with MnP from *P. sordida* and LAC from *T. versicolor* in the degradation of E1, as the estrogenic activity within 2 h [56].

The oxidation of E2 was described by Nicotra and co-workers [57] in two different LAC-mediated systems: in organic solvents with enzyme from *Myceliophthora* sp. (previously adsorbed on glass beads) and a biphasic system with enzyme from *Trametes pubescens*. In both cases, the production of C–C and C–O dimers occurred, attributed to the generation of oxygen radicals that can delocalize to carbon-located radicals, thus producing reactive monomer intermediates. The dimers could suffer further oxidation leading to the generation of oligomers and polymers (Fig. 8).

Enzymatic degradation was tested with commercial LAC from *M. thermophila* $(2,000 \text{ U L}^{-1})$. E2 and EE2 were completely degraded even in the absence of mediators after 3 and 5 h, respectively, and after 1 h in the presence of VA and >70% for the other mediators after 24 h, whereas elimination reached 65% in the absence of mediators [8]. The immobilization of this enzyme by encapsulation in a sol–gel matrix [58] was employed for the treatment of a mixture of E1, E2, and EE2 both in a batch stirred tank reactor (BSTR) operating in cycles and a continuous PBR. Removal of estrogens was >85% in the BSTR and 55%, 75%, and 60% for E1, E2, and EE2, respectively, in the PBR. Both systems were able to reduce the estrogenic activity of the mixture in 63%. Likewise, the immobilization of VP in the form of CLEAs completely removed E2 and EE2 within 10 min from batch experiments, with a concomitant reduction of estrogenic activity, higher than 60% for both compounds [44].

The application of LAC for the removal of estrogens from municipal wastewater was assessed by Auriol and co-authors [59]. Different enzyme levels were tested and a LAC activity of 20,000 U L⁻¹ was enough to achieve complete removal of E1, E2, estriol (E3), and EE2 in 1 h from both the wastewater and the synthetic



Fig. 8 Pathway of LAC-mediated oxidation of E2 (adapted from Cabana et al. [42] and Nicotra et al. [57])

water in 1 L batch reactors. This work also aimed at evaluating the wastewater matrix effect on the enzymatic process. By comparing with synthetic water, it was concluded that the wastewater constituents did not have a significant effect on the conversion of the estrogens. The same group evaluated the removal of estrogenic activity from the LAC-catalyzed process and compared it with a horseradish peroxidase treatment (8,000–10,000 U L⁻¹), which was also able to remove the hormones in 1 h. According to results from the recombinant yeast assay, the LAC process yielded a residue with a slightly lower estrogenic activity (elimination of 97%), compared to horseradish peroxidase (removal of 88%) [60].

Degradation of estrogens has been also demonstrated with whole fungal cells. E2 and EE2 were removed by *T. versicolor* pellets in batch (flasks) and in a continuous FBR [61]. Removal of both compounds was >97% within 24 h in batch cultures. The continuous bioreactor was operated for 26 days at a HRT of 120 h, and achieved complete removal of E2, added at different concentrations ranging from 3 to 18.8 mg L⁻¹, and simultaneous complete removal of E2 and EE2 added after biomass renovation (day 19). Degradation was ascribed to extracellular LAC. Likewise, Tamagawa et al. [56] reported 98% removal of E1 after 5 days by *P. sordida* and attributed the process to the effect of the extracellular ligninolytic enzymes released during the treatment. Cajthalm et al. [50] studied the degradation of EE2 (among other endocrine disrupting compounds) by eight ligninolytic fungal strains. *I. lacteus*, *P. cinnabarinus*, and *P. ostreatus* were the most efficient degraders, as they reduced EE2 below the detection limit within 3 days, followed by *T. versicolor* within 7 days and *B. adusta* and *Dichomitus squalens* within 14 days. Only *P. chrysosporium* and *Phanerochaete magnoliae* failed to completely remove the synthetic estrogen. EE2 degradation was accompanied by a decrease in the estrogenic activity of the solution, except in the case of *P. magnoliae*.

The fungal transformation of estrogens, by enzymes or cells, seems to produce metabolites with reduced estrogenic activity in short periods, usually days or even few hours. However, only oligomeric products have been identified in enzymatic processes and a lack in the identification of metabolites derived from whole cell fungal systems is still observed.

2.8 Iodinated Contrast Media

X-ray contrast agents, as triiodinated benzoates, permit visualization of the details of the internal structure of organs that would otherwise not be apparent. Given that iodinated X-ray contrast agents are very stable and chemically inert, they are excreted untransformed by humans and are not degraded in their subsequent pass through WWTPs.

The degradation of triiodinated benzoates by T. versicolor was investigated by Rode and Müeller [62]. The authors reported a removal of diatrizoate of approximately an 80% after 14 days. During the time course experiments, they found three TPs. In a first step, diatrizoate was degraded to 3,5-di(acetamido)-2,6diiodobenzoate (metabolite 1) and 3.5-di(acetamido)-4,6-diiodobenzoate (metabolite 2), which indicates that the degradation evolves through the successive release of iodide ions (Fig. 9). A third by-product identified as 3,5-di(acetamido)-2monoiodobenzoate (metabolite 3) was formed by a second deiodination of the former metabolites. Degradation yields of 58%, 65%, and 80% were also reported after 14 days when aminotrizoate, acetrizoate, and iodipamide were incubated with T. versicolor, respectively. During the degradation of iodipamide five TPs were detected, while in the case of acetrizoate, which has one acetamido group in the aromatic ring, the HPLC chromatograms showed only one metabolite. No aromatic metabolites were detected in the experiments with aminotrizoate, maybe due to the polymerization of the highly reactive amino group, which generates undetectable products in HPLC, or the direct cleavage of the ring structure. Nevertheless, the TPs of the three triiodinated compounds were not identified.

Degradation of iopromide, a nonionic X-ray contrast agent, and its precursor aminotriiodoisophthalic acid were also assessed with *T. versicolor*. Rode and Müller [63] reported almost complete degradation (90%) of iopromide over 15 days and detected 14 metabolites from iopromide. From all the TPs, 5-methoxyacetylamino-4-monoiodoisophthalic acid (2,3-dihydroxy-propyl) diamide (metabolite 1), 5-methoxyacetylamino-4(6)-monoiodoisophthalic acid [(2,3-dihydroxy-propyl)) methyl)] diamide (metabolite 2) and 5-methoxyacetylamino-2,6-diiodoisophthalic acid [(2,3dihydroxy-N-methyl-propyl)-2,3-dihydroxy-propyl)] diamide (metabolite 3) were recognized as the main metabolites (Fig. 10). Metabolite 1 was deiodinated



Fig. 9 Proposed transformation of diatrizoate by *T. versicolor* (adapted from Rode and Müller [62])

at the 2 and 6 positions of the aromatic ring and demethylated on one side chain. Metabolite 2 was twice deiodinated and demethylated, like metabolite 1, and additionally depropylated. The authors observed that when metabolite 2 appeared, the increase in concentration of metabolite 1 slowed down. For this reason, they suggested that the metabolite 2 was formed by depropylation of metabolite 1. Metabolite 3 was monodeiodinated at the 4 position on the aromatic ring. Regarding aminotriiodoisophthalate, which is the matrix moiety of iopromide without the side chains, they observed a degradation of only 50% after 14 days, with the subsequent production of only one metabolite. Finally, Rode and Müller indicate that the reductive deiodination of iodinated X-ray contrast agents is a general biodegradative pathway of *T. versicolor* and seems to occur prior to the cleavage of the ring structure.

The role of extracellular enzymatic systems in the degradation of triiodinated aromatics compounds was demonstrated by the same authors. Degradation yields between 87% and 93% for diatrizoate, iodipamide, and acetrizoate, and between 68% and 73% for aminotrizoate and aminotriiodoisophthalate were observed in in vitro experiments with extracellular enzyme concentrate of *T. versicolor* in the



Fig. 10 Identified metabolites from iopromide degradation by *T. versicolor* and proposed degradation scheme (adapted from Rode and Müller [63])

presence of $MnSO_4$ and malonate. The identification of the same metabolites in the whole cell cultures supports the evidence that their production from the triiodinated aromatic compounds is caused by the extracellular enzymes of *T. versicolor*. Rode and Müller [63] carried out similar experiments with commercial peroxidase, LAC, tyrosinase, LiP, and MnP from *P. chrysosporium*. The three former enzymes failed to degrade all the tested compounds, whereas LiP achieved the polymerization of the amino compounds aminotrizoate and aminotriiodoisophthalic acid. Only MnP was able to degrade all the target drugs, remarking its possible participation in the transformation of triiodinated aromatic compounds by WRF.

3 Concluding Remarks

Fungi are attractive candidates for designing effective bioremediation strategies of pharmaceuticals because of the unspecificity of their oxidative enzymatic system that includes not only LME but also intracellular enzymes such as cytochrome P450. In particular, fast degradation, from minutes to few days, has been demonstrated for estrogens, β -blockers, some anti-inflammatory drugs, antibiotics, and other antimicrobial agents, while iodinated contrast agents and psychiatric drugs are removed at slower rates. The participation of LME and cytochrome P450 has been shown in the transformation of members from every family of drugs, except in lipid regulators, in which the LME were not involved in the process. According to the metabolites identified, the most commonly reactions

involved in the transformation of pharmaceuticals by fungi include hydroxylations, formylations, deaminations, and their combinations (anti-inflammatory drugs, psychiatric drugs, antibiotics, β -blockers, lipid regulators, and other anti-microbial agents); dehalogenations (iodinated contrast media and triclosan) and oligomerizations (estrogens and triclosan). Analogous TPs identified for members of the same families (quinolones and sulfonamides) suggest common degradation pathways for similar molecules. Mineralization has been barely demonstrated, only suggested for some anti-inflammatory drugs (diclofenac and ketoprofen) and quinolones. In some cases, the accumulation of TPs has led to an increase of the toxicity (ibuprofen, carbamazepine, and clofibric acid). Therefore, the assessment of this parameter is essential to evaluate the suitability for the potential application of these processes in the treatment of effluents. Moreover, the fungal treatments have resulted in the reduction of estrogenic activity (estrogens and triclosan) and antimicrobial activity (triclosan). The use of different reactor configurations (continuous and batch fluidized bed, packed bed, perfusion basket reactors) for antiinflammatory, psychiatric drugs, lipid regulators, and triclosan removal has proved the possibility of scaling up the pharmaceutical degradation process. However, most of the published studies to date on removal of pharmaceuticals by fungi were carried out in synthetic liquid media under controlled conditions of pH, temperature, and absence of competitors that allow demonstrating the ability of the tested fungi to degrade the target pharmaceutical. Despite great promise of fungi as removal agents, a number of challenges remain to be surmounted in using them at larger field scale, i.e., competition with autochthonous microorganisms, nonoptimal pH, presence of inhibitors in wastewaters, etc. To date, these aspects have been barely studied and future research efforts on fungal bioremediation technology should shed light on them to translate our basic knowledge on fungi into costeffective practical bioremediation applications.

Summary of pharmaceutical degradation by whole cell fungi and their TP	
Summary of pharmaceutical degradation by whole c	ell fungi and their TP
Summary of pharmaceutical degradation	by whole c
Summary of pharmaceutical	degradation
Summary o	f pharmaceutical
-	1 Summary or

Table 1 Summar	y of pharmaceutical de	egradation by whole	e cell fungi and their TP				
				Initial			
Family drug	Drug	Fungus	Treatment	concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
Anti-inflammatories/ analgesic drugs	Diclofenac	B. adusta P. chrysosporium	Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were	1 mg L^{-1}	Total degradation in 7 days Completely disappeared in 4 days		[4]
		Bjerkandera sp.	statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks		Total degradation in 4 days		
		P. chrysosporium	Degradation in an aerated fed- batch bioreactor	$1 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	Diclofenac was added every 2 days. Every pulse was completely removed after 23 h		[9]
		P. sordida	Mycelium incubation in flask shaked at 150 rpm and 30°C	$30\mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	Completely disappeared after 4 days	4-Hydroxydiclofenac; 5-hydroxydiclofenac; 4′,5-dihydroxydiclofenac	[1]
		T. versicolor	Pellets incubation in Erlenmeyer flask shaked at 135 rpm and 25°C	10 mg L ⁻¹ and 45 μg L ⁻¹	Complete degradation after 1 h in both cases	4'-Hydroxydiclofenac; 5-hydroxydiclofenac	[7]
	Fenoprofen	T. versicolor	Incubation at 30°C in shaken condition for 48 h	$10 \mu \mathrm{g} \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	100% removed		[5]
	Ibuprofen	B. adusta P. chrysosporium Bjerkandera sp.	Erlenneyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks	1 mg L^{-1}	Total degradation in 7 days Total degradation in 4 days Total degradation in 4 days		[4]
		P. chrysosporium	Degradation in an aerated fed- batch bioreactor	$1 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	Diclofenac was added every 2 days. Every pulse was completely removed after 23 h		[9]
		I. lacteus G. lucidum P. chrysosporium T. vooriectee	Cultures were incubated in serum bottles shaked at 135 rpm and 25°C during 7 days	$10 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	100% before 7 days 100% before 7 days 70–88% after 7 days		[3]
		1. Versicolor			Complete degradation atter 1 h	1-Hydroxy touproren; 2-hydroxy ibuprofen; 1,2-dihydroxy ibuprofen	
	Indomethacin	T. versicolor	Incubation at 30°C in shaken condition for 48 h	10 μg L ⁻¹	100% removed		[2]

[13]	Ξ	[4]	[0]	[12]	[5]	(continued)
2-[3-(4-Hydroxybenzoyl) phenyl]-propanoic acid; 2-[(3- hydroxy(phenyl)methyl) phenyl]-propanoic acid; 2-(3- benzoyl-4-hydroxyphenyl)- propanoic acid	 3'-Hydroxymethyl mefenamic acid; 3'-hydroxymethyl- 5-hydroxymethyl- bydroxymetenamic acid; 3'- bydroxymetenamic acid; 3'- carboxy mefenamic acid 			2-(6-Hydroxynaphthalen-2-yl) propanoic acid; 1-(6-methoxynaphthalen- 2-yl)ethanone		
100% removed after 24 h and 5 h, respectively	90% after 6 days of treatment.	100% after 7 days 100% after 4 days 100% after 7 days	Diclofenac was added every 2 days. Every pulse was completely removed after 23 h	Complete degradation after 6 h and 5 h, respectively	75% removed at 2 days	
$10 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$ and $40 \text{ µg } \text{L}^{-1}$	10^{-4} M	1 mg L^{-1}	$1 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	10 mg L^{-1} and 55 µg L ⁻¹	$10~\mu g~L^{-1}$	
Pellets incubation in Erlenmeyer flask shaked at 135 rpm and 25°C	Mycelium incubation in flask shaked at 150 rpm and 30°C	Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks	Degradation in an aerated fed- batch bioreactor	Pellets incubation in Erlenneyer flask shaked at 135 rpm and 25°C	Incubation at 30°C in shaken condition for 48 h	
T. versicolor	P. sordida	B. adusta P. chrysosporium Bjerkandera sp.	P. chrysosporium	T. versicolor	T. versicolor	
Ketoprofen	Mefenamic	Naproxen			Propyphenazone	

Table 1 (cont	inued)						
Family drug	Drug	Fungus	Treatment	Initial concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
Antibiotics	Cinoxacin	B. bassiana	Experimental cultures in flasks were incubated at 28°C with rotary shaking at 180 rpm during 20 days.	20 mM	52.7% removed after 20 days	1-Ethyl-1,4-dihydro- 3-(hydroxymethyl)-[1,3] dioxolo[4,5-g]cinnolin-4-one 1-Ethyl-1, 4-dihydroxy-6,7-dihydroxy- 3-(hydroxymethyl)cinnolin-4-	[32]
	Ciprofloxacin	G. striatum	Erlenneyer flasks containing 30 ml of medium and fungi were incubated at 150 rpm at room temperature for 13 weeks	10 mg L^{-1}	33% after 13 weeks.	Monohydroxylated congeners; dihydroxylated congeners	[30]
		M. Ramannianus	Cultured incubated for 14 days at 28°C with shaking at 200 rpm	300 µ.M	89.9 ± 0.4% removed after 14 days	1-Cyclopropyl- 6-fluoro-1, 4-dihydro-4-oxo-7- (4-aeetyl-1-piperazinyl)- 3-quinolineearboxylic acid	[31]
		P. guepini	Incubation of mycelium for 18 days	300 µJM	67.8% removed after 18 days	N-acetylciprofloxacin (52%) Desethylene-N- acetylciprofloxacin (9.2%); N-formylciprofloxacin (4.1%); 7-amino-1-cyclopropyl- 6-fluoro-4-oxo-1, 4-dihydroquinoline- 3-carboxylic acid (2.3%)	[30]
		T. viride	Incubation of mycelium for 16 days	300 µM	31% had been transformed to the product	4-Hydroxy-3-oxo- 4-vinylcyclopent-1-enyl ciprofloxacin	[39]
		P. chrysosporium	Inoculation of granular bioplastic formulation entrapping propagules of <i>P. chrysosportum</i> in wastewater	10 µg mL ⁻¹	80% after 30 days incubation		[25]

5	6	5	[6	÷	(continued)
7-((2-Aminoethyl)amino)-1- cyclopropyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo- 1,4-dihydroquinoline-3- cyclopropyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo- 1,4-dihydroquinoline-3- cyclopropyl-6-fluoro-1- cyclopropyl-6-fluoro-1- 6-fluoro-8-hydroxy-4-oxo-1 dihydroquinoline-3- carboxylic acid; 1-cyclopropyl- fluoro-8-hydroxy-4-oxo-7- (piperazin-1-yl)-1,4- (piperazin-1-yl)-1,4- (piperazin-1-yl)-1,4- (piperazin-1-yl)-1,4- (piperazin-1-yl)-1,4- (piperazin-1-yl)-1,6-fluoro- 8-hydroxy-4-oxo-1,4- (dihydroquinoline-3-carboxylic acid; 7-((2-acetantidoethyl)) amino)-1-cyclopropyl-6-fluoro- 8-hydroxy-4-oxo-1,4- (dihydroquinoline-3-carboxylic acid; two dimeric products formed by C-C covalent bond and followed by several transformations	[3:	Enrofloxacin N-oxide (62%) [36 N-acetylciprofloxacin (8%); desethylene-enrofloxacin (3.5%)	61 different compounds; see [35 text for more details	 5., 6., and 8-hydrolated [3. congeners of enrofloxacin 5.6-(or 6.8-), 5.8., and 7.8- dihydroxylated congeners lisatin-type compound Anthranilic acid derivative 1-Ethtylipperazine; desethylene- enrofloxacin 	
>90% after 7 days	53.3% ± 1.2% in 8 weeks 5.1% ± 0.6% in 8 weeks 25.6% ± 0.6% in 8 weeks 13.7% ± 0.8% in 8 weeks	22% of the enrofloxacin remained after 21 days	n.d.	Production of 27.3% ¹⁴ CO ₂ from [¹⁴ C] enrofloxacion	
2 mg L ⁻¹	$3.3 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$	253 µM	28.5 mg L^{-1}	10 mg L^{-1}	
Pellets incubated at 30°C under orbital agitation	Wood-rotting fungi grown on wetted wheat straw	Cultures grown in sucrose- peptone broth were dosed with enrofloxacin	Static cultures inoculated with mycelium	Mycelia suspended in a defined liquid medium with contaminant were shaked at 150 rpm during 8 weeks	
T. versicolor	G. striatum S. rugosoamulata P. chrysosporium I. lacteus	M. ramannianus	Several basydiomycetes	G. striatum	
Ciprofloxacin	Enrofloxacin				

Table 1 (cont	inued)						
				Initial			
Family drug	Drug	Fungus	Treatment	concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
	Erythromycin	P. chrysosporium	Inoculation of granular bioplastic formulation entrapping propagules of <i>P. chrysosporium</i> in wastewater	10 µg mL ⁻¹	98% after 30 days.		[25]
	Norfloxacin	P. guepini	Incubation of mycelium for 18 days	313 µМ	68.9% removed after 18 days	N-Acetylnorfloxacin (55.4%); desethylene-N- acetylnorfloxacin (8.8%); N- for-mylnorfloxacin (3.6%); 7- amino-1-ethyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo- 1,4-dihydroqunoline-3- carboxylic acid (2.1%)	[06]
		T. viride	Incubation of mycelium for 16 days	313 μM	42% had been transformed to the product	4-Hydroxy-3-oxo-4- vinylcyclopent-1-enyl norfloxacin	[39]
		T. versicolor	Pellets incubated at 30°C under orbital agitation	2 mg L ⁻¹	>90% after 7 days	7-((2-Aminoethyl)amino)-1- ethyl-6-fluoro-4-oxo-1,4- dihydroquinoline-3-carboxylic acid; 7-amino-1-ethyl-6-fluoro- 4-oxo-1,4-dihydroquinoline-3- carboxylic acid; $7-((2-$ scetamidoethyl)amino)-1-ethyl- 6-fluoro-4-oxo-1,4- dihydroquinoline-3-carboxylic acid	[62]
	Flumequine	C. elegans	Cultures at 28°C and shaking	308 µM	n.d.	7-Hydroxyflumequine (two diastereomers); 7- oxoflumequine	[38]
	Sarafloxacin	M. ramannianus	Cultures grown in sucrose- peptone broth were dosed with sarafloxacin	260 µM	59% of the starting material remained.	N-acetylsarafloxacin; desethylene-N- acetylsarafloxacin	[37]

[23]	[24]	[24]		[24]		[25]
N-(4,6-dimethylpyrimidin-2-yl) benzene-1,4-diamine (desuffonated suffamethazine); N-(4,6-dimethylpyrimidin-2- yl)4-(formylamino) benzensulfonamide (formylated sulfamethazine)		Formylated sulfathiazole; desulfonated-desaminated- hydroxylated sulfathiazole		Desulfonated sulfapyridine; formylated sulfapyridine; formylated-desulfonated sulfapyridine; hydroxy-formyl intermediate after the loss of the pyridine ring		
>95% after 20 h	94% at HRT 72 h	100% after 7 days	>95% at HRT 72 h	100% after 48 h	>99% at HRT 72 h	98% after 30 days.
9 mg L ⁻¹	5 mg L^{-1}	$11 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	5 mg L^{-1}	9 mg L^{-1}	5 mg L^{-1}	10 µg mL ⁻¹
Pellets incubation in Erlenmeyer flask shaked at 135 rpm and 25°C	Continuous degradation in an air pulsed fluidized bed bioreactor	Pellets incubation in Erlenmeyer flask shaked at 135 rpm and 25°C	Continuous degradation in an air-pulsed fluidized bed bioreactor	Pellets incubation in Erlenmeyer flask shaked at 135 rpm and 25°C	Continuous degradation in an air-pulsed fluidized bed bioreactor	Inoculation of granular bioplastic formulation entrapping propagules of <i>P. chrysosporium</i> in wastewater
T. versicolor	T. versicolor	T. versicolor		T. versicolor		P. chrysosporium
Sulfamethazine		Sulfathiazole		Sulfapyridine		Sulfamethoxazole

(continued)

Table 1 (continu	(pər						
Family drug	Drug	Fungus	Treatment	Initial concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
		B. adusta P. chrysosporium	Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were	1 mg L^{-1}	Complete degraded before 14 days 80% degradation after		[4]
		Bjerkandera sp.	30°C for 2 weeks		7 days Complete degraded before 14 days		
Other antimicrobial agents	N-acetylphenothiazine	A. nigen	Cultures were dosed and then incubated for 72 h at 28°C with shaking at 200 rpm.	20 mg ml^{-1}	Residual N- acetylphenothiazine	N-acetylphenothiazine; sulfoxide Phenothiazine sulfoxide	[51]
		C. verticillata				N-acetylphenothiazine sulfoxide; phenothiazine sulfoxide; phenothiazin-3-one; phenothiazine N-glucoside;	
		P. simplicissimum				N-acetylphenothiazine sulfoxide; phenothiazine sulfoxide; phenothiazine	
	Triclosan	I. lacteus B. adusta	Static culture inoculated with mycelium	2.5 mg L^{-1}	>95% after 14 days >95% after 14 days		[50]
		P. chrysosporium			>95% after 14 days		
		P. magnolia P. ostreatus	Static culture inoculated with mycelium	2.5 mg L^{-1}	90% after 14 days 95% after 14 days		
		T. versicolor			91% after 14 days		
		P. cinnabarinus D. saualens	Static culture inoculated with mycelium	2.5 mg L^{-1}	>95% after 14 days >95% after 14 days		
		T. versicolor			>95% after 14 days	2,4-Dichlorophenol; the conjugates 2- O -(2,4,4'- trichlorodiphenyl ether)- β -D-xylopyranoside and 2- O -(2,4,4'-	[49]
		P. cimabarinus	Mycelium inoculation and shaking at 30°C	0.25 mM	п.d.	trichlorodiphenyl ether)- β -D- glucopyranoside 2.4.4'-Trichloro- $2'$ - methoxydiphenyl ether; the conjugate $2.0-(2,4.4'$ - trichlorodiphenyl ether)- β -D-	
						glucopyranoside	

[52]	[53]	[54]	[25]	[11]	[11]	[3]	Not yet published		(continued)
5β-Hydroxyartemisinin; 7β- hydroxyartemisinin 5β-Hydroxyartemisinin;	7β -hydroxyartemisinin 6β -Hydroxyartemisinin; 7β -hydroxyartemisinin; 7α -hydroxyartemisinin; 4α -hydroxy-1- deoxoartemisinin	6β-Hydroxyartemisinin; 7β- hydroxyartemisinin; 7α- hydroxy-9α-artemisinin 4α-Hydroxy-1- deoxoartemisinin		Atenolol hydroxylated derivative (P282)	Hydroxy propranolol (P275)			2-(4-Chlorophenoxy)-2- (hydroxymethyl) propanoic	
Residual artemisinin after 14 days Residual artemisinin after	14 days Completely degraded after 14 days	96.5% degradation after 14 days	50% after 16 days incubation	80% reached after 6 h of incubation.	50% in 1 h and 80% after 6 h incubation	Low degradation Low degradation Low degradation 91% after 7 days of the treatment	Completely degraded after 4 days	80% of the inflow concentration was	
$500 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$			$10 \ \mu g \ m L^{-1}$	10 mg L^{-1}	10 mg L^{-1}	10 mg L^{-1}	30 µg L ⁻¹	160 μg mL ⁻¹	
Cultures were incubated at 28°C in environmental shakers during 14 days.			Inoculation of granular bioplastic formulation entrapping propagules of <i>P. chrysosporium</i> in wastewater	Degradation of contaminant by induction of oxidizing agents in <i>T. versicolor</i> via quinone redox cycling.	Degradation of contaminant by induction of oxidizing agents in <i>T. versicolor</i> via quinone redox cycling.	Cultures were incubated in serum bottles shaked at 135 rpm and 25°C during 7 days	Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks		
E. amstelodami Aspergillus nigen	M. Ramannianus	C. elegans	P. chrysosporium	T. versicolor	T. versicolor	I. lacteus P. chrysosporium G. lucidum T. versicolor	T. versicolor	T. versicolor	
Artemisinin			Oseltamivir	Atenolol	Propanolol	Clofibric acid			
				B-blockers		Lipid regulator			

(p	
(continue	
e 1	

Table 1 (continu	ued)						
Family drug	Drug	Fungus	Treatment	Initial concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
			Continuous degradation in an air-pulsed fluidized bed bioreactor		reduced at the steady state. 16.5 μ g removed g ⁻¹ d.w. day ⁻¹		
		T. versicolor	Degradation of contaminant by induction of oxidizing agents in <i>T. versicolor</i> via quinone redox cycling.	$10 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	80% reached after 6 h of incubation.	Clofibric hydroxylated derivative	[11]
	Gemfibrozil	T. versicolor	Incubation at 30°C in shaken condition for 48 h	$10~\mu g~L^{-1}$	70% degraded after 2 days		[2]
Psychiatric drugs	Carbamazepine	P. chrysosporium	Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and	1 mg L^{-1}	Completely removed before 14 days		[4]
		Bjerkandera sp.	contaminant were statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks		Completely removed before 14 days		
		B. adusta			Completely removed at 14 days		
		T. versicolor	Incubation at 30°C in shaken condition for 48 h	$10~\mu g~L^{-1}$	75% degraded after 2 days		[2]
		P. chrysosporium	Cultures were incubated in serum bottles shaked at	$10 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	<10% after 7 days incubation		[3]
		G. lucidum	135 rpm and 25°C during 7 days		47% after 7 days incubation		
		T. versicolor			58% after 7 days treatment		
		I. lacteus			<10% after 7 days incubation		
		P. ostreatus	Incubation in Erlenmeyer flasks at 28°C in the dark	$10~{ m mg~L}^{-1}$	60% degraded after 17 days		[14]
		P. ostreatus			48% after 17 days		
	Carbamazepine	U. ramanniana			25% removed after 25 days	11-Epoxy-carbamazepine; 2- hydroxy-carbamazepine; 3- hydroxy-carbamazepine	[16]
		C. elegans			45% of degradation after 25 days	11-Epoxy-carbamazepine; 2- hydroxy-carbamazepine; 3- hydroxy-carbamazepine	
		P. ostreatus			Complete degradation after 10 days		

[15]		[11]	[4]	[4]	[4]	[61]	[61]	[00]	
Acridine; acridone; 10,11- dihydro-10,11-dihydroxy- carbamazepine; 11-epoxy- carbamazepine	11-Epoxy-carbamazepine	Two hydroxylated isomers of CBZ (P254A and B)							
High concentrations 94% elimination after 6 days and in low 61% after 7 days.	Completely degraded after 2 days in batch mode. In continuous operation, 54% of the inflow concentration was reduced at the steady state. 11.9 μg removed g^{-1} d. w day^{-1}	50% in 1 h and 80% after 6 h incubation	57% removed in 5 days54% removed in 5 days56% removed in 5 days	<10% in 2 weeks 23% after 14 days <10% in 2 weeks	Complete degradation before 14 days Complete degradation before 14 days 58% removal after 4 days	100% at a HRT 120 h	100% at a HRT 120 h	100% after 14 days	100% after 14 days 30% after 14 days
10 mg L ⁻¹ and 50 μg L ⁻¹	200 µg mL ⁻¹	$10 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	$1 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$	$1 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$	$1 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$	$18.8 { m mg \ L^{-1}}$	7.3 mg L^{-1}	2.5 mg L^{-1}	
Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks	Degradation in an air-pulsed fluidized bed bioreactor operated in batch and continuous	Induction of oxidizing agents in <i>T. versicolor</i> via quinone redox cycling.	Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks	Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks	Erlenmeyers flasks containing defined medium and contaminant were statically incubated at 30°C for 2 weeks	Continuous degradation in an bioreactor		Static culture inoculated with	mycenam
T. versicolor	T. versicolor	T. versicolor	P. chrysosporium Bjerkandera sp. B. adusta	P. chrysosporium Bjerkandera sp. B. adusta	B. adusta P. chrysosporium Bjerkandera sp.	T. versicolor	T. versicolor	I. lacteus	D. aausta P. chrysosporium
			Diazepam	Fluoxetine	Citalopram	17B-estradiol	17a-ethinylestradiol		
						Estrogens			

(continued)

Table 1 (continu	ied)						
				Initial			
Family drug	Drug	Fungus	Treatment	concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
		P. magnoliae			70% after 14 days		
		P. ostreatus			100% after 14 days		
		T. versicolor			100% after 14 days		
		P. cinnabarinus			100% after 14 days		
		D. squalens			100% after 14 days		
X-ray contrast media	Diatrizoate	T. versicolor	Flasks scale at 30°C	1 mM	80% after 14 days	3,5-Di(acetamido)-2,6-	[62]
						duodobenzoate; 3.5-du (acetamido)-4.6-	
						diiodobenzoate; 3,5-di	
						(acetamido)-2-	
						monoiodobenzoate	
	Iodipamide	T. versicolor			80% after 14 days	Five metabolites detected	
	Aminotrizoate	T. versicolor			58% after 14 days	No metabolites detected	
	Acetrizoate	T. versicolor			65% after 14 days	1 metabolite detected	
	Aminotriiodoisophthalic acid	T. versicolor			50% after 14 days	One metabolite detected	
	Aminotriiodoisophthalic acid	T. versicolor			50% after 14 days	One metabolite detected	[63]
	Iopromide	T. versicolor		Mm I	90% after 15 days	5-Methoxyacetylamino-4- monoiodoisophthalic acid (2,3- dihydroxy-propyl) diamide; 5- methoxyacetylamino-4(6)- monolooisophthalic acid [(2,3 dihydroxy-propyl)-methyl)] diamide; 5- methoxyacetylamino-2,6- diiodoisophthalic acid [(2,3,dihydroxy-M-methyl)- propyl)-2,3-dihydroxy-propyl)] diamida.	

Table 2 Summary	of pharmaceutical de	egradation by fungal enzyr	me and their TP				
				Initial			
Family drug	Drug	Fungal enzyme	Treatment	concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
Anti-inflammatories/ analgesic drugs	Diclofenac	VP from B. adusta	Flask scale	2.5 mg L^{-1}	100% after 25 min	4-(2,6-Dichlorophenyl amino)-1,3- benzenedimethanol	[6]
		LAC from M. thermophila	Flask scale	$5~{ m mg~L^{-1}}$	83–100% after 24 h with mediators, 83% without mediators		[58]
		LiP from P. chrysosporium	Flask scale	5 mg L^{-1}	100% after 2 h		[10]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	40 mg L^{-1}	>95% after 4.5 h		[2]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10~\mu{ m g~L}^{-1}$	>90% in 30 min		[2]
	Fenoprofen	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	>90% in 3 h		[2]
	Ibuprofen	LAC from T. versicolor/ MnP from Bishenders 50	Flask scale	$10 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	Negligible after 24 h, even with mediators		[3]
		Djerkanaer u sp I.AC from T versicolor	Flack scale	10 II o I -1	~35% in 3 h		5
	Indomethacin	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10 \text{ ug } \text{L}^{-1}$	>90% in 30 min		2 5
	Ketoprofen	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	Negligible after 20 h, even with mediators		[13]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10~\mu{ m g~L}^{-1}$	~50% in 3 h		[2]
	Naproxen	VP from B. adusta	Flask scale	2.5 mg L^{-1}	80% after 7 h		[6]
	,	LAC from	Flask scale	$5 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	36–68% after 24 h with		[8]
		I AC from T municular	Elocir coolo	$20 m_{2} 1 - 1$	$\sim 0.50^{\circ} \sim 0.00^{\circ}$		101
			LIASK SCALC	20 mg L	HOBT, <10% without mediator		[71]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	>90% in 30 min		[2]
	Propyphenazone	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	~25% in 3 h		[2]
Antibiotics	Tetracycline	LiP from	Flask scale	$50~{ m mg}~{ m L}^{-1}$	>99% after 30 min, only in		[26]
		P. chrysosporium			the presence of veratryl alcohol		
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10^{-4} { m M}$	100% after 1 h with mediators		[27]
							(continued)
				Initial			
-------------	------------------	------------------------------	-------------	------------------------	--	---	------------
Family drug	Drug	Fungal enzyme	Treatment	concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
	Oxytetracycline	LiP from P. chrysosporium	Flask scale	50 mg L^{-1}	>99% after 30 min, only in the presence of		[26]
					veratryl alcohol		
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10^{-4} \mathrm{M}$	100% after 1 h with mediators		[27]
	Chlortetracline	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	10^{-4} M	100% after 15 min with mediators		[27]
	Doxycycline	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	10^{-4} M	100% after 15 min with mediators		[27]
	Sulfadimethoxine	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10^{-3} \mathrm{M}$	75.1% after 15 days	4-(6-Imino-2,	[22]
						4-dimethoxy pyrimidin-1-yl) aniline: additional metabolites were preliminary assigned but prof confirmed	
			i	Ţ			
	Sulfamethazine	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	20 mg L^{-1}	22% after 50 h without mediators, 93–100% with mediators	N-(4,6-dimethyl pyrimidin-2-yl)benzene- 1,4-diamine	[23]
						(desulfonated	
						sun ametnazme); N-(4,6-dimethyl	
						pyrimidin-2-yl)	
						benzenesulfonamide	
						(desaminated	
						sulfamethazine);	
						N ₁ -hydroxysulta methazine or	
						N_4 -hydroxysulfa	
						methazine (hydroylated	
						sulfamethazine)	
	Sulfamethoxazole	VP from B. adusta	Flask scale	25 mg L^{-1}	80% after 7 h	3-Amino-5-methyli	[6]
	Sulfanilamide	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10^{-3} { m M}$	10.0% after 15 days	Aniline was preliminary	[22]
						assigned but not	
						continued	
	Sulfapyridine	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	10 ⁻³ M	95.6% after 15 days	Aniline; 4-(2-imino-1- pyridyl)aniline; additional metabolites	[22]
						were preliminary	
						assigned but not	
						contirmed	

Table 2 (continued)

4	4]	[6]	[6]	Ē	Ξ	[5]	2	[0	8	ntinued)
ss	s	2	2	<u>z</u>	7	2	2	21	7	(co)
Desulfonated sulfapyridine; a formyl intermediate after the lo of the pyrimidine ring	Desulfonated sulfapyridine; a formyl intermediate after the lo of the thiazole ring								Oligomers (dimers, trimers and tetramers)	
75-98% with mediators	82-100% with mediators	16% after 20 h; 97.7% with mediators	0% after 20 h, 33.7% with mediators	100% after 90 min	66% after 90 min with mediators, 10–51% without mediators	>90% after 200 min	85% at HRT 325 min	100% after 4 h without mediators, after 30 in with mediators	65% after 4 h without mediator, 50% after 1 h with mediators	
$20{ m mgL^{-1}}$	$16 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	10 mg L^{-1}	10 mg L^{-1}	$28.95 { m mg} { m L}^{-1}$	$28.95 \mathrm{mg} \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	5 mg L^{-1}	$5 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$; 100 mg L^{-1}	5.8 mg L^{-1}	5 mg L^{-1}	
Flask scale	Flask scale	Flask scale	Flask scale	Flask scale	Flask scale	PBR with immobilized LAC; repeated batch cycles	Continuous perfusion basket reactor with CLEAs	Flask scale	Flask scale	
LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from T. versicolor	MnP from P. chrysosporium	LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from C. polyzona	LAC from C. polyzona	LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from C. polyzona	
	Sulfathiazole	Ciprofloxacin	Norfloxacin	Triclosan						
				Other antimicrobial agents						

Table 2 (continu	(pai						
				Initial			
Family drug	Drug	Fungal enzyme	Treatment	concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
		LAC from G. lucidum	Flask scale	$0.2 \text{ mmol } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	56.5% after 24 h without mediators, 90% with mediators; reduction in toxicity demonstrated by bacterial inhibition methods	Oligomers in the absence of mediators (dimers and trimers of triclosan); 2,4- dichlorophenol (2,4- DCP) and dechlorinated forms of 2,4-DCP in the presence of mediators	[49]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Conjugates laccase- chitosan	5 mg L^{-1}	100% after 6 h (only 60% with free LAC)	Oligomers and dechlorinated oligomers	[46]
		LAC from C. polyzona	Continuous FBR with CLEAs	5 mg L^{-1}	100% at HRT 150 min)	[42]
		VP from B. adusta	Flask scale with CLEAs	$10{ m mgL}^{-1}$	26% after 10 min	VP was co-aggregated with glucose oxidase	[44]
Psychiatric drugs	Carbamazepine	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale with repeated additions of LAC or LAC + HBT	2×10^{-5} M	60% after 48 h, only with HBT	10,11-dihydro-10, 11-epoxycarba mazepine, 9(10 H) acridone	Ξ
		MnP from P. chrvsosporium	Flask scale	$2 \times 10^{-5} \mathrm{M}$	14% after 24 h		[11]
		VP from B. adusta	Flask scale	2.5 mg L^{-1}	Negligible after 7 h		6]
		LiP from P. chrvsosporium	Flask scale	5 mg L^{-1}	<10% in 2 h		[10]
		LAC from T. versicolor/ MnP from	Flask scale	$10 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	Negligible after 24 h, even with mediators		[3]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10 \mathrm{ug}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	~35% in 3 h		[2]
	Citalopram	VP from B. adusta	Flask scale	2.5 mg L^{-1}	18% after 7 h		6
	Fluoxetine	VP from B. adusta	Flask scale	2.5 mg L^{-1}	< 10% after 7 h		[6]
Lipid regulators	Clofibric acid	LAC from T. versicolor/ MnP from Bierkandera sp.	Flask scale	$10\mathrm{mgL^{-1}}$	Negligible after 24 h, even with mediators		[3]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	~20% in 3 h		[2]
	Gemfibrozil	LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	$10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	~80% in 3 h		[5]

[6]	[55]	[55]	[59]	[60]	[58]	[44]	[6]	[57] (continued)
								Two C–C and two C–O dimeric products
100% after 15 min 100% after 5 h without mediators: 1–3 h depending on mediator	>95% after 1 h; estrogenic activity completely removed after 8 h	>95% after 1 h with mediators; estrogenic activity completely removed after 8 h	100% after 1 h	100% after 1 h; estrogenic activity completely removed after 8 h for a mixture of EDC	>94%/60%: reduction in toxicity detected	93.1% after 10 min; 100% free VP	100% after 15 min 100% after 3 h without mediators; 1–3 depending on mediator	.p.u
2.5 mg L^{-1} 5 mg L ⁻¹	10^{-7} M	10^{-7} M	$100 \text{ ng } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	$100 \mathrm{ng} \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	5 mg L^{-1}	$10~{ m mg~L}^{-1}$	2.5 mg L^{-1} 5 mg L^{-1}	5 g L ⁻¹
Flask scale Flask scale	Flask scale	Flask scale	Stirred batch reactor with the compound spiked in wastewater	Stirred batch reactor with the compound spiked in wastewater	BSTR working in cycles/ continuous PBR with immobilized enzyme	Flask scale with CLEAs	Flask scale Flask scale	Flask scale, biphasic system (buffer/ AcOEt)
VP from B. adusta LAC from M. thermophila	MnP from P. chrysosporium	LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from M. thermophila	VP from B . adusta	VP from B. adusta LAC from M. thermophila	LAC from T. pubescens
17a-ethinylestradiol							17B-estradiol	
Estrogens								

(continued)	
Table 2	

ound	Drug	Fiingal enzyme	Treatment	Initial	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
	gnia	I UIIBAI CIIEJIIIC	11Cautiful	CONCENTION	NCIIIO Val 1au	MC (augures	INCIDENTIO
		LAC from Myceliophthora sp.	Flask scale, adsorbed on glass beads in organic solvents (dioxane/water saturated toluene)	$10 \mathrm{g L^{-1}}$	n.d.	Two C–C and two C–O dimeric products	[57]
		MnP from P. chrysosporium	Flask scale	10^{-7} M	>95% after 1 h; estrogenic activity completely removed after 8 h		[55]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	10^{-7} M	>95% after 1 h with mediators;estrogenic activity completely removed after 8 h		[55]
		LAC from Trametes sp.	Stirred batch reactor with the compound spiked in wastewater	$100 \mathrm{ng} \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	100% after 1 h		[59]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Stirred batch reactor with the compound spiked in wastewater	$100 \mathrm{ng} \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	100% after 1 h; estrogenic activity completely removed after 8 h for a mixture of EDC		[09]
		LAC from M. thermophila	BSTR working in cycles/ continuous PBR with immobilized enzyme	5 mg L^{-1}	>95%/75%; reduction in toxicity detected		[58]
		VP from B. adusta	Flask scale with CLEAs	$10~{ m mg~L}^{-1}$	90.1% after 10 min; 100% free VP		[44]
	Estriol	LAC from Trametes sp.	Stirred batch reactor with the compound spiked in wastewater	$100 \mathrm{ng}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	100% after 1 h		[59]
		LAC from T. versicolor	Stirred batch reactor with the compound spiked in wastewater	$100 \mathrm{ng} \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	100% after 1 h; estrogenic activity completely removed after 8 h for a mixture of EDC		[09]

[6]	8	[56] [56]	[65]	[60]	[58]	[62]	[62]	(continued)
						3,5-Di(acetamido)-2, 6-diiodobenzoate 3,5-Di(acetamido)-4, 6-diiodobenzoate 3,5-Di(acetamido)- 2-monoiodobenzoate		
100% after 15 min	37–100% after 24 h with mediators, 65% without mediators	100% after 1 h 100% after 1 h	100% after 1 h	100% after 1 h; estrogenic activity completely removed after 8 h for a mixture of EDC	>87%/55%; reduction in toxicity detected	87%/29%/0%/0%	90%/16%/0%	
2.5 mg L^{-1}	5 mg L^{-1}	$10^{-5} M$	100 ng L^{-1}	$100 \mathrm{ng}\mathrm{L}^{-1}$	5 mg L^{-1}	Mm I	Mm I	
Flask scale	Flask scale	Flask scale Flask scale	Stirred batch reactor with the compound spiked in wastewater	Stirred batch reactor with the compound spiked in wastewater	BSTR working in cycles/ continuous PBR with immobilized enzyme	Flask scale	Flask scale	
VP from B. adusta	LAC from M. thermophila	MnP from <i>P. sordida</i> I AC from <i>P. sordida</i>	LAC from Trametes sp.	LAC from T. versicolor	LAC from M. thermophila	Extracellular extract from T. versicolor/ MnP from P. chrysosporium/ LiP from P. chrysosporium/ LAC from T. versicolor	Extracellular extract from T. versicolor/ MnP from P. chrysosporium/ LiP from P. chrysosporium/ LAC from T. versicolor	
Estrone						Diatrizoate	Iodipamide	
						Iodinated contrast media		

Table 2 (continue	(pç						
Family drug	Drug	Fungal enzyme	Treatment	Initial concentration	Removal rate	Metabolites	References
	Acetrizoate	Extracellular extract from T. versicolor/ MnP from P. chrysosporium/ LiP from P. chrysosporium/ LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	Mm I	93%/27%/0%/0%		[62]
	Aminotrizoate	Extracellular extract from T. versicolor/ MnP from P. chrysosporium/ LiP from P. chrysosporium/ LAC from T. versicolor	Flask scale	Mm 1	68 <i>%/</i> 0%/60%/0%		[62]
	Aminotriiodoiso- phthalate	Extracellular extract from <i>T. versicolor</i> / MnP from <i>P. chrysosporium</i> / LiP from <i>P. chrysosporium</i> / LAC from <i>T. versicolor</i>	Flask scale	I mM	73%/18%/34%/0%		[63]
	lopromide	Extracellular extract from <i>T. versicolor</i>	Flask scale	Mm 1	98%	5-Methoxyacetyl amino-4-monoiodoi sophthalic acid (2,3- diamide 5-Methoxyacetylamino- 4(6)-monoiodoi 5-Methoxyacetyl anino-2, 6-diiodoisophthalic acid (2,3ditydroxy-hropyl)- amino-2, 6-diiodoisophthalic acid (2,3ditydroxy-N- amino-2, 3-dithydroxy-propyl)] diamide (2,3ditydroxy-propyl)]	[63]

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the Spanish Ministries of MMAMRM (project 010/PC08/3-04) and MICINN (project CTQ2010-21776-C02-01). The Department of Chemical Engineering of the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona (UAB) is the Unit of Biochemical Engineering of the Xarxa de Referència en Biotecnologia de la Generalitat de Catalunya. The authors are members of a Consolidated Research Group of Catalonia (2009-SGR-656). C. Cruz-Morató acknowledges the predoctoral grant from UAB. C.E. Rodríguez-Rodríguez is recipient of a predoctoral fellowship from Universidad de Costa Rica and Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas (UCR-CSIC collaboration).

References

- Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Caminal G, Vicent T, Díaz-Cruz MS, Eljarrat E, López de Alda M, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2012) In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges: analysis, fate and biological treatment, Hdb Env Chem, doi:10.1007/698_2012_159, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- Hernandez-Raquet G (2012) In: Vicent T et al (eds) Emerging organic contaminants in sludges: analysis, fate and biological treatment, Hdb Env Chem, doi: 10.1007/698_2012_160, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg
- 3. Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Vicent T, Caminal G (2009) Chemosphere 74:765
- 4. Rodarte-Morales AI, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2011) World J Microbiol Biotechnol 27:1839
- 5. Tran NH, Urase T, Kusakabe O (2010) J Water Environ Technol 8:125
- 6. Rodarte-Morales AI, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2011) Biodegradation 22:539
- 7. Marco-Urrea E, Perez-Trujillo M, Cruz-Morató C, Caminal G, Vicent T (2010) J Hazard Mater 176:836
- 8. Lloret L, Eibes G, Lú-Chau TA, Moreira MT, Feijoo G, Lema JM (2010) Biochem Eng J 51:124
- 9. Eibes G, Debernardi G, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2011) Biodegradation 22:539
- 10. Zhang Y, Geißen SU (2010) J Hazard Mater 176:1089
- 11. Hata T, Shintate H, Kawai S, Okamura H, Nishida T (2010) J Hazard Mater 181:1175
- 12. Marco-Urrea E, Perez-Trujillo M, Blánquez P, Vicent T, Caminal G (2010) Bioresour Technol 101:2159
- 13. Marco-Urrea E, Perez-Trujillo M, Cruz-Morató C, Caminal G, Vicent T (2010) Chemosphere 78:474
- 14. Golan-Rozen N, Chefetz B, Ben-Ari J, Geva J, Hadar Y (2011) Environ Sci Technol 45:6800
- Jelic A, Cruz-Morato C, Perez S, Marco-Urrea E, Sarrà M, Vicent T, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2011) Water Res 46:955
- 16. Kang S, Kang SY, Hur H (2008) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 79:663
- 17. Marco-Urrea E, Radjenovic J, Caminal G, Petrovic M, Vicent T, Barcelo D (2010) Water Res 44:521
- 18. Sillanpaa M (1996) In: Wyllie E (ed) The treatment of epilepsy, vol 2. Philadelphia, p 808
- 19. Lertratanangkoon K, Horning MG (1982) Drug Metab Dispos 10:1
- 20. Petrovic M, de Alda M, Diaz-Cruz S, Postigo C, Radjenovic J, Gros M, Barcelo D (2009) Math Phys Eng Sci 367:3979
- 21. Jia A, Hu JY, Sun JX, Shi JC (2009) Prog Chem 21:389
- 22. Schwarz J, Aust MO, Thiele-Bruhn S (2010) Chemosphere 81:1469
- García-Galán MJ, Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Vicent T, Caminal G, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2011) Sci Total Environ 409:5505

- 24. Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, García-Galán MJ, Blánquez P, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D, Caminal G, Vicent T (2012) J Hazard Mater 213–214:347
- 25. Accinelli C, Saccà ML, Batisson I, Fick J, Mencarelli M, Grabic R (2010) Chemosphere 81:436
- 26. Wen X, Jis Y, Li J (2009) Chemosphere 75:1003
- 27. Suda T, Hata T, Kawai S, Okamura H, Nishida T (2012) Bioresour Technol 103:4998
- 28. Wetzstein HG, Stadler M, Tichy HV, Dalhoff A, Karl W (1999) Appl Environ Microbiol 65:1556
- 29. Prieto A, Möder M, Rodil R, Lorenz A, Marco-Urrea M (2011) Bioresour Technol 102:10987
- Parshikov IA, Heinze TM, Moody JD, Freeman JP, Williams AJ, Sutherland JB (2001) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 56:474
- Parshikov IA, Freeman JP, Lay JO, Beger RD, Williams AJ, Sutherland JB (1999) Microbiol Lett 177:131
- 32. Parshikov IA, Moody JD, Freeman JP, Lay JO, Williams AJ, Heinze TM, Sutherland JB (2002) Mycologia 94:1
- 33. Martens R, Wetzstein HG, Zadrazil F, Capelari M, Hoffmann P, Schmeer N (1996) Appl Environ Microbiol 62:4206
- 34. Wetzstein HG, Schmeer N, Karl W (1997) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 63:4272
- 35. Wetzstein HG, Schneider J, Karl W (2006) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 71:90
- 36. Parshikov IA, Freeman JP, Lay JO, Beger RD, Williams AJ, Sutherland JB (2000) Appl Environ Microbiol 66:2664
- Parshikov IA, Freeman JP, Lay JO, Moody JD, Williams AJ, Beger RD, Sutherland JB (2001) J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 26:140
- Williams AJ, Deck J, Freeman JP, Chiarelli MP, Adjei MD, Heinze TM, Sutherland JB (2007) Chemosphere 67:240
- Parshikov IA, Moody JD, Heinze TM, Freeman JP, Williams AJ, Sutherland JB (2002) FEMS Microbiol Lett 214:133
- 40. Kim YJ, Nicell JA (2006) J Chem Technol Biotechnol 81:1344
- 41. Inoue Y, Hata T, Kawai S, Okamura H, Nishida T (2010) J Hazard Mater 180:764
- 42. Cabana H, Jones JP, Agathos SN (2007) J Biotechnol 132:23
- 43. Cabana H, Alexandre C, Agathos SN, Jones JP (2009) Bioresour Technol 100:3447
- 44. Taboada-Puig R, Junghanns C, Demarche P, Moreira MT, Feijoo G, Lema JM, Agathos SN (2011) Bioresour Technol 102:6593
- 45. Cabana H, Jones JP, Agathos SN (2009) Biotechnol Bioeng 102:1582
- 46. Cabana H, Ahamed A, Leduc R (2011) Bioresour Technol 102:1656
- 47. Murugesan K, Chang YY, Kim YM, Jeon JR, Kim EJ, Chang YS (2010) Water Res 44:298
- Cabana H, Jiwan JLH, Rozenberg R, Elisashvili V, Penninckx M, Agathos SN, Jones JP (2007) Chemosphere 67:770
- Hundt K, Martin D, Hammer E, Jonas U, Kindermann MK, Schauer F (2000) Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4157
- 50. Cajthalm T, Křesinová S, Svobodová K, Möder M (2009) Chemosphere 75:745
- Parshikov IA, Freeman JP, Williams AJ, Moody JD, Sutherland JB (1999) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52:553
- Parshikov IA, Miriyala B, Muraleedharan KM, Avery MA, Williamson JS (2006) J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 33:349
- Parshikov IA, Miriyala B, Muraleedharan KM, Illendula A, Avery MA, Williamson JS (2005) Pharm Biol 43:579
- 54. Parshikov IA, Muraleedharan KM, Avery MA, Williamson JS (2004) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 64:782
- 55. Suzuki K, Hirai H, Murata H, Nishida T (2003) Water Res 37:1972
- 56. Tamagawa Y, Yamaki R, Hirai H, Kawai S, Nishida T (2006) Chemosphere 65:97
- 57. Nicotra S, Intra A, Ottolina G, Riva S, Danieli B (2004) Asymmetry 15:2927

- 58. Lloret L, Eibes G, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2011) Biotechnol Prog 27:668
- 59. Auriol M, Filali-Meknassi Y, Tyagi RD, Adams CD (2007) Water Res 41:3281
- 60. Auriol M, Filali-Meknassi Y, Adams CD, Tyagi RD, Noguerol TN, Piña B (2008) Chemosphere 70:445
- 61. Blánquez P, Guieysse B (2008) J Hazard Mater 150:459
- 62. Rode U, Müller R (1998) Appl Environ Microbiol 64:3114
- 63. Rode U, Müller R (1999) Biol Abwass 12:63

UV Filters Biodegradation by Fungi, Metabolites Identification and Biological Activity Assessment

M. Badia-Fabregat, G. Caminal, T. Vicent, P. Blanquez, P. Gago-Ferrero, A. Olivares, B. Piña, M.S. Díaz-Cruz, and D. Barceló

Abstract Organic UV filters used in cosmetics and sunlight protection of materials are considered emerging contaminants. These xenobiotic compounds occur in the environment in relevant concentrations and display critical properties such as environmental persistence and bioaccumulation. They enter the environment mainly through the liquid effluent of wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), but, due to their high hydrophobicity, they are also adsorbed in WWTP sludge, that is, eventually spread on agricultural fields as fertilizer. The treatment of WWTP sludge with the white-rot fungi *Trametes versicolor* has emerged as a feasible alternative to current conventional treatment processes to degrade them in a range from 87% in the case of 3-(4'-methylbenzylidene) camphor (4-MBC) to 100% of benzophenone-3 (BP3) and its metabolite 4,4'-dihydroxybenzophenone (4DHB). When treating the sewage sludge to remove sunscreens content, it is crucial to establish the biological activity profile along the process. Oestrogenic activity was eliminated by the *T. versicolor* treatment, indicating that none of the resulting

P. Gago-Ferrero, A. Olivares, B. Piña and M.S. Díaz-Cruz (🖂)

Departament de Química Ambiental, IDAEA-CSIC, C/ Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

e-mail: silvia.diaz@idaea.csic.es

D. Barceló

M. Badia-Fabregat, T. Vicent and P. Blanquez

Departament d'Enginyeria Química, Escola d'Enginyeria, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain

G. Caminal Grupo de biocatalisis Aplicada y biodegradación, IQAC-CSIC, C/Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Departament de Química Ambiental, IDAEA-CSIC, C/ Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona, C/ Emili Grahit, 101 Edifici H2O, 17003 Girona, Spain

T. Vicent et al. (eds.), *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and* 215 *Biological Treatment*, Hdb Env Chem (2013) 24: 215–240, DOI 10.1007/698_2012_157, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012, Published online: 4 May 2012

metabolites possessed significant oestrogenic activity at the produced concentrations. These results demonstrate the suitability of fungi to degrade sunscreen agents and eliminate their oestrogenic activity.

Keywords Degradation, Fungi, Biological activity, HPLC-MS/MS analysis, Metabolites, UV filters

Contents

1	Introduction	217
	1.1 Occurrence in the Environment	218
	1.2 Environmental Effects	218
	1.3 Degradation Processes	220
2	Fungal Degradation by T. versicolor	221
	2.1 Treatment in Liquid Medium	222
	2.2 Identification and Structural Elucidation of Biodegradation Products	224
	2.3 Degradation Pathways	232
3	Biological Activity Evolution Profile Through the Biodegradation Process	236
	3.1 Oestrogenic Activity	236
	3.2 Dioxin-Like Activity	237
4	Conclusions	237
Re	eferences	238

Abbreviations

2,4,6-TCA	2,4,6-Trichloroanisole
3BC	3-Benzylidene camphor
4DHB	4,4'-Dihydroxybenzophenone
4HB	4-Hydroxybenzophenone
4-MBC	3-(4-Methylbenzylidene) camphor
ABTS	2,2-Azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) diammonium
	salt
AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor (also known as dioxin receptor)
AhR-RYA	AhR recombinant yeast assay
BC	Blank control
BMDM	4-t-Butyl-4'-methoxy-dibenzoylmethane
BP1	Benzophenone-1
BP3	Benzophenone-3
CID	Collision-induced fragmentation
Da	Daltons
DBEs	Double bond equivalents
DHMB	2-2'Dihydroxy-4-methoxybenzophenone
dw	Dry weight
E2	Estradiol
EC_{50}	Half maximal effective concentration

EHMC	Ethylhexyl-methoxycinnamate
ER	Oestrogen receptor
ER-RYA	Oestrogen receptor recombinant yeast assay
ESI	Electrospray ionisation
FP	Fragmentation pattern
FWHM	Full width at half maximum
hER	Human oestrogen receptor
НК	Heat killed
HMS	Homosalate
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
K _{OW}	Octanol-water partition coefficient
LOD	Limit of detection
LOQ	Limit of quantification
MS	Mass spectrometry
MS/MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
NI	Negative
OC	Octocrylene
OD-PABA	2-Ethylhexyl-4-dimethylaminobenzoate
OT	Octyltriazone
PAHs	Polyaromatic hydrocarbons
PCBs	Polychlorinated biphenyls
PI	Positive
PPCPs	Pharmaceuticals and personal care products
QqLIT	Quadrupole-linear ion trap
QqTOF	Quadrupole time of flight
rtER	Rainbow trout oestrogen receptor
RYA	Recombinant yeast assay
SRM	Selected reaction monitoring
TBBPA	Tetrabromobisphenol A
THB	2,3,4-Trihydroxybenzophenone
UPLC	Ultra performance liquid chromatography
UV	Ultraviolet
VTG	Vitellogenin
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

1 Introduction

Ultraviolet (UV) filters, also known as sunscreens, constitute a diverse group of chemical additives used as protective agents against solar radiation. Sunscreens can be classified into organic (chemical) absorbers and inorganic (physical) blockers on the basis of their mechanism of action. Organic UV filters absorb UV radiation with excitation to a higher energy state. Excess energy is dissipated by emission of longer wavelengths or by relaxation by photochemical processes such as isomerization and heat release. They include camphors, benzophenones, cinnamates and triazines, among others. Inorganic sunscreens, i.e., titanium dioxide and zinc oxide, protect the skin by reflecting and scattering UV radiation.

The protection against UV sunlight is becoming an increasing need because of harmful effects of UV radiation on human skin, like skin drying and ageing, spots emergence, erythema and induction of skin cancer [1]. In particular, and due to the higher incidence of skin cancer in recent decades, several countries worldwide have promoted the use of sunscreen products. These chemicals can be found not only in cosmetics but also in other personal care products, food packaging, pharmaceuticals, plastics, textiles and vehicle maintenance products [2] to prevent photodegradation of polymers and pigments [3]. Therefore, as their use has risen also their presence in the environment has done.

1.1 Occurrence in the Environment

UV filters are currently considered as emerging environmental contaminants of increasing concern since most of the commonly used are known to cause endocrine disrupting effects in both aquatic and terrestrial organisms as well as in human skin cells [4]. These compounds bioaccumulate in fish at similar levels to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and DDT [5, 6].

Sunscreen agents enter the aquatic environment as a direct release or through sewage. Residues of more polar organic UV filters have been found in all kinds of water sources [5-8], including tap water [9], at the ng/L level. Due to the high lipophilicity and poor biodegradability of many UV filters, they end up in sewage sludge during wastewater treatment [10-13] and accumulate in river sediments [7, 14, 15] and biota [6, 7, 16, 17] at concentrations in the range of ng/g to mg/g.

1.2 Environmental Effects

Some reviews concerning the toxic effects of UV filters in the environment can be found in the literature [18–21]. In general, risk for acute toxic effects posed by sunscreens is unlikely to aquatic organisms at usual environmental detected levels [22], but chronic environmental toxic effects cannot be ruled out [6, 23]. Data of their effects in different aquatic organisms, such as the standard model *Daphnia magna* [6], other invertebrates [23, 24], fish [25–27], and tadpoles [28] among others, can be found. In those studies, *D. magna* was observed to be most sensitive over short-term exposures (48 h) to UV filters with higher log K_{ow} , such as ethylhexyl methoxycinnamate (EHMC) [6]. Long-term exposures (28–56 days) to 3-benzylidene camphor (3BC) and 3-(4'-methylbenzylidene) camphor (4-MBC) result in a significant reduction in reproduction and an increased mortality of benthic invertebrates [23]. However, no alterations in hormone levels in tadpoles

of frogs were detected at concentrations up to 50 μ g/L [28]. Almost all the studies revealed that the observed effects occur at higher concentrations than those found in rivers and lakes. However, global environmental toxicity studies are needed in order to perform an appropriate risk assessment.

Besides these toxic effects, many studies showed the potential for oestrogenic activity of several sunscreen agents. These effects can be detected in vivo or at in vitro assays. The last are usually more sensitive than the former, concluding sometimes in an overestimation of the effects. Nevertheless, in vitro assays are faster and cheaper and allow a rapid screening of oestrogenic compounds. Therefore, a combination of different assays is recommended in order to have a wide spectrum of toxicity data that would allow performing a reliable risk assessment.

Many in vitro assays have been developed. They are mainly recombinant yeasts expressing human or rainbow trout oestrogen receptor (hER or rtER). But also human cell lines, e.g., MCF-7 cells, are used. Recombinant veast assay (RYA) indicate that a wide range of UV filters have potential to cause oestrogenic effects. Benzophenone-1 (BP1) was found to be the most potent UV filter, with an EC_{50} of 0.8 µM (171 µg/L). Other benzophenones, including benzophenone-3 (BP3), present EC₅₀ in a range from 2.96 to 298 μ M, and reaching in many cases 100% of estradiol (E2) effect [26]. In the same study, no oestrogenic effects were detected for other UV filters such as 4-MBC, EHMC, octocrylene (OC), homosalate (HMS), 4-t-butyl-4'-methoxy-dibenzoylmethane (BMDM), and 2-ethylhexyl-4-dimethylaminobenzoate (OD-PABA). However, oestrogenic activity was detected in assays with MCF-7 cells in the following compounds, ordered from more to less oestrogenic: 3BC, HMS, BP1, EHMC, OD-PABA, 4-MBC and BP3 among others [29, 30]. EC₅₀ in those studies ranged from 0.68 to 3.73 μ M. It can be seen that, in general, in vitro assays using MCF-7 cell lines are more sensitive, resulting in lower EC₅₀ than RYA assays.

In vivo assays using fish indicate that numerous UV filters display oestrogenic effects and adversely affect fecundity and reproduction as well [25]. 3BC appears to be the most oestrogenic compound inducing vitellogenin (VTG), after 14–21 days of exposure, depending on the fish species [26]. BP3 induces VTG production at similar concentrations as 3BC and also significantly decreases fertilized eggs hatchability [31]. Other UV filters, such as BP1, also induce VTG production but at concentrations tenfold higher than 3BC [26]. Studies using rats have indicated that 4-MBC affects the hypothalamus–pituitary–gonadal system in male rats thus altering gonad weight and steroid hormone production [32]. Therefore, other alterations in the endocrine system than simply binding to the oestrogen receptor can be generated by UV filters. In fact, alterations in androgenic, progestogenic and thyroid system have already been pointed [4, 33, 34]. Moreover, effects of mixtures are another point not deeply studied, although the first works pointed to a synergetic effect [35, 36].

In conclusion, a reliable assessment of the potential risk of UV filters to the ecosystems is, therefore, not yet possible, due to the scarcity of data on environmental concentrations and to the few species used to identify biological effects.

1.3 Degradation Processes

Monitoring data of wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) indicate that current treatments based on conventional activated sludge are not effective at removing UV filters since several of them were found in untreated and treated wastewater in different countries [5, 7, 37], and in sewage sludge [10, 13]. Concentrations found in effluent waters were as high as 2.7 μ g/L for 4-MBC and in sewage sludge from 0.04 to 9.17 mg/g dw. Therefore, advanced approaches need to be tested for a safer management of water and biosolids.

Due to the poor elimination observed for a number of contaminants under conventional treatment approaches, in recent years the development and implementation of advanced oxidation processes, membrane filtration and activated carbon adsorption have been used to improve removal efficiency. Among them, ozonation has the advantage of providing simultaneous oxidation of xenobiotics and disinfection of wastewater. This degradation technology is currently considered economically feasible, with cost below 0.2 euro/m³ [38]. There is quite a high volume of information about removal of pharmaceuticals and pesticides via ozonation, but the data available for personal care products, and especially for UV filters, is rather limited and somewhat ambiguous. For instance, whereas Rosal et al. [39] did not observe any elimination of BP3 by ozone, other studies report removal efficiencies higher than 80% [40].

Because of UV filters are substances designed to absorb solar energy, photolysis and photocatalysis have been tested as a feasible treatment to degrade the recalcitrant compounds. To date, very few studies have examined UV filters response under UV radiation when exposed in aqueous samples [41–44]. Results indicate that the extent of degradation is quite variable, from no photodegradation of BP3 to complete mineralization of BP1 after 24 h of UV light irradiation.

One of the few studies on UV filters biodegradation [45] determined the microbial degradation of BP3 and 4-MBC in a vertical flow soil filter being only 12% of the total load in the first case and 75% in the latter. However, due to the high sorption affinity of the compounds, the elimination percentages reached almost 100% in a low load experiment and 82–86% for BP3 and 91–96% for 4-MBC in a high load experiment. All tests were done at environmental relevant concentrations (3 µg/L). Hernández Leal et al. [40] studied the removal of some UV filters (4-MBC, BP3, OC and avobenzone) in different biological systems under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Based on their high log K_{ow} values, they assume that their high removal under aerobic conditions and also the variable yields of removal under anaerobic conditions are driven by adsorption and not by biodegradation. In a full-scale plant analysis, UV filters are also removed from the aqueous phase in a large extent, with percentages over 92% [46]. However, degradation percentages of 4-MBC, OMC and OC calculated from a mass balance analysis only achieved 45–90% of the initial load [46].

A novel biological technology for the efficient elimination of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) is based on the biodegradation by white-rot fungi.

The mechanism of action mainly relays on the activity of the unspecific oxidative enzymes extracellularly segregated such as lignin peroxidase, laccase and manganese peroxidase. This fungal degradation process has been proved to be successful at degrading a number of contaminants such as the pharmaceuticals carbamazepine, ibuprofen and clofibric acid [47]. There are two approaches to treat contaminated effluents by means of fungi: with purified fungal enzymes or with the entire fungus. Regarding UV filters, Garcia et al. [48] applied the enzymatic treatment with purified laccase to the degradation of BP3, also at low concentrations (10 μ g/L). They achieved a complete removal of the compound in a primary effluent. However, the main inconvenient is that BP3, as many other xenobiotics, is not directly recognized by the enzyme laccase and the addition of some mediator such as 2,2-azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) diammonium salt (ABTS) is necessary. Moreover, a higher mediator/contaminant molar ratio is needed as lower the contaminant concentration is. That raises the price of the treatment and adds extra compounds to be degraded in the effluent. Other drawbacks of the use of purified enzymes are the deactivation over time and a decrease in the range of treatable contaminants even with the addition of mediators in comparison with the use of the entire fungus. Thus, the use of the entire fungus is totally suitable in the cases where there is a complex mixture of compounds to oxidize. The use of those enzymes is still widely applied in industries such as olive, pulp and paper mill.

The potential ability of using the entire fungus, in particular *Trametes versicolor*, to degrade selected UV filters has been studied by Badia-Fabregat et al. [49] and Gago-Ferrero et al. [44] and it is described in next sections of this chapter. Nevertheless, degradation processes are only useful if they do not lead to the formation of new compounds with higher toxicity or bioaccumulation capacity. Therefore, it is necessary to identify and characterize the derivatives formed during the transformation processes and to assess the potential toxicity not only of parent compounds, but also of the degradation products formed, in order to draw a complete picture of the process.

2 Fungal Degradation by T. versicolor

To date, very few works deal with the degradation of UV filters both in liquid and in solid media. In particular, there is a lack of data on biodegradation of UV filters by fungi. Recently, an attempt to fill this gap has been carried out by assessing the potential of the white-rot fungus *T. versicolor* to degrade selected UV filters.

Degradation percentages of several UV filters and some of their metabolites in a solid-phase treatment of sewage sludge by *T. versicolor* are shown in [80]. As treatments were performed in sterile conditions, the near 100% removal efficiencies of those compounds can be attributed to fungal biotransformation. However, experiments in synthetic liquid media with the fungus in the form of pellets are preferable for the in-depth study of each contaminant.

2.1 Treatment in Liquid Medium

Unlike polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and some pharmaceuticals, fungal degradation of UV filters and, by extension, of most of the personal care products compounds is not extensively studied.

Two of the most widely used and detected UV filters in the environment and WWTPs are BP3 and 4-MBC. Thus, they were the selected compounds to study individually their degradation by fungi [44, 49]. Studies with BP1, not only a BP3 metabolite but also an industrial UV filter (but its use in cosmetics is not allowed) itself have also been performed. Studies in liquid media allow a better analysis and monitoring of many parameters, both the contaminant concentration and the fungal metabolic state such as glucose consumption and enzyme production. In these studies, the degradation process was performed with the fungus in form of pellets.

If there is only interest in determining the elimination or degradation percentages, as in the studies mentioned above, experiments can be performed at low contaminant concentrations, similar to those found in the environment. However, if metabolites' identification analysis is wanted to be performed, higher concentrations are needed. That is, because degradation products are usually at much lower concentration than the initial parent compound.

Another important issue to take into account is the low solubility of many of the UV filters, which makes totally necessary to work with unit samples due to the indispensable solubilization step before the analytical determination by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC).

Those studies show that the fungal elimination yields are quite high, reaching almost 100% at 24 h of culture (see Fig. 1). Contaminant was at the initial concentration of 10 mg/L, fungi was at 5 g/L dry weight (dw), and incubation conditions were 25°C and 130 rpm. In those experiments, where amber bottles were used to avoid a possible photodegradation of the compounds, it is necessary to include different types of controls as well. One of them would be the uninoculated control, without fungal addition. That control is useful to detect any kind of abiotic degradation such as spontaneous conjugation with glucose molecules present in the medium [50]. Then some controls with inactivated fungus are also necessary in order to evaluate the adsorption of the contaminant on the biomass. Fungus can be inactivated in different ways, the drawback is that all of them act different and thus the adsorption can become different. The most used inactivation procedures are the termicl one (autoclaving) and the addition of sodium azide. These differences come from the distinct action of high temperatures and sodium azide to the fungus. The first one causes physicochemical changes in the surface morphology of the fungus, resulting in variations in the biosorptive capacity of the heat-killed cells with respect to live cells [51], and the latter is a metabolic inhibitor with a yet unclear action mode. Some authors propose that it is a cytochrome c oxidation inhibitor [52], while others consider it as an ATPase inhibitor [53]. Anyhow, sodium azide stops the metabolism, thus inhibiting the active transport through the membrane but not avoiding the first step of binding to the surface, a rapid and energy independent phenomenon, or some



Fig. 1 Concentration profiles of (a) BP3, (b) BP1 and (c) 4-MBC concentration during 24 h degradation experiment by *T. versicolor* at Erlenmeyer scale and at 10 mg/L initial concentration. Treatments: (*filled circle*) uninoculated controls (UNI), (*open circle*) experimental bottles (EB) and (*filled inverted triangle*) heat-killed controls (HK). Laccase activity in EB is also plotted in *long dashes*. Values plotted are means \pm standard error for triplicates. Modified from [44, 49]

passive membrane transport, energy independent as well [52, 54]. Finally, it is also recommendable to add a blank control, where no contaminant at all is added to monitor the normal metabolic activity of the fungus (growth, glucose consumption, enzymatic activity) and to report differences with the addition of the contaminant, i.e., to see whether the contaminant is toxic or not to the fungus or whether the observed enzymatic activity is endogenous or induced by the xenobiotic.

For the three UV filters studied (BP3, 4-MBC and BP1), the elimination in the experimental bottles can be completely assigned to fungal degradation. On the one hand, in BP1 and BP3 experiments because of including the solubilization step allows a complete recovery of the contaminant in the inactivated controls, and on the other hand, the case of 4-MBC, where the adsorption values reached almost 50%, all the initial contaminant is recovered after the fungal pellets' disruption. In this way, with the inclusion of a sonication step, it is possible to recover all the contaminant that the dead fungus had taken from the medium, probably by means of some passive mechanism. Elimination of contaminants is not only due to a single transformation but also due to a further degradation because quantification analysis of the main metabolites produced revealed that they also disappeared along the treatment period. More extensive information about the metabolites can be found in Sect. 2.2 of this chapter.

In a first scale-up to an air pulsed reactor of 1.5 L, it can be seen how at lower concentrations (250 μ g/L) the removal of both studied benzophenones is also very high. In the case of 4-MBC, as well as other highly hydrophobic compounds, those kinds of studies in bioreactor are not suitable to perform because it is totally necessary a complete solubilization of the compound for a reliable quantification. Therefore, liquid samples cannot be taken at different time course because they would not be representative. That fact, at different scale, would be what happen with those compounds in the WWTP (and to extension in the environment): the more soluble compounds, like benzophenones, are those found in a higher proportion in the liquid effluent, while the UV filters with a higher log K_{ow} (such as 4-MBC and OC) are mainly found adsorbed onto the sludge.

2.2 Identification and Structural Elucidation of Biodegradation Products

New compounds formed during degradation must be identified and characterized in order to assess their potential biological activity and to get a complete picture of the process. To the authors' knowledge, there are no studies in the literature identifying fungal by-products from UV filter degradation. The studies on BP3, BP1 and 4-MBC carried out by Gago-Ferrero et al. [44] and Badia-Fabregat et al. [49] are the only providing data on fungal treatment by-products identification of UV filters.

2.2.1 Analytical Methodology

A detailed description of the sample preparation carried out for sunscreen analysis in sewage sludge is included in [81].

The instrumental analysis for the identification of UV filters degradation products formed during the fungal treatment process was performed by means of HPLC coupled to tandem mass spectrometry using a hybrid quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometer (HPLC-QqTOF-MS/MS). Chromatographic separation was achieved on a Hibar Purospher[®] STAR[®] HR R-18 ec. (50 mm × 2.0 mm, 5 μ m, from Merck). In the optimized method, the mobile phase consisted of a mixture of HPLC grade water and acetonitrile, both with 0.15% formic acid. The injection volume was set to 10 μ L and the mobile phase flow-rate to 0.3 mL/min.

MS full-scan analyses in the range m/z 50–700 were carried out on selected samples in both positive (PI) and negative (NI) electrospray (ESI) ionization modes at different cone voltages (15, 25 and 35 V) and with a capillary voltage of 3,000 V. Further MS/MS analyses were carried out on identified molecular ions for their structural characterization. Collision-induced fragmentation (CID) of selected m/zions was evaluated at different collision energies between 10 and 40 eV, using argon as the collision gas at a pressure of 22 psi. Data were collected in the centroid mode, with a scan time of 0.3 s and an inter-scan delay time of 0.1 s, and with a full width at half maximum (FWHM) resolution of 5,000. Other MS/MS parameters were set as follows: 600 L/h for the desolvation gas at 350°C, 50 L/h for the cone gas and 120°C as source temperature. A valine-tyrosine-valine (Val-Tyr-Val) reference solution $(m/z \text{ of } [M + H]^+ = 380.2185)$ was used to tune the instrument and also as lock mass to ensure mass accuracy. The reference was analyzed by infusion in the MS analyzer by means of an independent reference probe (LockSprayTM). Exact masses were calculated and the elemental composition of the molecular ions and their fragments were determined using the MassLynx V4.1 software.

2.2.2 Identification and Structural Elucidation of BP3 and BP1 Degradation Products

Figure 2a shows the full-scan chromatograms for samples at initial conditions and after 1, 5 and 9 days of BP3 degradation by the fungus *T. versicolor*. HK and BC chromatograms were recorded to discard the formation of other products than BP3 fungus degradation products. As depicted in Fig. 2a, solely BP3 ($t_R = 8.55$ min) was present before starting the biodegradation experiment (t = 0). BP3 levels decreased rapidly and were not detectable after 24 h of treatment (t = 1 day). At this time two new chromatographic peaks at t_R 4.69 and 5.20 min were observed in the chromatogram, corresponding to m/z ratios of 413 and 383 Daltons (Da), respectively. Maximum levels of these metabolites were determined at day 1, and they practically disappeared between 9 and 15 days of treatment, constituting the



Fig. 2 (a) Total ion current chromatograms (TIC) of samples collected at t = 0, 1, 5 and 9 days. HK and BC TIC are also shown. (b) and (c) ESI(+)-MS/MS spectra of the molecular ions (in the form of sodium adduct) of the metabolites at (b) m/z: 383 and (c) m/z = 413 in t = 1 day samples [cone voltage =20 V, collision energies = 10 eV(*green*) and 35 eV (*red*)]. Accurate mass measurements of product ions are also provided. Figure taken from [44]

major degradation products of BP3 and may explain the decrease in the concentration of BP3 observed.

Figure 2b, c summarizes the MS/MS spectra obtained and the fragmentation patterns (FP) proposed for these degradation products, i.e. m/z 383 and m/z 413 at two collision energies. Additionally, the experimental and theoretical exact masses obtained for the molecular and fragment ions, expressed as m/z, the proposed elemental composition, together with recalculated mass errors (in mDa and mg/g) and double bond equivalents (DBEs) given by the software (mass measurements accuracy threshold of 5 mg/g) are provided. In both cases, higher sensitivity was obtained for the sodium adduct of the molecule ([M + Na]⁺) as compared to that of the protonated molecule [M + H]⁺, which was hardly detected. Thus, further MS/MS experiments were performed taking the sodium adduct as the precursor ion.

As it can be observed in Fig. 2b, CID fragmentation of m/z 383 at high collision energy completely fragmented the molecular ion and provided the m/z = 229.0865as the major fragment ion. This accurate mass corresponded to the molecular formula C₁₄H₁₃O₃. Additionally, two other fragment ions were generated with m/z = 151.0402 and m/z = 105.0347, which gave the best-fit formula C₈H₇O₃ and C₇H₅O, respectively. The fragment with m/z = 229.0865 fits with the molecular formula of the BP3 molecular ion $[M + H]^+$, whereas the fragments with m/z151 and 105 coincided with those product ions selected for selected reaction monitoring (SRM) acquisition of BP3. The fragment m/z 151 is produced by the loss of the phenyl group of BP3 $[M-C_6H_5]^+$, whereas the fragment m/z 105 corresponded to the benzoyl cation $[C_6H_5C = O]^+$. In the light of these results, it appears that BP3 is part of the molecular structure of the metabolite with m/z 383. In the spectrum obtained at low collision energy, the molecular ion m/z = 383.1099is observed, which gave the best-fit formula $C_{19}H_{20}O_7Na$. At low collision energy, the most abundant fragment ion was m/z = 251.0693 (C₁₄H₁₂O₃Na), which probably corresponds to the adduct [BP3 + Na]⁺. A fragment at m/z = 155.0327 with best-fit molecular formula C5H8O4Na was also detected, which would not correspond to any part of the BP3 molecule, unless aromatic ring cleavage occurred, which is not likely with CID experiments at low collision energy. Therefore, those data suggested that the metabolite with m/z 383 might be BP3 conjugated with a molecule of 132 Da. Several studies claim that the formation of conjugated metabolites with pentoses (mainly xylose and ribose) and hexoses (mainly glucose) is a predominant pathway in the degradation of chemicals by white-rot fungi, especially in phenolic hydroxyl groups [55, 56]. In this case, the addition of a pentose via glycosidic bond to the BP3 with the consequent loss of one molecule of water corresponds to an increase in the molecule mass of 132 Da. Thus, the metabolite at m/z 383 may be produced by conjugate addition of one pentose molecule to BP3.

CID spectra obtained for the metabolite with m/z 413 was similar to that of the previously discussed metabolite (m/z 383). At high collision energy the fragments with m/z 229.0870 (C₁₄H₁₃O₃), m/z 151 and m/z 105 that presumably correspond to BP3 and its main fragments were also detected. In the spectrum obtained at low collision energy, apart from the sodium adduct of BP3 (m/z = 251.0694,

 $C_{14}H_{12}O_3Na$ [BP3 + Na]⁺), two other fragment ions were observed. One at m/z 413.1212, which gave the best-fit formula $C_{20}H_{22}O_5Na$, corresponding to an increase of 162 Da of the BP3 molecular weight, and the other at m/z of 185.0435 ($C_6H_{10}O_5Na$). Following the rationale discussed above, it appears that the metabolite at m/z 413 might be generated by the conjugate addition of one hexose molecule, likely glucose, via glycosidic bond and consequent loss of one molecule of water.

BP1 degradation by the fungus T. versicolor was investigated following the same procedure. The results were very similar (data not shown) to those discussed above for BP3. After 24 h of treatment, BP1 disappeared and only one new chromatographic peak at $t_{\rm R} = 5.09$ min, was observed. This compound reached maximum concentration levels after 24 h of treatment, and then, decreased until not detectable levels after 6 days of treatment. The m/z ratio of this compound was 347. MS/MS spectra obtained for m/z 347 were very similar to those obtained for BP3; however, in this case the most abundant molecular ion was the protonated form $[M + H]^+$. CID fragmentation of m/z = 347 allowed to observe the ion $[BP1 + H]^+$ and its two main fragments (m/z = 137.0233, [BP1-C₆H₅]⁺ and m/z = 105.03043, [C₆H₅C = O⁺), also selected for SRM acquisition. Additionally the molecular ion $m/z = 347.1131 (C_{18}H_{19}O_7)$ and the fragment $m/z = 133.0507 (C_5H_9O_4)$ were also registered during CID experiments. As it was observed for the BP3 metabolite with m/z 383, this metabolite differed from the parent compound in 132 Da. Therefore, the conjugate addition of one pentose molecule to BP1 is proposed as the formation mechanism of m/z 347.

Target analysis was also carried out in order to detect small amounts of selected derivatives, namely BP1, 4HB, 4,4'-dihydroxybenzophenone (4DHB), 2-2'dihydroxy-4-methoxybenzophenone (DHMB) and 2,3,4-trihydroxybenzophenone (THB), which have been previously identified as metabolites in rats and humans [57–59]. These compounds were analyzed in the samples by HPLC-MS/MS using a hybrid quadrupole-linear ion trap-mass spectrometer (QqLIT-MS/MS) under the same chromatographic conditions. MS/MS detection was performed in positive ESI ionization in SRM mode. BP1, 4DHB and 4HB were determined as metabolites produced during the degradation experiments of BP3 with the fungus T. versicolor. BP1 was detected after 1 and 6 h of treatment at a concentration of 2.4 and 3.6 µg/L, respectively, and disappeared afterwards. These low values may be attributed to a high fungal degradation rate of BP1. 4DHB and 4HB were determined after 3 days of treatment. 4DHB was detected at 3, 5 and 9 days at a concentration of 11.5, 50.7 and 31.3 µg/L, respectively, while 4HB concentrations for 3, 5 and 9 days were below LOO (0.5 µg/L). THB and DHMB were apparently not produced by the treatment with the fungus, since they were not detected in the analysed samples.

Fungal degradation of BP1 resulted in the formation of 4HB and 4DHB. The levels of these metabolites found after 3 and 6 days of treatment were similar to those achieved in BP3 degradation experiments. Likewise in BP3 degradation tests, THB and DHMB were not detected in any of the collected samples. The levels found of these metabolites were quite low; therefore, these products cannot be considered as major degradation products.

Nontarget identified metabolites constitute conjugated forms of BP3 and BP1, and thus, further enzymatic activity might revert them to the parent compound. Nevertheless, the fact that the two metabolites, together with BP3 or BP1, finally disappeared confirms further fungal degradation with a possible cleavage of aromatic rings.

2.2.3 Identification and Structural Elucidation of 4-MBC Degradation Products

For the identification and structural characterization of 4-MBC fungal degradation products, a procedure similar to that applied for BP3 and BP1 was carried out. In order to discard the formation of other products than 4-MBC fungus degradation products, HK and blank control (BC) chromatograms were recorded. Solely one peak of 4-MBC (*E*) ($t_R = 10.27$ min, [M + H] + =255) was present before starting the biodegradation experiment (t = 0). In accordance with that previously described, the intensity of this peak readily decreased to below the 5% of the initial area in 24 h. In the early hours of the experiment, a peak at $t_R = 10.73$ min. was present, with the same m/z ratio and identical MS/MS FP than that of 4-MBC. This fact suggested that a 4-MBC isomer, likely 4-MBC(*Z*), was also present. 4-MBC(*Z*) is a common photodegradation product [42] of the commercially available 4-MBC (*E*) and the isomerization of 4-MBC(*E*) to 4-MBC(*Z*) by the action of ten organisms has been described as well [60]. These two studies also mention the higher retention time of the *Z* isomer as occurs in this case.

Also from the early hours two peaks at $t_{\rm R} = 7.96$ and 8.22 min were observed. These peaks reached their highest intensity upon 1 day of treatment, decreasing to be undetectable at t = 3 days. The two peaks had a base peak at m/z 271 and identical fragmentation pattern, fact that suggest that they were isomers of the same compound (denoted as Pr271). Figures 3 and 4a show the mass spectra and structures proposed for 4-MBC and Pr271, respectively. Considering that the mass of Pr271 was shifted 16 Da upwards relative to the parent compound and that the fragments obtained were also shifted 16 Da upwards relative to the parent compound fragments, hydroxylation by the •OH radical was assumed. Fragmentation of Pr271 yielded fragments with m/z229 (detachment of the bridged moiety), m/z 187 (loss of C₅H₈O), m/z 173 (breaking up of the camphor moiety) and m/z 121. The fact that the mass of this last fragment ion, which corresponded to the aromatic moiety of the compound, was shifted 16 Da upwards relative to the parent compound fragment (m/z 105) suggested that the hydroxyl group, -OH, would be attached either to the aromatic ring or to the methyl group next to the aromatic ring. Nevertheless, on the basis of the MS/MS FP solely, an unequivocal assignment of the molecular structure was not possible, as the position of the hydroxyl group could not be elucidated for any of the fragments.

The less intense peaks, with m/z 287 (Pr287) found at $t_{\rm R} = 7.17$ and $t_{\rm R} = 7.65$ min (same MW and FP) showed an almost identical behaviour to that described above for the Pr271.



Fig. 3 4-MBC product ion spectrum obtained from MS/MS experiments performed by HPLC-QqTOF-MS/MS. Figure taken from [49]

In Fig. 4b fragment ions can be observed, which correspond to 16 Da upwards relative to Pr271 and 32 Da to the parent compound fragments. These data suggest that a double hydroxylation of 4-MBC occurred. The two hydroxyl groups were attached, as in the previous case, in the aromatic moiety of the compound.

The intensity of the peaks of Pr271 and Pr287 are very low compared with the intensity depletion for the signal of 4-MBC. This suggested that they were not the major degradation products. The main peaks in terms of intensity, which correspond to the major metabolites, were found at $t_{\rm R} = 6.31$ and 6.74 min (same MW and FP) with m/z 425 (Pr425). The best fitting elemental composition for this mass was C₂₃H₃₀O₆Na. The protonated adduct of this compound could be detected but its rather low intensity made not possible to obtain a good MS/MS spectrum. Better results were achieved working with the sodium adduct.

Figure 4c shows the overlapping MS/MS spectra for m/z 425 and m/z 271 at $t_{\rm R} = 6.31$ min (at $t_{\rm R} = 6.74$ are exactly the same). Pr425 had the most intense ion fragment at m/z 293, which best fitted with the elemental composition $C_{18}H_{22}O_2Na$. This was consistent with the sodium adduct of the Pr271 metabolite. For the ion fragment at m/z 155, the proposed elemental composition was $C_5H_8O_4Na$. MS/MS spectrum for m/z 271, in addition to showing the peaks at $t_{\rm R} = 7.96$ and 8.22 min previously described, showed just two higher intensity peaks at $t_{\rm R} = 6.31$ and 6.74 min. This spectrum was identical to that obtained for m/z 271 at $t_{\rm R} = 7.96$ and 8.22 min. Those pieces of data suggested that the metabolite Pr425 might be Pr271 conjugated with a molecule of 132 Da. Pr425 could correspond to one pentose molecule conjugated to Pr271 by glycosidic bond with losing one water molecule. This possibility is further discussed in more detail.

Two peaks of lower intensity were obtained at $t_{\rm R} = 5.01$ and 5.36 min (same MW and FP) with m/z 441 (Pr441), whose elemental composition was elucidated as



Fig. 4 (continued)

 $C_{23}H_{30}O_7Na$. In this case, the protonated adduct could not be detected. Figure 4d shows the MS/MS spectra for m/z 441 and m/z 287 at $t_R = 5.01$ (spectra at $t_R = 5.36$ are exactly the same).

Such analogous behaviour was previously observed for Pr425 and Pr271. The MS/MS spectrum for m/z 287 at $t_{\rm R} = 5.01$ min is exactly the same as m/z 287 at $t_{\rm R} = 7.17$ min. On the other hand, the fragment ions obtained from the MS/MS analysis of m/z 441 are m/z 309 with molecular formula $C_{18}H_{22}O_3Na$ corresponding to Pr287 sodium adduct and m/z 155 with molecular formula $C_5H_8O_4Na$ (same as that obtained in the case of Pr425). These data suggested that Pr441 corresponded to one pentose molecule conjugated to Pr287 by glycosidic bond. Pr425 and Pr441 reached their maximum intensity after 3 days of treatment, and decreased until being undetectable, upon 12 days of fungal exposition.



Fig. 4 4-MBC metabolites product ion spectra obtained from MS/MS experiments performed by HPLC-QqTOF-MS/MS. (a) Pr271, (b) Pr287, (c) Pr425 and (d) Pr441. Figure taken from [49]

2.3 Degradation Pathways

The study of the degradation pathways in fungi for PPCPs is relatively recent and not fully developed. In general, the most studied xenobiotic degradation pathways in fungi are those related to PAHs [61]. As PPCPs present aromatic structures it is

assumed that the enzymes implicated in their degradation might not differ considerably from the ones implicated in PAHs metabolism. Those are the extracellular enzymes laccase, manganese peroxidase and lignin peroxidase, and the intracellular cytochrome P450 system.

There are more studies related to PPCPs metabolism in rats or humans, as toxicokinetics and degradative metabolism have been analyzed to assess their associated risks. However, UV filters are an example where the degradation metabolism differs in mammals and in fungi [62], despite the enzymes involved are of the same family (cytochrome P450). Toxicokinetic studies in rats revealed that the main metabolic pathway of BP3 is the dealkylation of the methoxy side chain, which lead to the metabolite BP1. Secondary pathways would be aromatic hydroxylations carried out by the cytochrome P450 leading to the hydroxylatedmetabolites THB and DHMB [59]. Nevertheless, the predominant metabolites in human urine and semen samples during the first 24 h after topic application are the glucuronide conjugates of BP3 and BP1 [63]. None of those compounds, except BP1, were found in the fungal culture. In 4-MBC assays, the metabolites identified in rats and humans were 3-(4-carboxybenzylidene)-6-hydroxycamphor (the major metabolite) and 3-(4-carboxybenzylidene) camphor and their respective glucuronide conjugates [64]. As in mammals, phase I and phase II enzymes appear to participate in the degradation of BP3, BP1 and 4-MBC by T. versicolor [44, 49].

In vitro laccase assays lead to the conclusion that this enzyme is not able to transform BP3 and 4-MBC by itself, although BP3 can be degraded if external mediators increasing the oxidizing range of the enzyme are added. Taking into account that fungi have their own mediators, the oxidation of BP3 (but not 4-MBC) by the endogenous laccase-mediator system is in principle feasible. These results are in accordance with those published by Garcia et al. [48]. They also observed that low concentrations of BP3 (1 ng/L) require higher mediator/BP3 molar ratios than high BP3 concentration (1 mg/L) to maintain the same degradation rate at a given enzyme concentration (1 U/mL). This laccase enzymatic treatment was found to generate oxidative coupling reactions, with dimmers, trimmers and similar products.

Fungi express other extracellular oxidative enzymes, like MnP and LiP. However, no studies about their involvement in the degradation of UV filters have been published so far.

Other important enzymes in the degradation of xenobiotics are the monooxigenases cytochrome P450. They are a broad family of intracellular enzymes present in all eukaryotic organisms and also in some prokaryotic microorganisms. In vivo studies, consisting in the addition of a P450 inhibitor in a fungal culture with a contaminant, allows to know whether that enzymatic system participates or not in the first steps of the contaminant's transformation. The presence of the inhibitor 1-aminobenzotriazole (ABT) affected the degradation rates of both, BP3 and 4-MBC, but in different ways. ABT inhibited 4-MBC degradation completely, as the first step of hydroxylation of the aromatic ring is apparently carried out by the cytochrome P450. On the other hand, ABT reduces, but not eliminates BP3 degradation. Unlike



Fig. 5 Fungal degradation pathways of (a) BP3 and (b) 4-MBC. Modified from [44, 49]

4-MBC, BP3 presents hydroxylated groups that allow conjugation in the absence of cytochrome P450 hydroxylase activity.

Metabolites produced by laccases, P450 or other enzymes are more oxidized than the parental compounds, usually by addition of a hydroxyl group to an aromatic ring. In the case of BP3, cytochrome P450 might carry out also a demethylation as reported previously for 2,4,6-trichloroanisole (2,4,6-TCA) [65]. However, conjugated metabolites were also important in the transformation of the xenobiotics. Conjugation increases the polarity of the compounds, their bioavailability and their subsequent degradation. These processes generally result in a decrease of the toxicity of xenobiotics [66, 67], although in some cases the higher availability of the resulting metabolite may also increase its toxicity [47, 68]. Additionally, the problem of detecting conjugated metabolites is that they can be easily reverted to the parent compound. Thus, it must be confirmed that at the end of the treatment both the parental compound and the conjugated forms have been degraded. In the case of BP3 it occurred after 9–15 days of culture, whereas conjugated 4-MBC metabolites disappear after a maximum peak at 3 days.

There are many fungal conjugated forms reported in the literature. The more common are glucuronide, glutathione, sulphate and glycoside conjugations [69, 70]. However, the conjugated metabolites of 4-MBC, BP3 and BP1 by T. versicolor are only formed by the addition of one pentose molecule to the parent compound or also of one glucose in the case of BP3. Ribose and xylose are the most common conjugated pentoses. As a consequence, the enzymes carrying out the transfer would be UDP-glucosyltransferase when the added molecule is glucose [71] and UDP-xylosiltransferase in the case that conjugation occurs with xylose, as it has been previously reported for other xenobiotics in T. versicolor [55]. Conjugation with ribose has been also described for other fungi [56], ant it can also occur in T. versicolor since the molecular weight of the resulting conjugate would be the same than for the xylose-conjugated metabolite. Sugar residues attach to the molecule through an O-glycosidic bond with the hydroxyl groups present in the aromatic ring [55, 56]. In BP3, the conjugation should occur through the unique free hydroxyl of the molecule, whereas BP1 presents two possible alternatives. These conjugated metabolites should contain the parental compound, since BP3 and BP1 structures were found without alterations in HPLC-MS/MS fragmentation analyses. In 4-MBC, conjugation would occur only after the mono- or di-hydroxylation of either the aromatic ring or the adjacent methyl group, but it was not possible to specify the exact position in our analyses.

For all the UV filters studied, the main metabolites identified were the conjugated forms. From them, the predominant product in BP3 degradation was the pentose conjugate, reaching at 24 h a peak of 40% of the initial amount of initial contaminant. The composition of the media could change the metabolites formed or, at least, the proportions as, in BP3, the absence of glucose in the media resulted in a decrease in the glucose conjugated form.

As stated before, any treatment does not make sense without a subsequent metabolization of both the conjugated and the free parental compound. Thus, as described above, metabolites gradually disappeared from the media, which means that O-glycosidic bond would gradually brake and other fungal enzymes would act. Then in the studied benzophenones, the monooxygenase cytochrome P450 would probably oxidize BP3 and BP1 by adding hydroxyl groups or by, the less extended, demethylation, only for BP3 in this case. It would lead to the formation of the detected BP1, 4HB and 4DHB metabolites. Nevertheless, the enzymatic system of fungi is broad [72] and other intracellular or extracellular enzymes could be involved. In 4-MBC, further degradation of glycoconjugated metabolites also occurred.

In conclusion, conjugation processes constitute one of the defensive mechanisms that fungi have against toxic hydroxylated compounds, decreasing their toxicity and increasing their bioavailability [71]. Thus, glycoconjugation would be the first step in the BP3 and BP1 (included in the degradation pathway of BP3) metabolism. For 4-MBC, any conjugation reaction requires a previous step of hydroxylation

(or dihydroxylation) by cytochrome P450. In all cases, conjugation would revert gradually and oxidation of compounds and subsequent ring cleavage would take place leading to smaller unidentified fragments. Figure 5 summarizes the proposed initial steps of the pathways for BP3 and 4-MBC degradation.

3 Biological Activity Evolution Profile Through the Biodegradation Process

Sunscreens and their degradation metabolites analyzed in this study are potential inducers of the oestrogen (ER) and aryl hydrocarbon receptors (AhR, also known as Dioxin Receptor). Ectopic activation of these pathways can cause severe damage to organisms and their ecosystem by altering reproduction, hormonal and/or circulatory systems [73–75] as well as they have been associated with carcinogenic and mutagenic effects [76–78].

Biological assays allow to complete sunscreens degradation analysis by measuring biological activity of the whole sample taking into account unknown metabolites and potential synergistic effects. Therefore, biological tests have been performed to assess oestrogenic and dioxin-like activity during the degradation process by *T. versicolor* of BP3, BP1 and 4-MBC, as well as sludge samples from the WWTP. Besides, parental and known metabolites (4-MBC, BP3, BP1, 4HB, 4DHB, THB and DHMB) have been tested individually by both assays.

3.1 Oestrogenic Activity

The oestrogen receptor recombinant yeast assay (ER-RYA) was performed as described in Noguerol et al. [79]. Oestrogenic activity of BP3 and BP1 determined with EC₅₀ values of 12.5 and 0.058 mg/L, respectively, and an LOEC of 1.6 and 0.015 mg/L. These results indicate that BP1 is three orders of magnitude less oestrogenic than 17β-estradiol and 200-fold more oestrogenic than its parent compound (BP3) [44]. Metabolites 4HB and DHMB also show oestrogenic activity with EC₅₀ values of 0.92 and 7.9 mg/L, respectively, whereas 4DHB and THB were considered nonoestrogenic in this assay. Similar values have been described by Kunz and Fent [33]. The oestrogenic potency of 4-MBC was half of BP3, with and EC₅₀ value of 28.5 mg/L.

Analyses by ER-RYA during the BP3 and 4-MBC biodegradation process by *T. versicolor* showed no oestrogenic activity, indicating that any potential oestrogenic metabolite were not present at enough concentration to elicit biological response. In the case of BP3, this is in agreement with the low concentrations found for these metabolites during fungal degradation. Regarding BP1 biodegradation, the oestrogenic activity readily decreased; upon 4 h of treatment the activity was almost

completely eliminated. Finally, in the case of sludge samples, no oestrogenic activity was detected before or after the treatment.

3.2 Dioxin-Like Activity

Dioxin-like activity was assessed by the AhR recombinant yeast assay (AhR-RYA) performed as described in Noguerol et al. [79]. BP1, with an EC₅₀ value of 0.61 mg/L showed tenfold more dioxin-like activity than BP3, with an EC₅₀ value of 6.8 mg/L. However, two of their metabolites, 4HB and DHMB, presented 4 and 11 times higher activities, with EC₅₀ values of 0.16 and 0.59 mg/L, respectively. No dioxin-like activity was observed for either 4DHB or THB.

Dioxin-like activity during biodegradation processes of BP3, BP1 and 4-MBC by *T. versicolor* was below detection limits for all three compounds. These data indicate that metabolites produced by *T. versicolor* were in small amounts or rapidly metabolized in non-dioxin-like compounds.

On the other hand, sludge samples showed a slight increase (two- to threefold) of dioxin-like activity after the fungal treatment, reaching values above the mg/L BNF equivalent mark. This data can be interpreted as an indicator for bio-activation of some compounds, other than UV filters, present in the sludge by the treatment with *T. versicolor*. These results emphasize the need of a broad screening of biological assays tests, as they differ in their capacity to detect specific hazardous effects.

4 Conclusions

Results of treating sewage sludge with the white-rot fungus *T. versicolor* can be found in [80], showing high degradation yields of all UV filters detected in the raw sludge, with percentages ranging from 87% to 100%.

Degradation products must be identified and characterized in any treatment in order to assess the suitability of the method with respect to biological hazard. These products are identified in liquid medium cultures, which facilitate the characterization procedure. During the degradation process of BP3, one of the most largely used sunscreens, BP1, another commercial UV filter, was formed. Its relative concentration, however, was almost insignificant because it also underwent fast biodegradation by *T. versicolor*. Using ESI(+)-QqTOF-MS/MS analysis (providing their exact mass and molecular formula), up to six derivatives were identified; BP1, 4DHB, 4HB, and the conjugates BP3-pentose (xylose or ribose) and BP3-hexose (glucose) for BP3, and the conjugate BP1-pentose for BP1. Regarding 4-MBC degradation in liquid medium, complete removal was achieved before 24 h as well. The main four metabolites identified were hydroxylated and pentose conjugated compounds. These results show the importance of phase II reactions besides oxidations in the degradation pathway of some toxic xenobiotics. Glycoconjugations decrease their

toxicity and increase bioavailability, allowing further transformations. However, this further transformation must occur during the fungal treatment to efficiently remove the original pollutants. Otherwise, conjugation reversion could occur.

As studied compounds present some biological activity, specific assays for monitoring endocrine disrupting activities, such as oestrogenic and dioxin-like (ER-RYA and AhR-RYA, respectively), during the degradation treatments are needed. Degradation did not result in a formation of oestrogenic metabolites at concentrations high enough to overcome the activity of the parental compounds. Same assays were performed in the treated sludge, in addition to *D. magna, Vibrio fisherii* and germination tests also reported in [80]. Those results showed a slightly increase in the dioxin-like activity of the treated sludge, highlighting the need of performing a broad spectrum of biological assays in order to assess the overall potential risk.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the Spanish Ministries of MMAMRM and MINECO (projects 010/PC08/3-04.1, CGL2008-01898, and CGL2007-64551/HID). The Department of Chemical Engineering of the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona is member of the Xarxa de Referència en Biotecnologia de la Generalitat de Catalunya. Prof. D. Barcelo acknowledges King Saud University (Riyadh, Saudi Arabia) for his contract position as Visiting Profesor. P. Gago-Ferrero gratefully acknowledges the JAE Program (CSIC-European Social Funds).

References

- 1. Teeranachaideekul V, Müller RH, Junyaprasert VB (2007) Int J Pharm 340:198
- 2. Ash M, Ash I (2004) Handbook of green chemicals, 2nd edn. Synapse Information Resources Inc, New York
- 3. Lowe NJ, Shaatg NA, Pathak MA (1997) Sunscreens: development, evaluation and regulatory aspects. Marcel Dekker, New York
- 4. Schreurs R, Sonneveld E, Jansen J, Seinen W, van der Burg B (2005) Toxicol Sci 83:264
- 5. Balmer ME, Buser HR, Müller MD, Poiger T (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:953
- 6. Fent K, Zenker A, Rapp M (2010) Environ Pollut 158:1817
- 7. Rodil R, Quintana JB, López-Mahía P, Muniategui-Lorenzo S, Prada-Rodríguez D (2008) Anal Chem 80:1307
- 8. Tarazona I, Chisvert A, León Z, Salvador A (2010) J Chromatogr A 1217:4771
- 9. Díaz-Cruz MS, Gago-Ferrero P, Llorca M, Barcelo D (2012) Anal Bioanal Chem 402:2325
- 10. Plagellat C, Kupper T, Furrer R, De Alencastro LF, Grandjean D, Tarradellas J (2006) Chemosphere 62:915
- 11. Nieto A, Borrull F, Marcé RM, Pocurull E (2009) J Chromatogr A 1216:5619
- 12. Rodil R, Schrader S, Moeder M (2009) J Chromatogr A 1216:8851
- 13. Gago-Ferrero P, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barcelo D (2011) Chemosphere 84:1158
- 14. Jeon HK, Chung Y, Ryu JC (2006) J Chromatogr A 1131:192
- 15. Gago-Ferrero P, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barcelo D (2011) Anal Bioanal Chem 400:2195
- 16. Pedrouzo M, Borrull F, Marce RM, Pocurull E (2010) Anal Bioanal Chem 397:2833
- 17. Bachelot M, Li Z, Munaron D, Le Gall P, Casellas C, Fenet H, Gomez E, (2012) Sci Total Environ. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.12.051
- Schlumpf M, Durrer S, Faass O, Ehnes C, Fuetsch M, Gaille C, Henseler M, Hofkamp L, Maerkel K, Reolon S, Timms B, Tresguerres JA, Lichtensteiger W (2008) Int J Androl 31:144
- 19. Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2009) Trends Anal Chem 28:708

- 20. Witorsch RJ, Thomas JA (2010) Crit Rev Toxicol 40:1
- 21. Brausch JM, Rand GM (2011) Chemosphere 82:1518
- 22. Fent K, Kunz PY, Zenker A, Rapp M (2010) Mar Environ Res 69:S4
- 23. Schmitt C, Oetken M, Dittberner O, Wagner M, Oehlmann J (2008) Environ Pollut 152:322
- 24. Kaiser D, Sieratowicz A, Zielke H, Oetken M, Hollert H, Oehlmann J (2012) Environ Pollut 163:84
- 25. Kunz PY, Gries T, Fent K (2006) Toxicol Sci 93:311
- 26. Kunz PY, Galicia HF, Fent K (2006) Toxicol Sci 90:349
- 27. Christen V, Zucchi S, Fent K (2011) Aquat Toxicol 102:167
- 28. Kunz PY, Galicia HF, Fent K (2004) Mar Environ Res 58:431
- 29. Schlumpf M, Cotton B, Conscience M, Haller V, Steinman B, Lichtensteiger W (2001) Environ Health Perspect 109:239
- 30. Schlumpf M, Jarry H, Wuttke W, Ma R, Lichtensteiger W (2004) Toxicology 199:109
- 31. Coronado M, De Haro H, Deng X, Rempel MA, Lavado R, Schlenk D (2008) Aquat Toxicol 90:182
- 32. Schlumpf M, Schmid P, Durrer S, Conscience M, Maerkel K, Henseler M, Gruetter M, Herzog I, Reolon S, Ceccatelli R, Faass O, Stutz E, Jorry H, Wuttke W, Lichtensteiger W (2004) Toxicology 205:113
- 33. Kunz PY, Fent K (2006) Aquat Toxicol 79:305
- 34. Boas M, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Main KM (2012) Mol Cell Endocrinol. doi:10.1016/ j.mce.2011.09.005
- 35. Heneweer M, Muusse M, van den Berg M, Sanderson JT (2005) Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 208:170
- 36. Kunz PY, Fent K (2009) Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 234:77
- 37. Li W, Ma Y, Guo C, Hu W, Liu K, Wang Y, Zhu T (2007) Water Res 41:3506
- 38. Joss A, Siegrist H, Ternes TA (2008) Water Sci Technol 57:251
- 39. Rosal R, Rodríguez A, Perdigón-Melón J, Petre A, García-Calvo E, Gómez M, Agüera A (2010) Water Res 44:578
- 40. Hernandez Leal L, Vieno N, Temmink BG, Zeeman G, Buisman CJN (2010) Environ Sci Technol 44:6835
- Vanquerp V, Rodriguez C, Coiffard C, Coiffard L, Roeck-Holtzhauer Y (1999) J Chromatogr A 832:273
- 42. Rodil R, Moeder M, Altenburger R, Schmitt-Jansen M (2009) Anal Bioanal Chem 395:1513
- Sakkas VA, Calza P, Azharul Islam M, Medana C, Baiocchi C, Panagiotou K, Albanis T (2009) Appl Catal B Environ 90:526
- 44. Gago-Ferrero P, Badia-Fabregat M, Olivares A, Piña B, Blanquez P, Vicent T, Caminal G, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2012) Sci Total Env. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.03.089
- 45. Janzen N, Banzhaf S, Scheytt T, Bester K (2009) Chemosphere 77:1358
- 46. Kupper T, Plagellat C, Brändli RC, de Alencastro LF, Grandjean D, Tarradellas J (2006) Water Res 40:2603
- 47. Marco-Urrea E, Perez-Trujillo M, Vicent T, Caminal G (2009) Chemosphere 74:765
- 48. Garcia HA, Hoffman CM, Kinney KA, Lawler DF (2011) Water Res 45:1921
- Badia-Fabregat M, Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Gago-Ferrero P, Olivares A, Piña B, Díaz-Cruz MS, Vicent T, Barceló D, Caminal G (2012) J Environ Manag 104:114
- 50. Winkler R, Sandermann H Jr (1992) J Agric Food Chem 40:2008
- 51. Bayramoglu G, Arica MY (2007) J Hazard Mater 143:135
- 52. Verdin A, Sahraoui ALH, Newsam R, Robinson G, Durand R (2005) Environ Pollut 133:283
- 53. Vasilyeva E, Forgac M (1998) J Biol Chem 273:23823
- Jarosz-Wilkolazka A, Malarczyk E, Pirszel J, Skowronski T, Leonowicz A (2002) Cell Biol Int 26:605
- 55. Kondo R, Yamagami H, Sakai K (1993) Appl Environ Microbiol 55:438
- 56. Gesell M, Hammer E, Mikolasch A, Schauer F (2004) Appl Environ Microbiol 182:51
- 57. Felix T, Hall JH, Brodbelt JS (1998) Anal Chim Acta 371:195
- 58. Díaz-Cruz MS, Llorca M, Barceló D (2008) Trends Anal Chem 27:873

- 59. Jeon HK, Sarma SN, Kim YJ, Ryu JC (2008) Toxicology 248:89
- 60. Buser HR, Müller MD, Balmer ME, Poiger T, Buerge IJ (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:3013
- 61. Cerniglia CE (1997) J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 19:324
- 62. Asha S, Vidyavathi M (2009) Biotechnol Adv 27:16
- 63. León Z, Chisvert A, Tarazona I, Salvador A (2010) Anal Bioanal Chem 398:831
- 64. Völkel W, Colnot T, Schauer UMD, Broschard TH, Dekant W (2006) Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 216:331
- 65. Campoy S, Álvarez-Rodríguez ML, Recio E, Rumbero A, Coque JJR (2009) Environ Microbiol 11:99
- Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Cruz-Morató C, Caminal G, Vicent T (2010) J Hazard Mater 176:836
- Jelic A, Cruz-Morató C, Marco-Urrea E, Sarrà M, Perez S, Vicent T, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2012) Water Res 46:955
- 68. McGrath R, Singleton I (2000) Soil Biol Biochem 32:1311
- 69. Cerniglia CE, Freeman JP, Mitchum PK (1982) Appl Environ Microbiol 43:1070
- 70. Zhang D, Yang Y, Leakey JEA, Cerniglia CE (1996) FEMS Microbiol Lett 138:221
- Hundt K, Martin D, Hammer E, Jonas U, Kindermann MK, Schauer F (2000) Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4157
- 72. Rabinovich ML, Bolobova AV, Vasilchenko LG (2004) Appl Environ Microbiol 40:1
- Kerley-Hamilton JS, Trask HW, Ridley CJ, Dufour E, Lesseur C, Ringelberg CS, Moodie KL, Shipman SL, Korc M, Gui J, Shworak NW, Tomlinson CR (2012) Toxicol Sci 126:391
- 74. Sauzeau V, Carvajal-González JM, Riolobos AS, Sevilla MA, Menacho-Márquez M, Román AC, Abad A, Montero MJ, Fernández-Salguero P, Bustelo XR (2011) J Biol Chem 286:2896
- 75. Haarmann-Stemmann T, Bothe H, Abel J (2009) Biochem Pharmacol 77:508
- 76. Basu A, Rowan BG (2005) Front Biosci 10:2346
- 77. Hrubá E, Vondráček J, Líbalová H, Topinka J, Bryja V, Souček K, Machala M (2011) Toxicol Lett 206:178
- Labrecque MP, Takhar MK, Hollingshead BD, Prefontaine GG, Perdew GH, Beischlag TV (2012) PLoS One 7:e29545
- 79. Noguerol T, Boronat S, Casado M, Raldúa D, Barceló D, Piña B (2006) Anal Bioanal Chem 385:1012
- Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Caminal G, Vicent T, Díaz-Cruz MS, Eljarrat E, Farré M, López de Alda MJ, Petrović M, Barceló D (2012) Fungal-mediated degradation of emerging pollutants in sewage sludge. Hdb Env Chem. doi 10.1007/698_2012_159
- Eljarrat E, Díaz-Cruz MS, Farré M, López de Alda MJ, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2012) Analysis of emerging contaminants in sewage sludge. Hdb Env Chem. doi 10.1007/698_2012_155
Biodegradation of Technical Products of Brominated Flame Retardant by Fungi

M. Vilaplana, G. Caminal, M. Sarrà, E. Barón, M. Gorga, B. Thienpont, D. Raldúa, E. Eljarrat, and D. Barceló

Abstract This chapter examines the degradation by the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor* of three commercial polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) mixtures that have been used more in industry, and consequently, they are detected with great frequency in the environment. PBDEs are a group of compounds that are used in several products as flame retardants and they are highly recalcitrant to their degradation in the environment. The three products selected to study their degradation by the fungus in liquid media correspond to decabromodiphenyl ether (deca-BDE), octabromodiphenyl ether (octa-BDE) and pentabromodiphenyl ether (penta-BDE) mixtures. *T. versicolor* is able to degrade the three different PBDE commercial mixtures in aqueous media obtaining high final removal efficiencies. The degradation products obtained from the treatment by the fungus correspond to some hydroxylated PBDEs with different degrees of bromination, which suggests that the degradation consists of a hydroxylation enzymatic reaction. In addition, the intracellular enzyme cytochrome P450 is implicated in the first step

D. Barceló

M. Vilaplana and M. Sarrà

Departament d'Enginyeria Química, Institut de Ciència i Tecnologia Ambientals, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona (UAB), Escola d'Enginyeria, 08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain

G. Caminal (⊠) Grupo de biocatalisis Aplicada y biodegradación, IQAC-CSIC, C/Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: gcsqbp@iqac.csic.es

E. Barón, M. Gorga, B. Thienpont, D. Raldúa, and E. Eljarrat Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA, CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA, CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona, Pic de Peguera 15, 17003, Girona, Spain

T. Vicent et al. (eds.), *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and* 241 *Biological Treatment*, Hdb Env Chem (2013) 24: 241–270, DOI 10.1007/698_2012_156, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012, Published online: 27 April 2012

of deca-BDE degradation by *T. versicolor*. However, the toxicity tests showed that toxicity in the aqueous media increases after the treatment by the fungus. On the other hand, this chapter reviews the biological treatments in aerobic and anaerobic conditions developed until present to remove PBDEs from aqueous media and soil or sewage sludge.

Keywords Biological degradation, Cytochrome P450, Hydroxylation reaction, Polybrominated diphenyl ether, *Trametes versicolor*

Contents

1	Intro	duction	243		
	1.1	Environment Pollution Due to the Presence of Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers .	243		
	1.2	PBDEs Pollution Origin and Transport Process to Environment	246		
	1.3	Biological Degradation of PBDEs	247		
2	Deca	BDE Degradation in Aqueous Phase by T. versicolor	255		
	2.1	Degradation Capacity	255		
	2.2	Surfactant Effect on Deca-BDE Degradation by the Fungus	257		
	2.3	Deca-BDE Degradation Pathway	258		
	2.4	In Vitro Study with Laccase-Mediator System	259		
	2.5	In Vivo Study with Cyp P450 Inhibitor	260		
	2.6	Deca-BDE Mineralization	261		
3	Degi	adation of Penta-BDE and Octa-BDE Commercial Mixtures	261		
4	Iden	tification of PBDE Degradation Products	263		
5	Toxi	city Results in Aqueous Samples of PBDE Degradation	266		
6	Cond	clusions and Perspectives	268		
Ref	268				

Abbreviations

1-Aminobenzotriazole
2,2'-Azino-bis-(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid)
Atmospheric Pressure Chemical Ionization
Brominated flame retardants
Cytochrome P450
Decabromodiphenyl ether
Defined medium
3,5-Dimethoxy-4-hydroxyacetophenol
Mass spectrometer for isotope ratio
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
Hexabromocyclododecane
Heptabromodiphenyl ethers
Hexabromodiphenyl ethers
1-Hydroxy-benzotriazole
Hours post-fertilization

LC	Liquid chromatography
LRAT	Long-distance atmospheric transport
MeO-PBDEs	Methoxy-polybromodiphenyl ethers
Me-PBDFs	Methoxy-polybrominated dibenzofurans
Mono-BDEs	Monobromodiphenyl ethers
Nona-BDEs	Nonabromodiphenyl ethers
Octa-BDE	Octabromodiphenyl ether
PBDEs	Polybrominated diphenyl ethers
PBDFs	Polybrominated dibenzofurans
PCBs	Polychlorinated biphenyls
PCE	Perchloroethylene
Penta-BDE	Pentabromodiphenyl ether
QqLIT-MS-MS	Quadrupole linear ion trap tandem mass spectrometer
TBBPA	Tetrabromobisphenol A
TCE	Trichloroethylene
Tetra-BDE	Tetrabromodiphenyl ether
Tri-BDEs	Tribromodiphenyl ethers
VA	Violuric acid
V-PDB	Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite

1 Introduction

1.1 Environment Pollution Due to the Presence of Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers

The polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) are a group of compounds included within the brominated flame retardants (BFRs), which are used in various applications such as electronic manufacturing, textiles and furniture, constituting between 5% and 30% of the product [1]. The main role of BFRs is to protect materials against ignition and prevent possible damages caused by fire, by interfering in the chemical reaction mechanism that takes place in the gas phase during combustion. Their production is estimated at 200,000 tonnes per year. Apart from the PBDEs, the most BFRs commonly used are tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA) and hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD) [1].

There is a huge variety of PBDEs considering that there might be from one to ten bromine atoms bound to the diphenyl ether molecule. Among all the PBDEs, the commercial mixtures of decabromodiphenyl ether (deca-BDE), octabromodiphenyl ether (octa-BDE) and pentabromodiphenyl ether (penta-BDE) are the products that are most found in the environment. Related to octa-BDE and penta-BDE mixtures, their commercial use was banned in the European Union in 2004 and that year their leading manufacturers in North America stopped producing them on a voluntary basis [2]. Regarding the deca-BDE mixture, since July 2008, its use has been



Fig. 1 PBDE structures examples: (a) deca-BDE-209; (b) hepta-BDE-183; (c) penta-BDE-99

banned in the EU in electrical and electronic applications. Two states of United States, Maine and Washington, banned its use in mattresses and furniture in 2008 [2]. In addition, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) reached an agreement with the major producers of this commercial mixture, Albermarle Corporation and Chemtura Corporation, and the leading importer, ICL Industrial Products Inc., for the final production and importation dismissal of this product for any commercial use by the end of 2013 [3].

The mixture of deca-BDE is composed almost exclusively of deca-BDE (BDE-209), with a rate of 97% or more and by 3% or less of nonabromodiphenyl ethers (nona-BDEs) and octa-BDEs. On the contrary, the commercial octa-BDE mixture usually contains between 10% and 12% hexabromodiphenyl ethers (hexa-BDEs), 44% of heptabromodiphenyl ethers (hepta-BDEs), between 31% and 35% of octa-BDEs, between 10% and 11% of nona-BDEs and <1% of deca-BDE [4]. The two compounds with a higher proportion in this mixture are, in first place, BDE-183 (2,2',3,4,4',5',6-hepta-BDE) and then the BDE-153 (2,2',4,4',5,5'-hexa-BDE). In addition, the penta-BDE mixture, commercially known as DE-71, is primarily composed by tetrabromodiphenyl ethers (tetra-BDEs) (24–38%), penta-BDEs (50–60%) and hexa-BDEs (4–8%) being BDE-99 (2,2',4,4',5-penta-BDE) and BDE-47 (2,2',4,4'-tetra-BDE) the main compounds of the mixture. Figure 1 shows different structures belonging to the three PBDE mixtures described.

PBDE compounds are highly insoluble in aqueous phase in all cases and very stable. Its insolubility increases as the higher the number of substituents in the molecule, ranging from a solubility of approximately 100 μ g L⁻¹ for monobromo-diphenyl ethers (mono-BDEs) to a value of 25 ± 5 ng L⁻¹ for deca-BDE [5].

The toxicity of these compounds is linked with its solubility and hence with its bioavailability, being mono-BDEs compounds the most toxic and deca-BDE the least. Because of its very low solubility, during long time deca-BDE was considered as a practically non-toxic compound due to its very low solubility and hence the great difficulty in moving up the food chain. But in recent years, there are several laboratory studies showing that deca-BDE is photodegradable and if exposed to ultraviolet light it can result in lower brominated PBDEs, which are more bioavailable and therefore more toxic. These studies were performed both with deca-BDE in liquid medium [6, 7] and adsorbed on solid matrices such as clay minerals or sediments [8]. These studies have shown a great variety of PBDE compounds formed from the deca-BDE photodegradation. In one case, different PBDEs from tribromodiphenvl ethers (tri-BDEs) to nona-BDEs were detected [6, 8] and in another case different species of polybrominated dibenzofurans (PBDFs) and methoxy-polybrominated dibenzofurans (Me-PBDFs), which are also regarded as toxic, were formed as well [7]. The loss of bromine atoms by the action of ultraviolet light is progressive and, therefore, deca-BDE is transformed into different nona-BDE isomers, which subsequently become different isomers of octa-BDE and so on until the formation of tri-BDE isomers, which are the lowest brominated PBDEs that have been detected in these studies. PBDEs decomposition rate by UV light decreases with the reduction of the number of bromine atoms bound to the diphenyl ether molecule, being deca-BDE the compound with the fastest rate and more susceptible to form lower brominated PBDEs [6]. On the other hand, it has been demonstrated that deca-BDE can be degraded under abiotic conditions by metal oxides present in soils and sediments [9]. In the case of compounds present in octa-BDEs and penta-BDEs mixtures, they are also susceptible to be debrominated by ultraviolet radiation, with the consequent increase in environmental toxicity [10, 11].

Regarding the toxicological properties of the three commercial mixtures studied in this chapter, it has been shown that these products have thyroid hormone disrupting properties [1, 12], which causes a competitive binding of PBDEs to thyroid hormone receptors due to the great similarity between the structures of these hormones and PBDEs. These hormones play an important role in cardiovascular, skeletal and muscular systems as well as in body responses related to heat production, oxygen consumption and regulation of other hormonal systems. In addition, PBDEs can alter liver function, causing changes in thyroid hormones and vitamin A homeostasis, resulting in over-elimination of the thyroid hormone T4 [13]. It has also been demonstrated that cell exposure to PBDE leads to cellular cytotoxic effects with a progressive decrease in their viability and an increase of apoptosis and necrosis [14], this being a last non-controlled process which leads to tissue damage. With regard to PBDEs carcinogenic effects, human exposure to these products is related to the formation of tumours and cancer. While concern over deca-BDEs carcinogenicity is low, congeners of lower bromination are expected to be relatively carcinogenic [12].

1.2 PBDEs Pollution Origin and Transport Process to Environment

PBDEs, and especially the mixtures studied in this chapter, have been detected in air, soil, sediment and aquifer samples [67]. Their concentration in environmental media depends largely on their distance from urban centres, with a progressive decrease in pollutants concentration as the distance increases, which indicates that the pollution sources are related to human activity [21, 68]. Specifically, in areas with high population density, the highest concentrations of PBDEs in air, water, soil and sediments are found in zones close to manufacturing and recycling products industries, and drop-off areas [15-17]. Moreover, the detection of PBDEs in remote areas, situated at a very large distance from pollution source, means that the long-distance atmospheric transport (LRAT) of PBDEs has a significant importance in movement and distribution of these pollutants in the environment at regional and global scales [18–20]. Initially, it was suggested that deca-BDE had a low potential in terms of being transported long distances by air, but recent studies that detected deca-BDE in remote lakes of Canada show that this compound can be transported long distances through the air [18]. Although the different studies carried out until now, further investigation is necessary with respect to PBDEs LRAT as it is demonstrated that there is a significant difference between the LRAT values calculated from different models, and also between the values predicted by models and values detected in situ [2].

Another source of environmental pollution by PBDEs corresponds to liquid effluents and sludge from urban wastewater treatment plants. There is a great variety of studies where PBDEs are detected, which indicates that both the housing and urban offices are a source of these pollutants contamination [21, 22]. In general, deca-BDE has been detected in higher concentration in sludge samples than in liquid effluents as it is the most insoluble of all PBDEs. In contrast, lower brominated diphenyl ethers are found in greater proportion in the liquid phase. However, the treatment plant effluent volumes returned to surface water are significant, and therefore it represents an important source of deca-BDE contamination, although its concentration is very low. On the other hand, brominated contaminants present in sewage sludge can accumulate in soil, once composted, due to its application in agricultural areas, this becoming the main source of PBDEs soil contamination [23]. Soil erosion also promotes the movement and distribution of these pollutants, because once they pass into surface water, they can be transported long distances and accumulate in sediments [21], marine fauna [24] and agricultural soils [23]. Finally, the fauna can also extend PBDEs distribution in the environment after these compounds will be accumulated in the successive levels of the food chains. This distribution can take place at regional or global level because of long-distance migrations, especially in case of birds and fish [25]. In both cases, the PBDEs amounts transported through animals are small compared to water and air distribution channels, but they are very important for their potential to introduce these compounds directly into the upper levels of the food chains [25].

1.3 Biological Degradation of PBDEs

Different studies evidence the degradation of different PBDE compounds by biological processes in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. However, it must be considered that these compounds are emerging contaminants that have been considered recently as toxic and carcinogenic agents and, as a consequence, the number of published studies is still scarce and most of them are very recent. In aerobic conditions, there are few studies of PBDEs degradation and in most cases correspond to low brominated congeners [26, 27], such as mono-BDEs or di-BDEs, which were the first one studied as they are the most bioavailable compounds among all the PBDEs. On the contrary, a more extend research has been carried out on anaerobic degradation of PBDEs mixtures, both in liquid phase and in soil or sludge.

1.3.1 Aerobic Degradation

The first study on PBDEs degradation in aerobic conditions, which was conducted by Schmidt et al. [26], showed that bacterial strain Sphingomonas SS3 is able to degrade diphenyl ether molecule and their halogenated derivatives (4-fluoro, 4chloro and 4-bromodiphenyl ether) using them as the main carbon and energy source. In the case of 4-bromodiphenyl ether, this report proposes a double degradation pathway by a non-specific hydroxylation of the dioxygenase enzyme, forming phenol and 4-bromocatechol whether the enzyme attacks the halogenated ring or catechol and 4-bromophenol if the enzyme attacks the non-halogenated ring. This bacterial species has also been used in another study of low brominated PBDEs degradation, where Sphingomonas strain PH-07 degraded five different PBDE compounds (4-bromo-BDE, 2,4- and 4,4'-dibromo-BDE, and 2,4,6- and 2,4,4'tribromo-BDE) [28]. In the case of 4-bromo-BDE, the degradation pathway is different from that described by Schmidt et al. [26], because hydroxylation occurs in a different phenyl ring position, forming 4-bromophenol, which in part is transformed into 4-bromocatechol and 2-hydroxymuconic acid as degradation products. For the other higher brominated PBDEs, this bacterial strain was able to degrade all of them, except for 2,4,6-tri-BDE, by means of an enzymatic hydroxylation, leading to the formation of different bromophenols and bromocatechols depending on the degraded compound.

Regarding the degradation of PBDEs by white-rot fungi, the first evidence of their ability to degrade a PBDE compound corresponds to a study published by Hundt et al. [27], which studied the degradation of 4-bromo-BDE by *Trametes versicolor*. The degradation occurs initially by hydroxylation reaction with the possible formation of three different isomers of hydroxy-diphenyl ether followed



Fig. 2 Proposed pathway for 4-bromo-BDE degradation by *T. versicolor*. Adapted from Hundt et al. [27]

by a breakdown of the aromatic ring leading to the formation of 2-hydroxy-4fenoxymuconic acid and the corresponding lactone. The hydroxylation always occurs in the non-halogenated phenyl ring, and this reinforces the idea that there is a trihydroxylated intermediate product of the non-halogenated ring, which was not detected in this study, between muconic acid and hydroxyphenyl ethers. Finally, 4-bromophenol is obtained as final degradation product, which cannot be confirmed to occur from muconic acid or from a direct enzymatic breakdown of the ether bond of the halogenated diphenyl ether. Figure 2 shows the degradation pathway proposed in this article.

Hundt et al. [27] studied the involvement of different enzymes produced by fungus in the degradation of the brominated compound. It was checked that there

was no compound degradation by the fungus in presence of 1-aminobenzotriazole (ABT), which is an inhibitor of intracellular enzyme cytochrome P450 (Cyp P450). On the other hand, there was no pollutant degradation in presence of supernatant with a high activity of laccase and manganese peroxidase. These results suggest that a non-ligninolytic intracellular enzyme system would be involved, which could be the Cyp P450, in the first step of 4-bromo-BDE degradation by *T. versicolor*, which corresponds to the hydroxylation reaction.

Apart from the work published by Hundt et al. [27], deca-BDE commercial mixture degradation by an unspecified white-rot fungus was studied by Zhou et al. [29]. This study corresponds to the first evidence of the ability of white-rot fungi to degrade deca-BDE mixture. In addition, this report examines the effect of surfactant Tween 80 and oligosaccharide β -cyclodextrin concentrations in liquid medium on deca-BDE degradation. Surfactant is used to increase pollutant solubility in aqueous phase and consequently its bioavailability to be degraded, and cyclodextrin is used in applications to promote environmental degradation in soil and in liquid medium. In all experiments, deca-BDE theoretical initial concentration was 1.6 mg L^{-1} and the fungus was able to degrade the pollutant with a maximum degradation yield of 96.5% for a period of 10 days and a Tween 80 concentration of 500 mg L^{-1} . For higher surfactant concentrations, the fungal growth was inhibited, and therefore it is important to choose the suitable surfactant initial concentration to maximize the degradation yield. Moreover, the presence of β -cyclodextrin promotes the degradation of deca-BDE in a lower range than the presence of Tween 80, obtaining a maximum degradation percentage of 78.4% after 10 days. This study shows that deca-BDE is degraded in presence of this ligninolytic fungus but no products were indentified from the degradation process neither the enzymatic system involved in this process.

Later, the studies on the degradation of 13 separate PBDEs, from mono-BDEs to hexa-BDEs, by aerobic bacteria were reported [30]. This was the first study that showed the degradation of the most relevant tetra-BDEs and penta-BDEs and one hexa-BDE. Four different bacterial strains were tested: Rhodococcus RR1, Pseudonocardia dioxanivorans CB1190, Rhodococcus jostii RHA1 and Burkholderia xenovorans LB400, considering that the last two had demonstrated previously its ability to degrade polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) [31, 32], contaminants with a similar structure to PBDEs. The strain RHA1 was chosen to study the degradation of penta-BDE commercial mixture with an initial concentration of 17 μ g L⁻¹ for each congener, which corresponds to significantly lower concentrations than deca-BDE degradation experiment by white-rot fungus [29]. The results show that the two PCBs degrader bacterial strains are more efficient both in percentage and in a variety of degraded PBDEs, being only BDE-149 (2,2',3,4',5',6-hexa-BDE) and BDE-153 the compounds that RHA1 was unable to degrade and also BDE-138 (2.2', 3.4,4',5'-hexa-BDE) in the case of LB400. The other two strains tested were only able to degrade the BDE-3 (4-mono-BDE) and one of the two di-BDEs tested, the BDE-47. Thus, they are not suitable to degrade PBDEs with a high number of bromine atoms. Moreover, this study showed that the degradation efficiency decreases as the number of bromine atoms in the molecule increases. Experiments carried out with high concentration of BDE-3 and BDE-47 by the two more efficient degrading strains showed the formation of bromide ion in all cases but with different magnitudes. In the case of RHA1, debromination reached a very high percentage, between 80% and 100%, implying that the bacterium is able to break all the carbon-bromine bonds, and no accumulation of brominated products occurs because a practically total debromination is obtained. This is the first study that has demonstrated a complete PBDE debromination in stoichiometric conditions. However, only 10% of debromination was obtained in presence of strain B400, resulting in the accumulation of brominated products instead of pollutants debromination. In the latter case, a hydroxylated mono-BDE compound was detected from 4-mono-BDE degradation, suggesting that this strain caused the degradation through a hydroxylation reaction, as described in other cases detailed above. Subsequently, the implication of biphenyl and ethylbenzene dioxygenases of R. *jostii* RHA1 in PBDEs transformation was described and a dihydroxylated-BDE was detected as the primary metabolite of 4-bromodiphenyl ether [33].

1.3.2 Anaerobic Degradation

With respect to anaerobic degradation, there are a greater number of references related to commercial PBDEs mixtures degradation, both in liquid and in solid media.

The PBDEs degradation process by bacteria in anaerobic conditions always follows the debromination reductive pathway, which consists of the gradual replacement of bromine atoms bound to ether diphenyl rings by hydrogen atoms forming lower brominated PBDEs. This type of degradation corresponds to the same reaction that occurs in the anaerobic degradation of perchloroethylene (PCE) and trichloroethylene (TCE) by bacteria [34]. The main problem associated with this degradation route, as with the anaerobic degradation of TCE and PCE [35], is that the resulting products are more toxic than their precursors, because they have a higher solubility and bioavailability due to its lower number of bromine atoms. Therefore, a treatment based on anaerobic degradation can lead to an increased toxicity of the environment rather than its treatment.

Deca-BDE and octa-BDE mixtures degradation in anaerobic conditions in aqueous phase was first demonstrated by He et al. [36]. This study was performed with the bacterial strain *Sulfurospirillum multivorans* and different strains of *Dehalococcoides* species [*D. ethenogenes* 195 and EC195, *D.* BAV 1 and a culture with different species of *Dehalococcoides* (ANAS)]. Considering that PBDEs degradation is produced by co-metabolism in all cases, the presence of a compound that acts as an electron acceptor during the degradation process is required. In this case, TCE was used as an electron acceptor. The results showed that *S. multivorans* is able to degrade deca-BDE into different hepta-BDE and octa-BDE congeners, but it is unable to degrade the octa-BDE mixture into lower brominated congeners. These results agree with chlorinated ethylenes degradation results by this strain, as

it has been demonstrated that it can only degrade the higher chlorinated compounds (TCE and PCE), which agrees with the fact that only can debrominate deca-BDE. With regard to *Dehalococcoides* species, they were able to degrade the octa-BDE mixture, but none was able to degrade the deca-BDE mixture. The resulting products from PBDEs degradation are lower brominated congeners than those initially present in the mixture and they are different depending on the strain used, obtaining hepta-BDE to penta-BDE compounds (*D. ethenogenes* 195), and tetra-BDEs and di-BDEs congeners (mixture of *D.* BAV1 and *D. ethenogenes* EC195).

Later, Robrock et al. [37] studied the anaerobic degradation in aqueous phase of the five main components of the octa-BDE mixture. In addition, they studied the degradation of the two PBDEs with a greater presence in the environment: BDE-47 and BDE-99 [6, 38], which can be formed from higher brominated congeners degradation, and they are also included in penta-BDE commercial mixture composition. Using a mixture of Dehalococcoides strains (ANAS195), the PCE degrader strain Dehalobacter restrictus and pentachlorophenol degrader bacterium Desulfitobacterium hafniense PCP-1, it was found that all compounds tested were biodegraded by the three cultures, following a reductive debromination pathway very similar for all the cultures and exhibiting a preference for eliminating bromine atoms bound to phenyl ether rings in positions meta and para. In the case of D. restrictus and D. hafniense, it was suggested that degradation occurs by cometabolism with PCE as electron acceptor or that degrading enzymes produced by bacteria are not only induced by the presence of PBDEs. However, in the case of ANAS195 culture, PBDEs were degraded without the presence of an electron acceptor.

Regarding the degradation of commercial PBDE mixtures in solid media, the fact that a relatively significant concentration has been detected in sediments [15, 39] and sewage sludge [23, 40, 41], especially in the case of deca-BDE, implies that the study of their degradation is also important. To date, deca-BDE mixture anaerobic degradation has been more studied than the degradation of the other two commercial mixtures.

The first study of deca-BDE mixture degradation in sewage sludge was published by Gerecke et al. [42]. The sludge where degradation took place and that was used as inoculum came from a mesophilic anaerobic digester of an urban wastewater treatment plant located in Dübendrof, Switzerland. The results showed that deca-BDE degradation in solid media occurs by reductive debromination, forming two different nona-BDEs and several octa-BDE compounds. This study was further complemented by a subsequently report published by Gerecke et al. [43], which compared the deca-BDE degradation in a sewage sludge from the same anaerobic digester with the degradation of other compounds that are also used as flame retardants, such as HBCD and TBBPA. The results of this study showed that the three compounds can be degraded in anaerobic conditions and that deca-BDE is the compound with the longest half-life (700 days). Other published reports also show significant deca-BDE degradation in both sludge from an urban wastewater treatment [44] and sediments [45]. In this second study, it was found that deca-BDE

is degraded via reductive debromination causing an amount increase of less brominated congeners (nona-, octa-, hepta- and hexa-BDEs).

Penta-BDE and octa-BDE mixtures degradation studies in solid media in anaerobic conditions are very scarce. In the case of penta-BDE mixture, Vonderheide et al. [2] inoculated a culture with different anaerobic microorganisms in a contaminated soil by this mixture. After a short time, the major compound in the mixture, BDE-99, was almost completely degraded, as well as other PBDEs present in lower proportion (hexa-BDEs and penta-BDEs). Moreover, for the same time, it was observed an increase of the amount of BDE-47, which corresponds to the second major compound in the mixture. The authors argue that BDE-47 amount increase could be caused by the fact that it is a degradation product of other higher brominated PBDEs such as BDE-99. In fact, it was demonstrated later that BDE-47 is formed from BDE-99 degradation in anaerobic conditions [37].

In relation to octa-BDE mixture degradation in soil and sediment, it has been recently studied by Lee and He [46]. Soils and sediments from three different locations: Guiyu Wuhan (China), Singapore and San Francisco (USA) were used to carry out a bioaugmentation process of native anaerobic microorganisms before the mixture addition. Results show that degradation occurs by reductive debromination leading to the formation of a broad range of products, from hexa-to mono-BDEs, with predominance of tetra-BDE isomers. In this work, a genetic analysis of microcosm was also carried out, and it was found that in most cultures *Dehalococcoides* species were present, which had been already proved their ability to degrade PBDEs [36, 37].

1.3.3 PBDE Degradation in Mammals

PBDEs degradation in mammals has also been studied in order to understand the behaviour of these compounds and the corresponding degradation products inside the body considering that they can be bioaccumulated in different organs [47, 48] with the consequent risk to the animals and humans health [12, 13, 49]. Among all the PBDEs, deca-BDE has been the most studied through experiments in rats. Most of these studies suggest that deca-BDE is metabolized to less brominated hydroxylated and methoxy-hydroxylated metabolites through dehalogenation oxidative reactions. Moreover, there are also degradation studies of other PBDEs in rats, such as BDE-154 (2,2',4,4',5,6'-hexabromodiphenyl ether) [50] and BDE-100 (2,2',4,4',6-pentabromodiphenyl ether) [51]. The degradation products detected for the latter were several mono- and di-OH-tetra-BDEs and a mono-OH-penta-BDE, which are presumably formed through an oxidative process. The enzymatic system involved is not reported in this paper.

In the case of BDE-154, the suggested degradation pathway results in different types of hydroxylated PBDEs: mono- and di-OH-hexa-BDEs, mono-, di- and tri-OH-penta-BDEs, and a mono-OH-tetra-BDE. It was checked that Cyp P450 is



Fig. 3 Metabolic degradation pathway suggested for BDE-154 on rats. Adapted from Hakk et al. [50]

involved in the first degradation step of the compound, which corresponds to the formation of a reactive epoxy intermediate, which leads to different hydroxylated PBDEs. Figure 3 shows the suggested pathway by BDE-154 degradation in mammals.

In the case of deca-BDE, its suggested degradation process in mammals consists of a first reductive debromination where one, two or three bromine atoms can be replaced by hydrogen atoms followed by an oxidation to form hydroxylated metabolites, which are presumably formed from an intermediate epoxy [52]. This study detected traces of three nona-BDEs, which may be an indication of reductive debromination as a first step of degradation, and thirteen hydroxylated metabolites. Otherwise, the possibility of a deca-BDE oxidation as a first step to form the epoxy without an intermediate reductive debromination is also suggested [52]. The study conducted by Morck et al. [53] detected several hydroxylated products, from methoxy–hydroxy-pentabrominated to methoxy–hydroxy-heptabrominated compounds, which coincide with part of the metabolites obtained by Sandholm et al. [52]. In addition, both authors found that methoxy and hydroxy substituents are always on the same aromatic ring when both are present. Moreover,



Fig. 4 Proposed deca-BDE degradation pathway on mammals. Adapted from Morck et al. [53] and Sandholm et al. [52]

Morck et al. [53] found traces of less brominated PBDEs than deca-BDE, indicating that the reductive debromination would be the first step in its degradation. In both articles, it is suggested the involvement of Cyp P450 in the oxidation reactions to form hydroxylated metabolites, but not in the reductive debromination proposed as the initial step.

Regarding the reductive debromination as the first step of deca-BDE degradation in mammals, Huwe and Smith [54] detected the formation of different PBDEs (three nona-BDEs, four octa-BDEs and one hepta-BDE) from deca-BDE degradation in rats, which also suggests the existence of a reductive debromination process as the first step in deca-BDE degradation in mammals. In this case, it was not identified whether the specific enzymatic system responsible for the reductive debromination and the corresponding analyses to detect the formation of hydroxylated metabolites were not carried out.

Figure 4 shows the proposed deca-BDE degradation pathway in mammals according to the research studies in rats.

2 Deca-BDE Degradation in Aqueous Phase by T. versicolor

2.1 Degradation Capacity

First, the capacity of the fungus *T. versicolor* to degrade deca-BDE was evaluated. To carry out the treatment, the fungus was used in the form of pellets; 100 mL amber serum bottles were filled with 10 mL of defined medium (DM) with Tween 80 (500 mg L⁻¹) as surfactant to increase the solubility of the contaminant and deca-BDE at a concentration of 10 mg L⁻¹. The bottles were inoculated with the necessary amount of pellets to reach an approximate biomass concentration of 3.5 g L⁻¹ (dry weight).

Figure 5 shows the evolution of glucose concentration and deca-BDE degradation yield. The degradation yield is calculated by comparing the pollutant concentration value obtained in experimental bottles with fungus with that obtained in heat-killed controls, which consisted on autoclaved pellets. Moreover, abiotic controls were used to verify that there was no abiotic degradation or pollutant losses non-associated to fungal degradation. Deca-BDE degradation percentage increased along the time until it reached a value of $73 \pm 10\%$ at a time of 88 h. Subsequently, degradation yield did not improve although a glucose pulse was added. In this case, there is no clear reason to justify the degradation stop, because there were no significant variations in glucose consumption at any time of the experiment, which means that the metabolic system of the fungus was active and the fungus was presumably not inhibited by the presence of the pollutant in the broth or any of the degradation products.

Deca-BDE degradation at lower concentration (2 mg L^{-1}) was also assayed and Fig. 6 shows the results obtained. The degradation yield obtained after 182 h was $68 \pm 5\%$, which is slightly lower than the degradation obtained in the previous experiment with a higher deca-BDE initial concentration. Results confirm that the fungus is also able to degrade deca-BDE at a lower concentration in a significant way. Regarding glucose consumption, at a time of 90 h, the initial amount added, corresponding to a concentration of 15 g L⁻¹, was nearly exhausted and a glucose pulse was added to avoid a possible limiting effect on pollutant degradation due to lack of primary substrate.

For both initial concentrations tested, pollutant mass adsorbed on the fungus was high, which means that it is bioavailable and can enter into fungal internal structure. This fact must be taken into account to quantify deca-BDE mass degraded. Figure 7 shows the deca-BDE amount decrease due to the adsorption on the fungus for both experiments, which was quantified from the bottles with heat-killed fungus. For an initial deca-BDE concentration of 2 mg L⁻¹, the adsorption percentages were $11 \pm 6\%$ and $24 \pm 6\%$ at 13 and 91 h, respectively, while the adsorption percentage was $13.5 \pm 4.8\%$ for a period of 161 h when the initial concentration was 10 mg L⁻¹. The high deca-BDE adsorption on the fungus implies that only a very low percentage of residual pollutant is detected in the aqueous phase at the end of the degradation process, because removal percentages are higher than 85% for both initial concentrations at the end of the experiment.



Fig. 5 Evolution of glucose concentration and deca-BDE degradation yield in aqueous phase by *T. versicolor* pellets. Deca-BDE initial concentration = 10 mg L^{-1}



Fig. 6 Glucose concentration and deca-BDE degradation evolution in aqueous phase by *T. versicolor* in the form of pellets at an initial concentration of 2 mg L^{-1}

As mentioned previously, deca-BDE was considered for a long time as a practically non-toxic compound, due to its low availability. However, the results of both experiments have clearly demonstrated that this pollutant is bioavailable in aqueous phase in the presence of Tween 80. Considering that wastewater discharged into the environment often contains different types of surfactants,



Fig. 7 Deca-BDE amount in the abiotic and adsorption control for an initial concentration of 2 mg L^{-1} (*left*) and 10 mg L^{-1} (*right*)

such as linear or composite polyethoxylated alkylbenzenes sulfonates [55, 56], deca-BDE present in these conditions may also be bioavailable and toxic for living organisms.

2.2 Surfactant Effect on Deca-BDE Degradation by the Fungus

Deca-BDE degradation studies by white-rot fungi have shown that surfactant Tween 80 is very effective to enhance pollutant degradation [29]. These authors show that an increase of 54.3% on deca-BDE degradation is obtained if Tween 80 is added to the medium, in a concentration of 500 mg L⁻¹, in relation to not adding surfactant. The main drawback of this surfactant, with a view to a possible application in situ bioremediation, is its high cost. Therefore, the effect of other surfactants on deca-BDE degradation was assayed but using more economical surfactants. The surfactants selected were two commercial surfactants that are used for in situ bioremediation processes, BS-400 (IEPSorbents) and Goldcrew (GoldCrew_Company), and Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich), which was used to evaluate the effect on deca-BDE degradation of peroxyl radicals produced by laccase in the presence of Tween 80 [57], because these radicals are not produced in the presence of Tween 20.

The experiment with different surfactants was carried out with a deca-BDE initial concentration of 10 mg L^{-1} , 10 mL of defined medium and a pellets concentration of approximately 3.5 g L^{-1} (dry weight). The surfactant's concentrations were 500 mg L^{-1} for Tween 20 and 5% and 14% (v/v) for BS-400 and Goldcrew, respectively. Figure 8 shows deca-BDE degradation using the different surfactants compared to pollutant degradation with Tween 80 from a previous experiment (Fig. 5). The maximum degradation rate was obtained with Tween 80, but the degradation obtained with Tween 20 was very similar. Therefore, in the case of deca-BDE degradation, although Tween 80 may become a substrate



Fig. 8 Evolution of deca-BDE degradation by *T. versicolor* using different surfactants. Initial pollutant concentration of 10 mg L^{-1}

for the oxidizing species formation, it does not mean an increase in terms of degradation in relation to the use of Tween 20.

Regarding the commercial surfactants, on the one hand, a final pollutant degradation of $11 \pm 11\%$ was obtained if BS-400 is used. As a consequence, this compound is not suitable to promote deca-BDE degradation under the experimental conditions tested, probably because pollutant concentration does not increase in the presence of this surfactant. On the other hand, a degradation percentage of $52 \pm 13\%$ was obtained in the presence of Goldcrew, which was not significantly lower than degradation obtained in the presence of Tween 80 or Tween 20. For this reason, this product is an interesting candidate to study its effect on deca-BDE degradation by the fungus in a more extensive way with a view to on in situ bioremediation processes.

2.3 Deca-BDE Degradation Pathway

Biological degradation of different PBDE compounds in aerobic conditions reported the formation of hydroxylated PBDEs of lower bromination than the original pollutant [26–28, 30]. There is only one report about PBDEs degradation

by *T. versicolor* [27], where the involvement of the intracellular enzyme Cyp P450 and extracellular laccase and manganese peroxidase in the degradation process is studied. Authors suggest that Cyp P450 is involved in the first step of 4-bromo-BDE degradation and not the extracellular enzymes. Considering this reported study and the involvement of Cyp P450 in deca-BDE degradation in mammals [52, 53], the involvement of this enzymatic system in deca-BDE degradation by *T. versicolor* was studied. Moreover, the involvement of laccase in deca-BDE degradation was studied by an experiment using the laccase-mediator system.

The oxidation of pollutants by laccase is normally limited to aromatic compounds with one phenolic group, but in the presence of low molecular weight compounds, known as mediators, it can also oxidize other compounds, such as dyes [58] or alkenes and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons [59].

Although the use of mediator compounds is scarcely applicable in deca-BDE in situ bioremediation processes, it is important to consider whether their presence enhances the degradation of the pollutant by the enzyme laccase because it is known that the fungus is able to produce naturally certain compounds that can act as mediators in pollutant degradation by laccase and this study would show the extent of their effect on deca-BDE degradation in case that laccase was involved.

Although white-rot fungi degrading ability has been associated with peroxidases and laccase, it has been demonstrated that they are not involved in several degradation processes, such as TCE and PCE degradation by *T. versicolor* [60, 61] or TCE degradation by *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* [62]. Therefore, white-rot fungi use alternative enzymatic mechanisms to degrade pollutants, such as monooxygenases belonging to the system Cyp P450, whose genes for *T. versicolor* were identified and characterized recently [63].

2.4 In Vitro Study with Laccase-Mediator System

The study of deca-BDE in vitro degradation by *T. versicolor* commercial laccase was performed in the absence and presence of mediators, which correspond to 2,2'-azinobis-(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) (ABTS), 1-hydroxy-benzotriazole (HOBT), violuric acid (VA) and 3,5-dimethoxy-4-hydroxyacetophenol (DMHAP), with a concentration of 1 mM in the case of HOBT and 0.8 mM for the other mediators. In all cases, the enzymatic activity in aqueous phase was about 180 U L⁻¹, corresponding to similar values measured in deca-BDE fungal degradation experiments. The results shown in Table 1 evidenced no significant pollutant degradation after 38 h of reaction because deca-BDE mass measured in degradation bottles with laccase and laccase-mediator was similar to the control. Only in the case of laccase-DMHAP system, a slight reduction in contaminant mass, equivalent to a rate of 14%, was obtained. This pollutant decrease could suggest that some degradation has occurred through the action of laccase-mediator system, but it was not comparable with that obtained by fungal degradation, corresponding to a value of

	Deca-BDE mass in serum bottles (µg)
Control	17 ± 2
Laccase without mediator	17.0 ± 0.7
Laccase + ABTS	16.3 ± 0.3
Laccase + HOBT	17.5 ± 0.9
Laccase + VA	18.6 ± 0.8
Laccase + DMHAP	15 ± 1

Table 1 Deca-BDE degradation obtained by laccase and laccase-mediator system with an initial pollutant concentration of 2 mg L^{-1} at 38 h

Table 2 Degradation of deca-BDE in presence and absence of ABT at a time of 38 h

	Deca-BDE mass in experimental bottles (µg)
Heat-killed controls	12.6 ± 0.3
Cultures without ABT	6.7 ± 0.3
Cultures with 5 mM ABT	14.4 ± 0.1

 $42 \pm 3\%$. Therefore, the results obtained do not evidence that laccase is involved in the first step of deca-BDE degradation.

2.5 In Vivo Study with Cyp P450 Inhibitor

The experiment was conducted in the presence of the fungus and the compound ABT at sufficiently high concentration, 5 mM, to cause the inhibition of Cyp P450 enzyme system expression by the fungus.

Table 2 shows important differences between the final deca-BDE mass measured in culture without inhibitor with respect to inhibited culture. Moreover, the final pollutant mass detected in cultures with ABT was higher than the mass detected in heat-killed control. Consequently, the results suggest that Cyp P450 is involved in the first step of deca-BDE degradation by *T. versicolor*. The fact that pollutant degradation occurs by intracellular enzyme means that the compound must be bioavailable, because it needs to enter into the intracellular structure to be subsequently degraded by Cyp P450. Therefore, the results of deca-BDE fungal degradation and the implication of this intracellular enzyme on deca-BDE degradation confirm that this pollutant is clearly bioavailable by the fungus in presence of surfactant.

As it has been shown previously, the amount of deca-BDE adsorbed on the fungus is high and it is possible that part of it would access to fungal internal structure and it could be degraded by intracellular enzymatic system. Thus, the final degradation percentage could be higher than the values obtained, but it is not possible to quantify which proportion of pollutant adsorbed on the fungus is subsequently degraded.

Table 3 Isotopic ratio		$\delta^{13}C$ (%VPDB)
obtained from marked deca-		0 0 (/0011 <i>BB</i>)
DDE de cardet a la tra	Culture with [¹³ C]-deca-BDE	-26.3
BDE degradation by <i>I</i> .		26.6 + 0.1
versicolor after 7 days	Control with [-C]-deca-BDE	-26.6 ± 0.1
2		

The results obtained in this study are consistent with deca-BDE degradation pathway described for mammals [52, 53] and degradation pathway of 4-bromo-BDE by *T. versicolor* [27]. The fact that the same fungus enzymatic system is involved in deca-BDE and 4-bromo-BDE degradation could indicate that Cyp P450 enzyme is responsible for the degradation of any PBDE compound.

2.6 Deca-BDE Mineralization

Degradation experiments were performed with [¹³C]-deca-BDE to measure the pollutant mineralization degree by the fungus.

The production of ${}^{13}\text{CO}_2$ from [${}^{13}\text{C}$]-deca-BDE degradation was analyzed using the technique of gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometer for isotope ratio (GC–EMRI). This technique measures the isotopic ratio ${}^{13}\text{C}/{}^{12}\text{C}$ of CO₂ in the gas phase with respect to an international standard V-PDB (Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite). This isotopic ratio is reported in δ notation relative to an international standard per mil (‰):

$$\delta^{13}\mathbf{C} = \left(\frac{R_{\mathrm{S}}}{R_{\mathrm{r}}} - 1\right) \times 1,000,$$

where R_s and R_r are the sample ${}^{13}\text{C}/{}^{12}\text{C}$ ratio and the V-PDB standard ratio, respectively. The analysis error associated with the technique is $\pm 0.5\%$ V-PDB.

Table 3 shows the isotopic ratio values obtained at the end of $[^{13}C]$ -deca-BDE degradation experiment where a degradation percentage of 70% was obtained after 7 days. Although the high degradation level reached, the difference in isotopic ratio between the culture with marked isotopic deca-BDE and the control was lower than the associated error. Consequently, no significant formation of $^{13}CO_2$ from pollutant degradation was detected, and therefore it is not possible to state that deca-BDE is mineralized by the fungus. Nevertheless, $[^{13}C]$ -deca-BDE concentration in liquid phase was low (1.6 mg L⁻¹) and it is possible that the $^{13}CO_2$ moles produced from pollutant degradation were below the analysis detection limit.

3 Degradation of Penta-BDE and Octa-BDE Commercial Mixtures

Apart from deca-BDE mixture, the two PBDE mixtures most frequently used in the past were the penta-BDE and octa-BDE mixtures. Although its use was banned in the European Union from 2004 and their production was ceased in the United States

Table 4 Characterization of Octa-DDE and penta-DDE mixtures compounds						
Octa-BDE mixture				BDE-153	BDE-183	
components						
Content (%)				14 ± 2	86 ± 3	
Penta-BDE mixture components	BDE-47	BDE-100	BDE-99	BDE-153	BDE-183	BDE-154
Content (%)	34.2 ± 0.9	11.4 ± 0.4	42.7 ± 0.6	6.0 ± 0.6	1.9 ± 0.4	3.8 ± 0.2

Table 4 Characterization of octa-BDE and penta-BDE mixtures compounds

in the same year, they are currently detected in significant concentrations in the environment due to their high recalcitrant nature. Moreover, it is important to study the degradation of the compounds present in these mixtures because they can also accumulate in the environment from deca-BDE photodegradation [6-8].

Before degradation experiments were performed, a characterization of the composition of both mixtures, which is summarized in Table 4, was carried out. Note that in the case of penta-BDE mixture, due to the lack of analytical standards, it was only possible to quantify 6 of the 27 compounds present in the mixture. These compounds correspond to BDE-47, BDE-100, BDE-99, BDE-154, BDE-153 and BDE-183. These compounds are the major components of penta-BDE mixture, representing the 92.5% of the total composition, and they are usually detected in the environment. Respect octa-BDE mixture, two compounds were detected, BDE-153 and BDE-183, which correspond to the major components of the mixture according to the reviewed literature [4], and probably the other compounds present in the mixture were not detected due to the lack of the corresponding analytical standards.

Fungal degradation of these mixtures in aqueous phase was carried out under the same conditions as deca-BDE degradation experiments performed previously, except for the initial mixture concentration, which was 5 mg L^{-1} for both mixtures, and the extension of the degradation period, which corresponded to 14.5 days in both cases.

Table 5 shows the degradation percentage obtained for the components detected in both mixtures. In the case of octa-BDE mixture, the concentration of both compounds decreased significantly. Furthermore, the adsorption of the two compounds on the fungus was very high, which caused an important difference between the degradation percentage, calculated from the difference between the mass of contaminant in the heat-killed fungal control and the active fungal culture, and the removal percentage, which was measured by the difference between the abiotic control and the active fungal culture. For the total sum of PBDEs included in octa-BDE mixture, the minimum degradation reached was $27 \pm 7\%$ and the removal was $67 \pm 7\%$.

Comparing the adsorption results obtained from octa-BDE mixture components with deca-BDE results (Fig. 8), it is obtained a higher adsorption for the less brominated compounds. This is due to its greater solubility in aqueous phase, and hence it has higher bioavailability to interact with biomass.

Regarding the degradation of penta-BDE mixture components, Table 5 shows that there was a significant removal percentage for all components detected. BDE-183, which corresponds to the highest brominated component and the less abundant

r							
Octa-BDE mixture				BDE-153	BDE-183		Total PBDEs
Degradation (%)				5 ± 12	31 + 7		28 + 7
Removal (%)				98 ± 22	62 ± 8		$\begin{array}{c} 10 \pm 7 \\ 67 \pm 7 \end{array}$
Penta-BDE mixture	BDE-47	BDE-100	BDE-99	BDE-153	BDE-183	BDE-154	Total PBDEs
Degradation (%)	33 ± 10	33 ± 11	38 ± 17	62 ± 18	46 ± 35	49 ± 9	38 ± 13
Removal (%)	90 ± 10	90 ± 11	79 ± 17	93 ± 18	46 ± 35	99 ± 9	85 ± 13

 Table 5 Degradation and removal percentages by T. versicolor for the detected components of octa-BDE and penta-BDE commercial mixtures

in the mixture, was the component removed in a lower percentage. The minimum degradation of the sum of all components was $38 \pm 13\%$ and the removal was $85 \pm 13\%$. The high difference between removal and degradation percentage shows that adsorption should not be underestimated. In summary, it is important to mention that the results presented in Table 5 evidenced that the fungus *T. versicolor* is able to remove a high percentage of all the components present in penta-BDE and octa-BDE mixtures.

4 Identification of PBDE Degradation Products

In order to detect possible degradation products of deca-BDE as well as of penta-BDE and octa-BDE mixtures, the formation of less brominated compounds was studied through the analysis by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS) of samples at different times of degradation. The GC–MS methodology is optimized for the detection and quantification of different PBDE congeners with different degrees of bromination, including three mono-BDEs (BDE-1, -2 and -3), seven di-BDEs (BDE-7, -8, -10, -11, -12, -13 and -15), eight tri-BDEs (BDE-17, -25, -28, -30, -32, -33, -35 and -37), six tetra-BDEs (BDE-47, -49, -66, -71, -75 and -77), seven penta-BDEs (BDE-85, -99, -100, -105, -116, -119 and -126), six hexa-BDEs (BDE-138, -140, -153, -154, -155 and -166), three hepta-BDEs (BDE-181, -183 and -190), four octa-BDEs (BDE-194, -196, -197 and -203), three nona-BDEs (BDE-206, -207 and -208) and deca-BDE (BDE-209) [15].

In the case of deca-BDE mixture, the formation of less brominated compounds was not detected for any of the samples (time of degradation corresponding to 24, 36, 60, 84 and 182 h). Regarding octa-BDE and penta-BDE mixtures, the analysis of samples at time 168 h did not detect an increase in concentration for any of the components present in each of the mixtures or the formation of any PBDE not present in the original composition of both mixtures. Therefore, the results obtained for the three mixtures demonstrated that the PBDEs degradation by the fungus does not follow the reductive debromination pathway, which is logical because this

degradation route is characteristic of bacterial degradation processes in anaerobic conditions and in this case, degradation by the fungus occurs in aerobic conditions.

Moreover, considering the involvement of Cyp P450 in the first step of deca-BDE degradation by the fungus and previously reported for deca-BDE, BDE-154 and BDE-100 in mammals [50–53], it was expected that PBDE mixtures degradation products by the fungus would be very similar to those detected in degradation processes in mammals. These products correspond to hydroxylated and methoxyhydroxylated metabolites.

The methoxy-polybromodiphenyl ethers (MeO-PBDEs) were analyzed together with PBDEs by GC–MS. The GC–MS methodology is optimized for the detection and quantification of eight different congeners including the 5-MeO-tetra-BDE-47, 6-MeO-tetra-BDE-47, 4-MeO-tetra-BDE-49, 2-MeO-tetra-BDE-68, 5-MeO-penta-BDE-99, 5'-MeO-penta-BDE-100, 4'-MeO-penta-BDE-101 and 4'-MeO-penta-BDE-103.

For the analysis of hydroxylated metabolites, a method by liquid chromatography coupled to a quadrupole linear ion trap tandem mass spectrometer (LC-OqLIT-MS–MS) was developed. LC system Symbiosis Pico was used for chromatographic separation, using a C18 Betabasic column (100 mm \times 2.1 mm, 3 \hat{I} /4 m particle size). Water and acetonitrile were used as solvents A and B, respectively, with a $200 \,\mu L \,min^{-1}$ flow rate. Elution gradient started with an initial composition of 75% of solvent A and 25% of solvent B and was increased over the first 10 min to 40% A and 60% B, was hold for 15 min and then reached 100% of B in 10 min. Finally, system was returned to initial conditions in the final 5-min step. MS-MS conditions, using a hybrid triple quadrupole/linear ion trap Applied Biosystem MSD Sciex 4000QTRAP, and working in Atmospheric Pressure Chemical Ionization (APCI) mode, were optimized to reach the highest sensibility for each monitored transition. Optimized parameters were declustering potential (from -55 to -70 eV), collision energy (from -60 to -120 eV), and collision cell exit potential (from -1 to -13 eV). The LC-MS-MS methodology is optimized for the detection of the following different congeners: 4-OH-tri-BDE-17, 3-OH-tri-BDE28, 3-OH-tetra-BDE-47, 5-OH-tetra-BDE-47, 6-OH-tetra-BDE-47, 6-OH-penta-BDE-85, 4-OHpenta-BDE-90, 5-OH-penta-BDE-99, 6-OH-penta-BDE-100, 3-OH-hexa-BDE-154 and 6-OH-hexa-BDE-157.

Regarding penta-BDE and octa-BDE mixtures, samples corresponding to a degradation time of 12, 24, 72 and 168 h were analyzed to detect the formation of OH-PBDEs and MeO-PBDEs. In the samples corresponding at time 12 h, two different degradation metabolites were identified for each mixture. A peak corresponding to the transition of an OH-tetra-BDE (501 > 79, 501 > 81) was detected in the penta-BDE mixture with a retention time of 38.44 min, while a peak corresponding to an OH-hexa-BDE (654 > 79, 654 > 81) was detected in the octa-BDE mixture with a retention time of 40.60 min (Fig. 9). The identification of OH-PBDEs was based on the following criteria: (1) simultaneous responses to the two selected transitions (SRM1 and SRM2) are needed, (2) the area of signal must be at least three times higher than the signal noise, and (3) the difference in the relative intensity of a peak with respect to theoretical values obtained with standard



Fig. 9 Chromatograms obtained for the two monitored transitions for available OH-hexa-BDE standards are showed on the *top*. *Below* is showed the peak found for a degradation time of 12 h

solutions cannot exceed \pm 15%. All these criteria are met for the two peaks detected with an SRM1/SRM2 ratio of 0.98 (1.09 for analytical standard) and 1.1 (1.17 for analytical standard) for OH-tetra-BDEs and OH-hexa-BDEs, respectively. These results confirm its identification as OH-PBDE congeners. However, the retention time for these two peaks detected did not match any of the available OH-PBDE standards. Therefore, we conclude that they correspond to a different OH-tetra-BDE and OH-hexa-BDE congeners than the available analytical standards.

For samples corresponding to higher degradation times (24, 72 and 169 h), any peak corresponding to an OH-BDE was detected. It is assumed that the OH-PBDE generated for a period of 12 h was degraded by the fungus during the following 12 h of experiment. This assumption could also explain the results obtained in deca-BDE degradation experiment by the fungus, where it was not possible to detect any hydroxyl product, but the first sample was taken at a time of 24 h. The possibility that methoxylated PBDEs were also generated by the degradation process was dismissed because they were not detected in any of the samples analyzed.

The two OH-PBDEs detected indicate that the degradation pathway of octa-BDE and penta-BDE mixtures by the fungus corresponds, in both cases, to a hydroxylation of the PBDE compounds. In the case of deca-BDE mixture, it was not possible to detect any hydroxylated product, but it cannot be excluded the formation of OH-PBDEs and their subsequent degradation for a time lower than 24 h. Therefore, it is possible that deca-BDE degradation by the fungus also occurs through the progressive hydroxylation of the compound, but it would be necessary to have results from treatment times of 12 h to confirm this possibility.

The degradation pathway of the different mixtures with *T. versicolor* proposed in this section agrees in part with PBDEs degradation pathways in mammals published before [50–53]. Regarding BDE-154 and BDE-100, which are components of penta-BDE mixture, it was not possible to identify the OH-tetra-BDE formed in the degradation process by the fungus, so it was not possible to check whether this product matches the compound formed in BDE-154 and BDE-100 degradation in mammals. However, the similarity of the products formed during the degradation process by the fungus with respect to degradation products in mammals leads to suppose that, in the case of penta-BDE and octa-BDE mixtures, Cyp P450 is also responsible for their degradation.

5 Toxicity Results in Aqueous Samples of PBDE Degradation

Toxicity analyses were performed by the individual exposure of zebrafish embryos to the different PBDEs commercial mixtures degradation samples from 4 to 48 hours post-fertilization (hpf), including negative controls and controls of solvent in the test. Additionally, two independent experiments were performed on undiluted samples and a last experiment was performed on a dilution series of 50%, 5% and 0.5% of the original samples. The embryos were observed after 24 and 48 hpf, and categorized as dead or alive.

No mortality was found in any embryo exposed to the controls. On the contrary, all the embryos exposed to the non-diluted samples of penta-, octa-, and deca-BDE commercial mixtures were dead after 24 h (Fig. 10). When the untreated PBDEs samples were diluted at 50%, a gradient of toxicity was observed: penta > octa > deca. After dilution at 5%, no embryos exposed to untreated samples were dead. In agreement with our results, it has been demonstrated that the toxicity of deca-BDE is commonly lower than for octa- and penta-BDE commercial products exposures with mammalian models [64]. The different toxicity found in mammalian models and also in zebrafish should be related to the higher accumulation of lower brominated congeners in the body, because of their greater partitioning and retention in lipid-rich tissues and lower rates of metabolism and elimination in relation to deca-BDE.

Treatment with the fungus strongly increased the toxicity of the samples. First, embryos exposed to the non-diluted treated samples, at a degradation time of 12 h and 7 days, exhibited almost a 100% of mortality and only 2 of the 24 embryos



Fig. 10 Percentage of mortality of zebrafish embryos after 48 h of exposure to PBDE commercial mixtures samples at different dilutions (100%, 50%, and 5%)



Fig. 11 Percentage of mortality of zebrafish embryos after 48 hpf to PBDE samples (before and after 12 h and 7 days of treatment with fungus). All the samples were diluted at 5%

survived to exposition to the sample of deca-BDE treated for 12 h. Even when samples were diluted to 50%, the 100% embryos exposed to the PBDEs treated were dead after 48 h. It has been previously reported that the presence of an OH group increases in a significant way the toxic potential of PBDEs [65, 66].

Embryos exposed to the 5% of the treated samples exhibited a slight mortality, although those exposed to a 5% of the three untreated PBDEs showed no mortality. The toxicity gradient after 12 h of treatment was the contrary of the observed for the untreated PBDEs, deca > octa > penta (Fig. 11). Furthermore, more than 90% of the embryos were dead after exposure to the samples treated with the fungus for 7 days.

Finally, when embryos were exposed to 0.5% of the untreated of treated samples, the survival was not different than for the controls (90–100%).

6 Conclusions and Perspectives

The degradation of higher brominated PBDEs by the white-rot fungus *T. versicolor* in aqueous phase has been shown to be high efficient in terms of pollutant removal. The products detected from penta-BDE and octa-BDE commercial mixtures degradation correspond to hydroxylated PBDEs and the deca-BDE degradation pathway studies performed reveal the involvement of the intracellular enzyme Cyp P450. These results agree with the ones obtained in previous PBDEs biological degradation studies in aerobic conditions. In relation to liquid media toxicity, it increases after the treatment process with the fungus, which should be related to the presence of an OH group in the degradation products obtained. The toxicity results obtained state the necessity to identify the products obtained after a degradation treatment, which can help to predict the final toxicity of the matrix.

The high potential of *T. versicolor* to degrade higher brominated PBDEs in liquid media suggests that the treatment with fungus would be a viable option for other PBDEs, such as lower brominated PBDEs, which are also present in the environment and they are more bioavailable than higher brominated congeners.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by MMAMRM (project 010/PC08/3-04). The Department of Chemical Engineering of the Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona is the Unit of Biochemical Engineering of the Centre de Referència en Biotecnologia de la Generalitat de Catalunya. The authors are members of two Consolidated Research Groups of Catalonia (2009-SGR-656 and 2009-SGR-796).

References

- 1. Birnbaum LS, Staskal DF (2004) Environ Health Perspect 112:9
- Vonderheide AP, Mueller-Spitz SR, Meija J, Welsh GL, Mueller KE, Kinkle BK, Shann JR, Caruso JA (2006) J Anal At Spectrom 21:1232

- 3. EPA (2009) http://www.epagov/oppt/existingchemicals/pubs/actionplans/deccadbehtml
- 4. WHO (1994) http://wwwinchemorg/documents/ehc/ehc162htm
- 5. Kuramochi H, Maeda K, Kawamoto K (2007) Chemosphere 67:1858
- 6. Moreira Bastos P, Eriksson J, Vidarson J, Bergman A (2008) Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 15:606
- 7. Christiansson A, Eriksson J, Teclechiel D, Bergman A (2009) Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 16:312
- Ahn MY, Filley TR, Jafvert CT, Nies L, Hua I, Bezares-Cruz J (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:215
- 9. Ahn MY, Filley TR, Jafvert CT, Nies L, Hua I (2006) Chemosphere 64:1801
- Sanchez-Prado L, Llompart M, Lores M, Garcia-Jares C, Cela R (2005) J Chromatogr A 1071:85
- 11. Davis EF, Stapleton HM (2009) Environ Sci Technol 43:5739
- 12. Hardy ML, Banasik M, Stedeford T (2009) Crit Rev Toxicol 39:1
- 13. Ellis-Hutchings RG, Cherr GN, Hanna LA, Keen CL (2006) Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 215:135
- Birchmeier KL, Smith KA, Passino-Reader DR, Sweet LI, Chernyak SM, Adams JV, Omann GM (2005) Environ Toxicol Chem 24:1518
- Diaz-Cruz MS, Garcia-Galan MJ, Guerra P, Jelic A, Postigo C, Eljarrat E, Farre M, de Alda MJL, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2009) Trends Anal Chem 28:1263
- Agrell C, ter Schure AFH, Sveder J, Bokenstrand A, Larsson P, Zegers BN (2004) Atmos Environ 38:5139
- 17. Wang HM, Yu YJ, Han M, Yang SW, Ii Q, Yang Y (2009) Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 83:789
- Breivik K, Wania F, Muir DCG, Alaee M, Backus S, Pacepavicius G (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:4612
- 19. de Wit CA, Alaee M, Muir DCG (2006) Chemosphere 64:209
- 20. Cheng HR, Zhang G, Jiang JX, Li XD, Liu X, Li J, Zhao YC (2007) Atmos Environ 41:4734
- 21. Hale RC, La Guardia MJ, Harvey E, Gaylor MO, Mainor TM (2006) Chemosphere 64:181
- 22. Razavi B, Song WH, Cooper WJ, Greaves J, Jeong J (2009) J Phys Chem A 113:1287
- 23. Sellstrom U, De Wit CA, Lundgren N, Tysklind M (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:9064
- 24. Streets SS, Henderson SA, Stoner AD, Carlson DL, Simcik MF, Swackhamer DL (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:7263
- Blais JM, Macdonald RW, Mackey D, Webster E, Harvey C, Smol JP (2007) Environ Sci Technol 41:1075
- Schmidt S, Wittich RM, Erdmann D, Wilkes H, Francke W, Fortnagel P (1992) Appl Environ Microbiol 58:2744
- 27. Hundt K, Jonas U, Hammer E, Schauer F (1999) Biodegradation 10:279
- Kim YM, Nam IH, Murugesan K, Schmidt S, Crowley DE, Chang YS (2007) Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 77:187
- 29. Zhou J, Jiang WY, Ding JA, Zhang XD, Gao SX (2007) Chemosphere 70:172
- 30. Robrock KR, Coelhan M, Sedlak DL, Alvarez-Cohen L (2009) Environ Sci Technol 43:5705
- Seto M, Kimbara K, Shimura M, Hatta T, Fukuda M, Yano K (1995) Appl Environ Microbiol 61:3353
- 32. Arnett CM, Parales JV, Haddock JD (2000) Appl Environ Microbiol 66:2928
- 33. Robrock KR, Mohn WW, Eltis LD, Alvarez-Cohen L (2011) Biotechnol Bioeng 108:313
- 34. Bradley PM (2003) Bioremediation J 7:81
- 35. Freedman DL, Gossett JM (1989) Appl Environ Microbiol 55:2144
- 36. He JZ, Robrock KR, Alvarez-Cohen L (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:4429
- 37. Robrock KR, Korytar P, Alvarez-Cohen L (2008) Environ Sci Technol 42:2845
- 38. Staskal DF, Diliberto JJ, DeVito MJ, Birnbaum LS (2005) Toxicol Sci 83:215
- Zegers BN, Lewis WE, Booij K, Smittenberg RH, Boer W, De Boer J, Boon JP (2003) Environ Sci Technol 37:3803
- 40. Hale RC, La Guardia MJ, Harvey EP, Gaylor MO, Mainor TM, Duff WH (2001) Nature 412:140

- 41. Knoth W, Mann W, Meyer R, Nebhuth J (2007) Chemosphere 67:1831
- Gerecke AC, Hartmann PC, Heeb NV, Kohler HPE, Giger W, Schmid P, Zennegg M, Kohler M (2005) Environ Sci Technol 39:1078
- Gerecke AC, Giger W, Hartmann PC, Heeb NV, Kohler HPE, Schmid P, Zennegg M, Kohler M (2006) Chemosphere 64:311
- 44. Suyama A, Yamashita M, Yoshino S, Furukawa K (2002) J Bacteriol 184:3419
- 45. Tokarz JA, Ahn MY, Leng J, Filley TR, Nies L (2008) Environ Sci Technol 42:1157
- 46. Lee LK, He J (2010) Appl Environ Microbiol 76:794
- 47. Domingo JL, Marti-Cid R, Castell V, Llobet JM (2008) Toxicology 248:25
- Li XM, Yang Q, Zhang Y, Zheng W, Yue X, Wang DB, Zeng GM (2010) Water Sci Technol 62:947
- 49. Darnerud PO (2003) Environ Int 29:841
- 50. Hakk H, Huwe JK, Larsen GL (2009) Xenobiotica 39:46
- 51. Hakk H, Huwe J, Low M, Rutherford D, Larsen G (2006) Xenobiotica 36:79
- 52. Sandholm A, Emanuelsson BM, Wehler EK (2003) Xenobiotica 33:1149
- 53. Morck A, Hakk H, Orn U, Wehler EK (2003) Drug Metab Dispos 31:900
- 54. Huwe JK, Smith DJ (2007) Environ Sci Technol 41:2371
- 55. Terzic S, Matosic M, Ahel M, Mijatovic I (2005) Water Sci Technol 51:447
- 56. Cantero M, Rubio S, Perez-Bendito D (2005) J Chromatography A 1067:161
- 57. Camarero S, Canas AI, Nousiainen P, Record E, Lomascolo A, Martinez MJ, Martinez AT (2008) Environ Sci Technol 42:6703
- 58. Knutson K, Ragauskas A (2004) Biotechnol Prog 20:1893
- 59. Han MJ, Choi HT, Song HG (2004) J Microbiol 42:94
- Marco-Urrea E, Gabarrell X, Sarra M, Caminal G, Vicent T, Reddy CA (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:7796
- 61. Marco-Urrea E, Parella T, Gabarrell X, Caminal G, Vicent T, Reddy CA (2008) Chemosphere 70:404
- 62. Yadav JS, Bethea C, Reddy CA (2000) Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 65:28
- 63. Tominaga J, Michizoe J, Kamiya N, Ichinose H, Maruyama T, Goto M (2004) J Biosci Bioeng 98:14
- 64. Darnerud PO, Eriksen GS, Johannesson T, Larsen PB, Viluksela M (2001) Environ Health Persp 109:49
- 65. Wiseman SB, Wan Y, Chang H, Zhang XW, Hecker M, Jones PD, Giesy JP (2011) Mar Pollut Bull 63:179
- 66. Van Boxtel AL, Kamstra JH, Cenijn PH, Pieterse B, Wagner MJ, Antink M, Krab K, Van Der Burg B, Marsh G, Brouwer A, Legler J (2008) Environ Sci Technol 42:1773
- 67. Segev O, Kushmaro A, Brenner A (2009) Int J Environ Res P Heal 6:478
- 68. Jaward FM, Farrar NJ, Harner T, Sweetman AJ, Jones KC (2004) Environ Sci Technol 38:34

Conclusions and Future Trends

D. Barceló, E. Eljarrat, G. Caminal, and T. Vicent

Abstract This chapter summarizes the main conclusions drawn from the eight different chapters of this book, as well as the future trends in the field of research on emerging organic pollutants in sludge. The chapter is divided into four sections. First of all, we discuss the wide range of emerging contaminants that continuously appear in the literature related to sludge. After that, we present the new developments in analytical methodologies and the future trends for their determination. Then, a review and evaluation of various sludge treatments was presented. And finally, the different results obtained in studies of biodegradation by fungi were summarized.

Keywords Analytical approaches, Biodegradation by fungi, Emerging contaminants, Sludge treatments

D. Barceló (🖂)

E. Eljarrat

G. Caminal

Grupo de biocatalisis Aplicada y biodegradación, IQAC-CSIC, C/Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

T. Vicent

Departament d'Enginyeria Química, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona (UAB), 08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain

Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA, CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona, Emili Grahit 101, 17003 Girona, Spain e-mail: dbcqam@cid.csic.es

Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA, CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Contents

1	Emerging Contaminants in Sludge	273
2	Analytical Approaches	276
3	Sludge Treatments	277
4	Biodegradation by Fungi	281
Ref	ferences	284

Abbreviations and Symbols

4DHB	4,4'-Dihydroxybenzophenone
AD	Anaerobic digestion
ADBI	Celestolide
AHDI	Phantolide
AHTN	Tonalide
APE	Alkylphenolic polyetoxylated
ATII	Traseolide
BFR	Brominated flame retardant
BP3	Benzophenone-3
BTH	Benzothiazole
BTR	Benzotriazole
cVMS	Cyclic siloxanes
D3	Hexamethylcyclotrisiloxane
D4	Octamethylcyclotetrasiloxane
D5	Decamethylcyclopentasiloxane
D6	Dodecamethylcyclohexasiloxane
DP	Dechlorane Plus
E1	Estrone
E2	17β-Estradiol
E3	Estriol
EDC	Endocrine disrupting compound
EHMC	Ethylhexyl-methoxycinnamate
GC	Gas chromatography
HHCB	Galaxolide
ICR	Ion cyclotron resonance
L2	Hexamethyldisiloxane
L3	Octamethyltrisiloxane
L4	Decamethyltetrasiloxane
L5	Dodecamethylpentasiloxane
LAC	Laccase
LC	Liquid chromatography
LiP	Lignin peroxidase
MnP	Manganese peroxidase
MS	Mass spectrometry
MS-MS	Tandem mass spectrometry

NM	Nanomaterial
NP	Nonylphenol
NPEO	Nonylphenol polyetoxylated
PBDE	Polybrominated diphenyl ethers
PCB	Polychlorinated biphenyls
PCE	Perchloroethylene
PFC	Perfluorinated compound
PhC	Pharmaceutical
PLE	Pressurized liquid extraction
QqLIT	Quadrupole linear ion trap
QqQ	Triple quadrupole
Q-ToF	Quadrupole time of flight
SPE	Solid phase extraction
TCE	Trichloroethylene
ТР	Transformation product
UV	Ultraviolet
VMS	Volatile methyl siloxanes
VP	Versatile peroxidase
WRF	White-rot fungi
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

1 Emerging Contaminants in Sludge

Continually, scientific studies are revealing the presence in the environment of substances that we use on a daily basis in our homes, industries, and agricultural fields. These substances are called emerging contaminants. This term could be divided into two subcategories: on the one hand, there are "new" emerging contaminants, which are chemicals that are recently manufactured and suddenly appear everywhere, such as decabromodiphenylethane which appears as a Deca-BDE replacement [1]. On the other hand, there are "old" emerging contaminants, which are those that were used and applied for a several decades, but they were not environmentally detected until recently. This is the case of Dechlorane Plus (DP) which was used since 1986 as a replacement of the banned Mirex, but it was not detected in the environment until 2006 [2]. Nor should we forget the emerging contaminants, or benign chemicals, as well as pernicious metabolization products. The overall purpose of metabolism is to make the chemical less toxic and more hydrophilic. However, metabolism does not always render a chemical less toxic.

The list of new chemicals whose presence in the environment represents an ascertained or potential risk is sizeable and broadly contains resins, plastics, and plastic additives (e.g., plasticizers and flame retardants); pharmaceuticals and personal care products (e.g., disinfectants, fragrances, sunscreens, antibiotics, drugs of abuse, and natural and synthetic hormones); detergents and other cleaning



Fig. 1 Reported ranges of emerging contaminant concentrations in sludge samples. Reproduced from [4]

agents; pesticides and biocides (e.g., weed killers, fumigants, wood preservatives, and antifouling agents); petroleum-derived chemicals; and products of waste/drinking water treatment, of landfill, and incineration.

The adjective "emerging" implies that little is known about these contaminants, from their production volumes, to their physicochemical properties (water solubility, log Kow, etc.), to their effects on humans and the environment, to how best to regulate the unknown risks they pose [3]. In the context of environmental concerns of sludge, it is very important to know whether these new contaminants accumulate or not in sewage sludge (Fig. 1). These organic chemicals may ultimately enter urban wastewater. Degradation and attenuation during wastewater and sludge treatment remove significant amounts of organic contaminants. However, many compounds have lipophilic properties and hence transfer to sewage sludge and may be present in residual concentrations in the dry solids depending on the initial amounts present, their lipophilicity, and the extent of destruction during wastewater and sludge treatment.

Among the large variety of compounds, this book is focused on pharmaceutical compounds, estrogens, illicit drugs, UV filters (sunscreens), brominated flame retardants (BFRs), and perfluorinated compounds (PFCs) due to their endocrinedisrupting purposes, being as well present in sewage sludge samples. However, other emerging contaminants are also receiving special attention by the environmental scientific community in last years [4, 5]. Thus, future research should be focused to study the presence of these new chemical groups of emerging pollutants in sludge. Among these new emerging contaminants we can mention synthetic musk compounds, benzothiazoles and benzotriazoles, nanomaterials, and volatile methyl siloxanes. Because these new families of compounds have not been treated throughout the different chapters of this book, a brief description of them will follow.

Synthetic musk compounds are part of synthetic fragrances which became cheaply available during the 1950s. They were widespread used as a substitute for natural musks in fragrances and can be found in a number of consumer products such as laundry detergents, fabric softeners, cleaning agents, and cosmetic and hygiene products (soaps, shampoos, body lotions, perfumes, deodorants, cosmetics, etc.). However, it took until the 1980s that these compounds were detected in the environment as a consequence to vast usage and incomplete removal in wastewater treatment plants. The main classes of synthetic musks include nitroaromatic musks, such as musk xylene and musk ketone, as well as polycyclic musks, such as HHCB (galaxolide), AHTN (tonalide), ADBI (celestolide), ATII (traseolide), and AHDI (phantolide). It is well known that these compounds are emitted into the wastewater, reach freshwaters as well as the marine environments. As most of these compounds are very lipophilic, they tend to accumulate in sediments, sludges, and biota [6].

Benzothiazoles (BTHs) and benzotriazoles (BTRs) belong to high production volume chemicals that find broad application in various industrial processes and household products [7]. BTHs are used as biocides in paper and leather manufacturing, as vulcanization accelerator in rubber production and as corrosion inhibitors. BTRs are commonly used as a corrosion inhibitor in dishwasher detergents and de-icing/anti-icing fluids, an ultraviolet light stabilizer in plastics, and an antifogging agent in photography. BTHs and BTRs are water soluble, resistant to biodegradation and only partially removed in wastewater treatment. BTRs have been classified as emergent pollutants because even at low concentrations, they elicit negative effects to aquatic organisms. The German Government has proposed limit values in biosolids for two rubber vulcanizing agents: 2-mercaptobenzothiazole and 2-hydroxybenzothiazole.

Nanomaterials (NMs) have one dimension <100 nm and possess physicochemical properties dictated by their unusually small size, large surface area, shape, and chemical composition. New properties of nanomaterials have boosted their production and industrial applications in many fields (e.g., microelectronics, catalysis, fuel cells, materials science, textiles, biotechnology, and medicine). The fast development of nanotechnology and its expected growing will increase the products containing NMs in next coming years. However, NMs may also have negative effects on biological systems. Nanotechnology is a major, innovative, scientific, and economic growth area, but the increasing production and use of nanomaterials have led to calls for more information regarding the potential impacts that their release may have on human health and the environment. NMs include materials with one dimension on the nanoscale (nanolayers) and two dimensions on the nanoscale (nanowires and nanotubes), and particles (e.g., quantum dots, metal nanoparticles, and fullerenes). To date, little is known about the potential risks associated with engineered NMs [8].

Volatile methyl siloxanes (VMS) are chemicals composed by R₂SiO units where R is a methyl group. VMS include cyclic siloxanes (cVMS), the most important being hexamethylcyclotrisiloxane (D3), octamethylcyclotetrasiloxane (D4), decamethylcyclopentasiloxane (D5), and dodecamethylcyclohexasiloxane (D6), and linear siloxanes, e.g., hexamethyldisiloxane (L2), octamethyltrisiloxane (L3), decamethyltetrasiloxane (L4), and dodecamethylpentasiloxane (L5). Special attention is paid to D4 and D5 siloxanes that are persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic substances, according to tests performed on animals [9, 10]. Due to their volatility, low surface tension, transparency, hydrophobic nature, and lack of odor, siloxanes are used in a number of products such as cosmetics, deodorants, soaps, hair conditioners, hair dyes, car waxes, cookware, cleaners, furniture polishes, water-repellent windshield coatings, and in industrial applications such as solvents, lubricants, and sealants, Both cyclic and linear VMS are emitted into the environment as industrial refuses, e.g., in manufacturing high molecular weight silicone polymers, or owing to use of silicon products. Due to their widespread use, siloxanes are found in wastewaters, in landfill solid wastes, and also in biogases generated by the anaerobic degradation of organic materials [11].

2 Analytical Approaches

The continuous progress in analytical techniques has improved the capability of detecting chemicals and recognizing new substances and extended the list of detectable contaminants widespread in all environmental compartments by human activities. Over recent years, different methodologies for the analysis of emerging compounds have been developed. Some recent reviews have been published and some of them focused on emerging contaminants [12–14]. However, for some of these emerging pollutants, very few studies are referred to the analysis of sewage sludge. The key issue in the analysis of emerging pollutants in complex matrices continues being to assess the quality of analytical data. These quality parameters must be tested through the performance of interlaboratory tests and combined, if it is possible and available, with the use of reference materials.

Sample preparation procedure plays a fundamental role in developing analytical methodology for complex matrixes, such as sludge. Extraction and cleanup steps have presented a high improved during recent years, especially in terms of automation and the development on online solid phase extraction (SPE) technologies, reducing the sample manipulation, the time of analysis and minimizing the quantities of sample required for the analysis. Techniques such as pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) providing fast, safe, and easy preparation procedures, and using smaller amounts of solvents, have received significant attention.

Regarding the instrumental determination, developed methodologies are based on the use of mass spectrometry (MS), either coupled to gas chromatography (GC) or
Mass analyzer	Resolving power $(\times 10^3)$	Mass accuracy (ppm)	m/z range (upper limit) $(\times 10^3)$	Acquisition speed (Hz)	Linear dynamic range	Price
Q	3–5	Low	2–3	2-10	$10^{5} - 10^{6}$	Low
IT	4-20	Low	4–6	2-10	$10^4 - 10^5$	Moderate
ToF	10-60	1–5	10-20	10-50	$10^4 - 10^5$	Moderate
Orbitrap	100-240	1–3	4	1–5	5×10^3	High
ICR	730–2,500	0.3–1	4–10	0.5–2	10^{4}	High

Table 1 Parameters of mass spectrometers used in LC-MS. Adapted from [14]

Q Quadrupole, IT Ion trap, ToF Time of flight, ICR Ion cyclotron resonance

liquid chromatography (LC). The market of MS and LC-MS is extremely dynamic and manufacturers invest into the development of new technologies (Table 1). In the analysis of emerging polar organic compounds, LC-MS techniques are the best established ones. However, the required sensitivity needs the use of tandem mass spectrometry (MS-MS). Different configurations have been applied, being the most common the use of the triple quadrupole (QqQ). However, in recent years other hybrid MS configurations have also appeared, such as quadrupole linear ion trap (QqLIT), quadrupole time of flight (Q-ToF), or Orbitrap. QqQ instruments allowed the confirmation of detected contaminants even at very low concentrations. On the other hand, ToF analyzers allow to finding additional non-target organic contaminants. And Orbitrap, an ultra-high resolving power analyzer (>100,000), is increasing their use to identify unknown contaminants, typically environmental TPs.

The analysis of environmental TPs has become a major trend in environmental chemistry, and increasingly, researchers are taking this a step further in proposing complex transformation pathways. It is expected to see a gradual shift from parent compound analysis to the analysis of metabolites and TPs. It is evident that more research is needed to determine the breakdown pathways and to evaluate the fate of TPs. Therefore, development of future generic analytical protocols should permit the simultaneous determination of parent compounds and their metabolites.

3 Sludge Treatments

Nowadays there is already lots of information about detection and emerging contaminant concentrations in liquid matrices, such as industrial and agricultural effluents and influent/effluent of the wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs). On the contrary, there is lack of knowledge about these pollutants in solid matrices, despite the hydrophobicity of a wide range of them and therefore it is expected that a large part of them are adsorbed in sludge, manure, sediments, etc. One of the reasons for this lack of information, as has been revealed in Chap. 2, is the analytical difficulty in solid matrices that is much greater than in liquid matrices, not only for the

analytical method itself but also for the difficulty in obtaining representative samples in solid wastes.

Recently, the studies have been focused on emerging pollutants adsorbed in sludge since, due to its high content of organic matter and nutrients, they are used as fertilizers or soil conditioning. The common practice is to stabilize them by anaerobic digestion (AD) (approx. 70% of the sewage sludge generated) or composting, before their application to the soil. In some WWTPs sludge is first treated by AD and then is subjected to a composting process to be able to be used as fertilizer.

Some scientists have focused their research on knowing the aerobic and anaerobic biodegradability of emerging contaminants detected in sludge (Chap. 3). Among the different families of pollutants, those whose estrogenic effects have been detected in the sludge have received greater attention, such as alkylphenolic polyetoxylated (APE) detergents. The main derivative of APE, nonylphenol (NP) has already been included in the list of priority pollutants by the European Union.

It can be concluded, because there are already many published results, that it is important to know both aerobic and anaerobic biodegradation of pollutants. However, this is not enough; it is also necessary to determine its TPs, since many of the emerging pollutants are aerobically biodegradable in the WWTPs but not their TPs. This is the case of the long chain nonylphenol polyetoxylated (NPEO), which are aerobically degradable. These compounds are broken and they convert into less hydrophilic compounds and with more tendency to adsorb in sludge. The detection of short-chain NPEOs in digested sludge shows that they are recalcitrant to methanogenic degradation and that they accumulate in the sludge.

In the case of hormones entering the WWTPs, almost 60% are conjugates. Most studies conclude that its biodegradation is an aerobic process although the levels of which are detected in treated effluents show that they are not completely biologically degraded and that part of them are adsorbed into the sludge. Although there are very few studies on degradation of hormones in sludge, the published results confirm that the hormones are recalcitrant to the anaerobic treatment. This is corroborated by the results on composting of manure which points out that percentages of elimination of up to 80% can be achieved.

Pharmaceuticals (PhC) are the most studied family of emerging pollutants in the WWTPs, but only most recent studies have considered PhC adsorbed in sludge. Most of these works try to establish which is the main factor that determines its presence in sludge, and they concluded that are multiple. On the one hand, it is demonstrated that a large number of different PhC (antibiotics, analgesics, betablockers, etc.) are very biodegradable aerobically although their degradation is not complete and it is influenced by the properties of a particular drug, its concentration, as well as by the characteristics of the process (hydraulic retention time, solid retention time, structure and activity of biomass, etc.). On the other hand, there are different studies that could not demonstrate that the organic matter content of the sludge is the most determinant factor to promote its adsorption.

The elimination of PhC in the sludge treatment, both anaerobic and aerobic, seems to be the function of the molecule and also of the process conditions

(mesophilic or thermophilic temperatures). The results suggest that aerobic conditions allow a more efficient elimination of a wide spectrum of molecules, although it is noticeable in the case of carbamazepine. Numerous studies show that carbamazepine is detected in similar concentrations in influent and treated effluents in WWTPs, showing its persistence to biological degradation. But in addition it is also detected in sludge, although at low levels, and even in composted sludge. Therefore it is recalcitrant to the bacteria in the sludge treatment processes, both aerobic in the composting process and anaerobic in anaerobic digestion process.

Further researches are still need to better know:

- Microorganisms involved in the degradation of pollutants in sludge under anaerobic and aerobic conditions
- Parameters that affect the elimination of pollutants in sludge treatment processes (AD and composting)
- Novel microorganisms and processes for pollutant biodegradation

In Chap. 5, and later, the results on degradation of emerging contaminants by ligninolytic fungi are presented. The ability of the white-rot fungi (WRF) to degrade xenobiotics compounds, with complex molecules similar to the structure of lignin, has been well known since many years ago. It has been widely published the capacity of the WRF and its extracellular enzymes to degrade organochlorine compounds (PCE, TCE, PCB, ...), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, munition wastes, etc., as well as decoloration and detoxification of effluents as paper-mill, textile, olive-oil mill, etc. Therefore, WRF cannot be considered as the "new microorganisms" but the development of treatment processes of effluents and sludge by fungi can be considered one of those "novel processes" on which it would be necessary to devote efforts [15]. Up to now, there are very few published papers on treatment of sludge with fungi, mostly deal with studies of degradation in liquid media or bioremediation of contaminanted soils. And still the results on degradation of adsorbed emerging contaminants in sludge are much rarer.

Before achieving the development of an industrial scale process, the research must follow different stages. First of all, the researchers have as an objective to demonstrate that the WRF are capable of degrading different families of emerging pollutants. Most of the studies have been carried out in liquid media, and a review is presented in Chaps. 6, 7, and 8.

The endocrine disrupting compounds (EDC) comprise the most studied group. Approaches for the removal of PhCs are more recent and belong to analgesics, antibiotics, psychiatric drugs, lipid regulators families, but researches on the biodegradation of some classes of drugs that are also consumed regularly as the cytostatic, contrast media and others that are also detected in WWTPs are missed. The panorama is similar for BFRs and UV Filters, whose degradation by WRF has been barely studied. Moreover there are other families of emerging pollutants as the PFOS, some derivates from NPEOs, pesticides, on which there are not still studies on degradation by fungi. The research carried out shows good results on pollutant biodegradation and there is an increasingly knowledge about the characteristics of the WRF which make it possible, and can be summarized as follows:

- WRF presents an extracellular oxidative system nonspecific and nonselective.
- The pollutant degradation by WRF is a co-metabolic process in which additional C and N sources are required. This capacity represents an advantage respect bacteria as it prevents the need to internalize the pollutant, thus avoiding toxicity problems and permitting to attack low-soluble compounds.
- WRF presents an intracellular enzymatic system, cytochrome P450 monooxigenases, similar to those mammalian cells, that catalyzes a broad range of intracellular degradation reactions of released metabolites after the pollutants breaking by extracellular enzymes.
- The hyphae growth facilitate colonization in solid matrix.

This last characteristic is especially interesting in sludge treatment. Several reports deal with the application of fungal bioaugmentation for bioremediation of contaminated soils with persistent pollutants, in slurry phase and solid phase (biopiles), but the research about their application in sludge treatment is limited. Chapter 5 presented the results on the elimination of different types of emerging pollutants in sewage sludge by fungal treatments in biopile and slurry reactors at laboratory scale. Biopile treatment (like composting) is interesting for treating dry sewage sludge obtained after dewatering in WWTPs with thermal dewatering step or filter press. In slurry phase treatment the sludge is a suspension with a solid concentration equal to that found in the outlet flow of the anaerobic digester.

The degradation of many hazardous compounds has been first demonstrated at laboratory scale and under sterile conditions, with the objective of avoiding the interaction with bacteria and other microorganisms contained usually in digested sludge. In this way it is possible to demonstrate that on the one hand, it is possible the colonization of sludge by the fungus, and on the other hand, the degradation of pollutants is only due to the action of the fungi.

The fungal treatment showed a high efficiency, by completely removing the estrogens (E1, E2, and E3), either in biopile or slurry reactors. On the contrary the removal of BFRs in both systems shows differences. Removal after the fungal slurry treatment was rather low compared to the removal obtained in solid-phase system. These results need more research because they are in contradiction with those stated by some researchers that point to the low solubility of these compounds as the limiting factor in its biodegradation.

The results about the removal of UV Filters were contrary to the expected. Higher removals were expected in slurry system for the least hydrophobic UV Filters and lower in solid-phase. 4DHB and BP3, least hydrophobic than OC and EHMC, were completely removed in solid phase and only BP3 was poorly removed in slurry treatment while 4DHB showed recalcitrance. In general, for all UV Filters detected in raw sludge, better removal values in solid phase treatment were obtained. PhCs are the most abundant pollutants in raw sludge and as it is expected, a greater number of them are detected in digested sludge than in thermally dehydrated sludge. Removal of PhCs by fungi varied from 40% to complete elimination, showing differences between the compounds and between the two types of fungal treatment. The degradation results of the antiepileptic carbamazepine are highly remarkable, as its almost negligible removal has widely reported in bacterial processes. The removal values for carbamazepine are lower in slurry treatment (approx. 30%) as well as in biopila (approx. 43%), but they show the high power of the fungus to degrade molecules that cannot be degraded by the bacteria.

Comparison of the efficiency removal in both fungal treatments indicates that a solid phase treatment is more efficient than the bioslurry process. Therefore, once demonstrated the role of fungi, the following research objective must be to carry out the process with non-sterile sludge. The results published on bioremediation of contaminated soils by fungi are not in agreement about the interaction of bacteria and fungi. In some cases of highly contaminated soils by hydrocarbons, the survival of the fungus is very low and therefore the biodegradation is only due to bacteria. Recently, published results on sludge treatment under non-sterile conditions with the WRF *Trametes versicolor* show the highest percentages of PhC degradation to occur during the first days of fungal treatment in solid phase [16]. Molecular biology studies of the population present in the sludge reveal that the inoculated fungus survives and is predominant during this first period against bacteria, then bacteria are predominant, and no more significative pollutants removal is detected.

4 Biodegradation by Fungi

Chapters 6, 7, and 8 present a literature revision about fungal degradation in liquid medium of three groups of emerging contaminants detected in sludge: PhCs, UV Filters and BFRs. The former group of contaminants, due to their high consumption worldwide, is present in different compartments of the environment and also, as Chap. 5 describes, they are detected in sludge. Similarly, due to their high hydrophobicity and low degradability, UV Filters and BFRs are specially retained in sludge.

Degradability studies have generally been conducted in liquid media using synthetic samples spiked with a contaminant at higher concentration than that typically found in the environment. At high concentrations the degradation and the detection of TPs are facilitated. Although it is demonstrated that under certain conditions, fungi may not completely degrade (i.e., mineralize) and/or assimilate these products.

While information about degradation and product identification of UV Filters and BFRs is limited, drugs have raised higher interest among researchers as it is shown in the number of papers published in recent years (see Table 1, Chap. 6). In previous studies of fungal degradation of pollutants, one of the main questions has been whether low concentrations may be sufficient to activate the fungal oxidative-reductive enzyme system to degrade these compounds. Many studies have demonstrated that at concentrations as low as ppm, ppb, or even at concentrations found in real effluents, fungi are in fact able to degrade pollutants. Despite this evidence, a minimal concentration requirement is yet not clear. For example, the studies by Subramanian and Yadav [17] show that the transcription of the cytochrome P-450 system of *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* is activated in the presence of pollutants. Regarding the extracellular system of fungi (i.e., laccase), studies have demonstrated an increase in activity when contaminants are in the medium, even when the enzymes were not directly involved in the early stages of degradation [18, 19]. Can we then state that the activation of fungal enzymes requires a minimal concentration? In the light of the latest findings, we conclude that this question remains unknown and further investigations are needed.

Among WRF, *P. chrysosporium* has been traditionally applied in biodegradation assays, mainly for being the best characterized fungus. Over time, other fungi have gained attention. Perhaps the second most studied fungus in biodegradation is *T. versicolor*, mainly due to its great performance [20]. Among its benefits is that laccase (LAC) production is associated with growth without nutrient-starvation conditions (i.e., low levels of carbon and/or nitrogen). Moreover, the presence of contaminants may stimulate laccase production of *T. versicolor*. There are also other works that demonstrate the capacity of other WRF to degrade pollutants, i.e., *Irpex lacteus, Pleurotus ostreatus, Bjerkandera* spp., etc. [21].

WRF are, by all means, the most studied group of *Basidiomycetes*. In addition, several fungi belonging to the phyla *Ascomycota* (*Tricchoderma, Geotrichium, Mucor, Candida...spp.*) have also demonstrated the ability to degrade contaminants (as can be see in Table 1 Chap. 6), although the number of publications is much lower compared to that related to WRF. Lately, researchers are paying attention to the capabilities of other group of wood-degrading fungi, the litter-decomposing fungi, which mainly oxidize contaminants using manganese peroxidase (MnP) [22–24].

The group of PhCs contains the largest list of contaminants. As the chapter of analytical methods (Chap. 2) describes, many compounds may be identified just in a single sample of sewage sludge. These compounds frequently belong to groups with different therapeutic activities (e.g., anti-inflammatory, psychiatric and depression drugs, lipid regulators, antibiotics, β-blockers, estrogens, iodinated contrast media ...) and different chemical structure. Thus, their degradation mechanism is difficult to predict. Table 1 of Chap. 6 summarizes removal efficiencies of PhCs at different conditions and times. One can find compounds with 100% removal yield in 24 h, but also others whose removal rate is <10% in 2 weeks as fluoxetine per example. In general, inflammatory and antibiotic drugs are degraded fast, while for example, contrast media compounds degrade to a lesser extent and at lower rate. Even, some drugs, such as carbamazepine or clofibric acid, which bacteria cannot easily degrade, are better degraded by WRF, although even fungi have difficulties to degrade them compared with other drugs. The same table also includes possible degradation products of PhCs which may be obtained after fungal treatment in liquid medium.

In the case of the UV Filters, degradation yield may range from 87% to 100%. The parental compound usually is degraded very fast, but elimination of the transformation product occurs at a slower pace. The degradation mechanisms of UV Filters starts with a rapid conjugation step with a sugar (e.g., pentose or hexose), in order to make the compound more soluble. Thereafter, this conjugate is slowly transformed by the fungus.

Regarding BFRs, only three mixtures of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDE), deca-BDE, octa-BDE and penta-BDE which differentiate only in the number of bromide atoms (ten, eight or five, respectively) have been studied. For deca-BDE total elimination was obtained after 4 days. For octa- and penta-PBDE the removal was between 67 and 85%, respectively. The degradation products are not clear. Most likely, demobrination of the parental compound does not occur as not less brominated transformation products are found. Similarly than the mechanism to degrade UV Filters, the first step might be a solubilization of the parental compound via sugar adduction, although further research is needed to confirm it. Some compound may undergo hydroxylation because hydroxylated BDEs are detected as degradation products. In these studies a surfactant is used to aid BDE solubilization, but even so, the dissolved concentration is very low.

Although the exact mechanism of degradation at metabolic level for each compound or group of compounds is not well known, the involvement of extracellular oxidative enzymes such as LAC, MnP, LiP, and versatile peroxidase (VP) (see Tables 1 and 2 of Chap. 6) and intracellular monooxygenases as cytochrome P-450 is well documented for pollutants such as hydrocarbons, dyes, and halogenated solvents [25]. To determine the actual role of the extracellular enzymes, many studies are performed in vitro experiments with purified enzymes. In the case of cytochrome P-450, usually inhibitors are used.

In the case of degradation of emerging contaminants (PhCs, UV Filters, and PBDEs), generally an oxidation of the compound occurs. The main reactions observed are hydroxylations, formylations, desulphonations, dehalogenations, demethylations, ring cleavage. Often, fungi act similarly in the first degradation step than the degradation mechanisms of the liver of mammals [18, 19]. In some cases, transformation products may not always be mineralized and, consequently, they accumulate. But in the cases when transformation products disappear, mineralization and assimilation may be expected.

The fact that mineralization does not always occur justifies the large number of studies published as an effort to characterize the degradation products. In some cases these products are detected in human or animal urine, which may reach WWTPs and/or different environmental compartments. Probably, in the coming years more sophisticated analytical techniques to detect and quantify these metabolites will be developed.

From the point of view of risk analysis assessment, it might be needed both analytical methods as well as thorough toxicity assays and biological methods as it is not possible to detect all the compounds present in real samples. This is especially interesting in the case when, for example, a single sludge sample is toxic just due to a compound present at very low concentration. Combination of techniques is necessary in order to anticipate the potential harmful effects of the application of sludge in agricultural land, especially when the contaminants are at low concentration. Moreover, techniques related to massive omics (e.g., metabolomics, proteomics, genomics) will be also very beneficial in this field. Further efforts are also needed to standardize, develop, and implement different toxicity tests that are complementary and cover the wide spectrum of possible adverse effects.

Acknowledgements This research study was funded by the Spanish Ministry of Environment and Rural and Marine Media (Project MMAMRM-010/PC08/3-04), and by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness through the projects CEMAGUA (CGL2007-64551/HID), SCARCE (Consolider Ingenio 2010 CSD2009-00065) and MICINN, CTQ2010-21776-C02-01. This work was partly supported by the Generalitat de Catalunya (Consolidated Research Group: Water and Soil Quality Unit 2009-SGR-965 and Biorem UAB 2009-SGR 656).

References

- Alonso MB, Eljarrat E, Gorga M, Secchi ER, Bassoi M, Barbosa L, Bertozzi C, Marigo J, Cremer M, Domit C, Azevedo A, Dorneles PR, Torres JPM, Lailson-Brito J Jr, Malm O, Barceló D (2012) Environ Pollut 170:152
- 2. Hoh E, Zhu L, Hites RA (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:1184
- 3. Arp HPH (2012) Environ Sci Technol 46:4259
- 4. Stasinakis AS (2012) Bioresour Technol 121:432
- 5. Clarke BO, Smith SR (2011) Environ Int 37:226
- 6. Bester K (2009) J Chromatogr A 1216:470
- 7. Domínguez C, Reyes-Contreras C, Bayona JM (2012) J Chromatogr 1230:117
- 8. Farré M, Barceló D (2012) In: Comprehensive analytical chemistry, vol 59. pp 1-32
- 9. Brooke DN, Crookes MJ, Gray D, Robertson S (2009) Environmental risk assessment report: decamethylcyclopentasiloxane. Environmental Agency of England and Wales, Bristol
- 10. Brooke DN, Crookes MJ, Robertson S (2009) Environmental risk assessment report: octamethylcyclotetrasiloxane. Environmental Agency of England and Wales, Bristol
- 11. Balducci C, Perilli M, Romagnoli P, Cecinado A (2012) Environ Sci Pollut Res 19:1875
- 12. Richardson SD (2012) Anal Chem 84:747
- 13. Farré M, Kantiani L, Petrovic M, Pérez S, Barceló D (2012) J Chromatogr A 1259:86
- 14. Holcapek M, Jirásko R, Lísa M (2012) J Chromatogr A 1259:3
- 15. Harms H, Schlosser D, Wick LY (2011) Nature 9:177
- Rodriguez-Rodriguez C, Jelic A, Pereira A, Sousa D, Petrovic M, Alves M, Barceló D, Caminal G, Vicent T (2012) Environ Sci Technol 46:12012–12020
- 17. Subramanian V, Yadav J (2009) Appl Environ Microbiol 75:5570
- Marco-Urrea E, Gabarell X, Sarrà M, Caminal G, Vicent T, Reddy CA (2006) Environ Sci Technol 40:7796
- Marco-Urrea E, Parella T, Gabarell X, Caminal G, Vicent T, Reddy CA (2008) Chemosphere 70:404
- 20. Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Vicent T, Caminal G (2009) Chemosphere 74:765
- 21. Cajthaml T, Kresinová Z, Svobolová K, Möder M (2009) Chemosphere 75:745
- 22. Steffen KT, Hofrichter M, Hatakka A (2000) Appl Environ Microbiol 54:819
- 23. Steffen KT, Schubert S, Tuomela M, Hatakka A, Hofrichter M (2007) Biodegradation 18:359
- 24. Kabiersch G, Rajasärkkä J, Ullrich R, Tuomela M, Hofrichter M, Virta M, Hatakka A, Steffen K (2011) Chemosphere 83:226
- 25. Cerniglia CE (1997) J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 19:324

Index

A

Accelerated solvent extraction (ASE), 49 Acetaminophen, 58, 97 Acetovanillone, 142 Acetrizoate, 188 Acid rain, 6 Activated sludge, 51, 73, 78, 147, 220 Alkylphenolic detergents, 74, 76, 78, 81 Alkylphenolic polyethoxylated (APE) detergents, 76, 278 Alkylphenols, 73, 78, 117 1-Aminobenzotriazole, cytochrome P450 inhibitor, 172, 233 Aminotriiodoisophthalate, 189 Aminotrizoate, 189 Anaerobic treatment, 73 Analgesics, 90 Analytical approaches, 271 Anthelmintic agents, 184 Antibiotics, 14, 58, 113, 127, 177 composting, 129 Anti-epileptics, 90 Anti-inflammatories, 90, 168 Artemisinin, 185, 199 Aryl hydrocarbon receptor, 236 Atenolol, 92, 96, 101, 148, 151, 154, 185, 199 Atorvastatin, 58 ATPase inhibitor, 222 Azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) (ABTS), 142, 169, 221, 259 Azithromycin, 59, 151

B

Barbiturates, 154, 155 Benzene, 7, 8, 10, 117 Benzenediol:oxygen oxidoreductase, 142 Benzoates, triiodinated, 188 Benzophenones, 215, 219, 235 Benzothiazoles (BTHs), 275 Benzotriazoles (BTRs), 275 3-Benzylidene camphor (3BC), 218 Bezafibrate, 150 Biodegradation, 113, 137 fungi, 271 Biological activity, 215 Bioslurry treatment, Trametes versicolor, 153 Biosolids, toxicity, 18 Bisphenol A, 16, 17, 55, 85, 90, 118, 182 β-Blockers, 40, 90–93, 154, 185, 190, 199 Brominated flame retardants (BFRs), 17, 31, 34, 38, 62, 64, 243 fungal treatment, 157 BTEX compounds, 8, 115 Butylbenzyl phthalate (BBP), 116 Butyl methoxydibenzoylmethane (BM-DBM), 64.219

С

Carbamazepine, 58, 92, 101, 151, 173, 279 *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora*, 142 Chemolithoautotrophs, 3 Chlorinated compounds, 10 Chlorohen, 10, 11, 140 Chlorobenzenes, 115, 117 Chlorophenols, 11, 115, 143 herbicides, 11 Chlorpyrifos, 140 Chlortetracycline, 91, 129, 179 Cimetidine, 151 Ciprofloxacin, 59, 151, 180 Citalopram, 175 CLARINET network, 20

T. Vicent et al. (eds.), *Emerging Organic Contaminants in Sludges: Analysis, Fate and Biological Treatment*, Hdb Env Chem (2013) 24: 285–290, DOI 10.1007/698_2012, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

285

Clarithormycin, 59, 102 Clindamycin, 102 Clofibric acid, 91, 176 Cold condensation effect, 4 Composting, 113, 124 Contaminant sink, 1 Contrast media, iodinated, 188 *Coriolopsis polyzona*, 182 Cross-linked enzyme aggregates (CLEAs), 182 Crude oil, 6 *Cunninghamella elegans*, 174 Cyclic siloxanes, 276 Cytochrome P450, 144, 171, 233, 235, 241 inhibitors, 172, 176, 260 monooxygenases, 169

D

Deca-BDE-209, 151 Decabromodiphenylethane (DBDPE), 38 Decabromodiphenyl ether (deca-BDE), 243.255 mineralization, 261 Decamethylcyclopentasiloxane (D5), 276 Decamethyltetrasiloxane (L4), 276 Dechlorane Plus (DP), 273 Degradation, 165, 215, 241, 271 UV filters, 220 Desulfitobacterium hafniense, 251 Diatrizoate, 189 Diazepam, 101, 176 Dibromobisphenol A (DiBBPA), 55 Dichloroaniline, 115 Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE), 15, 19, 140 Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), 11, 15, 19, 140, 145, 218 2,4-Dichlorophenol, 12, 183, 198 Dichomitus squalens, 142 Diclofenac, 17, 58, 60, 90-95, 101, 150, 153, 170-173, 191, 192, 203 Diethylhexyl butamido triazone (DBT), 64 4,4-Dihydroxybenzophenone (4DHB), 64, 215, 228 Dihydroxy-4-methoxybenzophenone (DHMB), 228 Di-iso-octyl phthalate (DIOP), 116 3,5-Dimethoxy-4-hydroxyacetophenol (DMHAP), 169, 259 2,6-Dimethoxyphenol (DMP), 142 Di-n-octyl phthalate (DnOP), 116 Dioxin-like activity, 237 Dioxins, 4, 10

receptor, 236 Diphenhydramine, 102 Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP), 21, 113, 119 Dodecamethylcyclohexasiloxane (D6), 276 Dodecamethylpentasiloxane (L5), 276 Doxycycline, 98, 102, 151, 179, 204

E

Ecological risk, 1 Ecstasy (MDMA), 63 Emerging contaminants, 35, 73, 113, 137, 271.274 Endocrine disrupters, 16, 74, 114, 279 Enrofloxacin, 180 Environmental legislation, 1 4-Epitetracycline, 151 ER-RYA, 236 Erythromycin, 59, 99, 102, 179, 196 17β-Estradiol, 16, 37, 186 Estrogen receptor (ER), 236 Estrogens, 18, 31, 34, 36, 59, 83, 152, 158, 186, 280 fungal degradation, 186 Estrone, 37, 84, 186, 209 17α-Ethinyl estradiol (EE2), 37, 83, 186 Ethvlbenzene, 8 2-Ethylhexyl-4-dimethylaminobenzoate (OD-PABA), 219 Ethylhexyl methoxycinnamate (EHMC), 49, 218 Ethylhexyl salicylate (EHS), 64 Ethylhexyl triazone (EHT), 64 EUGRIS, 20 EURODEMO+, 20 European environmental policies, 19 Extraction, 39

F

Fenofibrate, 148, 150
Fenoprofen, 173, 192
Flame retardants (FRs), 38
Flumequine, 182
Fluoroquinolones, 58, 182
Fluoxetine, 17, 91–93, 96, 101, 102, 175, 201, 282
Fonofos, 140
Fuel oil, 6
Fungi, 137, 215, 271, 281
Furosemide, 91–93, 101, 148, 151, 153, 155, 157

Index

G

Galanin, 19 Galaxolide, 16 Gas chromatography, 31 GC-MS, 49, 53 Gemfibrozil, 93, 97, 151, 155, 177, 200, 206 *Gloeophyllum striatum*, 180 Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH), 19

H

Hazardous organic matter (HOM), 113, 115 Health risk. 1 Heavy metals, 6, 7, 19, 21, 35, 115 Hexabromobenzene (HBB), 38, 52, 64, 65 Hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD), 38, 243 Hexachlorobenzene (HCB), 15 Hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH), 19 Hexamethylcyclotrisiloxane (D3), 276 Hexamethyldisiloxane (L2), 276 Homosalate (HMS), 64, 219 Hormones, 73, 83 excretion, 85 HPLC-MS/MS analysis, 215 Human pathogens, 14 Hydrocarbons, 6 degraders, 14 Hydrochlorothiazide, 58, 153 3-Hydroxyanthranilate, 142 4-Hydroxybenzophenone (4HB), 64, 228, 234-237 1-Hydroxybenzotriazole (HBT), 142, 169, 179, 259 Hydroxylation reaction, 241 2-(6-Hydroxynaphtalen-2-yl)propanoic acid, 171

I

Ibuprofen, 17, 58, 92, 95, 101, 102, 148, 150–155, 158, 168–170, 192, 203, 221 Illicit drugs, 31, 34, 37, 59, 61 Indomethacin, 173 Insecticides, 11 Instrumental determination, 52 Iopromide, 101, 188–190, 202, 210 Isoamyl methoxycinnamate (IAMC), 64

K

Ketoprofen, 93, 95, 153-155, 172, 193, 203

L

Laccases, 141, 142, 184, 221, 234, 257

LC-MS, 54 Lentinus edodes, 142 Lignin-modifying enzymes (LMEs), 140, 141 Lignin peroxidase (LiP), 141 Limits of detection (LODs), 50 Lincomycin, 92 Linear alkylbenzene sulfonates, 21, 76 Lipid regulators, 176 LiP-laccase, 142 Liquid chromatography, 31, 54

M

Manganese peroxidase (MnP), 141, 169, 174, 182, 186, 282 Mass spectrometry, 31, 54 Mefenamic, 173 Mestranol (MeEE2), 83 Metabolites, 215 1-(6-Methoxynaphthalen-2-yl)ethanone, 171 3-(4-Methylbenzylidene) camphor (4-MBC), 49, 215 Methyl *tert*-butyl ether (MTBE), 6 Microwave-assisted extraction (MAE), 49 Mineralization, 283 Monobromobisphenol A (MonoBBPA), 55 Multicopper blue phenoloxidases, 142 Musks, 16, 275

N

N-Acetylphenothiazine, 184 Nadolol, 92 Nanomaterials (NMs), 275 Naproxen, 17, 92, 95, 101, 146, 154, 171, 193, 203 N-(4-Cyanophenyl)acetohydroxamic acid (NCPA), 142 Neurotoxicity, 18 N-hydroxyacetanilide (NHA), 142 NICOLE, 20 Nitroaromatics, 5, 7, 9 Nitrobenzene, 10 Nitrogen fixation, 12 Nonylphenol, 16, 21, 73, 74, 76, 182 polyethoxylated, 76 Norfloxacin, 92, 151, 181

0

Octabromodiphenyl ether (octa-BDE), 243, 261 Octamethylcyclotetrasiloxane (D4), 276 Octamethyltrisiloxane (L3), 276 Octocrylene (OC), 49, 219 Octylphenol, 74, 76 Octyltriazone (OT), 49 Ofloxacin, 59, 92, 94 Oil products, 6 Organochlorides, 5, 10 Organotin, 115 Oseltamivir (Tamiflu), 184 Oxytetracycline, 179

P

Panus tigrinus, 142 Paracetamol, 17, 92, 93 PCDD/Fs, 7, 11, 16, 19, 21, 116 Pentabromodiphenyl ether (penta-BDE), 243, 261 Pentabromoethylbenzene (PBEB), 38 Pentachlorophenol (PCP), 12, 117, 145 Perfluorinated compounds (PFCs), 17, 31, 38, 62,65 Perfluorobutanesulfonate (PFBS), 56 Perfluorobutanoic acid (PFBA), 56 Perfluoroethanesulfonate acid (PFEtS), 56 Perfluorooctanesulfonamide (PFOSA), 57 Perfluorooctanesulfonamidoacetate (N-EtFOSAA), 57 Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS), 18, 38, 66 Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA), 18, 38, 66 Perfluoropropanesulfonate (PFPrS), 56 Perfluoropropionic acid (PFPrA), 56 Peroxidases, 143 Persistent organic pollutants (POPs), 5, 10, 15,39 Personal care products (PPCPs), 220, 232 Pestalotiopsis guepini, 180 Pesticides, 10, 76, 115, 117, 140, 220, 274 Petroleum hydrocarbons, 8 Phanerochaete chrysosporium, 141, 282 Phanerochaete sordida, 170 Pharmaceutical compounds, 14, 31, 36, 58, 73, 90.165 removal, 146 Pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs), 36 Phenazone, 150 Phenols, chlorinated, 11 Phenothiazine, 184 Phlebia ochraceofulva, 142 Photocarcinogenesis, 37 Phthalate esters (PAEs), 116 biodegradation, 121 Plastic gyres, 8 Plasticizers, 74, 116, 273

Plastic products, 8 Pleurotus eryngii, 143 Pleurotus ostreatus, 142, 282 Polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 9, 16, 117, 144, 153, 222 Polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs), 38, 50, 52 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), 17, 31, 38, 64, 151, 241, 243, 283 degradation in mammals, 252 Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), 4, 11, 21, 140 Polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs), 11 Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), 11.117 Polychlorinated phenoxyphenols (PCPPs), 12 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 6, 9, 21, 140 Polyvinyl chloride (PVC), 5, 8, 10, 116 Predicted environmental concentrations (PEC), 91 Pressurized liquid extraction (PLE), 49 Pressurized membrane-assisted liquid extraction (PMALE), 49 Progesterone, 18, 83, 84 Propranolol, 93, 96, 185, 199 Propyphenazone, 173 Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata, 179 Pseudonocardia dioxanivorans, 249 Psychiatric drugs, 173 Purification, 51 Pycnoporus coccineus, 152

Q

Quinolones, 180

R

Ranitidine, 93, 99, 148, 151, 155 Recombinant yeast assay (RYA), 219 *Rhodococcus jostii*, 249 Roxithromycin, 59, 101

S

Sarafloxacin, 182 Sewage sludge, 18, 137 treated, 21 use, legislative framework, 19 Sex ratio, 74 Sludge toxicity, reduction, 152 Sludge treatment, 35, 73, 113, 271 fungi, 144 Index

SNOWMAN network, 20 Soil biodiversity, 13 Soil contamination/contaminants, 1ff Soil Directive Framework, 1 Soil microorganisms, 1, 13 Solid phase microextraction (SPME), 50 Solid-phase treatment, 145 Sperm production alterations, 19 Spiromycin, 92 Stir bar sorptive extraction (SBSE), 49 Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, 1 Sulfadimethoxine, 128, 177, 204 Sulfamethazine, 130, 148, 150-155, 159, 177, 197, 204 Sulfamethoxazole, 92, 99, 101, 128, 151, 178, 197, 204 Sulfanilamide, 99, 177, 204 Sulfapyridine, 177, 197 Sulfathiazole, 100, 128, 148, 150, 153-159, 177, 197, 205 Sulfonamides, 129, 150, 177 Sulfur dioxide, 6 Sulfurospirillum multivorans, 250 Sunscreens, 34, 37, 64, 217, 273 Syringaldehyde, 142

Т

T4.18 Tamoxifen, 91, 93 Tandem mass spectrometry, 31 Terbufos, 140 Testosterone, 83, 84 Tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA), 38, 52, 65.243 Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD), 15 Tetrachloroethylene (TCE), 10 Tetrachlorophenol (TeCP), 11 Tetracyclines, 92-94, 100, 102, 128, 151, 179,203 Tetramethylpiperidin-N-oxide radical, 142 Thamnocephalus platyurus, 91 Thermophilic aerobic sludge digestion (TAD), 125 Thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), 18 Toluene, 8

Tonalide, 16 Total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN) load, 92, 131 Toxaphene, 15 Toxicity, 165 Trametes versicolor, 137, 215, 221, 241 Transformation products, 165 Tribromobisphenol A (TriBBPA), 55 Tributyltin, 16 Tricarboxylic acid (TCA), 121 Trichloroanisole (TCA), 234 Trichloroethylene (TCE), 250, 259, 279 Trichlorophenol (TCP), 11 2,4,5-Trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5-T), 11 Triclocarban, 92 Triclosan, 16, 59, 92, 101, 151, 182, 198, 205 Trihydroxybenzophenone (THB), 228 Trinitrotoluene (TNT), 7, 10, 140 Tylosin, 94

U

UDP-glucosyltransferase, 235 UDP-xylosiltransferase, 235 Ultrasonic extraction (USE), 49 *Umbelopsis ramanniana*, 174 UV filters, 31, 37, 64, 151, 157, 215, 280, 283

V

Versatile peroxidase (VP), 141 Violuric acid, 142, 169, 259 Vitellogenin (VTG), 15, 37, 77, 86, 219 Volatile methyl siloxanes (VMS), 276

W

Wastewater treatment plants (WWTP), 34, 58, 73, 101, 220, 277 UV filters, 220 White-rot fungi, 137, 165, 168, 241, 279

Х

X-ray contrast agents, 188 Xylene, 8